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HSBC USA Inc.

PART 1

Item 1. Financial Statements

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF INCOME (LOSS) (UNAUDITED)
Three Months Ended March 31, 2018 2017

(in millions)

Interest income:

LLOBIIS ..ottt ettt ettt ettt se et et ete s e s s et et et s b et e st s e st e s ettt e s et et b et e ae s e st ees st et ess st et eteee et esesees $ 598 $ 573
SEOUTTEIES 1...vveeetietie et eette et ertee et e e st e et e e teeebe e beessbeesseeseseasaeasseessaaasseesseessseanseessseansaessssansaessseenseessseansenss 253 242
TTAAING SECULILICS ...evveutieeieiieieeiieteeeetestesteste e etesseessesseessesseesseeseanseeseensesseensesssessesnsensennsesseensenseensenns 49 58
ShOTt-tEIM INVESLMEILS .....etietirtirtitetetet ettt ettt ettt sttt et et e st et et ebeeb e s bttt sbesbesaebenaenaeneen 158 131
ORI ettt h b bttt b ettt et a e a e h e bbbt bbbt et ebe et et entenee 16 11
TOLAL IRLEFEST INCOME .....................ooooceeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeee et e ettt e e e et e e e e e e e e e e sataeeeessetaaeeessennaees 1,074 1,015
Interest expense:
DIEPOSIES ...ttt ettt ettt ettt ettt ettt ettt he e et e en et e a e et e et e st et e ene e st enteaneeneeeseente st enteeneenteeneenteene 222 150
SHOT-tEITN DOTTOWIINES . .vevieuieiieiesiieieeiieteeteeieete e ete st esaesseesaesseensesseensesseensesssenseessenseensenseensesseensesses 33 23
|0 Y 1S 4 4 LS o PRSP USUUUPSRIT 257 242
ORI ettt b btttk b ettt a e ateh e bbbt bbbt et ebe st e e entenes 10 3
TOtAL INLETEST EXPEISE ...............ceveeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeieeeee et e ette et e s te e st e taeesbeeseessbaeseessseensaessseenssessseenseesssaeseens 522 418
INEE INEETESE TICOIMIC ...ttt ettt ettt ettt e e et e e et e et eaee bt e meesbeemeesbe e teebeenteeseenseeneeeeeneenseeneenees 552 597
ProviSion fOI CIEAIt IOSSES .....uivuiiiiiiieeitieiie et ettt et e et e st e eteeseeebeestbeebeesaseesbeessseesseessseanseessseeseessneanes 71) (77)
Net interest income after provision for credit lOSSes.....................ccoovevevvieieiiieieeiieieeieneeene e 623 674
Other revenues:
CrEdit CATA FEES. ...eveiteeitieteite ettt ettt b ettt ettt s e st eb e e bt eb e et e e b e sbe st e be b e e ensenee 11 11
Trust and investment ManagemMent fEES ...........ccoiiieriiiirieiecee ettt 38 38
Other fees and COMMUESSIONS........eeuiruieiiiieie ettt ettt ettt et et ete et e teeseesaeeseesbeeneesbeensesseensesseeneeens 160 162
TTAAING TEVEIUE. .....eeeeiiieeieieeieeie ettt ettt ettt et et e bt eete bt ente et e et e eseaneeeneenseeneenseeneesseensenseensesseensenseanseans 163 70
Other SCCUTIHIES ZAINS, TICL ....eevieiieiieiieieeierteetesieete st ete st ete st eseeseessesseessesseensesssessesssessesnsesseensenseansenns 5 5
Servicing and other fees from HSBC affiliates ...........cccevievierierieiieieiieeceeecee e 99 114
Residential mortgage banking revVenue (EXPENSE)........ccverreerrereerreereerreeeesseeeesseesesseessesseessesseessessesssenns — 2)
Gain on instruments designated at fair value and related derivatives .........c.ccooeeeererienieienieneneeene 30 34
(0713153 g 11 1o 0 OSSR 7 161
TOLAL OREF FEVERMUES ...ttt ettt ettt et e e e st et e e st esesneenseeneesseeneensesneansens 513 593
Operating expenses:
Salaries and eMPlOYEe DENETIS ......cceeriiriiiieieiieieie ettt b e e sse e e saeenaeeeas 207 265
Support services from HSBC affiliates ..........cccovieiiriieiiiiieieceeecece ettt 411 384
OCCUPANCY EXPEIISE, TET ..euiiieiieniiiteeiestteteetten e eite bt ettesteestesteeateebeenteeueentesseenbeestesbeemtenbeensenbeensesseentene 43 41
OLHET EXPEIISES ...eeuveeieuiienieteeieeteeteette e st e ete e s tesaeeeee bt eete bt emteabeemteeseameeeaeeneeestenseemeesbeemseabeensenseensenseanseane 621 129
TOtAl OPEYALING EXPEHSES .............c..oeceveeeveeiieeeeeieeieeeeeeeteesaeete e s teeebeesteesbeeseesebeesssessseessassseenseessseanseens 1,282 819
Income (10SS) DEfOre INCOME TAX .....vvevieeieiieierieeiesieete st e et et et et et eteeseesseesaesseesaesseensesseensesseensenseensenns (146) 448
INCOME TAX EXPEIISEC ..cuvevrentieireetieieetteteeteesseetesseestessesssesseessasseessesseessesseensesssensesssessesssessesssessesssenseensenseensenns 92 152
INCLIHCOME (0SS) ... ettt e ettt e e s et e e e aa e e seaaeeseeeesanaeeesnes $ (238 $ 296

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (LOSS) (UNAUDITED)

Three Months Ended March 31, 2018 2017
(in millions)
INCLIHCOME (I0SS) ...ttt ettt sttt te et ee e et e et e e e ons $ (238 $ 296
Net change in unrealized gains (losses), net of tax:
INVESTMENT SECUTTEIES. ....veevieiuriietieeteeeteeeteeeteeeteeeteeereeeteeeereeeteeeaseeteeeaseeeseesaseeeseeeaseesaessseeseesaseenseesens (195) 107
Fair value option liabilities attributable to our own credit spread ...........cccoecveviieienieeienieieeeeeeeeeennn. 12 (79)
Derivatives designated as cash flow hedges .........ccooiiiiiiiiiinii e 2 1
Pension and post-retirement benefit Plans ...........cecevieiiiieiiiee e 1 —
Total other comprehensive iNCOME (10SS) ...................cooveeueecieiiieiieeie ettt e reesaaeereas (180) 29
COMPreNEnSIVE TNCOME (L0SS) ............c.ooccueeceeeeeeeieeceeeeee e eee et ee et sta e et et st eeeteesabeeetaesaseetaesaseenreas $ 418 § 325

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements.



HSBC USA Inc.

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET (UNAUDITED)

March 31, December 31,
2018 2017

(in millions, except share data)

Assets™”

Cash and dUe fTOM DANKS...........ooiiiiiiiiiii ettt e e et e e et e e e ta e e ete e eeteeeeaaeeeteeeeaeeeeaneeenns $ 1,053 § 1,115
Interest bearing deposits With DANKS.........cc.coiriiiiiiiiiieeee et 17,895 11,157
Federal funds sold and securities purchased under agreements to resell (includes $342 million and $80

million designated under fair value option at March 31, 2018 and December 31, 2017, respectively).......... 9,814 32,618
TTAAINE ASSELS ..euveveenienieteterteet ettt ettt ettt bbb e a e s et et e b e e bt e bt e bt eh e eb b esten b et e st e ebeebeebe e bt emten b et e b e b e ebeebeenee st enee 32,650 16,150
Securities available-for-sale 30,223 30,700
Securities held-to-maturity (fair value of $14.0 billion and $13.9 billion at March 31, 2018 and December

31,2017, TESPECHIVELY ) ...ttt ettt ettt ettt ettt b s bt ese b e seebessese s essesessetessessenesseneas 14,274 13,977
) 0 1 0T RPN 67,338 72,563
Less — allowance fOr CrEdit LOSSES ........veuirueiiirieiirieiiiiee ettt sttt sttt se et see st be e ebeneeneane 599 681

) 70 0 TN 1 (=1 APPSR ORI 66,739 71,882
Loans held for sale (includes $338 million and $471 million designated under fair value option at March 31,

2018 and December 31, 2017, T€SPECLIVELY) ...c.euviiiriiiriiiiirieiriceert ettt 470 715
Properties and EqUIPIMENT, TEt........vccverierierierieitirieietetet et et et e ete e e steeseesaessessessesseeseeseeseessessessessessessensensesssessenes 173 185
(@ 10T 4 1) RO 1,607 1,607
(11 4= W T £ 7,137 7,129
Total assets $ 182,035 §$ 187,235
Liabilities™”

Debt:
Domestic deposits:
NONINEEIESE DEATIIE ...ttt ettt ettt b et s bt s et e st e b et es et e st e b e s e s e s e st esensesesbeneeaeneeneas $ 27,690 $ 28,153
Interest bearing (includes $7.8 billion and $7.7 billion designated under fair value option at March
31,2018 and December 31, 2017, TESPECIVELY ) ......uvvvvrerrererreieeieteeeeese oot esesaesesesesaesenenes 83,972 84,223
Foreign deposits:
INONINEETESE DEATIIIZ ..c.evveveeiieiieiieietete sttt ettt ettt et ete e st ess e et e besseebeeseeseeseensensensenbesseeneeseeneennenes 274 322
INEEIESE DEATING. . .c.vevitieiieiieiieieiet ettt ettt ettt ettt e et ese e st e te b e b e b e e bt e st eneeneentensensessesaessesseeseeneennens 5,726 5,331
DePOosits NEld fOT SALE ....oveeviriiiiieiieieeeee ettt sttt ettt ettt b e bt eneene e enes 291 673
TOTAL AEPOSIES. ..eveeutenietetiettetiet ettt ettt ettt et et et e st e bt e bt e st e st e st e st e b e b esbeebeeseeseentententenbenseabeebeeneeneeneenean 117,953 118,702
Short-term borrowings (includes $1.8 billion and $2.0 billion designated under fair value option at
March 31, 2018 and December 31, 2017, 1eSPECHIVELY).......cvverveeeeieercee e 5,138 4,650
Long-term debt (includes $12.7 billion and $12.9 billion designated under fair value option at March 31,

2018 and December 31, 2017, TESPECHVELY) ....vuvvveeeireeeieeeeeteeeeecee ettt tes et seneeaae 32,008 34,966
Total debt.....ceoviieeiieieieieeieeee s 155,099 158,318
Trading liabilities 3,330 4,879
Interest, taxes and other liabilities ... 3,923 3,944
TOtALIIADIIILIES ......................ccceveeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeee et e e ettt e et e e et e eetaeeetaeeeaeeeeaeseenseeesesenaseeenneeenns 162,352 167,141
Equity
Preferred stock (no par value; 40,999,000 shares authorized; 1,265 shares issued and outstanding at both

March 31, 2018 and December 31, 2017) ..o 1,265 1,265
Common equity:

Common stock ($5 par; 150,000,000 shares authorized; 714 shares issued and outstanding at both March
31,2018 and DecembBEr 31, 2017) ..cicieieieieieieriesie sttt e ste st ste et se e sae s eaessessessesseeseeseesaesnenean — —
Additional paid-in capital 18,127 18,130
REtAINEA CAITINGS .....vevvevieeietieiieieieteste ettt ettt et et e testesteeteeseese e st essessasessesseesaesaessessensensessensesseeseaseassensen 989 1,130
Accumulated other COMPIENENSIVE LOSS ......eeuerieieieieieriicieetieteiet ettt te e ete e e esse s e ssessessesseeseeseeneensen (698) (431)
TOtAl COMIMON EQUILY 1.vvevvevetierieteetretetestestestesteeteeseestestessesessessesseesesseessessessessessessesseessaseessessensensessensensensesseessenes 18,418 18,829
TOUAL @QUILY..............c.ooeeeveeeeeeeeeeeeeee ettt ettt et e e e b et e s teeseeseeseeseeseessens e se b e aseeseeseessessesse s et e et e eteeseeseeneeneens 19,683 20,094
Total liabilities ANd @QUILY.......................cocueeeeieieieieiesieeteeeee et eteseestessessessesseeseaseeseessessessessessessessessesseessessens $ 182,035 $ 187,235

M The following table summarizes assets and liabilities related to our consolidated variable interest entities ("VIEs") at March 31,2018 and December 31, 2017

which are consolidated on our balance sheet. Assets and liabilities exclude intercompany balances that eliminate in consolidation. See Note 17, "Variable
Interest Entities," for additional information.
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March 31, December 31,

2018 2017
(in millions)
Assets
ORET @SSELS ...ttt ettt ettt ettt ettt b et st b st a bt et b bttt b et b et st e bttt b et ebeb et enenes $ 146 $ 154
TOLAL ASSEES ..ttt ettt ettt et e et et e et e et e et e eaeeu e e et e eaesae et e et s eatesaeeseesseaesetemte et s enteaesatenteeesatense et e enteseereentenaesas $ 146 $ 154
Liabilities
LONG-tEITN AEDL.......ouiiiiiiic e $ 73 3 73
Interest, taxes and Other HADIIIHIES ........c.ccvieieieriiitieiece ettt ettt sae st sseeae e e beeseesesbeeseenseseas 59 59
TOLA] LHADILIEIES ...ttt ettt sttt ettt ettt b et eae e enenes $ 132 $ 132

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY (UNAUDITED)
Three Months Ended March 31, 2018 2017

(in millions)

Preferred stock

Balance at beginning and end Of PErIOd ........coveveiirieieieieieeeeeee ettt ettt besbeebeereeseeseens $ 1,265 $ 1,265
Common stock

Balance at beginning and end Of PETIOQ .........oouiruiruirieieieieeee ettt ettt re e ene — —
Additional paid-in capital

Balance at be@inning 0f PEIIOQ........ccvecveriirieririeeceeeeetet ettt ettt et et et e stessestesteeseeseesaensensensesseeseeseeseeseenes 18,130 18,148
EMPIlOyee DENETIt PLANS......couiiiiiieiieee ettt e st e e b e e st b et en e b et be e s e A3 (6)

Balance at nd Of PETIOM .......oouiiuiiuiiieie ettt ettt sttt b e bbbt ettt b e bbbt eas 18,127 18,142

Retained earnings

Balance at be@inning Of PEIIOQ. ......c..ecieiiieriirierececeee ettt ettt et et e s e stessesseeseeseeseensensebesseeseeseeseeseenes 1,130 1,560

Reclassification from accumulated other comprehensive loss of cumulative effect adjustment to initially
apply new accounting guidance for equity investments which were previously classified as available-for-
SALE, MOt OF tAX ..o “@ —

Cumulative effect adjustment to initially apply new accounting guidance for equity investments which were
previously measured at COSt, NEE OF TAX .....uivviouieieieieieieereee ettt ettt ettt ese et et eaesesbestessessesseennens 10 —

Reclassification from accumulated other comprehensive loss of cumulative effective adjustment to initially
apply new accounting guidance for stranded tax effects resulting from the Tax Cuts and Jobs Act (“Tax

LE@ISIALION) ...ttt h et s ket b et st b et h b st h et bt b e st b et st b et e et st be e eseteneenan 91 —
Reclassification to accumulated other comprehensive loss of cumulative effect adjustment to initially apply
new accounting guidance for financial liabilities measured under the fair value option, net of tax ................. — (174)
Balance at beginning of period, adJUSted..........coiriiiiiiiiieeee e 1,227 1,386
INEE TNCOIMIE (JOSS) 1.uviuviutitietietieiieit ettt ettt ettt b e bt e bt et eteebtes e e st et et e ebe e bt e bt e bt eseentenb et enbenbesbesbesbesseeneans (238) 296
Balance at €nd OF PEIIOQ .....ccuevuiiiiriieiieieee ettt et ettt ettt et et e bt b e ne st e st e st et e bestesreebeeseeneens 989 1,682
Accumulated other comprehensive loss
Balance at beginning 0f PErioq........coiuiieiiiiiiiee ettt ettt ee (431) (618)
Reclassification to retained earnings of cumulative effect adjustment to initially apply new accounting
guidance for equity investments which were previously classified as available-for-sale, net of tax ................ 4 —
Reclassification to retained earnings of cumulative effective adjustment to initially apply new accounting
guidance for stranded tax effects resulting from Tax Legislation............ccccceeeiviiiinniiinniiiiiiiiiiccns 91 —
Reclassification from retained earnings of cumulative effect adjustment to initially apply new accounting
guidance for financial liabilities measured under the fair value option, net of taX.........cccecvevieverenenicnenenene — 174
Balance at beginning of period, adjUStEd..........coiririririeieiereereeee ettt ens (518) (444)
Other comprehensive income (108S), NEt OF TAX ...ecvivviiieieieieierertee ettt sb e b sbeebeeseeaeens (180) 29
Balance at €nd OF PETIOM .......coueuiiuiieiiiteeee ettt ettt n e a st n et b et ne e (698) (415)
Total COMMON @QUILY...................ccooocueiiniiiiiiiieeee ettt sttt eenen 18,418 19,409
TOTAL @QUILY ...ttt e ettt et e st et e s b e eb e e st e et e a e e st e st e b e be e bt eh e en e ententententeebesteeseeneeneene $ 19,683 $ 20,674

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS (UNAUDITED)
Three Months Ended March 31, 2018 2017

(in millions)

Cash flows from operating activities
INEE TCOIMIE (JOSS)...euvtvieuiententete ettt ettt h ettt et e et et et e st e s be bt e bt e st eaten s et e b et e b e ebeebeestestenbentenaenbensesbeeneenean $ (238) $ 296
Adjustments to reconcile net income (loss) to net cash provided by operating activities:

Depreciation and aMOTTIZALION ..........ceeieieieierierieriesteseeteetestetestessestestesseesesseessessessessessessessesseessensessensessessessessenses (18) (22)
Provision fOr Credit IOSSES .........ciuiuiiiiiiiiiiiiiiicccc s (71) 77)
Net realized gains on securities available-fOor-Sale...........coceviriiiiiiiiiiiir e Q)] 5)
Net change in other assets and HADIIITIES .......co.everirieieieieieeeeeeee ettt sttt s see e e (122) 436
Net change in loans held for sale:
Originations and purchases of 10ans held fOr SAle .........c.ccveviiriiririririeeeeeee e (923) (500)
Sales and collections 0f 10anS NEld FOI SALE ..........ocuiiiiiiiiiiieecee e e eeenaeeen 1,175 738
Net change in trading assets and Habilities .........coeoiieiriririre et (18,061) (6,857)
Lower of amortized cost or fair value adjustments on loans held for sale...........ccceoevinininininiininiiccee, A) ®)
Gain on instruments designated at fair value and related derivatives.........oceeveieierienenenenereee e 30) (34)
Net cash used i OPETALING ACTIVILIES ....ee.veuieieieriertietietietietieteitetestestestestesteeseestestessessesesbessesseeseeseensensensensessessesseeneeneas (18,296) (6,033)
Cash flows from investing activities
Net change in interest bearing deposits With DANKS.........c.ccveierierieriirieieieeeteeeeee e sa e ste e sresseens (6,968) 2,342
Net change in federal funds sold and securities purchased under agreements to resell...........ccoeoeieinineiineiinienecne. 22,804 (521)
Securities available-for-sale:
Purchases of securities available-fOr-SALE ...............ooiuiiiiiiiiiiiiiie ettt e e (2,161) (3,636)
Proceeds from sales of securities available-fOr-8ale ............cceieieriireriiereeeeee e 987 2,249
Proceeds from maturities of securities available-for-sale ..o 948 528

Securities held-to-maturity:

Purchases of securities held-t0-MatULILY .........ccoeriririiiieieiee ettt (900) (1,096)

Proceeds from maturities of securities held-to-Maturity..........cccevereririniininieieee e 591 580
Change in loans:

Collections, Net Of OTIZINATIONS ......c..c.irtiiiuiriiiirteieterteetetet ettt ettt ettt ettt ettt ettt sttt ebe st et ete e ebeseenesteeeneneen 5,012 3,771

L0ans SOIA 10 thild PATtICS .......ccvevveruieiieiieieieieieie ettt ettt ettt et e st e s testeeteeseesae st essessesaessesseeseeneensensensansansenseeseases 207 1,319
Net cash used for acquisitions of properties and EQUIPMENL .........c.cceeirieiriierierierieriesesreseereeeeeeresessessessessessessasseens — (6)
Outflows related to the sale of a portion of our Private Banking DUSINESS ..........ccceoerueririirieireneeniereee e (232) —
OBRET, ML ...ttt ettt et e et e e e te e e eateeebeeeeteeeeaseeeteeeasseeeaseeeateeeaaseeessesensaeessaeeaseseteeeasseeenteeeteeeaneeas a1 230
Net cash provided by investing activities 20,277 5,760
Cash flows from financing activities
INEt ChANGE 1N AEPOSIES . ....euterieierierieiiieieietete ettt et et et et et et e testessessesseeseeseeneensensensanseeseeseesessaessensensensensensenseeseanens 375) 11
Debt:

Net change in ShOrt-term DOTTOWINES . .......c.titiuiiieietiiteieteiet ettt ettt ettt et se s s et et e e esesteneseeneenenean 487 338

Issuance Of 1oNG-teIm deDt.........cc.iiiiiiiiiiiii ettt ettt b ettt be e b e 1,517 1,691

Repayment of 10NG-teIm deDt.........couiiiiiiiiiiieeee ettt ettt ettt eae e (3,899) (1,985)
Other increases (decreases) in CaPItal SUIPIUS .....c.eeuiiiiriertieieieieteiet ettt ettt sttt eae st et et e sesbeseeseesaeene A3 (6)
Net cash provided by (used in) fiNANCING ACLIVILIES ....c.eevieieieiierierierieseseeeetetetete et esteeteeteesesaeaessesessessessessesseeseas (2,273) 49
Net change in cash, due from banks and restricted Cash .........coceviirieiiiciceceeee e (292) (224)
Cash, due from banks and restricted cash at beginning of period.... 4,044 4,374
Cash, due from banks and restricted cash at end of period™ ...................ooooooooeoreeoeeeseeeeeeeeeseeeeeeseeseeeeeee e $ 3752 § 4,150

M The following table provides a reconciliation of the total amount of cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash disaggregated by the line items in which they

appear within the consolidated balance sheet:
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At March 31,

2018 2017
(in millions)
Cash and due from banks ...........cccecvevereninininieieeeeeeeee 1,053 1,037
Restricted cash included in interest bearing deposits with banks ... 2,699 3,113
Total cash, due from banks and restricted Cash ...........................ccocoueveeieeceeiieiiieieecieeee et 3,752 4,150

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (UNAUDITED)

Note Page Note Page
1 Organization and Presentation........c..c..ccccoueue. 10 12 Pension and Other Postretirement Benefits....... 41
2 Trading Assets and Liabilities...........cccccecuenene. 11 13 Fee Income from Contracts with Customers .... 42
3 SECUIILICS. ..veeuvieerereeererieeeesieeteserete e eeeseenee e 12 14 Related Party Transactions ............cceceevevennnns 44
O 0 LR 17 15 Business Segments........cccceeeeerueereereeneneeneennenns 47
5 Allowance for Credit LoSSeS ......ccovvvervreevennnnne. 27 16 Retained Earnings and Regulatory Capital 49

Requirements ..........cceeeveereeneenieieneeieeeenes
6 Loans Held for Sale ........coccooenieiinieninieee 28 17 Variable Interest Entities.........ccocceveeveneenennnes 50
7 GoOdWill ....ooiiiiiiieieiee e 29 18 Guarantee Arrangements, Pledged Assets and 52
Repurchase Agreements..........cccceceeveeeeennne.
8 Sale of Certain Private Banking Client 29 19 Fair Value Measurements .............ccceeverveernenennns 58
Relationships.......ccooceeveevverieeienieeieeeeee
9 Derivative Financial Instruments...................... 30 20 Litigation and Regulatory Matters.................... 73
10 Fair Value Option.........cccecveeverieciereenieneeienennns 37 21 New Accounting Pronouncements.................... 75
11 Accumulated Other Comprehensive Loss........ 40

1. Organization and Presentation

HSBC USA Inc. ("HSBC USA"), incorporated under the laws of Maryland, is a New York State based bank holding company and
a wholly-owned subsidiary of HSBC North America Holdings Inc. ("HSBC North America"), which is an indirect wholly-owned
subsidiary of HSBC Holdings plc ("HSBC" and, together with its subsidiaries, "HSBC Group"). The accompanying unaudited
interim consolidated financial statements of HSBC US A and its subsidiaries (collectively "HUSI") have been prepared in accordance
with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America ("U.S. GAAP") for interim financial information
and with the instructions to Form 10-Q and Article 10 of Regulation S-X, as well as in accordance with predominant practices
within the banking industry. Accordingly, they do not include all of the information and footnotes required by generally accepted
accounting principles for complete financial statements. In the opinion of management, all normal and recurring adjustments
considered necessary for a fair presentation of financial position, results of operations and cash flows for the interim periods have
been made. HUSI may also be referred to in these notes to the consolidated financial statements as "we," "us" or "our." These
unaudited interim consolidated financial statements should be read in conjunction with our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the
year ended December 31, 2017 (the "2017 Form 10-K"). Certain reclassifications have been made to prior period amounts to
conform to the current period presentation.

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with U.S. GAAP requires the use of estimates and assumptions that affect
reported amounts and disclosures. Actual results could differ from those estimates. Interim results should not be considered
indicative of results in future periods.
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2. Trading Assets and Liabilities

Trading assets and liabilities consisted of the following:

March 31, December 31,
2018 2017

(in millions)

Trading assets:

ULS. TEEASUIY ..ttt ettt ettt ettt et st st a e et eeas e bt eatesbe e st saeennesaeenaeennen $ 4643 § 3,391
U.S. Government agency issued or gUaranteed............ceceveriruirieneneniinienienieierereeeeee e 117 122
U.S. Government SpONSOTed ENEETPIISES. .....cveteuteuieiririirtirterieetentestestetesteseetestetestese et eseebesbesaeseennes 7 210
ASSEt-DACKEA SECUITLIES. .. .c.veeviiiiiieieiet ettt e 240 236
Corporate and foreign DONAS .......c..coivirieririiiiie ettt 8,213 6,180
OhET SECUTTTIES ....viiiiieiieiiee ettt ettt ettt st s sttt et et aeeae bt ebesbesaens — 12
PrECIOUS METALS ....cuiiiiiiiiiiitiitiiteet ettt sttt ettt et ettt be bbb sbe e 16,057 2,274
DIEIIVALIVES, TICL ....e.tiiiiitieiiet ettt ettt ettt b et e b et e e b et e bt e bt eate s bt emtesbeemtesbeenaesbeenaesbeans 3,373 3,725
TOtAl trAdING ASSELS ...uveueeutriieuirtieteitert ettt ettt ettt ettt b e eb e bt sttt b e st et ettt et ebe bt e bt ebeebesae st enes $ 32650 $ 16,150
Trading liabilities: -
Securities s0ld, N0t Yet PUIChASEA........c..coiriririiiiiciciet ettt e $ 1,627 $ 1,722
Payables for precious MELals .........ccoeoiriiriiriiiiieieeeccee ettt — 524
DIETIVALIVES, TIET .. .vtuiieetiitiiteitiet ettt ettt et ettt et e b e bbbttt be b bbbt et et et ebeebtebeebeebeebesbenaens 1,703 2,633
Total trading HAbIIILIES ......cceeiiuiiiiiiiiieee ettt s s $ 3330 $ 4,879

At March 31, 2018 and December 31, 2017, the fair value of derivatives included in trading assets is net of $2,195 million and
$3,423 million, respectively, relating to amounts recognized for the obligation to return cash collateral received under master
netting agreements with derivative counterparties.

At March 31, 2018 and December 31, 2017, the fair value of derivatives included in trading liabilities is net of $3,611 million and
$3,680 million, respectively, relating to amounts recognized for the right to reclaim cash collateral paid under master netting
agreements with derivative counterparties.

See Note 9, "Derivative Financial Instruments," for further information on our trading derivatives and related collateral.
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3. Securities

Our securities available-for-sale and securities held-to-maturity portfolios consisted of the following:

Amortized  Unrealized Unrealized Fair
March 31, 2018 Cost Gains Losses Value
(in millions)
Securities available-for-sale:
ULS. TIOASULY ..ttt ettt ettt sttt ettt eaeebe e ebeebesaeseenean $ 14,847 $ 147 $ (407) $ 14,587
U.S. Government sponsored enterprises:
Mortgage-backed SECUTITHIES .......ccuervirierieerieriieie et 3,779 1 (159) 3,621
Collateralized mortgage obligations ...........cccecveveereeieenenenienenenenenenes 647 — (38) 609
Direct agency obligations..........ccccveruirierienienienieieieieeeeeeeese e 3,262 75 4)) 3,336
U.S. Government agency issued or guaranteed:
Mortgage-backed SECUTITHIES .......ccuerueriirieerieniieie ettt 5,312 1 167) 5,146
Collateralized mortgage obligations ...........cccecveveeeeieeneneniencnenereneenes 775 16 (28) 763
Direct agency obligations..........ccccverviruerienienieienieieieeeeeeeese e 345 22 — 367
Asset-backed securities collateralized by:
HOME @QUILY -.eveeniiiieteeieeeee et 52 — 3) 49
OBRET ...ttt 303 4 — 307
Foreign debt SECUTTHIES ™ oo 1,437 1 — 1,438
Total available-for-sale SECUTILIES .........eeveruerieieieieieiieieceeeescseee e $ 30,759 $ 267 $ (803) $ 30,223
Securities held-to-maturity: -
U.S. Government sponsored enterprises:
Mortgage-backed SECUTITHIES .......ccuerueriereerieriieie ettt $ 2,008 $ 1 9 (40) $ 1,969
Collateralized mortgage obligations ...........ccceeveveeieieenenieniencneneneneenes 1,221 36 (28) 1,229
U.S. Government agency issued or guaranteed:
Mortgage-backed SECUTILIES .......cerueruirierienienieieieieieceicei e 2,385 3 (69) 2,319
Collateralized mortgage obligations ..........cccccevereereiienenienenieeeieee 8,645 13 (186) 8,472
Obligations of U.S. states and political subdiviSions........c..ccccecererverereneennee 12 1 — 13
Asset-backed securities collateralized by residential mortgages................... 3 — — 3
Total held-to-maturity SECUTTHIES .....c..evverreruerieieieieieieteceeei et $ 14274 $ 54 § (323) $ 14,005
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Amortized  Unrealized Unrealized Fair
December 31, 2017 Cost Gains Losses Value

(in millions)

Securities available-for-sale:

ULS. TICASULY .ttt sttt ettt st sttt et $ 15340 $ 153 % (329) § 15,164
U.S. Government sponsored enterprises:

Mortgage-backed SECUIILIES .......oervervirrereieieiieieieerere et 3,616 — (77) 3,539

Collateralized mortgage obligations ..........cccveveeeeeereniineneneneneereenes 648 — (24) 624

Direct agency obligations .........ccceeererierienieieiiieieinereseee e 3,369 85 — 3,454
U.S. Government agency issued or guaranteed:

Mortgage-backed SECUITLIES .......c.evververreieieieieieieere et 5,152 1 (87) 5,066

Collateralized mortgage obligations ..........cccveveeeeeereniineneneneneereenes 792 1 (18) 775

Direct agency Obligations .........ccccerueeieririienieiere ettt 419 19 — 438
Asset-backed securities collateralized by:

HOME EQUILY....cuveuiiiiiiiiieiieere ettt s 54 — 3) 51

ORET .ttt 506 4 — 510
Foreign debt SECUTTHES ! ............oveeeeeeeeee e 902 — — 902
EQUILY SECUIILIES ...eovvivieiiieiieiieiicieeteeste ettt et ae bbb et sbeeseenne e 183 — (6) 177

Total available-for-Sale SECUTILIES .......eevieeieeeeeeeeeeeeeeee e e e e e eee e $ 30,981 $ 263 $ (544) $ 30,700

Securities held-to-maturity:

U.S. Government sponsored enterprises:

Mortgage-backed SECUTIIES .......c.evvereirierieieieieeeeee e $ 2113 % 10 $ (12) § 2,111
Collateralized mortgage obligations ........c..ccceceevevererienieninienenenenennenee 1,281 41 (18) 1,304

U.S. Government agency issued or guaranteed:
Mortgage-backed SECUITLIES .......o.evververreieieieieieieeeese et 2,485 4 (13) 2,476
Collateralized mortgage obligations ..........cccveeveeeeeinerineneneneneereenes 8,083 18 (106) 7,995
Obligations of U.S. states and political subdiviSions .........c..ceceevererenenrenens 12 1 — 13
Asset-backed securities collateralized by residential mortgages................... 3 — — 3
Total held-to-maturity SECUTITIES ....c..eoververerieiereieeeiieeeeereeese e $ 13977 $ 74 % (149) $ 13,902

M Foreign debt securities represent public sector entity, bank or corporate debt.

Net unrealized losses were higher within the available-for-sale portfolio in the first quarter of 2018 due primarily to increasing
yields on U.S. Treasury securities as well as U.S. Government sponsored and U.S. Government agency mortgage-backed securities.
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The following table summarizes gross unrealized losses and related fair values at March 31,2018 and December 31,2017 classified
as to the length of time the losses have existed:

One Year or Less Greater Than One Year
Number Gross Aggregate Number Gross Aggregate
of Unrealized Fair Value of Unrealized Fair Value
March 31, 2018 Securities Losses of Investment Securities Losses of Investment

(dollars are in millions)

Securities available-for-sale:

U.S. TIeaSUTY ...eoveeeneieieieiieeee e 8 3 13) s 834 42 $ (3% $ 9,375
U.S. Government sponsored enterprises...... 102 33) 1,161 84 (165) 3,005
U.S. Government agency issued or
UArANteed ......ooveveieieieieeeeeee e 55 (162) 4,994 24 33) 666
Asset-backed securities..........ccoovvererevennennen. 1 — — 4 3) 49
Foreign debt securities ..........ccceeverveerreennnenn 9 — 627 1 — 47
Securities available-for-sale...........ccccoccvenuennenn. 175 $ (208) $ 7,616 155§ (595 § 13,142
Securities held-to-maturity:
U.S. Government sponsored enterprises...... 352§ 31 $ 1,860 288 $ 37 $ 963
U.S. Government agency issued or
UAranteed ........cocevvevenieieieirereee e 162 (128) 6,087 495 (127) 3,281
Obligations of U.S. states and political
SUDAIVISIONS ..o 1 — — 1 — —
Securities held-to-maturity ...........cc.cccceeveuenene. 515 § (159 $ 7,947 784 $§ (164) $ 4,244
One Year or Less Greater Than One Year
Number Gross Aggregate Number Gross Aggregate
of Unrealized Fair Value of Unrealized Fair Value
December 31, 2017 Securities Losses of Investment Securities Losses of Investment

(dollars are in millions)

Securities available-for-sale:

U.S. Treasury ......ccocccveoenviccinneccicnenes 33 3 $ 463 48 $ (326) $ 10,285
U.S. Government sponsored enterprises...... 83 (7 883 77 %94) 3,109
U.S. Government agency issued or
UAranteed ........cocevvevenieieieirereee e 52 (85) 5,161 23 (20) 573
Asset-backed securities.........cccceceeerercnnenne. — — — 4 3) 51
Foreign debt securities.........ccceceverercnennene 10 — 733 1 — 44
Equity SECUITtIES....evveverereieieiircrieeicnienane — — — 1 (6) 177
Securities available-for-sale...........c..cccocecennnen. 148 $ 95) $ 7,240 154 § (449) § 14,239
Securities held-to-maturity: -
U.S. Government sponsored enterprises...... 264 % 5) S 1,126 284 § (25) % 1,020
U.S. Government agency issued or
GUATANEERd ....voveveneiceeicececeeeceane 116 (48) 5,973 506 (71) 2,962
Obligations of U.S. states and political
SUDAIVISIONS ... 1 — — 2 — —
Securities held-to-maturity ..........c.ccoceveerunnenee 381 $ (53) $ 7,099 792 $ 96) § 3,982

Although the fair value of a particular security may be below its amortized cost, it does not necessarily result in a credit loss and
hence an other-than-temporary impairment. The decline in fair value may be caused by, among other things, the illiquidity of the
market. We have reviewed the securities for which there is an unrealized loss for other-than-temporary impairment in accordance
with our accounting policies, discussed further below. At March 31, 2018 and December 31, 2017, we do not consider any of our
debt securities to be other-than-temporarily impaired as we expect to recover their amortized cost basis and we neither intend nor
expect to be required to sell these securities prior to recovery, even if that equates to holding securities until their individual
maturities. However, other-than-temporary impairments may occur in future periods if the credit quality of the securities
deteriorates.
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Other-Than-Temporary Impairment On a quarterly basis, we perform an assessment to determine whether there have been any
events or economic circumstances to indicate that a security with an unrealized loss has suffered other-than-temporary impairment.
A debt security is considered impaired if its fair value is less than its amortized cost at the reporting date. If impaired, we assess
whether the impairment is other-than-temporary.

If we intend to sell the debt security or if it is more-likely-than-not that we will be required to sell the debt security before the
recovery of its amortized cost basis, the impairment is considered other-than-temporary and the unrealized loss is recorded in
earnings. An impairment is also considered other-than-temporary if a credit loss exists (i.e., the present value of the expected future
cash flows is less than the amortized cost basis of the debt security). In the event a credit loss exists, the credit loss component of
an other-than-temporary impairment is recorded in earnings while the remaining portion of the impairment loss attributable to
factors other than credit loss is recognized, net of tax, in other comprehensive income (loss).

For all securities held in the available-for-sale or held-to-maturity portfolios for which unrealized losses attributed to factors other
than credit existed, we do not have the intention to sell and believe we will not be required to sell the securities for contractual,
regulatory or liquidity reasons as of the reporting date. For a complete description of the factors considered when analyzing debt
securities for impairments, see Note 4, "Securities," in our 2017 Form 10-K. There have been no material changes in our process
for assessing impairment during 2018.

During the three months ended March 31, 2018 and 2017, none of our debt securities were determined to have either initial other-
than-temporary impairment or changes to previous other-than-temporary impairment estimates relating to the credit component,
as such, there were no other-than-temporary impairment losses recognized related to credit loss.

Other securities gains, net The following table summarizes realized gains and losses on investment securities transactions
attributable to available-for-sale securities:

Three Months Ended March 31, 2018 2017

(in millions)
GTOSS TCAIIZEA ZAINS ....evieniieeiiiieiieeieeie ettt ettt et e et e b e esaesbeesseseessesseenseaseessesseensesssensesssensenssens $ 9 S 5
Gross T€ALIZEA T0SSES .......couiiiiiiiiiiiciicc s “@ —
INEt TEALIZEA GAINS ...vveuvieeieiieiieiieieett ettt et et et e et et e st et e esbeseessenseessesseesseessessesssessesssensesssessenssens $ 5 % 5
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Contractual Maturities and Yields The following table summarizes the amortized cost and fair values of securities available-for-
sale and securities held-to-maturity at March 31,2018 by contractual maturity. Expected maturities differ from contractual maturities
because borrowers have the right to prepay obligations without prepayment penalties in certain cases. The table below also reflects
the distribution of maturities of debt securities held at March 31, 2018, together with the approximate taxable equivalent yield of
the portfolio. The yields shown are calculated by dividing annualized interest income, including the accretion of discounts and the
amortization of premiums, by the amortized cost of securities outstanding at March 31, 2018. Yields on tax-exempt obligations
have been computed on a taxable equivalent basis using applicable statutory tax rates.

After One After Five

Within But Within But Within After Ten
One Year Five Years Ten Years Years
Taxable Equivalent Basis Amount Yield Amount Yield Amount Yield Amount Yield

(dollars are in millions)

Available-for-sale:

U.S. Treasury .....occceveeneereeneeneennene $ — —% $ 3,392 222% $ 8,255 2.07% $ 3,200 3.04%
U.S. Government sponsored
ENLETPTISES .vovveeverrerienieseeienieeeeeeeereeenes 225  3.54 2,588  3.03 1,998 2.64 2,877 2.79
U.S. Government agency issued or
guaranteed........coceveveeeienieieinenceene, 50 1.87 67 2.06 18  4.00 6,297  2.64
Asset-backed securities ...........coceveenee 200 3.17 — — — — 155 4.22
Foreign debt securities..........c.ceceecerennene 551 .16 886  1.40 — — — —
Total amortized COSt .........covveevrvevieecrieeneen, $ 1,026 1.57% $ 6,933 242% $ 10,271 2.18% $ 12,529 2.80%
Total fair VAlUe.......oeeeveeeeeeeeeeereeeeeerseeeeene $ 1,030 $ 6,965 $ 9,938 $ 12,290

Held-to-maturity:
U.S. Government sponsored

(S 1175740) 0 1< SRR $ — —% $ 322 257% $ 280 2.77% $ 2,627 2.86%
U.S. Government agency issued or
guaranteed........cocooveveeeieneeiieinenceenne. — — 20 3.86 31  3.57 10,979  2.47
Obligations of U.S. states and political
SUDAIVISIONS ...oeveneeeienieeeieie e 1 425 5 3.6l 5 457 1 441
Asset-backed securities ...........cecueeneenne — — — — — — 3 625
Total amortized COSt .......oeververreiereieernnnn, $ 1 425% $ 347 2.66% $§ 316 2.87% § 13,610 2.55%
Total fair Value.....ooveeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeenn $ 1 $ 344 $ 313 $ 13,347

Equity Securities As discussed more fully in Note 21, “New Accounting Pronouncements,” beginning January 1, 2018, equity
securities (except those accounted for under the equity method or those that result in consolidation) are measured at fair value with
changes in fair value recognized in net income (loss).

Included in other assets at March 31, 2018 were $277 million of equity securities which were carried at fair value and $5 million
of equity securities without readily determinable fair values which were carried at amortized cost less impairment adjusted for
observable price changes.

On a quarterly basis, we perform an assessment to determine whether any equity securities without readily determinable fair values
are impaired. In the event an equity security is deemed impaired, the security is written down to fair value with impairment recorded
in earnings. At March 31, 2018, none of our equity securities without readily determinable fair values were determined to be
impaired.

Also included in other assets were investments in Federal Home Loan Bank stock and Federal Reserve Bank stock of $201 million
and $631 million, respectively, at both March 31, 2018 and December 31, 2017.
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4. Loans

Loans consisted of the following:

March 31, December 31,
2018 2017

(in millions)

Commercial loans:

Real estate, including CONSIUCTION. ........eiuierieriieieeiieie ettt esee e seeeneens $ 11,054 $ 10,533
Business and corporate DanKing ...........ccceeererieieiieieieieeeieeiese sttt 12,818 12,504
GIODAL DANKING™ ... 19,289 20,088
Other COMMETCIAI? ...t 4,578 9,910
Total COMMETCIAL........oiuieiieiieiie ettt ettt e st e e eneesesseesesneenseeneens 47,739 53,035
Consumer loans:
Residential MOTLZAZES .....covevueruirririeriirtetetet ettt sttt ettt ettt sae b enes 17,325 17,273
HOME EQUILY MOTEZAZES ....vevieiiiterteieietet ettt ettt ettt ettt st sttt et ettt e st ebe e bt ebeeseenes 1,139 1,191
CIEAIE CATAS ...ttt ettt ettt ettt e b e e st et e e st et e enee st eneesseeneesneesesseensesneenseannens 770 721
OthET COMSUIMET ...ttt ettt ettt eh et be sttt e st et e et e e et e st e st e st ebeeseeseebeanes 365 343
TOAL COMSUIMIET ......ineieiiieieiieii ettt ettt ettt e et e b e et e s e e st et e en s et e enee st eneesseeneesneesesneensesneesennnens 19,599 19,528
TOAL LOANS ...ttt ettt ettt e et et esta e beese e beessesseessenseessassaessanseenseaseessesssessesssessesssessanssans $ 67338 $§ 72,563

(" Represents large multinational firms including globally focused U.S. corporate and financial institutions, U.S. dollar lending to multinational banking clients
managed by HSBC on a global basis and complex large business clients supported by Global Banking and Markets relationship managers.

@ Includes loans to HSBC affiliates which totaled $1,920 million and $6,750 million at March 31, 2018 and December 31, 2017, respectively. See Note 14,
"Related Party Transactions," for additional information regarding loans to HSBC affiliates.

Net deferred origination costs totaled $88 million and $81 million at March 31, 2018 and December 31, 2017, respectively. At
both March 31, 2018 and December 31, 2017, we had a net unamortized premium on our loans of $8 million.
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Aging Analysis of Past Due Loans The following table summarizes the past due status of our loans, excluding loans held for sale,
at March 31, 2018 and December 31, 2017. The aging of past due amounts is determined based on the contractual delinquency
status of payments under the loan. An account is generally considered to be contractually delinquent when payments have not been
made in accordance with the loan terms. Delinquency status is affected by customer account management policies and practices
such as re-age, which results in the re-setting of the contractual delinquency status to current.

Past Due Total Past Due

At March 31,2018 30-89Days 90+ Days 30 Daysor More Current”  Total Loans
(in millions)
Commercial loans:
Real estate, including construction............ceeceeeeererrencnnens $ 42 3 10 § 52§ 11,002 $ 11,054
Business and corporate banking ..............cceeveeverieiieneennnns 36 2 38 12,780 12,818
Global banking............ccceeverieiinieniienceereeeeeeee e — — — 19,289 19,289
Other commErcial ..........oocvvvieriieieieiee e 12 — 12 4,566 4,578
Total commercial ............coooviiiiiiieeiiiiecee e 90 12 102 47,637 47,739
Consumer loans:

Residential mortgages........coceevveveieniinieninieneeieneeeeseeene 337 312 649 16,676 17,325
Home equity mortgages. ........cccceeverenenienenienieieneeeeennenne 10 34 44 1,095 1,139
Credit Cards.....ocvvecieeiieiieeieeee e 10 8 18 752 770
Other CONSUIMET .......eeveriieieeiieieeeieie et eee e eee e eeeseeeneens 5 5 10 355 365
Total CONSUIMET ........veiieiiiieeiiee et e 362 359 721 18,878 19,599
TOtal 10ANS ....cviieiieiiiciecee e $ 452 $ 371 § 823 § 66,515 $ 67,338

Past Due Total Past Due
At December 31, 2017 30-89Days 90+ Days 30 Days or More  Current” Total Loans

(in millions)

Commercial loans:
Real estate, including construction............coeceeeeeveereneennene $ 27 $ 9 S 36 $§ 10497 $ 10,533
Business and corporate banking ..............cccoevveeeerieriereennnns 25 5 30 12,474 12,504
Global banKing............cceeeeeeeieeinineresese e — 25 25 20,063 20,088
Other coOmMMETCial .......cceeevieiieiieieiieiee e 43 — 43 9,867 9,910
Total commercial .............coooeiiiiiiieeiiiceeeeeceeeeeeeeee e 95 39 134 52,901 53,035
Consumer loans:
Residential mOrtgages........coovevveeeeenieieneeiereeereee e 369 344 713 16,560 17,273
Home equity mortgages. ........coceeereruervenienenienieieceeeennenne 11 36 47 1,144 1,191
Credit Cards.......cuvevieeieeiieeieeee et 8 9 17 704 721
Other CONSUMET .......cccveriieieetieiieeiereeeenteeee e eee e eeesseeneens 5 7 12 331 343
Total CONSUMET ........cceiieiieciieiiecie e 3903 396 789 18,739 19,528
TOtAl LOANS ..ottt enes $ 488 $ 435 § 923 § 71,640 $ 72,563
m

Loans less than 30 days past due are presented as current.
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Nonaccrual Loans Nonaccrual loans, including nonaccrual loans held for sale, and accruing loans 90 days or more delinquent
consisted of the following:

March 31, December 31,
2018 2017

(in millions)

Nonaccrual loans:

Commercial:
Real estate, including CONSTUCTION. .....c.eivuiiriiiieiiiieee ettt $ 13 12
Business and corporate DANKING ...........ccoevererieierieieeieeeiee ettt 258 215
G1ODAL DANKING ......vivieiieiieiieiecie ettt ettt sttt et e e ta et e essesseesseeseessesseessesseensesssessesssensenssens 279 385
Other COMMETCIAL.......eiiiiiiieeii ettt et e st e e teesebeessaeense e baesnseensaesnsaenseennsens — 1
Commercial nonaccrual loans held for Sale ...........coociiiiiiiiiiiiciee e 31 —
Total COMMETCIAL........ccuieiiiiieiiciieieeeete ettt ettt e e s e te e s e e seessesseensesseessesssensensnens 581 613
Consumer:
Residential Mortgages' @) . o e 408 414
Home equity MOort@ages @ ... .. ..o 66 67
Consumer nonaccrual 10ans held for Sale..........c.oovieeciiiiiiiiiiiie e 1 1
TOLAL COMSUIMET ... .uvievieietieiieeiie et e ete et e et e eteeeeve e teeeabeebeeesbeessaesssaeseessseessaesseessseasseeseesssaanseesnsens 475 482
Total NONACCIUING JOANS...........cccoiiiiiiiiiiii ettt ereesaesaeessesssesessaessessnens 1,056 1,095
Accruing loans contractually past due 90 days or more:
Commercial:
Business and corporate DANKING ...........coocierieriererierieeieeeeee ettt sseseeesessaenseennens 1 1
Total COMMEICIAL........ccvieiiiiieiiiieieee ettt e b e e saeeteesaesseesaeeseessesseesseessessensnens 1 1
Consumer:
CIEAIE CATAS ..vvieienieeiieieeiee ettt ettt e e st e e st e e e st et e esse st e enseseensesseensesseensesssensesssensennnens 8 9
OthET COMSUIMIET ....uvivieiiieiieiieeiete ettt eteeteete st esaesteesbeessesseessesseessasseessasseessesseessesseessesssessesssessenssans 6 8
TOLAl CONSUIMET .....uvieiiieiiiieiieeie ettt ettt et e st e et e e beeesbeesteessbeesseessseessaaasseensaeanseeseesssannseesnsens 14 17
Total accruing loans contractually past due 90 days or more...................cccoevieevieeieeciiecieennnne, 15 18
Total NoNPerforming LOAMS ..............c.occoeviiiiiiiiiiecceecee ettt sre e sreebeesaesbeesnens $ 1,071 $ 1,113

M At March 31, 2018 and December 31, 2017, nonaccrual consumer mortgage loans held for investment include $362 million and $360 million, respectively,
of loans that are carried at the lower of amortized cost or fair value of the collateral less cost to sell.

@ Nonaccrual consumer mortgage loans held for investment include all loans which are 90 or more days contractually delinquent as well as loans discharged
under Chapter 7 bankruptcy and not re-affirmed and second lien loans where the first lien loan that we own or service is 90 or more days contractually
delinquent.

©®  Nonaccrual consumer mortgage loans for all periods does not include guaranteed loans purchased from the Government National Mortgage Association.

Repayment of these loans are predominantly insured by the Federal Housing Administration and as such, these loans have different risk characteristics from

the rest of our consumer loan portfolio.

The following table provides additional information on our nonaccrual loans:

Three Months Ended March 31, 2018 2017

(in millions)

Interest income that would have been recorded if the nonaccrual loans had been current in
accordance with contractual terms during the period...........cceeveviieierieienicee s 14 20

Interest income that was recorded on nonaccrual loans and included in interest income during the
0135 L T« E TSRS SIUPURPRN 9 11
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Impaired Loans A loan is considered to be impaired when it is deemed probable that not all principal and interest amounts due
according to the contractual terms of the loan agreement will be collected. Probable losses from impaired loans are quantified and
recorded as a component of the overall allowance for credit losses. Commercial and consumer loans for which we have modified
the loan terms as part of a troubled debt restructuring are considered to be impaired loans. Additionally, commercial loans in
nonaccrual status, or that have been partially charged-off or assigned a specific allowance for credit losses are also considered
impaired loans.

Troubled debt restructurings TDR Loans represent loans for which the original contractual terms have been modified to provide
for terms that are less than what we would be willing to accept for new loans with comparable risk because of deterioration in the
borrower's financial condition.

Modifications for consumer or commercial loans may include changes to one or more terms of the loan, including, but not limited
to, a change in interest rate, extension of the amortization period, reduction in payment amount and partial forgiveness or deferment
of principal, accrued interest or other loan covenants. A substantial amount of our modifications involve interest rate reductions
on consumer loans which lower the amount of interest income we are contractually entitled to receive in future periods. Through
lowering the interest rate and other loan term changes, we believe we are able to increase the amount of cash flow that will ultimately
be collected from the loan, given the borrower's financial condition. TDR Loans are reserved for based on the present value of
expected future cash flows discounted at the loans' original effective interest rates, which generally results in a higher reserve
requirement for these loans, the loan's observable market price or in the case of certain secured loans, the estimated fair value of
the underlying collateral. Once a consumer loan is classified as a TDR Loan, it continues to be reported as such until it is paid off
or charged-off. For commercial loans, if subsequent performance is in accordance with the new terms and such terms reflect current
market rates at the time of restructure, they will no longer be reported as a TDR Loan beginning in the year after restructuring.
During the three months ended March 31, 2018 and 2017 there were no commercial loans that met this criteria and were removed
from TDR Loan classification.

The following table presents information about loans which were modified during the three months ended March 31, 2018 and
2017 and as a result of this action became classified as TDR Loans:

Three Months Ended March 31, 2018 2017

(in millions)

Consumer loans:

ReSIAENTIAl MOTTZAZES ....ovivivieievinietiietesi ettt ettt ettt et bt s se s se s ess s easesessesessesessesessesesens $ 5 % 6
Home equity mortgages .. 2 2
CTEAIL CATAS ..eeuvieeeieeiieiie ettt et etee et e st e et e e e e tbe e teeesbe e seessbaesseessbeessaeasseassaassseenseesssaesseessseenseenssenn 1 1
TOLAl COMSUITIET ... .o.vvivieietieietieieteet ettt ettt ettt se et e ee et e ss et e st esessesessese s esesseseesessesessesessesessessssesensesesens $ 8 3§ 9

During the three months ended March 31, 2018 and 2017, there were no commercial TDR Loans which were modified and as a
result of this action became classified as TDR Loans.

The weighted-average contractual rate reduction for consumer loans which became classified as TDR Loans during the three
months ended March 31, 2018 and 2017 was 3.86 percent and 1.63 percent, respectively. The weighted-average contractual rate
reduction for commercial loans was not significant in either the number of loans or rate.
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The following table presents information about our TDR Loans and the related allowance for credit losses for TDR Loans:

March 31, 2018 December 31, 2017
Unpaid Unpaid
Carrying  Principal Carrying Principal
Value Balance Value Balance

(in millions)

TDR Loans:"*®
Commercial loans:
Business and corporate Banking ...........c.cceevererienieieinienieeeencsesese e $ 156 $ 205 $ 194 $§ 266
G1ODAl DANKING. .....eveeiteiieiiieieieteet ettt 96 101 175 180
Total COMMETCIAl® ...t 252 306 369 446
Consumer loans:
Residential mortgages™ .............cooovvivveeoeeeeeeeeeeeee e 668 762 683 779
Home equity mor‘cgages(4) ..................................................................................... 34 66 33 66
CIEAIE CATAS ..vvveeee ettt et e e e ettt eeeeeeeaaeeeeesesraaeeeesessareeeessssaaeeeens 4 4 4 4
TOtAl COMSUIMET........ueeeiiieiieeieeieecte ettt et e et e ebeesbeebeesebeebeesabeesbaessseesseesssaenseens 706 832 720 849
Total TDR LOANS® ..ottt $ 958 $ 1,138 $ 1,089 $ 1,295

Allowance for credit losses for TDR Loans:®

Commercial loans:

Business and corporate banking ............ccecceeieviiirieniereeeeeeeee e $ 16 $ 12
G1ODAl DANKING........ecvieiieiieiieiieieie ettt beeee e b e eseesbeesaesseesseneas — 19
Total COMMETCIAL ........oovieiieiieiieiee e e 16 31
Consumer loans:

Residential MOTtZaZES. ... .c.eeueeuirieriieierie ettt 5 7
HOme eqUIty MOTZAZES .....ecvverieeieiieeierieeie et eie st eae s ere et ebe et esseeseesseesaesseesseseas 1 1
(3 (T LT o2 (o RS 1 1
TOtAl COMSUIMET......eeiiiiiitiitiitieteet ettt b bbbttt 7 9

Total allowance for credit losses for TDR Loans ............ccccoeeeveeeeiiceeiieeeieeeee e $ 23 $ 40

(M TDR Loans are considered to be impaired loans. For consumer loans, all such loans are considered impaired loans regardless of accrual status. For commercial
loans, impaired loans include other loans in addition to TDR Loans which totaled $368 million and $329 million at March 31, 2018 and December 31, 2017,
respectively.

@ The carrying value of TDR Loans includes basis adjustments on the loans, such as partial charge-offs, unamortized deferred fees and costs on originated
loans and premiums or discounts on purchased loans.

®  Additional commitments to lend to commercial borrowers whose loans have been modified in TDR Loans totaled $161 million and $245 million at March 31,
2018 and December 31, 2017, respectively.

@ At March 31, 2018 and December 31, 2017, the carrying value of consumer mortgage TDR Loans held for investment includes $644 million and $655
million, respectively, of loans that are recorded at the lower of amortized cost or fair value of the collateral less cost to sell.

® At March 31, 2018 and December 31, 2017, the carrying value of TDR Loans includes $469 million and $559 million, respectively, of loans which are
classified as nonaccrual.

(6)

Included in the allowance for credit losses.
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The following table presents information about average TDR Loans and interest income recognized on TDR Loans:

Three Months Ended March 31, 2018 2017

(in millions)

Average balance of TDR Loans:
Commercial loans:

Real estate, iINCIUding CONSIIUCTION. .......ccuiiieriiiieriieteieet ettt esae e e saeeeesbeessesbeessesseens $ — 31
Business and corporate DanKing ...........cocoiieriiiiniiieieeee e 175 285
(€2 e] 021 I 0T 11 1 =S PRUSPTRSP 136 119
TOtal COMMEICIAL.......c.eiivieeiiiieeiiieeteeeee ettt te e re e b e ereesesseessessnesbeessesseessensanns 311 435
Consumer loans:
Residential MOTEZAZES .....eevveriieieriieieeiieie sttt ettt et et e st et e sseensesseensesnnessesssensennsenseans 676 715
HOME ©QUILY MOTTZAZES ... veeiuveerieitieeiieriieeteesteeteesteeteesteeesaeeseessbeeseessseeseesssessseessaesnseesssessseenes 34 29
(05T TR ¢« RO 4 4
TOLAl COMSUIMET .....eevvieieiieiieie ettt et e et e b e et e b e esa e teesaeseessesseesseeseensesssessesssensasssensenssensanns 714 748
Total average balance 0f TDR LOANS.......cc.ciuiiiiiiiieieieieiiee ettt $ 1,025 § 1,183

Interest income recognized on TDR Loans:
Commercial loans:

Business and corporate DAnKING ............cccceoeeieiriririneiiseesiese ettt $ 4 3 3
(€2 0] 0T 1 I 0T 115 1 = USRS 1 —
Total COMMETICIAL......c.oouiiiiiieiccce ettt e 5 3

Consumer loans:

Residential MOTEZAZES .....ecuvereieeieiieieeit ettt ettt ettt et e st entesseesaesaeesseeneesseeneenseans 7 7
TOLAl CONSUITIET ......veeiiinieieieiereecre ettt st sttt e e ne 7 7
Total interest income recognized on TDR LOANS........ccccciriiiiiiiiiiinisee e $ 12§ 10

The following table presents consumer loans which were classified as TDR Loans during the previous 12 months which
subsequently became 60 days or greater contractually delinquent during the three months ended March 31, 2018 and 2017:

Three Months Ended March 31, 2018 2017

(in millions)

Consumer loans:

ReSIAENtIal MOTTZAZES ....ovivevieietieietiieticieteet ettt ettt ettt et bt s s s st seas b easeseasessasesessesesesessenis $ 2 3 3
HOME ©QUILY MOTTZALZES ..ecvveeeiieiieieieiieereeeteestteeteestteeteesteessteeseessseesseesssessseesssessseesssessesssseensesnsees 1 —
TOLAL COMSUITIET ....cuvivieevietieteeeeeeteette vt eteeteeeteeteeeteeteeebeessebeesseseeaseessesseessenseeseeseesseseesseseesseseensenseens $ 3 93 3

During the three months ended March 31, 2018 and 2017, there were no commercial TDR Loans which were classified as TDR
Loans during the previous 12 months which subsequently became 90 days or greater contractually delinquent.
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Impaired commercial loans The following table presents information about impaired commercial loans and the related impairment
reserve for impaired commercial loans:

Amount Amount
with without Total Impaired Unpaid
Impairment Impairment Commercial Impairment Principal
Reserves®™ Reserves®™ Loans"® Reserve Balance
(in millions)
At March 31, 2018
Real estate, including construction...........cccceceeeeerenene $ 2 % 10 $ 12 $ 1 S 12
Business and corporate banking ..........c.cccceceeeeeerencnnns 196 90 286 39 329
Global banking ..........ccceevererenereeeeeeeeeeeese e 188 134 322 62 391
Total commercial........ccceeeevveeiiiiiiieiiiieeeeeeeeeee e $ 386 $ 234 $ 620 $ 102 $ 732
At December 31, 2017 -
Real estate, including construction.............cceceveeruennees $ — $ 11 $ 11 3 — 3 11
Business and corporate banking ............cccceceeceeerinennens 121 129 250 45 311
Global banking ...........ccceveverieriesieieieieeeeeieeee e 262 175 437 82 520
Total comMmMErcial......cccvvvvieeieeiieeeeeeeeeee e $ 383 $ 315 $ 698 $ 127  $ 842
m

Reflects the carrying value of impaired commercial loans and includes basis adjustments on the loans, such as partial charge-offs, unamortized deferred fees
and costs on originated loans and premiums or discounts on purchased loans.

@ Includes impaired commercial loans that are also considered TDR Loans which totaled $252 million and $369 million at March 31, 2018 and December 31,
2017, respectively.

The following table presents information about average impaired commercial loans and interest income recognized on impaired

commercial loans:

Three Months Ended March 31, 2018 2017
(in millions)

Average balance of impaired commercial loans:

Real estate, iNCIUdIng CONSIIUCTION. .......eiierierieieeierieeiesteete st et et eaesreeaeseeesseseaessesssesseessessesssensenns $ 12§ 44
Business and corporate DANKING ...........ccueouerieieieieietieieee ettt et eae bt seea 268 333
GlODAL DANKING ..ottt ettt ettt et e et e e s st et e e st e st eneenseeneesseeneenseennenneens 380 607
Other COMIMETCIAL........eciiiiiiiiieiiiete ettt — 7
Total average balance of impaired commercial 10ans ............ccccoviriiireneieeeee e $ 660 S 991
Interest income recognized on impaired commercial loans: -
Business and corporate banking $ 5 % 4
Global banking 1 —
Total interest income recognized on impaired commercial loans $ 6 $ 4
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Commercial Loan Credit Quality Indicators The following credit quality indicators are monitored for our commercial loan
portfolio:

Criticized loans Criticized loan classifications presented in the table below are determined by the assignment of various criticized
facility grades based on the risk rating standards of our regulator. The following table summarizes criticized commercial loans:

Special Mention  Substandard Doubtful Total
(in millions)
At March 31, 2018
Real estate, including CONStrUCHON ........cecveveveeereeeiereeiecieeieeenn $ 428 $ 141 $ 3 S 572
Business and corporate banking..........cccccecevirveninneninnencnnenn. 452 456 37 945
Global BanKING ......cccccveeririririnireneteretetetee et 409 1,210 63 1,682
Other commercial.........coccviiviieeieiiiiecieeeeeeee e 11 — — 11
Total cOMMEICial........coeovrvirieirieiirieeeee e $ 1,300 $ 1,807 $ 103 $ 3,210
At December 31, 2017 -
Real estate, including cONStruCtion ...........ccoeeveeeeveeriereenieneeneenen. $ 467 $ 117  $ 1 $ 585
Business and corporate banking...........ccoceoeeeveeieneeinincnenenenenes 477 519 44 1,040
Global banking...........occoveiviiiniiiiircreree e 452 1,612 82 2,146
Other COMMETCIAL.........cceerviiierieieiieiee e 11 — — 11
Total commercial...........cccuievieriieiiiecieeiecre e $ 1,407 $ 2,248 $ 127  $ 3,782

Nonperforming The following table summarizes the status of our commercial loan portfolio, excluding loans held for sale:

Accruing Loans

Performing Nonaccrual Contractually Past
Loans Loans Due 90 days or More Total
(in millions)
At March 31, 2018
Real estate, including construction............coeceeeeeveereeneennne $ 11,041 $ 13 $ N \ 11,054
Business and corporate banking ...........c.ccoceveervenienieinennnn 12,559 258 1 12,818
Global banking............ccceeeirierinienieere et 19,010 279 — 19,289
Other commercial .........cccceevirinenenineneneeeeeeeeee 4,578 — — 4,578
Total commercial ..........ccceeeriiiriiiiiresee e $ 47,188 § 550 $ 1 $ 47,739
At December 31, 2017
Real estate, including construction............coeceeeeevcereenennene $ 10,521 $ 12 $ — 3 10,533
Business and corporate banking .............cocceeveeverienierennnnns 12,288 215 1 12,504
Global banking............ccceevevieiinienineneeereeeeeeee e 19,703 385 — 20,088
Other commErcial ..........cocvvvvieriieieieiee e 9,909 1 — 9,910
Total COMMETCIAL ........cvoveviiireiriiireieeeeeeiece e, $ 52421 § 613 $ 1§ 53,035
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Credit risk profile The following table shows the credit risk profile of our commercial loan portfolio:

Investment lnvlzsoti;ent
Grade' Grade Total
(in millions)
At March 31, 2018
Real estate, including CONSLIUCTION .......c.eeieiiiiiitieiiie et $ 8,245 $ 2,809 $ 11,054
Business and corporate banking 7,056 12,818
Global banking...........cccceceeerennens 5,582 19,289
Other commercial .............c.......... 1,200 4,578
Total commercial ......................... $ 16,647 $§ 47,739
At December 31, 2017 -
Real estate, including CONStIUCTION .......c.eeieieiiiiiiiie e $ 7456 $ 3,077 $ 10,533
Business and corporate Banking ...........cccccceceevererinenenineneneneieteeeeeeee e 5,752 6,752 12,504
G1ODAl DANKING........eevieiieiiieiieiieeete ettt sttt ettt e et e et e sseesaesseessesaeensesnees 13,218 6,870 20,088
Other COMMETCIAL ....c..eiiiiiciieciiecee ettt e e e eb e s beesbeessbeebeensee s 8,341 1,569 9,910
TOtal COMMEICIAL ....ecuviiieiiieiieiicieie ettt ettt e esseereeseesreesaesaeenneseees $ 34,767 $ 18268 $ 53,035

(O]

Investment grade includes commercial loans with credit ratings of at least BBB- or above or the equivalent based on our internal credit rating system.

Consumer Loan Credit Quality Indicators The following credit quality indicators are utilized for our consumer loan portfolio:

Delinquency The following table summarizes dollars of two-months-and-over contractual delinquency and as a percent of total

loans and loans held for sale ("delinquency ratio") for our consumer loan portfolio:

March 31, 2018 December 31, 2017
Delinquent  Delinquency  Delinquent  Delinquency
Loans Ratio Loans Ratio

(dollars are in millions)

Residential mortgages ™ ...........cooiviieeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeee e $ 381 2.20% $ 425 2.46%
Home equity mort@ages'™™@ ..........c.ooviiiiioeeeeeeeeeeeee e 37 3.25 39 3.27
CIEdit CATAS ..oovveeiieiiieieeeie ettt e et ae et e e e beestae e beessaeesseessneennas 13 1.69 12 1.66
(0031 70701 11111 USRS 9 2.13 10 2.48
TOtAl CONSUMET ......eevieeiitieiieeteeteeteete et e steeseesteesaesteessesteesbesseesseessenseeseenseens $ 440 2.24% $ 486 2.48%

M At March 31, 2018 and December 31, 2017, consumer mortgage loan delinquency includes $318 million and $342 million, respectively, of loans that are
carried at the lower of amortized cost or fair value of the collateral less cost to sell, including $1 million and $1 million, respectively, relating to loans held

for sale.

@ AtMarch 31, 2018 and December 31, 2017, consumer mortgage loans and loans held for sale include $177 million and $159 million, respectively, of loans

that were in the process of foreclosure.
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Nonperforming The following table summarizes the status of our consumer loan portfolio, excluding loans held for sale:

Accruing Loans
Performing Nonaccrual Contractually Past
Loans Loans Due 90 days or More Total

(in millions)

At March 31, 2018
Residential mOTtZages .......ccoveeveeriierieenieeiieeie e e eiee s $ 16,917 $ 408 $ — $ 17,325
Home equity mortgages. .......c.ceceeerervenenenenenienenieneeeeenennes 1,073 66 — 1,139
Credit CardS......ooverueriereeieeee ettt 762 — 8 770
Other CONSUMET .....cvevieuieieiiiiiniencrestese ettt 359 — 6 365
TOtal CONSUMET ......oueeieenieiieiieiieiiete ettt $ 19,111 $ 474 $ 14 § 19,599

At December 31, 2017 - -
Residential MOTtgages .........ccceeeeerirenerieneneneneeeeeeeeeee $ 16,859 $ 414 $ — $ 17,273
Home equity mOrtgages. .......c.coueererinerenenenieneeneeeeeeeenennes 1,124 67 — 1,191
Credit CardS......ooveveriereeieieeeeee et 712 — 9 721
Other CONSUIMET ....eouvevieiietieiieiieieeece ettt ee e 335 — 8 343
Total CONSUMET ..ottt $ 19,030 $ 481 S 17 $ 19,528

Troubled debt restructurings See discussion of impaired loans above for further details on this credit quality indicator.

Concentration of Credit Risk At March 31, 2018 and December 31, 2017, our loan portfolios included interest-only residential
mortgage and home equity mortgage loans totaling $3,383 million and $3,424 million, respectively. An interest-only residential
mortgage loan allows a customer to pay the interest-only portion of the monthly payment for a period of time which results in
lower payments during the initial loan period. However, subsequent events affecting a customer's financial position could affect
the ability of customers to repay the loan in the future when the principal payments are required which increases the credit risk of
this loan type.
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5. Allowance for Credit Losses

The following table summarizes the changes in the allowance for credit losses by product and the related loan balance by product
during the three months ended March 31, 2018 and 2017:

Commercial Consumer
Business
Real Estate, and Home
including Corporate Global Other Residential Equity Credit Other
Construction Banking Banking Comm'l Mortgages  Mortgages Cards Consumer Total

(in millions)
Three Months Ended March 31, 2018

Allowance for credit losses — beginning

Of PEriod....c.cevveueuiririeiirieecreeee $ 82 $ 244 $ 264 $ 18 § 25§ 1 $ 32 3 5 §$ o681
Provision charged (credited) to income..... 10 (34) (49) 1 10) €} 12 — 71)
Charge-offS .....cccovvvvveeireeeeeeeeeee — (25) 5) — — ?2) 3) 1) (41)
RECOVETIES ... — 22 1 — 3 2 2 — 30
Net (charge-offs) recoveries..........co........ — 3) “) — 3 — (6) 1) (11)
Allowance for credit losses — end of
PEHOd o $ 92 $ 207 $ 211 § 19 $ 18 8 10 $ 38 § 4 $ 599
Ending balance: collectively evaluated -
for impairment ............cccocevviiieieiniennne. $ 91 § 168 $ 149 §$ 19 S 13 $ 9 § 37 8§ 4 $ 49
Ending balance: individually evaluated
for impairment .............ccceeeeveeeeieeennne 1 39 62 — 5 1 1 — 109
Total allowance for credit losses................ $ 9 S 207 $ 211§ 19 $§ 18 $ 10 $ 38 $ 4 $ 599
Loans:
Collectively evaluated for impairment”... § 11,042 $ 12,532 $ 18967 $ 4578 $ 16375 $ 1,071 $ 766 § 365 $65,696
Individually evaluated for impairment® ... 12 286 322 — 55 3 4 — 682

Loans carried at lower of amortized cost

or fair value less cost to sell — — — — 895 65 — — 960
Total 10ans ........cccovveveeernieinneccneecenee $ 11,054 $ 12,818 §$ 19289 $ 4,578 §$§ 17,325 § 1,139 § 770 § 365 $67,338
Three Months Ended March 31, 2017
Allowance for credit losses — beginning

Of PEriod......cccvveveininieiiinincircccee $ 92 3 317 $ 508 § 13 8 26 $ 20 $ 34 8 7 $ 1,017
Provision charged (credited) to income..... 1 (42) 39) 2 — 2) 3 — 77

Charge-offS .....ccoevvieenneireeene e 21) — — 3) 2) ®) (1) (36)
RECOVETIES ..ot — 12 1 — 1 1 2 — 17
Net (charge-offs) recoveries...................... ) O 1 — 2) (1) (6) (€)) (19)

Allowance for credit losses — end of

PEIIOA .. $ 92 $ 266 $ 470 $ 15 8 24§ 17 § 31 § 6 $ 921
Ending balance: collectively evaluated -

for Impairment ... $ 8 $ 230 $ 247 $ 14 S 16 $ 16 $ 30 § 6 $ 645
Ending balance: individually evaluated

for impairment .............cccceeevevereerenennne. 6 36 223 1 8 1 1 — 276
Total allowance for credit losses................ $ 92 $ 266 $ 470 $ 15§ 24 3 17 $ 31 §$ 6 $ 921
Loans:

Collectively evaluated for impairment”... § 10,758 § 12,828 $ 21,974 $ 3,508 $ 16,181 $ 1271 $ 642 $ 383 $67,545
Individually evaluated for impairment® ... 44 324 553 7 57 4 4 — 993
Loans carried at lower of amortized cost

or fair value less cost to sell.................. — — — — 981 69 — 1,050

Total 10ans ......c.eveeverienieniiniiriiieies $ 10,802 $ 13,152 § 22,527 § 3515 $ 17219 § 1344 § 646 $ 383 $69,588

M Other commercial includes loans to HSBC affiliates totaling $1,920 million and $939 million at March 31, 2018 and 2017, respectively, for which we do

not carry an associated allowance for credit losses.

@ For consumer loans and certain small business loans, these amounts represent TDR Loans for which we evaluate reserves using a discounted cash flow

methodology. Each loan is individually identified as a TDR Loan and then grouped together with other TDR Loans with similar characteristics. The discounted
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cash flow analysis is then applied to these groups of TDR Loans. Loans individually evaluated for impairment exclude TDR Loans that are carried at the
lower of amortized cost or fair value of the collateral less cost to sell which totaled $644 million and $681 million at March 31, 2018 and 2017, respectively.

6. Loans Held for Sale

Loans held for sale consisted of the following:

March 31, December 31,
2018 2017

(in millions)

Commercial loans:

Real estate, inCluding CONSIIUCTION. ......ccuevueiiiiieieieieeet ettt $ 31 § 115
Business and corporate Danking ...........cceeerverieierieieinineeesese ettt 15 —
GlODAL DANKING ....cveiiiiitieiinierieeteeser ettt ettt sttt ettt eaeene e 360 533
Total COMMETCIAL........ccuiiiieiieiiiieteee ettt ettt e et esse e s e e seessesseessesssensessnesensnens 406 648
Consumer loans:
ReSidential MOTEZAZES ....c.vevvieieriieieeiieieetete sttt ettt e et e e esaesteesaesseensesseessesseensesssensesssesenssens 6 6
OtNET COMSUITIET .....vieuvieierieiieeteeieeeteesteeeteesteesebeesseeesseeteeasseesseesssaeseessseessseasseesseasseesseesnsansseessses 58 61
TOAL COMSUIMET ......vieieiiieireiieeieste ettt et et ete st esaesteesbeseae s e essesseessesseessenssensesssensesseensesssensesssensenssens 64 67
Total 10ans NEld FOr SALE ......c.viviiieiiiieiiceec ettt ettt e reeaeereeae s e aeennens $ 470 §$ 715

Commercial Loans Commercial loans held for sale primarily consists of certain loans that we have elected to designate under the
fair value option which include loans that we originate in connection with our participation in a number of syndicated credit
facilities with the intent of selling them to unaffiliated third parties as well as loans that we purchase from the secondary market
and hold as hedges against our exposure to certain total return swaps. During the first quarter of 2018, we elected to apply fair
value option accounting to syndicated loans in commercial real estate which are originated with the intent to sell. The fair value
of commercial loans designated under the fair value option totaled $338 million and $471 million at March 31, 2018 and
December 31, 2017, respectively. See Note 10, "Fair Value Option," for additional information.

Commercial loans held for sale also includes certain loans that we no longer intend to hold for investment and transferred to held
for sale which totaled $68 million and $62 million at March 31, 2018 and December 31, 2017, respectively. During the three
months ended March 31, 2018, we reversed $3 million of the lower of amortized cost or fair value adjustment previously recorded
on commercial loans held for sale as a component of other income in the consolidated statement of income (loss) as a result of an
increase in fair value due to improved pricing compared with recording $1 million of lower of amortized cost or fair value adjustment
associated with the write-down of commercial loans held for sale during the three months ended March 31, 2017.

Consumer Loans Prior to 2018 applications, we sold agency eligible residential mortgage loan originations on a servicing released
basis directly to PHH Mortgage Corporation ("PHH Mortgage"). Beginning with 2018 applications, PHH Mortgage is no longer
obligated to purchase these loans from us directly upon origination and instead we now market these loans for sale to other third
parties. Gains and losses from the sale of these residential mortgage loans are reflected as a component of residential mortgage
banking revenue (expense) in the accompanying consolidated statement of income (loss). Residential mortgage loans held for sale
also includes subprime residential mortgage loans with a fair value of $2 million at both March 31, 2018 and December 31, 2017
which were previously acquired from unaffiliated third parties and from HSBC Finance Corporation ("HSBC Finance") with the
intent of securitizing or selling the loans to third parties.

In addition to the residential mortgages discussed above, during 2017, we competed the sale of the portfolio of residential mortgage
loans that we previously purchased from HSBC Finance and transferred to held for sale during 2016 to third parties. The portion
of these residential mortgage loans sold during the three months ended March 31, 2017 had an unpaid principal balance of $471
million (aggregate carrying value of $445 million) at the time of sale and we recognized a gain on sale of approximately $43
million, including transaction costs. During the three months ended March 31, 2017, we recorded $1 million of additional lower
of amortized cost or fair value adjustment on this portfolio of loans as a component of other income in the consolidated statement
of income (loss) as a result of a reduction in the estimated pricing on specific pools of loans.

In March 2017, we also completed the sale of certain residential mortgage loans which previously had been written down to the
lower of amortized cost or fair value of the collateral less cost to sell (generally 180 days past due) in accordance with our existing
charge-off policies and were transferred to held for sale during 2016 to a third party. These residential mortgage loans had an
unpaid principal balance of $364 million (aggregate carrying value of $276 million) at the time of sale and we recognized a loss
on sale of approximately $2 million, largely reflecting transaction costs. During the first quarter of 2017, we reversed $5 million
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of the lower of amortized cost or fair value adjustment previously recorded on these loans as a component of other income in the
consolidated statement of income (loss) as a result of an increase in fair value due to improved pricing.

Other consumer loans held for sale reflects student loans which we no longer originate.

Loans held for sale are subject to market risk, liquidity risk and interest rate risk, in that their value will fluctuate as a result of
changes in market conditions, as well as the credit environment. As discussed above, prior to 2018 applications, PHH Mortgage
was obligated to purchase agency eligible loans from us directly upon origination and, as such, we retained none of the risk of
market changes in mortgage rates for these loans purchased by PHH Mortgage. Beginning with 2018 applications, we now market
these loans for sale to other third parties. As a result, in 2018, we have reinstated an economic hedging program to offset changes
in the fair value of these mortgage loans held for sale attributable to changes in market interest rates, partially mitigating the interest
rate risk for these mortgage loans held for sale. Revenue associated with this economic hedging program, which is included in
residential mortgage banking revenue (expense) in the consolidated statement of income (loss), was less than $1 million during
the three months ended March 31, 2018.

Valuation Allowances Excluding the commercial loans designated under fair value option discussed above, loans held for sale are
recorded at the lower of amortized cost or fair value, with adjustments to fair value being recorded as a valuation allowance through
other revenues. The valuation allowance on consumer loans held for sale was $4 million and $5 million at March 31, 2018 and
December 31, 2017, respectively. The valuation allowance on commercial loans held for sale was $5 million and $10 million at
March 31, 2018 and December 31, 2017, respectively.

7. Goodwill

Goodwill was $1,607 million at both March 31, 2018 and December 31, 2017. Goodwill for these periods reflects accumulated
impairment losses of $670 million, which were recognized in prior periods. During the first quarter of 2018, there were no events
or changes in circumstances to indicate that it is more likely than not the fair values of any of our reporting units have reduced
below their respective carrying amounts.

8. Sale of Certain Private Banking Client Relationships
|

In August 2017, our Private Banking business entered into an agreement to refer parts of its Latin America portfolio, consisting
primarily of clients based in areas where we do not have a corporate presence, including Central America and the Andean Pact,
to UBS Wealth Management Americas (“UBS”). Under the terms of the agreement, we facilitate the referral of these client
relationships to UBS, including the transfer of their client assets as well as the transfer of the relationship managers and client
service employees that support these clients. At the time the agreement was signed, total client assets associated with these
relationships consisted of approximately $3.5 billion in client investments (which were not reported on our balance sheet) and
$1.7 billion in client deposits (which were reported on our balance sheet). Loans associated with these client relationships were
not included in the agreement. UBS will pay us a fee of 0.5 percent of the aggregate client assets transferred during the first two
years after the agreement was signed. Therefore, the consideration we expect to receive is contingent upon the clients’ decisions
to transfer their accounts to UBS, the timing and amounts of client assets transferred and the acceptance of the client assets by
UBS. As a result of entering into the agreement, we recorded the contingent consideration expected to be received of $15 million
as a receivable at estimated fair value within other assets and recognized a pre-tax gain on sale, net of allocated goodwill and
transaction costs, of $8 million in other income during the third quarter of 2017. The fair value of the contingent consideration
was estimated using a discounted cash flow methodology and changes in fair value in future periods will be recognized in other
income.

Through March 31, 2018, we have completed the transfers of approximately $1.1 billion of client investments and $0.6 billion of
client deposits to UBS. We have estimated the amount of remaining client deposits that we expect will be transferred to UBS,
which was approximately $0.3 billion at March 31, 2018 compared with $0.7 billion at December 31, 2017, and have classified
them as held for sale in our consolidated balance sheet. No lower of cost or fair value adjustment was required as a result of the
transfer of deposits to held for sale. An additional $0.2 billion of deposits at March 31, 2018 could be transferred in the event all
remaining client deposits associated with these client relationships were to be transferred.
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9. Derivative Financial Instruments

In the normal course of business, the derivative instruments entered into are for trading, market making and risk management
purposes. For financial reporting purposes, derivative instruments are designated in one of the following categories: (a) hedging
instruments designated as qualifying hedges under derivative and hedge accounting principles, (b) financial instruments held for
trading or (c) non-qualifying economic hedges. The derivative instruments held are predominantly swaps, futures, options and
forward contracts. All derivatives are stated at fair value. Where we enter into enforceable master netting agreements with
counterparties, the master netting agreements permit us to net those derivative asset and liability positions and to offset cash
collateral held and posted with the same counterparty.

The following table presents the fair value of derivative contracts by major product type on a gross basis. Gross fair values exclude
the effects of both counterparty netting as well as collateral, and therefore are not representative of our exposure. The table below
also presents the amounts of counterparty netting and cash collateral that have been offset in the consolidated balance sheet, as
well as cash and securities collateral posted and received under enforceable master netting agreements that do not meet the criteria
for netting. Derivative assets and liabilities which are not subject to an enforceable master netting agreement, or are subject to a
netting agreement where an appropriate legal opinion to determine such agreements are enforceable has not been either sought or
obtained, have not been netted in the table below. Where we have received or posted collateral under netting agreements where
an appropriate legal opinion to determine such agreements are enforceable has not been either sought or obtained, the related
collateral also has not been netted in the table below.
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March 31, 2018 December 31, 2017
Derivative Derivative Derivative Derivative
Assets Liabilities Assets Liabilities
(in millions)
Derivatives accounted for as fair value hedges”
OTC-CLeared® ... 44 53§ 84 390
— 108 — 134
44 161 84 524
Derivatives accounted for as cash flow hedges""

Foreign exchange contracts - bilateral OTC® ... 5 11 10 —
OTC-CLeared® ... 11 16 4 86
Bilateral OTC® ...ttt — 12 — 22

Interest rate COMIACES ............c.c.iiiiiiiiiiiiicitec ettt ettt 11 28 4 108

Total derivatives accounted for as hedges...................ccocooiieiiiiniiiiiiiicceee e 60 200 98 632
Trading derivatives not accounted for as hedges®
EXChANEE-ATAACAD ... e ee e ee e s eees e s s e eereese e 5 102 6 59
OTC-CLeared® ... 430 7 11,905 10,526
Bilateral OTC® ...ttt 10,712 11,796 11,549 12,997

INterest rate COMIIACES ................ocoiiiiiieii ettt e e 11,147 11,905 23,460 23,582
EXChan@e-traded® .............oooeceeeeeeeeeeeee e eeeee e eee e eeeee e s e s s — 5 4 —
Bilateral OTC®) .........oooivvvoooeeesecoeoeeeseessosesse s 14,794 13,941 15,746 14,666

Foreign exchange CONtracts ...................c.ccooooviiiiiiiiceieeececeeeeee e 14,794 13,946 15,750 14,666

Equity contracts - bilateral OTC® 2,761 2,746 2,820 2,806
Exchange-traded®...................... 65 30 52 108
Bilateral OTC® .......ooooooiiiiiieieseeseeseesessssseesess sttt 466 412 502 613

Precious metals COMIACES. ............ccoooiiiiiiiiiiiiiie e 531 442 554 721
OTC-ClEArEd® ... 126 128 67 75
BilAteral OTC® .........ooooeoieeeeeeeeceeeeessss e essseessssssss s 591 494 589 485

Credit COMEIACES ..............coviiiiiiicie et 717 622 656 560

Other non-qualifying derivatives not accounted for as hedges™
OTC-CLeared® ...t — — 519 60
Bilateral OTC® .......ooouuuoiieeeeeeceeeeeeessss e ssesesssssss s 136 255 170 164

Interest rate COMIACES ..............ccoiiiiiuiiieiet ettt ettt b et 136 255 689 224

Foreign exchange contracts - bilateral OTC® ... 11 9 — —

Equity contracts - bilateral OTC oo 983 348 1,264 145

Precious metals contracts - bilateral OTC® ..o, — — — 1

Credit contracts - bilateral OTC® .................ccoooovviooiroocerieeeeceeeeeeceeeeeeee oo 3 13 — 24

Other contracts - bilateral OTC®®, 6 50 6 52

Total deriVAtiVes..............ocoiiiiiiiie et nn 31,149 30,536 45,297 43,413
Less: Gross amounts of receivable / payable subject to enforceable master netting

agreements 24,799 24,799 36,394 36,394
Less: Gross amounts of cash collateral received / posted subject to enforceable master

netting agreements®” ... 2,802 3,618 4,480 3,823
Net amounts of derivative assets / liabilities presented in the balance sheet ..................... 3,548 2,119 4,423 3,196
Less: Gross amounts of financial instrument collateral received / posted subject to

enforceable master netting agreements but not offset in the consolidated balance

sheet 761 256 742 370
Net amounts of derivative assets / liabilities 2,787 1,863 $ 3,681 2,826

1)

in other assets / interest, taxes and other liabilities on the consolidated balance sheet.
)

Derivative assets / liabilities related to cash flow hedges, fair value hedges and derivative instruments held for purposes other than for trading are recorded

Over-the-counter (OTC) derivatives include derivatives executed and settled bilaterally with counterparties without the use of an organized exchange or

central clearing house. The credit risk associated with bilateral OTC derivatives is managed through obtaining collateral and enforceable master netting
agreements. OTC-cleared derivatives are executed bilaterally in the OTC market but then novated to a central clearing counterparty, whereby the central
clearing counterparty becomes the counterparty to each of the original counterparties. Exchange traded derivatives are executed directly on an organized
exchange. Credit risk is minimized for OTC-cleared derivatives and exchange traded derivatives through daily margining requirements. During the first
quarter of 2018, a central clearing counterparty amended its rules for OTC-cleared interest rate derivatives to legally re-characterize daily variation margin
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payments to be settlement payments as opposed to cash collateral posted. The impact of reflecting the rule change for this central clearing counterparty as
of December 31, 2017 would have been a reduction in gross derivative assets and liabilities of approximately $11.5 billion and $10.3 billion, respectively,
with corresponding decreases in the related counterparty and cash collateral netting.

®  Trading related derivative assets / liabilities are recorded in trading assets / trading liabilities on the consolidated balance sheet.

@ Consists of swap agreements entered into in conjunction with the sales of certain Visa Inc. ("Visa") Class B common shares ("Class B Shares™).
®  Represents the netting of derivative receivable and payable balances for the same counterparty under enforceable netting agreements.

©®  Represents the netting of cash collateral posted and received by counterparty under enforceable netting agreements.

(™ Netting is performed at a counterparty level in cases where enforceable master netting agreements are in place, regardless of the type of derivative instrument.
Therefore, we have not allocated netting to the different types of derivative instruments shown in the table above.

See Note 18, "Guarantee Arrangements, Pledged Assets and Repurchase Agreements," for further information on offsetting related
to resale and repurchase agreements and securities borrowing and lending arrangements.

Derivatives Held for Risk Management Purposes Our risk management policy requires us to identify, analyze and manage risks
arising from the activities conducted during the normal course of business. We use derivative instruments as an asset and liability
management tool to manage our exposures in interest rate, foreign currency and credit risks in existing assets and liabilities,
commitments and forecasted transactions. The accounting for changes in fair value of a derivative instrument will depend on
whether the derivative has been designated and qualifies for hedge accounting.

We designate derivative instruments to offset the fair value risk and cash flow risk arising from fixed-rate and floating-rate assets
and liabilities as well as forecasted transactions. We assess the hedging relationships, both at the inception of the hedge and on an
ongoing basis, using a regression approach to determine whether the designated hedging instrument is highly effective in offsetting
changes in the fair value or the cash flows attributable to the hedged risk. Accounting principles for qualifying hedges require us
to prepare detailed documentation describing the relationship between the hedging instrument and the hedged item, including, but
not limited to, the risk management objective, the hedging strategy and the methods to assess and measure the ineffectiveness of
the hedging relationship. We discontinue hedge accounting when we determine that the hedge is no longer highly effective, the
hedging instrument is terminated, sold or expired, the designated forecasted transaction is not probable of occurring, or when the
designation is removed by us.

Fair Value Hedges In the normal course of business, we hold fixed-rate loans and securities and issue fixed-rate senior and
subordinated debt obligations. The fair value of fixed-rate (U.S. dollar and non-U.S. dollar denominated) assets and liabilities
fluctuates in response to changes in interest rates or foreign currency exchange rates. We utilize interest rate swaps, forward and
futures contracts and foreign currency swaps to minimize our exposure to changes in fair value caused by interest rate and foreign
currency volatility. The changes in the fair value of the hedged item designated in a qualifying hedge are captured as an adjustment
to the carrying amount of the hedged item (basis adjustment). If the hedging relationship is terminated and the hedged item continues
to exist, the basis adjustment is amortized over the remaining life of the hedged item.

We recorded basis adjustments for active fair value hedges which decreased the carrying amount of our debt by $192 million and
$132 million at March 31, 2018 and December 31, 2017, respectively. During the three months ended March 31, 2018 and 2017,
we amortized $1 million and $2 million, respectively, of basis adjustments related to terminated and/or re-designated fair value
hedges of our debt. The total accumulated unamortized basis adjustments related to terminated and/or re-designated fair value
hedges amounted to increases in the carrying amount of our debt of $6 million and $7 million at March 31,2018 and December 31,
2017, respectively.

We recorded basis adjustments for active fair value hedges of AFS securities which decreased the carrying amount of the securities
by $25 million at March 31, 2018 and increased the carrying amount of the securities by $279 million at December 31, 2017.
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The following table presents information on gains and losses on derivative instruments designated and qualifying as hedging
instruments in fair value hedges and the hedged items in fair value hedges and their locations on the consolidated statement of
income (loss):

Net Ineffective
Gain (Loss)
Gain (Loss) on Derivative Gain (Loss) on Hedged Items Recognized
Net Interest Net Interest
Income Other Income Income Other Income Other Income
(in millions)
Three Months Ended March 31, 2018
Interest rate contracts / AFS Securities .............. $ 23) $ 362 $ 87 $ (357) $ 5
Interest rate contracts / long-term debt............... 6) (60) 57) 61 1
TOtal....eeeceeeeee e $ 29 $ 302 $ 30 $ 296) $ 6
Three Months Ended March 31, 2017
Interest rate contracts / AFS Securities .............. $ 31 $ 86 § 89 $ ®3) % 3
Interest rate contracts / long-term debt............... 8 (13) (66) 14
107 | BT $ 23) $ 73 $ 23 $ (69) $ 4

Cash Flow Hedges We own or issue floating rate financial instruments and enter into forecasted transactions that give rise to
variability in future cash flows. As a part of our risk management strategy, we use interest rate swaps, currency swaps and futures
contracts to mitigate risk associated with variability in the cash flows. Changes in fair value of a derivative instrument associated
with the effective portion of a qualifying cash flow hedge are recognized initially in other comprehensive income (loss). When
the cash flows being hedged materialize and are recorded in income or expense, the associated gain or loss from the hedging
derivative previously recorded in accumulated other comprehensive loss ("AOCI") is reclassified into earnings in the same
accounting period in which the designated forecasted transaction or hedged item affects earnings. Ifa cash flow hedge of a forecasted
transaction is de-designated because it is no longer highly effective, or if the hedge relationship is terminated, the cumulative gain
or loss on the hedging derivative to that date will continue to be reported in AOCI unless it is probable that the hedged forecasted
transaction will not occur by the end of the originally specified time period as documented at the inception of the hedge, at which
time the cumulative gain or loss is released into earnings.

At March 31, 2018 and December 31, 2017, active cash flow hedge relationships extend or mature through July 2036. During the
three months ended March 31, 2018, $4 million of losses related to terminated and/or re-designated cash flow hedge relationships
were amortized to earnings from AOCI compared with losses of $3 million during the three months ended March 31, 2017. During
the next twelve months, we expect to amortize $20 million of remaining losses to earnings resulting from these terminated and/
or re-designated cash flow hedges. The interest accrual related to the hedging instruments is recognized in interest income.

The following table presents information on gains and losses on derivative instruments designated and qualifying as hedging
instruments in cash flow hedges (including amounts recognized in AOCI from all terminated cash flow hedges) and their locations
on the consolidated statement of income (loss):

Gain (Loss) Gain (Loss) Location of Gain Gain (Loss)
Recognized Reclassed From (Loss) Recognized Recognized in
in AOCI on Location of AOCI into in Income on the Income on the
Derivative Gain (Loss) Income Derivative Derivative
(Effective Reclassified (Effective (Ineffective Portion (Ineffective
Portion) from AOCI Portion) and Amount Excluded Portion)
- into Income - from Effectiveness -
2018 2017 (Effective Portion) 2018 2017 Testing) 2018 2017

(in millions)
Three Months Ended March 31,

Net interest

Foreign exchange contracts ........ $ & § — income § — $§ — Other income $ — $§ —
Net interest

Interest rate contracts.................. 3 2) income “) 3) Other income — —

Total ..o $ 2% (2 $ 4 3) $8 — § —
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Trading Derivatives and Non-Qualifying Hedging Activities In addition to risk management, we enter into derivative instruments,
including buy- and sell-protection credit derivatives, for trading and market making purposes, to repackage risks and structure
trades to facilitate clients' needs for various risk taking and risk modification purposes. We may manage our risk exposure by
buying or selling securities and by entering into offsetting derivatives with other financial institutions to mitigate the market risks,
in part or in full, arising from our trading activities with our clients. In addition, we enter into buy-protection credit derivatives
with other market participants to manage our counterparty credit risk exposure. Where we enter into derivatives for trading purposes,
realized and unrealized gains and losses are recognized in trading revenue. Credit losses arising from counterparty risk on over-
the-counter derivative instruments and offsetting buy protection credit derivative positions are recognized as an adjustment to the
fair value of the derivatives and are recorded in trading revenue.

Our non-qualifying hedging and other activities include:

*  Derivative contracts related to the fixed-rate long-term debt issuances and hybrid instruments, including all structured
notes and deposits, for which we have elected fair value option accounting. These derivative contracts are non-qualifying
hedges but are considered economic hedges.

*  Credit default swaps which are designated as economic hedges against the credit risks within our loan portfolio. In the
event of an impairment loss occurring in a loan that is economically hedged, the impairment loss is recognized as provision
for credit losses while the gain on the credit default swap is recorded as other income.

*  Swap agreements entered into in conjunction with the sales of certain Visa Class B Shares to a third party to retain the
litigation risk associated with the Class B Shares sold until the related litigation is settled and the Class B Shares can be
converted into Class A common shares ("Class A Shares"). See Note 18, "Guarantee Arrangements, Pledged Assets and
Repurchase Agreements," for additional information.

Derivative instruments designated as economic hedges that do not qualify for hedge accounting are recorded at fair value through
profit and loss. Realized and unrealized gains and losses on economic hedges are recognized in gain on instruments designated at
fair value and related derivatives or other income while the derivative asset or liability positions are reflected as other assets or
other liabilities.

The following table presents information on gains and losses on derivative instruments held for trading purposes and their locations
on the consolidated statement of income (loss):

Amount of Gain (Loss)
Recognized in Income on
Derivatives

Location of Gain (Loss) Three Months Ended March 31,

Recognized in Income on Derivatives 2018 2017

(in millions)

Interest rate CONtracts ..........ccevereereereereeneennene Trading revenue $ 203§ (20)
Foreign exchange contracts.........c..ccccoevueueee Trading revenue (100) 57
Equity contracts ..........ceceeeeveeneeenieenieeeiennns Trading revenue A3) 1
Precious metals contracts...........ccoecveeveeevennnne Trading revenue 130 60
Credit CONtracts .........oeveveeeverereieiererenennens Trading revenue 3) —
Total . $ 227 $ (16)
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The following table presents information on gains and losses on derivative instruments held for non-qualifying hedging and other
activities and their locations on the consolidated statement of income (loss):

Amount of Gain (Loss)
Recognized in Income on
Derivatives

Three Months Ended March 31,

Location of Gain (Loss)
Recognized in Income on Derivatives 2018 2017

(in millions)

Interest rate contracts..........c.ccoceeeeuennee Gain on instruments designated at fair value and related

derivatives $ (162) $ 3
Foreign exchange contracts .................. Gain on instruments designated at fair value and related

derivatives ?2) 9
Equity contracts .......cccceeeveereenieenieennnnnn Gain on instruments designated at fair value and related

derivatives (339) 360
Credit contracts.........ccceceeveeeeneecennenne Other income 2) (32)
Other contracts™ .........c.ccocovvevrrernenn. Other income ?2) —
Total ..o $ 507) § 340

M Consists of swap agreements entered into in conjunction with the sales of certain Visa Class B Shares.

Credit-Risk Related Contingent Features We enter into total return swap, interest rate swap, cross-currency swap and credit
default swap contracts, amongst others, which contain provisions that require us to maintain a specific credit rating from each of
the major credit rating agencies. Sometimes the derivative instrument transactions are a part of broader structured product
transactions. If our credit ratings were to fall below the current ratings, the counterparties to our derivative instruments could
demand us to post additional collateral. The amount of additional collateral required to be posted will depend on whether we are
downgraded by one or more notches. The aggregate fair value of all derivative instruments with credit-risk related contingent
features that were in a liability position at March 31, 2018 was $816 million, for which we had posted collateral of $619 million.
The aggregate fair value of all derivative instruments with credit-risk-related contingent features that were in a liability position
at December 31, 2017 was $1,063 million, for which we had posted collateral of $758 million. Substantially all of the collateral
posted is in the form of cash or securities available-for-sale. See Note 18, "Guarantee Arrangements, Pledged Assets and Repurchase
Agreements," for further details.

The following table presents the amount of additional collateral that we would be required to post (from the current collateral
level) related to derivative instruments with credit-risk related contingent features if our long-term ratings were downgraded by
one or two notches. A downgrade by a single rating agency that does not result in a rating lower than a preexisting corresponding
rating provided by another rating agency will generally not result in additional collateral.

One-notch Two-notch
downgrade downgrade

(in millions)

Amount of additional collateral to be posted upon downgrade ............ccccoeevvecirverenienicnenicniennens $ 21 % 22
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Notional Value of Derivative Contracts The following table summarizes the notional values of derivative contracts:

March 31, 2018 December 31, 2017

(in millions)

Interest rate:

Futures and fOrWards ...........ocveiieeviiiiiie et $ 1,127,140 $ 735,757
SIS .t evteteeeti et ete et e st et este et e ste et esteesbesbeesbeeteesbeeteesbeeseesseeaeebeere e beereesaeesaenbeessetaessenreans 2,845,502 2,687,273
(031510381 L (< OSSR 109,413 77,144
OptioNS PUICRASEA ....c..eeuvieeieiieieie ettt ettt esseeneesseenaesseensesnean 115,594 93,042
4,197,649 3,593,216
Foreign exchange:

Swaps, futures and fOrwards...........ccocveeierieiierieeeeeee e 1,107,705 924,163
OPLIONS WITEEETI ..c.vievvitieieetieteeet et et steeee st etesteesbesteesbessseseessesseessesseessasseessesseessesseessensees 25,363 25,911
OptioNns PUICRASEA .......oeiiiieiieiiee ettt ettt eeeas 25,915 26,617
00 TS RSPTRR 33,374 19,401
1,192,357 996,092

Commodities, equities and precious metals:
Swaps, futures and fOrwards...........ccooveeierieiiinieeee e 61,360 38,709
OPLIONS WITEEETI ..c.vievvitieieetieteeet et et steeee st etesteesbesteesbessseseessesseessesseessasseessesseessesseessensees 32,250 31,631
OptioNs PUICRASEA .......eeiiiiieiieiiee ettt ettt st eaean 44,345 43,202
137,955 113,542
CIEAIL AETIVALIVES ...oiivvieeieiiieeeeee ettt ettt e et eeeaae e e eateeeenaeeesenaeessnaeesenaeeesnneeessnneeeas 80,558 90,290
OhEr COMEIACTS ™ ...t e e e e eee e e e 675 644
L] | RSP 3 5,609,194 §$ 4,793,784

M Consists of swap agreements entered into in conjunction with the sales of certain Visa Class B Shares.
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10. Fair Value Option

We report our results to HSBC in accordance with HSBC Group accounting and reporting policies ("Group Reporting Basis"),
which apply International Financial Reporting Standards ("IFRSs") as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board
("IASB") and endorsed by the European Union ("EU"). We typically have elected to apply fair value option ("FVO") accounting
to selected financial instruments to align the measurement attributes of those instruments under U.S. GAAP and the Group Reporting
Basis and to simplify the accounting model applied to those financial instruments. We elected to apply FVO accounting to certain
commercial loans held for sale, certain securities sold under repurchase agreements, certain fixed-rate long-term debt issuances
and all of our hybrid instruments, including structured notes and deposits. Excluding the fair value movement on fair value option
liabilities attributable to our own credit spread, which is recorded in other comprehensive income (loss), changes in the fair value
of fair value option assets and liabilities related to interest rate, credit and other risks as well as the mark-to-market adjustment on
the related derivatives and the net realized gains or losses on these derivatives are reported in gain on instruments designated at
fair value and related derivatives in the consolidated statement of income (loss).

Loans We elected to apply FVO accounting to certain commercial syndicated loans which are originated with the intent to sell
and certain commercial loans that we purchased from the secondary market and hold as hedges against our exposure to certain
total return swaps and include these loans as loans held for sale in the consolidated balance sheet. The election allows us to account
for these loans at fair value which is consistent with the manner in which the instruments are managed. Where available, fair value
is based on observable market consensus pricing obtained from independent sources, relevant broker quotes or observed market
prices of instruments with similar characteristics. Where observable market parameters are not available, fair value is determined
based on contractual cash flows adjusted for estimates of prepayment rates, expected default rates and loss severity discounted at
management's estimate of the expected rate of return required by market participants. We also consider loan specific risk mitigating
factors such as collateral arrangements in determining the fair value estimate. Interest from these loans is recorded as interest
income in the consolidated statement of income (loss). Because a substantial majority of the loans elected for the fair value option
are floating rate assets, changes in their fair value are primarily attributable to changes in loan-specific credit risk factors. The
components of gain (loss) related to loans designated at fair value are summarized in the table below. At March 31, 2018 and
December 31, 2017, no loans for which the fair value option has been elected were 90 days or more past due or in nonaccrual
status.

Resale and Repurchase Agreements We elected to apply FVO accounting to certain securities purchased and sold under resale
and repurchase agreements which are trading in nature. The election allows us to account for these resale and repurchase agreements
at fair value which is consistent with the manner in which the instruments are managed. The fair value of the resale and repurchase
agreements is determined using market rates currently offered on comparable transactions with similar underlying collateral and
maturities. Interest on these resale and repurchase agreements is recorded as interest income or expense in the consolidated statement
of income (loss). The components of gain (loss) related to these resale and repurchase agreements designated at fair value are
summarized in the table below.

Long-Term Debt (Own Debt Issuances) We elected to apply FVO accounting for certain fixed-rate long-term debt for which we
had applied or otherwise would elect to apply fair value hedge accounting. The election allows us to achieve a similar accounting
effect without having to meet the hedge accounting requirements. The own debt issuances elected under FVO are traded in secondary
markets and, as such, the fair value is determined based on observed prices for the specific instruments. The observed market price
of these instruments reflects the effect of changes to our own credit spreads and interest rates. Interest on the fixed-rate debt
accounted for under FVO is recorded as interest expense in the consolidated statement of income (loss). The components of gain
(loss) in the consolidated statement of income (loss) related to long-term debt designated at fair value are summarized in the table
below.

Hybrid Instruments We elected to apply FVO accounting to all of our hybrid instruments issued, including structured notes and
deposits. The valuation of the hybrid instruments is predominantly driven by the derivative features embedded within the instruments
and our own credit risk. Cash flows of the hybrid instruments in their entirety, including the embedded derivatives, are discounted
at an appropriate rate for the applicable duration of the instrument adjusted for our own credit spreads. The credit spreads applied
to structured notes are determined with reference to our own debt issuance rates observed in the primary and secondary markets,
internal funding rates, and structured note rates in recent executions while the credit spreads applied to structured deposits are
determined using market rates currently offered on comparable deposits with similar characteristics and maturities. Interest on this
debtis recorded as interest expense in the consolidated statement of income (loss). The components of gain (loss) in the consolidated
statement of income (loss) related to hybrid instruments designated at fair value are summarized in the table below.
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The following table summarizes the fair value and unpaid principal balance for items we account for under FVO:

Fair Value
over (under)

Unpaid Unpaid
Principal Principal
Fair Value Balance Balance

(in millions)

At March 31, 2018
Commercial 10ans held fOr SAlE......oooovviiiiiieiee et ee e e e $ 338  $ 342 $ “)
Securities purchased under resale agreements.............ccoeeeeeereeerieneeeneneeneeceeenes 342 342 —
Securities sold under repurchase agreements ...........ccoceeevereerierienceeeenenesesenans 1,833 1,832 1
Fixed rate long-term debt..........ccoceoiviiininininicccccccee e 2,140 1,750 390
Hybrid instruments:
Sructured dePOSIES .....eueeeireeeie ettt 7,832 7,990 (158)
SHIUCTUIEA NOTES...c.vieuviieieiieieie ettt ettt et b e te e e e reessesseessesseessesaeessesenas 10,596 9,906 690
At December 31, 2017
Commercial loans held for sale..........coooviviiiniineiniinccrccc e $ 471 $ 483 $ (12)
Securities purchased under resale agreements.............ccoeeeeereerieneereseeneeceeenes 80 80 —
Securities sold under repurchase agreements ...........ccoeeevereerierienceeeenenesesesene 2,032 2,031 1
Fixed rate long-term debt...........cooiiiiiieiee e 2,230 1,750 480
Hybrid instruments:
Sructured dePOSIES .....evueeeieeieie ettt s 7,693 7,685 8
SHIUCTUIEA NOTES...e.vieuiieeieiieitete ettt ettt te e e reessesseessesreessesaeessesenas 10,656 9,530 1,126
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Components of Gain on Instruments Designated at Fair Value and Related Derivatives The following table summarizes the
components of gain on instruments designated at fair value and related derivatives reflected in the consolidated statement of income
(loss) for the three months ended March 31, 2018 and 2017:

Securities Securities
Purchased Sold Under
Under Resale  Repurchase Long-Term Hybrid
Loans Agreements Agreements Debt Instruments Total

(in millions)

Three Months Ended March 31, 2018

Interest rate and other components'"............. $ — 3 — 3 @ s 88 § 442 S 529
Credit risk component ..........c.ccceeveeeeveenennn. 4 — — — — 4
Total mark-to-market on financial instruments
designated at fair value.............ccccococeiiinn 4 — 1) 88 442 533
Mark-to-market on the related derivatives....... — — — 77) (439) (516)
Net realized gain on the related long-term
debt derivatives ........ccceeevveenneceniecenicnnnnn, — — — 13 — 13
Gain on instruments designated at fair value
and related derivatives..........cccceevereeneucnee $ 4 3 — $ (O 24§ 3 S 30
Three Months Ended March 31, 2017
Interest rate and other components"............. $ — 3 6 $ 1 $ 19 3 363) $ (337
Credit risk component ...........cccocccevevruccnnnne. €)) — — — — (1)
Total mark-to-market on financial instruments
designated at fair value.........cccceceecerccrcnnenne. (D 6 1 19 (363) (338)
Mark-to-market on the related derivatives....... — — — (24) 381 357

Net realized gain on the related long-term
debt derivatives .......ccccoeeveeverveneeeneneecenenne. — — — 15 — 15

Gain on instruments designated at fair value
and related derivatives.........ccecvvvveevvevnnenennn. $ 1 $ 6 $ 1 $ 10 $ 18 $ 34

M As it relates to hybrid instruments, interest rate and other components primarily includes interest rate, foreign exchange and equity contract risks.

@ The fair value movement on fair value option liabilities attributable to our own credit spread is recorded in common equity as a component of other

comprehensive income (loss).
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11. Accumulated Other Comprehensive Loss

Accumulated other comprehensive loss includes certain items that are reported directly within a separate component of equity.

The following table presents changes in accumulated other comprehensive loss balances:

Three Months Ended March 31,

2017

Unrealized gains (losses) on investment securities:
Balance at beginning Of PETIOQ........c.couvueuiiriiieiirieeieer ettt ettt sttt s ettt b et a et ea et nen

Cumulative effective adjustment to initially apply new accounting guidance for equity investments which were
previously classified as available-for-sale, net of tax of $2 million" ............ccccoiiiiiiiiiiiicccceeeeeces

Cumulative effective adjustment to initially apply new accounting guidance for stranded tax effects resulting from Tax
LEGISIAtION" 7 ...ttt ettt bt h et a et et a bt b e ARt b et et e Rt bt en e bt eh et e st et et et enententeneene

Balance at beginning of period, AQJUSTEA ..........c.eiiriririiieir ettt sttt b e enes
Other comprehensive income (loss) for period:
Net unrealized gains (losses) arising during period, net of tax of $(63) million and $64 million, respectively ..................

Reclassification adjustment for gains realized in net income (loss), net of tax of $(1) million and $(2) million,
TESPECIVELY ™ ..ttt bttt ettt b b oo s e bt bt h e e et h bt e s h bt h e bt ea b e bt e bt es ettt be st et eneane

Amortization of net unrealized losses on securities transferred from available-for-sale to held-to-maturity realized in
net income (loss), net of tax of $1 million and $3 million, reSPECtiVEly™ ..............covrveerreeeeeereeeeeeeeee oo

Total other comprehensive income (108S) fOr PEIIOQ. ........cuievirieieietiieiee ettt neenas

Balance at end of period

Unrealized gains (losses) on fair value option liabilities attributable to our own credit spread:
Balance at be@inning Of PEIIOQ. ........couiiiuiiirieie ettt ettt ettt b b e et bttt ettt eb b e enes

Cumulative effective adjustment to initially apply new accounting guidance for stranded tax effects resulting from Tax
Legislation

Cumulative effect adjustment to initially ap})ly new accounting guidance for financial liabilities measured under the fair
value option, net of tax of $103 million™.

Balance at beginning of period, AdJUSTEA ............eueiriiieiirieieiee ettt ettt sttt
Other comprehensive income (loss) for period:
Net unrealized gains (losses) arising during period, net of tax of $5 million and $(46) million, respectively .........c.........
Total other comprehensive income (10Ss) fOr PEITOd......c.coveueuiriiieuiririeiiinieicirieecretc ettt s
Balance at €0d O PETIOA ........ccuirieieieiiieieesee ettt ettt et et s et e e b et e s e et e b eseesees e st eseese s s e st es e tenseneene s e st eneenenseneenn
Unrealized gains (losses) on derivatives designated as cash flow hedges:
Balance at beginning Of PEIIOQ. ......c.cviueuiirieiiiiriei ettt ettt bbbt bbbttt e sttt et t b sttt be et

Cumulative effective adjustment to initially apply new accounting guidance for stranded tax effects resulting from Tax
Le@ISIAtION' ...ttt bbbttt h ettt e b st ea et nenene

Balance at beginning of period, AQJUSTEA ..........c.eiiriiiiiiee ettt b et enen
Other comprehensive income (loss) for period:
Net unrealized losses arising during period, net of tax is less then $(1) million and less than $(1) million, respectively ..

Reclassification adjustment for losses realized in net income (loss), net of tax of $1 million and $1 million,
respectively

Total other comprehensive income for period..

Balance at €0d O PETIOM ........couiiiiiiriiiet ettt ettt e b e bt s ket s e et s bttt a ket n st et e e en e be st neenn
Pension and postretirement benefit liability:
Balance at be@inning Of PEIIOQ. .......ooviieiiiieieieteieee ettt ettt ettt et s e et et e st esees et eseesessenseseesenseneeseeseneeseesenseneenn

Cumulative ef;f;e)ctive adjustment to initially apply new accounting guidance for stranded tax effects resulting from Tax
LEISTAtION" 7 ...ttt bbbt e a et h b e st h bt h e et a bt bt ne ettt be st etenene

Balance at beginning of period, AdJUSTEA ..........c.eiiriiiiiriiie ettt
Other comprehensive income (loss) for period:

Change in unfunded pension and postretirement liability, net of tax of less then $1 million and less then $1 million,
TESPECTIVELY ...ttt ettt ettt ettt ettt ettt b ettt b ettt b et bbbkt b bt s b e bt e b e bt b b e stk be et b et s e e b sttt ebeetes

Total other comprehensive INCOME fOr PEIIOE. ......c.covrueuiirieiiirieieiriet ettt sttt ettt st b e eb b s
Balance at €nd O PETIOM . .......couiiiiiiie ettt b ettt b et e e et h bttt b ettt ettt b b e e enn

Total accumulated other comprehensive loss at end of Period..................ccoooiiiiiiiiiiiie s

M See Note 21, "New Accounting Pronouncements," for additional discussion.

()

40

(in millions)

250) $ (461)
4 _
(53) —
(299) (461)
(193) 106
) (3)
2 4
(195) 107
(494) (354)
19) —
) —
— 174
(23) 174
12 (79)
12 (79)
11 95
(164) (157)
35) —
(199) (157)
@ ey
3 2
2 1
(197) (156)
2 _
1 _
3 J—
1 —
1 _
4 _
698) $ (415)

Amount reclassified to net income (loss) is included in other securities gains, net in our consolidated statement of income (loss).
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@ Amount amortized to net income (loss) is included in interest income in our consolidated statement of income (loss). During 2014, we transferred securities

from available-for-sale to held-to-maturity. At the date of transfer, AOCI included net pretax unrealized losses of $234 million related to the transferred
securities which are being amortized over the remaining contractual life of each security as an adjustment of yield in a manner consistent with the amortization
of any premium or discount.

@ See Note 2, "Summary of Significant Accounting Polices and New Accounting Pronouncements," in our 2017 Form 10-K for additional discussion.

®  Amount reclassified to net income (loss) is included in interest income (expense) in our consolidated statement of income (loss).

12.  Pension and Other Postretirement Benefits

Defined Benefit Pension Plan The table below reflects the portion of pension expense and its related components of the combined
HSBC North America Pension Plan (either the "HSBC North America Pension Plan" or the "Plan") which has been allocated to
us and is recorded in our consolidated statement of income (loss). We have not been allocated any portion of the Plan's net pension
liability.

Three Months Ended March 31, 2018 2017

(in millions)
Interest cost on projected benefit ODIIZAtION ........ccuerieieriiiieieieee et $ 15 3 18
Expected return On Plan @SSELS ........ceeeireririirtirtereieietetet ettt ettt sttt a ettt ettt ebe bt sae 21) 21
Amortization 0f NEt ACtUATIAL 0SS ......c.erveuirieiriiiiiiiieeer ettt 5 10
AQMINISTIATIVE COSES .. uvrutitieiieitieteeteete et et et et et e et eeesaeeeesaeensesseeaseeseenseeseenseeneesseaneesseansesseensesneesesneensesnnans 1 1
PENSION EXPEIISE ...ttt ettt ettt ettt e e et e a e eb e bt e bt ekt e bt s b et e ke b et et et et et e st e st eneeneebe bt $ — 3 8

Postretirement Plans Other Than Pensions Our employees also participate in plans which provide medical and life insurance
benefits to retirees and eligible dependents. These plans cover substantially all employees who meet certain age and vested service
requirements. We have instituted dollar limits on payments under the plans to control the cost of future medical benefits. The
following table reflects the components of the net periodic postretirement benefit cost:

Three Months Ended March 31, 2018 2017
(in millions)

Interest cost on accumulated benefit OblIZAtiON..........c.coieiiiiieriiiieiieiec e $ — 1

Net periodic postretirement BENETIt COSE .........eriririmiririniiereictet ettt $ — 9 1
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13. Fee Income from Contracts with Customers

The following table summarizes fee income from contracts with customers disaggregated by type of activity, as well as a
reconciliation to total other revenues, during the three months ended March 31, 2018 and 2017. Following the table is a description
of the various types of fee-based activities and how revenue associated with these activities is recognized.

Three Months Ended March 31, 2018 2017
(in millions)
CLEdit CATA FEES ...vvivvieeeeeeeeeeeeee et ettt ettt ettt ettt eneeteeteeseeteeteeaeereeseesesases e s esensensenseneensensenes $ 1 3 11
Trust and investment ManageMENt fEES ..........ccuevvieriiiieriieietieeeie ettt b reebe e esseesseseesaenns 38 38
Other fees and commissions:
ALCCOUNT SCTVICES ...vvieieeieieteie ettt e et e e et e et e e e et e e e et e e et e e eeaeeeeeaaeeeeaeeeeeteeeeeseeeeeaneeeenseeeenseeeeseseenseeeeenees 65 68
(0 (T LT & 1o 1§15 LT RS SR 78 72
CUSTOAIAL TEES ....eeuviieiiiiiieete ettt ettt et e et e st e e beeeabe e baeeabeesbeesebeenseestbeensaessseensaassseensens 2 5
OTNET FEES ettt ettt ettt et e et e et e etve e beeeabeeebaeeaaeesteeeaseenteestbeereeetreereeeareenreas 15 17
Total other fees and commissions ............... 160 162
Servicing and other fees from HSBC affiliates 99 114
TISUTANCE! .ottt e e e e e e e e ee et e e e e e e e ee e e e e e e e et ee e e e e e e e e eee e e e eseee e e e eeereereeeae 3 4
Total fee income from contracts With CUSTOMETS ...........ccuviieiuiieieiieeeiee et e 311 329
Other NON-TEE TEVEIUES ......cviiiuiiiiieiieeieecite et e ete et e eteeeteeebeesteeeabeestseesbeeseeebeesseeeaseassseenseessseanseesnas 202 264
TOtAl OtHET TEVEIIUES®) ...t ee et e e s e e s e e e eeeeeseeeeseesees e s eeeseesesaeeae S 513 § 593

M Included as a component within other income in the consolidated statement of income (loss).

@ See Note 15, "Business Segments," for a reconciliation of total other revenues on a U.S. GAAP basis to other operating income for each business segment

under the Group Reporting Basis.

Credit card fees Credit card fees include interchange fees earned from merchants who accept our cards in connection with the
purchase of their goods and/or services. These fees are recognized when we satisfy the performance obligation by simultaneously
approving a card holder's purchase at the point of sale and remitting payment to the merchant. We recognized interchange fees of
$21 million and $19 million during the three months ended March 31, 2018 and 2017, respectively. Annual fees on credit cards,
net of direct lending costs, are billed upfront and recognized on a straight-line basis over one year. Other credit card fees such as
cash advance and over-limit fees are transaction based and are recognized and billed at the point in time the transaction occurs
which is when the performance obligation is met. Costs related to our credit card rewards program vary based on multiple factors
including card holder activity, card holder reward redemption rates and card holder reward selections. These costs are recorded
when the rewards are earned by the customer and are presented as a reduction to credit card fees. Credit card rewards program
costs totaled $12 million and $9 million during the three months ended March 31, 2018 and 2017, respectively.

Trust and investment management fees Trust and investment management fees include investment management and administration
fees which are typically billed as a percentage of the average value of a customer's assets during an agreed payment period or for
some contracts, the value of a customer's assets at the end of an agreed payment period and therefore represent variable consideration.
The fee percentage and payment period are agreed with the customer upfront. Generally, payment periods are monthly or quarterly
and coincide with our reporting periods, thereby resolving the uncertainty of the variable consideration by the reporting date. For
payment periods that do not coincide with our reporting periods, judgment is required to estimate the fee and determine the amount
to include in an accrual. An accrual is only recorded to the extent it is highly probable that a significant reversal of revenue will
not occur. In most cases, a significant reversal of revenue is not highly probable. Other trust and investment management fees are
transaction based and are recognized and billed at the point in time the transaction occurs which is when the performance obligation
is met. From time to time, we may also receive performance fees from some funds, though these fees are typically only recognized
when the performance fee 'crystallizes' and the uncertainty of the variable consideration is resolved.

Account services We provide services for various commercial and consumer customer accounts that generate fees from various
activities including: accounts statements, ATM transactions, cash withdrawals, wire transfers, check cashing, debit cards and
internet and phone banking. The fees for these services are established in the customer account agreement and are either billed
individually at the time the service is performed or on a monthly basis for a package or bundle of services as the services are
performed. The performance obligation for these services is met when the services are performed. Customer account agreements
typically include a package of services with multiple performance obligations or a bundle of services making up asingle performance
obligation. In the case of a package of services, the pattern of transfer to the customer is usually the same for all services, and
therefore the package of services is treated as a single performance obligation. In some cases, a package or bundle of services is
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billed upfront as an annual fee and recognized on a straight-line basis over one year as the services are performed and the performance
obligation is met.

Credit facilities Credit facilities fees include fees generated from lending activities that are not included in the direct loan origination
fees which are recognized in interest income as an adjustment to yield. This includes fees associated with loan commitments,
revolving credit facilities, standby letters of credit, loan syndication and other transaction based fees. These fees are either billed
as a fixed price or as a percentage of the approved lending limit or transaction value. The fee percentage is agreed with the customer
upfront. Although the percentage based fees represent variable consideration, the uncertainty of the variable consideration is
resolved by the time the revenue is recognized as the lending limit or transaction value is known on the contract or transaction
date. Loan syndication fees received for managing a syndication and other transaction based fees are recognized and billed at the
point in time the transaction occurs which is when the performance obligation is met. Fees associated with loan commitments,
revolving credit facilities and standby letters of credit are billed upfront and recognized on a straight-line basis over the period the
service is performed which is when the performance obligation is met (e.g. the commitment period). In the event a loan commitment
or standby letter of credit is exercised, the remaining unamortized fee is recognized as an adjustment to yield over the loan term.

Custodial fees We earn fees from providing customers with custody services including the safekeeping of financial assets and the
processing and servicing of those assets. These fees are typically recognized and billed on a monthly basis over the period the
service is performed which is when the performance obligation is met, as a percentage of the value of the customer's assets held
in custody (calculated daily or monthly). The fee percentage is agreed with the customer upfront.

Other fees and commissions Other fees and commissions include fees received associated with various other activities such as
remittances, imports/exports, clearing and other miscellaneous services. These fees are typically transaction based and are
recognized and billed at the point in time the transaction occurs which is when the performance obligation is met.

Servicing and other fees from HSBC affiliates We receive fees from other HSBC affiliates for providing them with various banking,
wealth management and other miscellaneous services as well as support for certain administrative and global business activities.
These fees are reported in servicing and other fees from HSBC affiliates and are typically recognized and billed on a monthly basis
over the period the service is performed or for some fees that are transaction based, at the point in time the transaction occurs,
which is when the performance obligation is met. See Note 14, "Related Party Transactions," for additional information regarding
the various services provided and other transactions with HSBC affiliates.

Insurance We earn commissions from the sale of third party insurance policies which are typically recognized on a weekly or
monthly basis, when the policy goes into effect.

Deferred Fee Income

Information related to deferred fee income on loan commitments, revolving credit facilities and standby letters of credit is included
in Note 18, "Guarantee Arrangements, Pledged Assets and Repurchase Agreements," and Note 19, "Fair Value Measurements."
Excluding these items, we had deferred fee income related to certain account service fees that are paid upfront and recognized
over the service period and annual fees on credit cards which collectively totaled $2 million and $1 million at March 31,2018 and
December 31, 2017, respectively. We expect to recognize this revenue over a remaining period of one year or less.

Other than as described above under trust and investment management fees, we do not use significant judgments in the determination
of the amount and timing of fee income from contracts with customers. Additionally, costs to obtain or fulfill contracts with
customers were immaterial.
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14. Related Party Transactions

In the normal course of business, we conduct transactions with HSBC and its subsidiaries. HSBC policy requires that these
transactions occur at prevailing market rates and terms and include funding arrangements, derivative transactions, servicing
arrangements, information technology support, centralized support services, banking and other miscellaneous services and where
applicable, these transactions are compliant with United States banking regulations. All extensions of credit by (and certain credit
exposures of) HSBC Bank USA, National Association ("HSBC Bank USA") to other HSBC affiliates (other than Federal Deposit
Insurance Corporation ("FDIC") insured banks) are legally required to be secured by eligible collateral. The following tables and
discussions below present the more significant related party balances and the income (expense) generated by related party
transactions:

March 31, December 31,
2018 2017

(in millions)

Assets:
Cash and due frOm DANKS ........cceeiiieiiieiie ettt te e e st teeeaae e beessaesnbeesssasseenes $ 279 § 191
Interest bearing deposits With Danks...........ccccceiieiiiiiiieeeeeee e 709 473
Securities purchased under agreements to TeSell™) .............o.ovuiimiimieeeeeeeeee e 181 1,115
TTAAINZ ASSELS ...ttt ettt ettt b et e et ea e s bt et e sbe e tesbtenbesaeenbeeseenbeennenbeans 103 63
| oY s RO 1,920 6,750
OHET™ o 221 134
TOLAL ASSEES ...ttt ettt e e e et e et e e e et e et e eae e et et e et e et e st e et e e e e eaeeaaeaan $ 3413 § 8,726
Liabilities:
DIEPOSIES ...vrviviitietietite et et et et et estest e st estess e st eseeteeteebeebeebeeseese b e s b e s esses b es s e st essesseseeteeteeteeneeteeteeaeerenrs $ 14,001 § 10,521
Trading HADIItIES . ......c.eeevieeiieiieeiieteet ettt ettt ettt ettt e e s e ete et e eteeteeseesteeasesteessesseessenseans — 737
ShOTt-tEIMN DOTTOWINES....evvevieiieeieiiectieieeieeie et et eeteteette et eseesseensesseessesseensesseenseeseenseeseenseensenseanes 1,296 1,595
LONGEIMN AEDL ....iiviiiiiiiciicieeiee ettt te et e te e beere e be e st e beesbesbeesbenraans 4,842 4,841
ORET™ oo 465 387
TOTAL HADIIITIES ...ttt ettt et et e eat et e enteeaeestesaeenaesateesesnsesaesnsesseensesseensesseans $ 20,604 $ 18,081
)

Reflects purchases of securities which other HSBC affiliates have agreed to repurchase.

@ Other assets and other liabilities primarily consist of derivative balances associated with hedging activities and other miscellaneous account receivables and

payables.
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Three Months Ended March 31, 2018 2017
(in millions)

Income/(Expense):

INEETESE INCOMIC ...ttt sttt sttt ettt e b et bbb sae et ae e ennene $ 22 3 24

INEEIEST EXPEIISE ...ttt ettt sttt ettt ettt et bt et eae et saee bt eaaesbe e s enbeeenesbeennesueenneene (78) (66)
INEt INEETESE EXPEIISE ..cuvvierenterentitetenteitet ettt ettt ettt ettt et b s s s e b e e ess et et eneebeeueeutebeebesbesae et ennenaensemnennens (56) (42)
TTAAING TEVETIUC. .....eutiiiieiieieet ettt ettt et b et b et bbb et et e st et eb e bt e bt eb e sbe e b bt st e b e b e naennen 1,158 85
Servicing and other fees from HSBC affiliates:'"

HSBC BANK PIC ..ttt ettt ettt st b e st 41 41

HSBC Markets (USA) INC. ("HMUS") ....uiieiieiiieiect ettt ettt ettt ae st essaeeaeesesaensaennnes 31 17

HSBEC FINANCE.......c.eciiieiiieiiricirtcetet ettt sttt st s ne 1 34

Other HSBC affIlIAtes ......c.eiuiriiriiieieicieiceetcteese sttt sttt s st ee 26 22
Total servicing and other fees from HSBC affiliates .........ccccoerirerinienenienieiciciccenescsesee e 99 114
Gain (loss) on instruments designated at fair value and related derivatives..........ccoceveveninencnincncnenne. (438) 360

Support services from HSBC affiliates:""

HSBC Technology & Services (USA) ("HTSU")....oouiiiiiiiiniicictceeeeeeceeteeeeetese e (298) (293)

HMUS Lo @31 (29)

Other HSBC affilIates ........coiriiiiiieieieieieieieetce sttt ettt st s s eae (82) (62)
Total support services from HSBC affiliates..........ccooveirieineiinieiniiiiiinciceeceeeeeeesee e 411) (384)
OCCUPANCY EXPENSE, NEE ") ... oo 12 13
Stock based compensation EXPENSE™ .............co.covueveiveeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeee e 5) (7

M During the fourth quarter of 2017, we changed our presentation for certain cost reimbursements that were previously netted as an offset to affiliate expense
and began presenting these reimbursements gross in affiliate income for consistency in presentation across similar transactions. Separately, we also concluded
that rental revenue we receive from our affiliates for rent on certain office space would be better presented as a reduction to occupancy expense as opposed
to areduction to affiliates expense. As a result, we have reclassified prior period amounts in order to conform to the current year presentation, which increased
servicing and other fees from HSBC affiliates $32 million, increased support services from HSBC affiliates $45 million and decreased occupancy expense,
net $13 million during the three months ended March 31, 2017. Reported net income (loss) for the three months ended March 31, 2017 remained unaffected.

@ Employees may participate in one or more stock compensation plans sponsored by HSBC. These expenses are included in salaries and employee benefits
in our consolidated statement of income (loss). Certain employees are also eligible to participate in a defined benefit pension plan and other postretirement
plans sponsored by HSBC North America which are discussed in Note 12, "Pension and Other Postretirement Benefits."

During the three months ended March 31, 2018, our results were impacted by an out of period adjustment which increased servicing
and other fees from HSBC affiliates by approximately $10 million in connection with costs reimbursements related to prior years.

Funding Arrangements with HSBC Affiliates:

We use HSBC affiliates to fund a portion of our borrowing and liquidity needs. At both March 31, 2018 and December 31, 2017,
long-term debt with affiliates reflected $4.9 billion of floating rate borrowings from HSBC North America. The outstanding balances
include $2.0 billion of senior debt which matures in August 2021, $0.9 billion of subordinated debt which matures in May 2025
and $2.0 billion of senior debt which matures in August 2026.

We have a $150 million uncommitted line of credit with HSBC North America. There was no outstanding balance under this credit
facility at either March 31, 2018 or December 31, 2017.

We have also incurred short-term borrowings with certain affiliates, largely securities sold under repurchase agreements with
HSBC Securities (USA) Inc. ("HSI"). In addition, certain affiliates have also placed deposits with us.

Lending and Derivative Related Arrangements Extended to HSBC Affiliates:
At March 31, 2018 and December 31, 2017, we have the following loan balances outstanding with HSBC affiliates:

March 31, December 31,

2018 2017
(in millions)
HMUS aNd SUDSIAIATIES ...ttt ettt ettt et eeaseateeaseatesaeetesneesesneennesneans $ 1,806 $ 6,690
Other short-term affiliate IeNding.........c.cccveviievieriiiiiiieie ettt sbesaeessesreens 114 60
Total loans $ 1,920 $ 6,750
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HMUS and subsidiaries We have extended loans and lines, some of them uncommitted, to HMUS and its subsidiaries in the
amount of $7.9 billion at both March 31, 2018 and December 31, 2017 of which $1.8 billion and $6.7 billion, respectively, was
outstanding. The maturities of the outstanding balances range from overnight to three months. Each borrowing is re-evaluated
prior to its maturity date and either extended or allowed to mature. Included in the outstanding borrowings at December 31, 2017
was a $5.0 billion overnight loan to HSI that was repaid in early January as the wire process from HSI to settle daily activity failed.

We have extended lines of credit to various other HSBC affiliates totaling $3.5 billion which did not have any outstanding balances
at either March 31, 2018 and December 31, 2017.

Other short-term affiliate lending In addition to loans and lines extended to affiliates discussed above, from time to time we may
extend loans to affiliates which are generally short term in nature. At March 31, 2018 and December 31, 2017, there were $114
million and $60 million, respectively, of these loans outstanding.

HSBC Finance During the first quarter of 2017, we received $28 million of loan prepayment fees from HSBC Finance associated
with the payoff of their loan, which were included in servicing and other fees from HSBC affiliates.

As part of a global HSBC strategy to offset interest rate or other market risks associated with certain securities, debt issues and
derivative contracts with unaffiliated third parties, we routinely enter into derivative transactions with HSBC Bank plc and other
HSBC affiliates. The notional value of derivative contracts related to these transactions was approximately $820.8 billion and
$768.4 billion at March 31, 2018 and December 31, 2017, respectively. The net credit exposure (defined as the net fair value of
derivative assets and liabilities, including any collateral received) related to the contracts was approximately $159 million and $64
million at March 31, 2018 and December 31, 2017, respectively. Our Global Banking and Markets business accounts for these
transactions on a mark to market basis, with the change in value of contracts with HSBC affiliates substantially offset by the change
in value of related contracts entered into with unaffiliated third parties.

Services Provided Between HSBC Affiliates:

Under multiple service level agreements, we provide services to and receive services from various HSBC affiliates. The following
summarizes these activities:

*  HSBC North America's technology and support services, including risk management, compliance, operations, finance, tax,
legal, human resources, corporate affairs and other shared services, are centralized within HTSU. HTSU also provides
certain item processing and statement processing activities to us. The fees we pay HTSU for the centralized support services
and processing activities are included in support services from HSBC affiliates. We also receive fees from HTSU for
providing certain administrative services to them. The fees we receive from HTSU are included in servicing and other fees
from HSBC affiliates. In certain cases, for facilities used by HTSU, we may guarantee their performance under the lease
agreements.

*  Weuse HSBC Global Services Limited, an HSBC affiliate located outside of the United States, to provide various support
services to our operations including among other areas, customer service, systems, collection and accounting functions.
The expenses related to these services are included in support services from HSBC affiliates.

*  Weutilize HSI, a subsidiary of HMUS, for broker dealer, debt underwriting, customer referrals, loan syndication and other
treasury and traded markets related services, pursuant to service level agreements. Debt underwriting fees charged by HSI
are deferred as a reduction of long-term debt and amortized to interest expense over the life of the related debt. Fees charged
by HSI for the other services are included in support services from HSBC affiliates. We also receive fees from HSI for
providing certain wealth management services to them. The fees we receive from HSI are included in servicing and other
fees from HSBC affiliates.

*  Wereceive fees from other subsidiaries of HSBC, including HSBC Bank plc, for providing them with banking and other
miscellaneous services as well as support for certain administrative and global business activities. These fees are reported
in servicing and other fees from HSBC affiliates.

*  Prior to 2018, we received residential mortgage loan servicing fees from HSBC Finance for services performed on their
behalf and paid residential mortgage loan servicing fees to HSBC Finance for services performed on our behalf. The fees
we received from HSBC Finance were reported in servicing and other fees from HSBC affiliates. During 2017, HSBC
Finance completed the execution of their receivable sales program and, as a result, we are no longer servicing residential
mortgage loans for HSBC Finance. Fees we paid to HSBC Finance were reported in support services from HSBC affiliates.
This included fees paid for the servicing of residential mortgage loans that we previously purchased from HSBC Finance.
During 2017, we sold these residential mortgage loans to third parties.

Other Transactions with HSBC Affiliates

We received revenue from our affiliates for rent on certain office space, which has been recorded as a component of occupancy
expense, net. Rental revenue from our affiliates totaled $13 million during both the three months ended March 31, 2018 and 2017.
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Atboth March 31, 2018 and December 31, 2017, we had $1,265 million of non-cumulative preferred stock issued and outstanding
to HSBC North America. See Note 17, in our 2017 Form 10-K "Preferred Stock," for additional details.

15. Business Segments

We have five distinct business segments that we utilize for management reporting and analysis purposes, which are aligned with
HSBC's global business strategy: Retail Banking and Wealth Management ("RBWM"), Commercial Banking ("CMB"), Global
Banking and Markets ("GB&M"), Private Banking ("PB") and a Corporate Center ("CC"). There have been no changes in the
basis of our segmentation as compared with the presentation in our 2017 Form 10-K.

Our segment results are presented in accordance with HSBC Group accounting and reporting policies, which apply IFRSs as issued
by the IASB and endorsed by the EU, and, as a result, our segment results are prepared and presented using financial information
prepared on the Group Reporting Basis as operating results are monitored and reviewed, trends are evaluated and decisions about
allocating resources, such as employees, are primarily made on this basis. We continue, however, to monitor capital adequacy and
report to regulatory agencies on a U.S. GAAP basis.

As discussed more fully below, during the first quarter of 2018, we adopted new accounting guidance under the Group Reporting
Basis for the requirements of IFRS 9, "Financial Instruments" ("IFRS 9") and we also implemented a change in accounting policy
under the Group Reporting Basis to classify structured notes and deposits as liabilities designated under the fair value option.
There have been no additional changes in the measurement of segment profit as compared with the presentation in our 2017
Form 10-K.

A summary of differences between U.S. GAAP and the Group Reporting Basis as they impact our results are presented in Note
22, "Business Segments," in our 2017 Form 10-K. Other than the changes discussed below, there have been no other significant
changes since December 31, 2017 in the differences between U.S. GAAP and the Group Reporting Basis impacting our results.

Expected credit losses / loan impairment - In January 2018, we adopted new accounting guidance under the Group Reporting Basis
in conjunction with HSBC’s adoption of the requirements of IFRS 9 on January 1, 2018 with the exception of the provisions
relating to the presentation of gains and losses on financial instruments designated at fair value which were previously adopted in
2017.

Under IFRS 9, expected credit losses ("ECL") are recognized for a) financial assets measured at amortized cost, including loans,
securities purchased under agreements to resell and certain debt securities; b) financial assets measured at fair value with changes
in fair value recorded through other comprehensive income (loss), primarily debt securities; and ¢) certain loan commitments and
financial guarantee contracts. Financial assets which have not experienced a significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition
are considered to be in ‘stage 1’; financial assets which are considered to have experienced a significant increase in credit risk are
in ‘stage 2’; and financial assets for which there is objective evidence of impairment so are considered to be in default or otherwise
credit-impaired are in ‘stage 3’. At initial recognition and for financial assets that remain in stage 1, an allowance (or provision in
the case of some loan commitments and financial guarantees) is required for ECL resulting from default events that are possible
within the next 12 months ('12-month ECL'). In the event of a significant increase in credit risk, an allowance (or provision) is
required for ECL resulting from all possible default events over the expected life of the financial instrument ('lifetime ECL') and
financial assets are moved to stage 2 or stage 3.

The adoption of the new accounting guidance on January 1, 2018 on our customer loan portfolio resulted in an increase to our
customer loan allowance for ECL of approximately $60 million with a corresponding charge to equity under the Group Reporting
Basis. The impact of adoption on the allowance for other financial assets was not significant.

Structured notes and deposits - Structured notes and deposits have historically been classified as trading liabilities under the Group
Reporting Basis and carried at fair value with changes in fair value recorded in earnings. Beginning January 1, 2018, HSBC
concluded that a change in accounting policy and presentation from trading liabilities to liabilities designated under the fair value
option for structured notes and deposits under the Group Reporting Basis would be appropriate since it would better align with
the presentation of similar financial instruments by peers under IFRSs and therefore provide more relevant information about the
effect of these financial liabilities on reported financial position and performance. As a result, the fair value movement on structured
notes and deposits attributable to our own credit spread is now being recorded in other comprehensive income (loss) under the
Group Reporting Basis, consistent with U.S. GAAP. During the first quarter of 2017, total other revenues under the Group Reporting
Basis in GB&M included a loss of $49 million from the fair value movement on structured notes and deposits attributable to our
own credit spread.
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The following table summarizes the results for each segment on a Group Reporting Basis, as well as provides a reconciliation of
total results under the Group Reporting Basis to U.S. GAAP consolidated totals:

Group Reporting Basis Consolidated Amounts

Group
Group ReBpor.ting
Adjustments/ Reporting asis U.S. GAAP
Reconciling Basis Reclassi- Consolidated
RBWM CMB GB&M PB cC Items Total Adjustments®  fications'® Totals
(in millions)
Three Months Ended March 31, 2018
Net interest income ™ ........ $ 216 $ 18 $ 149 $ 47 $ 15 § — $ 613 $ 8 § (69 $ 552
Other operating income..... 93 55 197 20 83 — 448 an 76 513
Total operating income ..... 309 241 346 67 98 — 1,061 A3) 7 1,065
Expected credit losses /
provision for credit losses . 3 (10) (14) A3 3 — 21 (51) 1 7)
306 251 360 70 95 — 1,082 48 6 1,136
Operating expenses™......... 325 151 216 61 532 — 1,285 ) 6 1,282
Profit (loss) before income
taX EXPENSE ...voneennenn $ (199 $ 100 $§ 144 $ 9 $ (@437 S — $ (203) $ 57 $ — 8 (146)
Balances at end of period:_ -
Total assets........ccovvrvvnens $18,533 $24421 §$ 85,481 $7,356 $ 77,0714 $ —  $212,865 $ (30,830) $ — $ 182,035
Total loans, net®............... 16,665 23,402 18,100 6,132 1,791 — 66,090 (683) 1,332 66,739
Goodwill .....ccoerveerreienen. 581 358 — 321 — — 1,260 347 — 1,607
Total deposits™ .... 34,822 23,573 33,778 7,970 3,635 — 103,778 (2,803) 16,978 117,953
Three Months Ended March 31, 2017
Net interest income" ........ $ 213 § 180 $ 152 $§ 53 8§ 8 S — $ 606 $ 13) s 4 3 597
Other operating income' . 148 52 142 21 94 — 457 140 4) 593
Total operating income ..... 361 232 294 74 102 — 1,063 127 — 1,190
Loan impairment charges /
provision for credit losses . 9 (36) (35) 2 (1) — (61) 27 11 77)
352 268 329 72 103 — 1,124 154 (11 1,267
Operating expenses®® ... 286 139 224 61 110 — 820 10 an 819
Profit (loss) before income
taX EXPENSE ..vvvvvrverenrennes $ 66 $ 129 $ 105 $ 11§ @ $ — S 304§ 144 § — 3 448
Balances at end of period:_ -
Total assets.......ooeevvvvevsnnnee. $19,057 $24,175 $ 84,949 $7.808 $103,804 $ — $239,793 $  (38255) $ 45 $ 201,583
Total loans, net.................. 16,802 23,170 21,108 5,928 3,564 — 70,572 (323) (1,582) 68,667
Goodwill 581 358 — 325 — — 1,264 348 — 1,612
Total deposits .........ccco.ee...
34,811 19,914 22,960 11,355 6,638 — 95,678 (4,430) 38,010 129,258

(M Net interest income of each segment represents the difference between actual interest earned on assets and interest paid on liabilities of the segment adjusted

for a funding charge or credit. Segments are charged a cost to fund assets (e.g. customer loans) and receive a funding credit for funds provided (e.g. customer
deposits) based on equivalent market rates. The objective of these charges/credits is to transfer interest rate risk from the segments to one centralized unit in
Balance Sheet Management and more appropriately reflect the profitability of the segments.

@ Expenses for the segments include fully apportioned corporate overhead expenses.

®  In addition to the changes discussed above, in conjunction with HSBC's adoption of the requirements of IFRS 9 we also adopted changes in presentation

under the Group Reporting Basis related to affiliate loans and deposits as well as cash collateral posted and received. Beginning January 1, 2018, affiliate
loans have been reclassified from other assets to loans, affiliate deposits have been reclassified from other liabilities to deposits, cash collateral posted has
been reclassified from loans to other assets and cash collateral received has been reclassified from deposits to other liabilities. As a result of these changes,
total loans, net and total deposits in the GB&M segment increased $0.2 billion and $10.8 billion, respectively, and total loans, net and total deposits in the
CC segment decreased $3.0 billion and $0.9 billion, respectively, at March 31, 2018.

@ During the fourth quarter of 2017, we changed our presentation for certain cost reimbursements that were previously netted as an offset to affiliate expense

and began presenting these reimbursements gross in affiliate income. As a result, we have reclassified prior period amounts in order to conform to the current
year presentation, which increased both RBWM other operating income and RBWM operating expenses $11 million and also increased both GB&M other
operating income and GB&M operating expenses $21 million during the three months ended March 31, 2017. See Note 14, "Related Party Transactions,"
for additional information.

)

(6)

Represents adjustments associated with differences between U.S. GAAP and the Group Reporting Basis.
Represents differences in financial statement presentation between U.S. GAAP and the Group Reporting Basis.
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16. Retained Earnings and Regulatory Capital Requirements

Bank dividends are one of the sources of funds used for payment of shareholder dividends and other HSBC USA cash needs.
Approval from the Office of the Comptroller of the Currency ("the OCC") is required if the total of all dividends HSBC Bank
USA declares in any year exceeds the cumulative net income for that year, combined with the net income for the two preceding
years reduced by dividends attributable to those years, or if the dividend resulted in a reduction of permanent capital. Under a
separate restriction, payment of dividends is prohibited in amounts greater than undivided profits then on hand, after deducting
actual losses and bad debts. Bad debts are debts due and unpaid for a period of six months unless well secured, as defined, and in
the process of collection.

HSBC Bank USA is also required to maintain reserve balances either in the form of vault cash or on deposit with the Federal
Reserve Bank, based on a percentage of deposits. At March 31, 2018 and December 31, 2017, HSBC Bank USA was required to
maintain $2,699 million and $2,929 million, respectively, of reserve balances with the Federal Reserve Bank which are reported
within interest bearing deposits with banks on the consolidated balance sheet.

The following table summarizes the capital amounts and ratios of HSBC USA and HSBC Bank USA, calculated in accordance
with banking regulations in effect at March 31, 2018 and December 31, 2017:

March 31, 2018 December 31, 2017
Capital Well-Capitalized Actual Capital Well-Capitalized Actual
Amount Ratio® Ratio Amount Ratio® Ratio

(dollars are in millions)

Common equity Tier 1 ratio:

HSBC USA oo, $ 16,979 45%?  13.6% $ 17,428 45% % 142%

HSBC Bank USA......ccccecevinininnne. 18,843 6.5 154 19,294 6.5 16.7
Tier 1 capital ratio:

HSBC USA ..o, 18,244 6.0 14.6 18,696 6.0 15.3

HSBC Bank USA........ccooovvreines 21,343 8.0 17.4 21,786 8.0 18.8
Total capital ratio:

HSBC USA.....oooieiieeeeeeeees 21,839 10.0 17.5 22,565 10.0 18.4

HSBC Bank USA......cccccecvinninene. 24,996 10.0 20.4 25,522 10.0 221
Tier 1 leverage ratio:

HSBC USA oo 18,244 40 @ 99 18,696 40 @ 99

HSBC Bank USA........ccooovveeines 21,343 5.0 11.8 21,786 5.0 11.7
Supplementary leverage ratio ("SLR"):

HSBC USA ..o, 18,244 30 @ 13 N/A

HSBC Bank USA.........ccoooomrvenrnnann.. 21,343 30 9 86 N/A
Risk-weighted assets:

HSBC USA ..o, 124,937 122,584

HSBC Bank USA.......cccoeiiierne 122,752 115,667
Adjusted quarterly average assets:*

HSBC USA.....cooiiiieeereeeeees 183,539 188,774

HSBC Bank USA......cccccecvvinininne. 181,179 186,551
Total leverage exposure:™...................

HSBC USA ..o, 250,718 N/A

HSBC Bank USA........ccooovrreines 247,662 N/A

(" HSBC USA and HSBC Bank USA are categorized as "well-capitalized," as defined by their principal regulators. To be categorized as well-capitalized under

regulatory guidelines, a banking institution must have the ratios reflected in the above table, and must not be subject to a directive, order, or written agreement
to meet and maintain specific capital levels.

@ There are no common equity Tier 1 or Tier 1 leverage ratio components in the definition of a well-capitalized bank holding company. The ratios shown are

the regulatory minimum ratios.
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®  Beginning January 1,2018, HSBC USA and HSBC Bank USA are required to maintain the regulatory minimum SLR of 3 percent. There is no SLR component

in the definition of a well-capitalized banking institution.

@ Represents the Tier 1 leverage ratio denominator which reflects quarterly average assets adjusted for amounts permitted to be deducted from Tier 1 capital.

®  Represents the SLR denominator which includes adjusted quarterly average assets plus certain off-balance sheet exposures.

N/A Not Applicable

In 2013, U.S. banking regulators issued a final rule implementing the Basel I1I capital framework in the United States ("the Basel
IIT rule") which, for banking organizations such as HSBC North America and HSBC Bank USA, became effective in 2014 with
certain provisions being phased in over time through the beginning of 2019. As a result, the capital ratios in the table above are
reported in accordance with the fully phased-in Basel III rule for March 31, 2018 and in accordance with the transition rules within
the Basel III rule for December 31, 2017. In addition, risk-weighted assets in the table above are calculated using the general risk-
based capital rules of the Basel III Standardized Approach.

17. Variable Interest Entities

In the ordinary course of business, we have organized special purpose entities ("SPEs") primarily to structure financial products
to meet our clients' investment needs, to facilitate clients to access and raise financing from capital markets and to securitize
financial assets held to meet our own funding needs. For disclosure purposes, we aggregate SPEs based on the purpose, risk
characteristics and business activities of the SPEs. An SPE is a VIE if it lacks sufficient equity investment at risk to finance its
activities without additional subordinated financial support or, as a group, the holders of the equity investment at risk lack either
a) the power through voting or similar rights to direct the activities of the entity that most significantly impacts the entity's economic
performance; or b) the obligation to absorb the entity's expected losses, the right to receive the expected residual returns, or both.

Variable Interest Entities We consolidate VIEs in which we hold a controlling financial interest as evidenced by the power to
direct the activities of a VIE that most significantly impact its economic performance and the obligation to absorb losses of, or the
right to receive benefits from, the VIE that could potentially be significant to the VIE and therefore are deemed to be the primary
beneficiary. We take into account our entire involvement in a VIE (explicit or implicit) in identifying variable interests that
individually or in the aggregate could be significant enough to warrant our designation as the primary beneficiary and hence require
us to consolidate the VIE or otherwise require us to make appropriate disclosures. We consider our involvement to be potentially
significant where we, among other things, (i) enter into derivative contracts to absorb the risks and benefits from the VIE or from
the assets held by the VIE; (ii) provide a financial guarantee that covers assets held or liabilities issued by a VIE; (iii) sponsor the
VIE in that we design, organize and structure the transaction; and (iv) retain a financial or servicing interest in the VIE.

We are required to evaluate whether to consolidate a VIE when we first become involved and on an ongoing basis. In almost all
cases, a qualitative analysis of our involvement in the entity provides sufficient evidence to determine whether we are the primary
beneficiary. In rare cases, a more detailed analysis to quantify the extent of variability to be absorbed by each variable interest
holder is required to determine the primary beneficiary.

Consolidated VIEs The following table summarizes assets and liabilities related to our consolidated VIEs at March 31,2018 and
December 31,2017 which are consolidated on our balance sheet. Assets and liabilities exclude intercompany balances that eliminate
in consolidation.

March 31, 2018 December 31, 2017
Consolidated Consolidated Consolidated Consolidated
Assets Liabilities Assets Liabilities

(in millions)

Low income housing limited liability partnership:

ONET ASSELS ...ttt ettt ettt ettt et ettt seete et et sennens $ 146 $ — 3 154 § —
Long-term debt — 73 — 73
Interest, taxes and other liabilities — 59 — 59
TOtAL .t $ 146 $ 132 $ 154 $ 132

Low income housing limited liability partnership In 2009, all low income housing investments held by us at the time were
transferred to a Limited Liability Partnership ("LLP") in exchange for debt and equity while a third party invested cash for an
equity interest that is mandatorily redeemable at a future date. The LLP was created in order to ensure the utilization of future tax
benefits from these low income housing tax projects. The LLP was deemed to be a VIE as it does not have sufficient equity
investment at risk to finance its activities. Upon entering into this transaction, we concluded that we are the primary beneficiary
of the LLP due to the nature of our continuing involvement and, as a result, consolidate the LLP and report the equity interest
issued to the third party investor in other liabilities and the assets of the LLP in other assets on our consolidated balance sheet. The
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investments held by the LLP represent equity investments in the underlying low income housing partnerships. The LLP does not
consolidate the underlying partnerships because it does not have the power to direct the activities of the partnerships that most
significantly impact the economic performance of the partnerships.

As a practical expedient, we amortize our low income housing investments in proportion to the allocated tax benefits under the
proportional amortization method and present the associated tax benefits net of investment amortization in income tax expense.

Unconsolidated VIEs We also have variable interests in other VIEs that are not consolidated because we are not the primary
beneficiary. The following table provides additional information on these unconsolidated VIEs, including the variable interests
held by us and our maximum exposure to loss arising from our involvements in these VIEs, at March 31, 2018 and December 31,
2017:

Total Assets Carrying Value of Variable Interests

Held by Held Reported as Maximum
Uncopselidated Assets Liabilities s
(in millions)
At March 31, 2018
Structured note VEhicles........ooivveireireineireeeeeeeeee $ 3,020 $ 1,803 $ 7 83 3,013
Limited partnership investments............ccoeceeevereerieneeniencnne 1,571 420 250 420
Refinancing SPE........ccccociiiiiiinininieeeeeceeeee 412 114 — 114
o] 7: 1 RO $ 5,003 $ 2,337 $ 257 $ 3,547
At December 31, 2017
Structured note vehicles........o.coooeiieiiiieiiiieieeeeee, $ 3,019 $ 1,803 $ 6 $ 3,013
Limited partnership investments...........cocevevveviereerenincnennens 1,566 412 262 412
Refinancing SPE ... 412 116 — 116
TOtAL ... $ 4,997 $ 2,331 $ 268 § 3,541

Information on the types of variable interest entities with which we are involved, the nature of our involvement and the variable
interests held in those entities is presented below.

Structured note vehicles We provide derivatives, such as interest rate and currency swaps, to structured note vehicles and, in
certain instances, invest in the vehicles' debt instruments. We hold variable interests in these structured note vehicles in the form
of total return swaps under which we take on the risks and benefits of the structured notes they issue. The same risks and benefits
are passed on to third party entities through back-end total return swaps. We earn a spread for facilitating the transaction. Since
we do not have the power to direct the activities of the VIE and are not the primary beneficiary, we do not consolidate them. Our
maximum exposure to loss is the notional amount of the derivatives wrapping the structured notes. The maximum exposure to
loss of $3,013 million at March 31, 2018 will occur in the unlikely scenario where the value of the structured notes is reduced to
zero and, at the same time, the counterparty of the back-end swap defaults with zero recovery. In certain instances, we hold credit
default swaps with the structured note vehicles under which we receive credit protection on specified reference assets in exchange
for the payment of a premium. Through these derivatives, the vehicles assume the credit risk associated with the reference assets
which are then passed on to the holders of the debt instruments they issue. Because they create rather than absorb variability, the
credit default swaps we hold are not considered variable interests. We record all investments in, and derivative contracts with,
unconsolidated structured note vehicles at fair value on our consolidated balance sheet.

Limited partnership investments We invest as a limited partner in partnerships that operate qualified affordable housing, renewable
energy and community development projects. The returns of these investments are generated primarily from the tax benefits,
including Federal tax credits and tax deductions from operating losses in the project companies. In addition, some of the investments
also help us comply with the Community Reinvestment Act. Certain limited partnership structures are considered to be VIEs
because either (a) they do not have sufficient equity investment at risk or (b) the limited partners with equity at risk do not have
substantive kick-out rights through voting rights or substantive participating rights over the general partner. As a limited partner,
we are not the primary beneficiary of the VIEs and do not consolidate them. Our investments in these partnerships are recorded
in other assets on the consolidated balance sheet. The maximum exposure to loss shown in the table above represents our recorded
investments.

Refinancing SPE We organized and provided loans to a SPE to purchase a senior secured financing facility from the originator
designed to finance a third party borrower's acquisition of a portfolio of commercial real estate loans in Mexico. Interest and
principal repayments of the prepayable financing facility are dependent on and are secured by the rental cash flows generated from
the underlying commercial real estate properties. The financing facility contains additional credit enhancements, including a 15
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percent equity subordination in the borrower's capital structure and a financial guarantee over 25 percent of the outstanding balance
provided by the borrower's parent.

The SPE is a refinancing vehicle designed to secure term financing from external investors to repay our loans. The loans issued
to the SPE are supported by the financing facility and the security interests in the commercial real estate loans and the credit
enhancements. The refinancing vehicle is a VIE because it does not have sufficient equity investment at risk to permit the entity
to finance the activities without additional subordination provided by any parties. We have a variable interest in the VIE through
our ownership of the loans. In view of the purpose and design of the SPE, the overall funding structure, the additional credit
enhancements and the risks inherent in the VIE, we concluded the investors absorb an insignificant amount of expected loss and/
or benefit in the VIE. Rather, the borrower and its parent take on the risks and benefits in the VIE through the credit enhancements
provided to the holder of the financing facility. In addition, the investors do not have the power to direct the activities that most
significantly impact the economic performance of the VIE and, therefore, we are not the primary beneficiary of the VIE. The
maximum exposure to loss shown in the table above represents our investment in the loans without consideration of any recovery
benefits from the credit enhancements.

Third-party sponsored securitization entities We invest in asset-backed securities issued by third party sponsored securitization
entities which may be considered VIEs. The investments are transacted at arm's-length and decisions to invest are based on a credit
analysis of the underlying collateral assets or the issuer. We are a passive investor in these issuers and do not have the power to
direct the activities of these issuers. As such, we do not consolidate these securitization entities. Additionally, we do not have other
involvements in servicing or managing the collateral assets or provide financial or liquidity support to these issuers which potentially
give rise to risk of loss exposure. These investments are an integral part of the disclosure in Note 2, "Trading Assets and Liabilities,"
Note 3, "Securities," and Note 19, "Fair Value Measurements," and, therefore, are not disclosed in this note to avoid redundancy.

18. Guarantee Arrangements, Pledged Assets and Repurchase Agreements

Guarantee Arrangements As part of our normal operations, we enter into credit derivatives and various off-balance sheet guarantee
arrangements with affiliates and third parties. These arrangements arise principally in connection with our lending and client
intermediation activities and include standby letters of credit and certain credit derivative transactions. The contractual amounts
of these arrangements represent our maximum possible credit exposure in the event that we are required to fulfill the maximum
obligation under the contractual terms of the guarantee.

The following table presents total carrying value and contractual amounts of our sell protection credit derivatives and major off-
balance sheet guarantee arrangements at March 31,2018 and December 31,2017. Following the table is a description of the various
arrangements.

March 31, 2018 December 31, 2017
Notional / Notional /
Maximum Maximum
Carrying Exposure to Carrying Exposure to
Value Loss Value Loss

(in millions)

Credit derivatives™" ™ ...........coommrrriiiinrrreiiereeeses e $ 234§ 37,597 $ 303 $ 42,328
Financial standby letters of credit, net of participations™® ....................... — 5,533 — 5,128
Performance standby letters of credit, net of participations®® _............... — 3,465 — 3,580
TOLAL ..ottt sttt a e ea et $ 234 $ 46,595 $ 303 $ 51,036

M Includes $20,469 million and $25,639 million of notional issued for the benefit of HSBC affiliates at March 31, 2018 and December 31, 2017, respectively.

@ For credit derivatives, the maximum loss is represented by the notional amounts without consideration of mitigating effects from collateral or recourse

arrangements.

@ Includes $1,327 million and $1,264 million of both financial and performance standby letters of credit issued for the benefit of HSBC affiliates at March

31, 2018 and December 31, 2017, respectively.

For standby letters of credit, maximum loss represents losses to be recognized assuming the letters of credit have been fully drawn and the obligors have
defaulted with zero recovery.

“)

Credit-Risk Related Guarantees

Credit derivatives Credit derivatives are financial instruments that transfer the credit risk of a reference obligation from the credit
protection buyer to the credit protection seller who is exposed to the credit risk without buying the reference obligation. We sell
credit protection on underlying reference obligations (such as loans or securities) by entering into credit derivatives, primarily in
the form of credit default swaps, with various institutions. We account for all credit derivatives at fair value. Where we sell credit
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protection to a counterparty that holds the reference obligation, the arrangement is effectively a financial guarantee on the reference
obligation. Under a credit derivative contract, the credit protection seller will reimburse the credit protection buyer upon occurrence
of a credit event (such as bankruptcy, insolvency, restructuring or failure to meet payment obligations when due) as defined in the
derivative contract, in return for a periodic premium. Upon occurrence of a credit event, we will pay the counterparty the stated
notional amount of the derivative contract and receive the underlying reference obligation. The recovery value of the reference
obligation received could be significantly lower than its notional principal amount when a credit event occurs.

Certain derivative contracts are subject to master netting arrangements and related collateral agreements. A party to a derivative
contract may demand that the counterparty post additional collateral in the event its net exposure exceeds certain predetermined
limits and when the credit rating falls below a certain grade. We set the collateral requirements by counterparty such that the
collateral covers various transactions and products, and is not allocated to specific individual contracts.

We manage our exposure to credit derivatives using a variety of risk mitigation strategies where we enter into offsetting hedge
positions or transfer the economic risks, in part or in entirety, to investors through the issuance of structured credit products. We
actively manage the credit and market risk exposure in the credit derivative portfolios on a net basis and, as such, retain no or a
limited net sell protection position at any time. The following table summarizes our net credit derivative positions at March 31,
2018 and December 31, 2017:

March 31, 2018 December 31, 2017
Carrying / Fair Carrying / Fair
Value Notional Value Notional

(in millions)

Sell-protection credit derivative positions ............ceceeveeeereereneeneene. $ 234 $§ 37,597 $ 303 § 42,328
Buy-protection credit derivative poSitions............ceceeevererieneneneenenn (125) 42,961 (188) 47,962
NEt POSTHON ... $ 109 $ 5364 $ 115 $ 5,634

M Ppositions are presented net in the table above to provide a complete analysis of our risk exposure and depict the way we manage our credit derivative portfolio.

The offset of the sell-protection credit derivatives against the buy-protection credit derivatives may not be legally binding in the absence of master netting
agreements with the same counterparty. Furthermore, the credit loss triggering events for individual sell protection credit derivatives may not be the same
or occur in the same period as those of the buy protection credit derivatives thereby not providing an exact offset.

Standby letters of credit A standby letter of credit is issued to a third party for the benefit of a client and is a guarantee that the
client will perform or satisfy certain obligations under a contract. It irrevocably obligates us to pay a specified amount to the third
party beneficiary if the client fails to perform the contractual obligation. We issue two types of standby letters of credit: performance
and financial. A performance standby letter of credit is issued where the client is required to perform some non-financial contractual
obligation, such as the performance of a specific act, whereas a financial standby letter of credit is issued where the client's
contractual obligation is of a financial nature, such as the repayment of a loan or debt instrument. At March 31, 2018, the total
amount of outstanding financial standby letters of credit (net of participations) and performance guarantees (net of participations)
were $5,533 million and $3,465 million, respectively. At December 31, 2017, the total amount of outstanding financial standby
letters of credit (net of participations) and performance guarantees (net of participations) were $5,128 million and $3,580 million,
respectively.

The issuance of a standby letter of credit is subject to our credit approval process and collateral requirements. We charge fees for
issuing letters of credit commensurate with the client's credit evaluation and the nature of any collateral. Included in other liabilities
are deferred fees on standby letters of credit amounting to $44 million and $48 million at March 31, 2018 and December 31, 2017,
respectively. Also included in other liabilities is an allowance for credit losses on unfunded standby letters of credit of $26 million
at both March 31, 2018 and December 31, 2017.
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The following table summarizes the credit ratings related to guarantees including the ratings of counterparties against which we
sold credit protection and financial standby letters of credit at March 31, 2018 as an indicative proxy of payment risk:

Credit Ratings of the Obligors or the Transactions

Average
Life Investment Non-Investment
Notional/Contractual Amounts (in years) Grade Grade Total
(dollars are in millions)

Sell-protection Credit Derivatives"

Single name credit default swaps ("CDS").....ccceevevvvervecreennnne. 2.9 $ 22,474 $ 5,856 § 28,330

Structured CDS.....c.ooieieeee e 0.2 24 — 24

Index credit derivatives ........c.ecvvevveeieniieeenieeeesie e 4.4 4,596 3,076 7,672

Total TEUIN SWAPS......coveureuieiiiieiiriererteetere ettt 2.4 1,304 267 1,571
SUDLOLAL ...ttt 28,398 9,199 37,597
Standby Letters of Credit® .............cco.ccovoivvieeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeens 1.2 5,633 3,365 8,998
TOLAL...tieeiiceeee ettt e enne $ 34,031 $ 12,564 $ 46,595

(" The credit ratings in the table represent external credit ratings for classification as investment grade and non-investment grade.

@ External ratings for most of the obligors are not available. Presented above are the internal credit ratings which are developed using similar methodologies
and rating scale equivalent to external credit ratings for purposes of classification as investment grade and non-investment grade.

Our internal credit ratings are determined based on HSBC's risk rating systems and processes which assign a credit grade based
on a scale which ranks the risk of default of a client. The credit grades are assigned and used for managing risk and determining
level of credit exposure appetite based on the client's operating performance, liquidity, capital structure and debt service ability.
In addition, we also incorporate subjective judgments into the risk rating process concerning such things as industry trends,
comparison of performance to industry peers and perceived quality of management. We compare our internal risk ratings to outside
external rating agency benchmarks, where possible, at the time of formal review and regularly monitor whether our risk ratings
are comparable to the external ratings benchmark data.

A non-investment grade rating of a referenced obligor has a negative impact to the fair value of the credit derivative and increases
the likelihood that we will be required to perform under the credit derivative contract. We employ market-based parameters and,
where possible, use the observable credit spreads of the referenced obligors as measurement inputs in determining the fair value
of the credit derivatives. We believe that such market parameters are more indicative of the current status of payment/performance
risk than external ratings by the rating agencies which may not be forward-looking in nature and, as a result, lag behind those
market-based indicators.

Non Credit-Risk Related Guarantees and Other Arrangements

Visa covered litigation In 2008, we received Class B Shares as part of Visa's initial public offering ("IPO"). Pursuant to the IPO,
we, along with all the other Class B shareholders, agreed to indemnify Visa for the claims and obligations arising from certain
specific covered litigation. The Class B Shares are not eligible to be converted into publicly traded Class A Shares until settlement
of the covered litigation as described in Note 27, "Litigation and Regulatory Matters," in our 2017 Form 10-K. Accordingly, the
Class B Shares are considered restricted and are only transferable under limited circumstances, which include transfers to other
Class B shareholders.

Beginning in late 2016 and into 2017, we sold substantially all of our remaining Visa Class B Shares to a third party. The net pre-
tax gains associated with these sales (which included a net pre-tax gain of approximately $146 million during the first quarter of
2017) were recorded as a component of other income in the consolidated statement of income (loss). Under the terms of the sale
agreements, we entered into swap agreements with the purchaser to retain the litigation risk associated with the Class B Shares
sold until the related litigation is settled and the Class B Shares can be converted into Class A Shares. These swaps had a carrying
value of $50 million and $52 million at March 31, 2018 and December 31, 2017, respectively. The swap agreements we entered
into with the purchaser requires us to (a) make periodic payments, calculated by reference to the market price of Class A Shares
and (b) make or receive payments based on subsequent changes in the conversion rate of Class B Shares into Class A Shares. The
payments under the derivative will continue until the Class B Shares are able to be converted into Class A Shares. The fair value
of the swap agreements is estimated using a discounted cash flow methodology and is dependent upon the final resolution of the
related litigation. Changes in fair value between periods are recognized in other income. In the third quarter of 2017, we entered
into a total return swap position to economically hedge the periodic payments made under these swap agreements. See Note 9,
"Derivative Financial Instruments," for further information.
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Clearing houses and exchanges We are a member of various exchanges and clearing houses that trade and clear securities and/
or derivatives contracts. Under the Dodd-Frank Wall Street Reform and Consumer Protection Act of 2010, members of a clearing
house may be required to contribute to a guaranty fund to backstop members' obligations to the clearing house. As a member, we
may be required to pay a proportionate share of the financial obligations of another member who defaults on its obligations to the
exchange or the clearing house. Our guarantee obligations would arise only if the exchange or clearing house had exhausted its
resources. Any potential contingent liability under these membership agreements cannot be estimated.

Mortgage Loan Repurchase Obligations We have provided various representations and warranties related to the origination and
sale of mortgage loans including, among other things, the ownership of the loans, the validity of the liens, the loan selection and
origination process, and the compliance to the origination criteria established by the government agencies. In the event of a breach
of our representations and warranties, we may be obligated to repurchase the loans with identified defects or to indemnify the
buyers. Our contractual obligation arises only when the breach of representations and warranties are discovered and repurchase
is demanded. From 2013 to 2017, agency eligible mortgage loan originations were sold directly to PHH Mortgage and PHH
Mortgage is responsible for origination representations and warranties for all loans purchased. With the insourcing of our mortgage
fulfillment operations, effective with applications starting January 2, 2018, we are now responsible for origination representations
and warranties for all new agency eligible mortgage loan originations sold to third parties.

In estimating our repurchase liability arising from breaches of representations and warranties, we consider historical losses on
residual risks not covered by settlement agreements adjusted for any risk factors not captured in the historical losses as well as the
level of outstanding repurchase demands received. Outstanding repurchase demands received totaled $2 million and $3 million at
March 31, 2018 and December 31, 2017, respectively.

The following table summarizes the change in our estimated repurchase liability during the three months ended March 31, 2018
and 2017 for obligations arising from the breach of representations and warranties associated with mortgage loans sold:

Three Months Ended March 31, 2018 2017

(in millions)
Balance at beginning Of PEIiod .......cccouiviiiiiiiriiniee ettt $ 10 $ 12
REAIIZEA LOSSES ...ttt ettt ettt ettt b et b et b et b et bbb nene — @)
Balance at end Of PEIiod........ooieiiieiieieeiee ettt ettt a e st sa et e et e s e tenneenteeneenes $ 10 $ 11

Our repurchase liability of $10 million at March 31, 2018 represents our best estimate of the loss that has been incurred, including
interest, arising from breaches of representations and warranties associated with mortgage loans sold. Because the level of mortgage
loan repurchase losses is dependent upon economic factors, investor demand strategies and other external risk factors such as
housing market trends that may change, the level of the liability for mortgage loan repurchase losses requires significant judgment.
We continue to evaluate our methods of determining the best estimate of loss based on recent trends. As these estimates are
influenced by factors outside our control, there is uncertainty inherent in these estimates making it reasonably possible that they
could change. The range of reasonably possible losses in excess of our recorded repurchase liability is between zero and $25
millionatMarch31,2018. This estimated range of reasonably possible losses was determined based upon modifying the assumptions
utilized in our best estimate of probable losses to reflect what we believe to be reasonably possible adverse assumptions.

Securitization Activity In addition to the repurchase risk described above, we have also been involved as a sponsor/seller of loans
used to facilitate whole loan securitizations underwritten by our affiliate, HSI. In this regard, we began acquiring residential
mortgage loans in 2005 which were warehoused on our balance sheet with the intent of selling them to HSI to facilitate HSI's
whole loan securitization program which was discontinued in 2007. During 2005-2007, we purchased and sold $24 billion of such
loans to HSI which were subsequently securitized and sold by HSI to third parties. See "Mortgage Securitization Matters" in Note
27, "Litigation and Regulatory Matters," in our 2017 Form 10-K and in Note 20, "Litigation and Regulatory Matters," in this Form
10-Q for additional discussion of related exposure. The outstanding principal balance on these loans was approximately $4.0 billion
and $4.1 billion at March 31, 2018 and December 31, 2017, respectively.
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Pledged Assets

Pledged assets included in the consolidated balance sheet consisted of the following:

March 31, December 31,

2018 2017
(in millions)
Interest bearing deposits With DanKS ...........ccoeoieririiiieieiiee e $ 3,106 $ 2,952
Trading ASSEES ) ettt et s e 2,934 3,185
SeCUTItEs AVATIADIE-TOT-SAIED) ... oot 7,361 7,210
Securities held-to—maturity(z) .............................................................................................................. 1,962 2,131
LOANS™) ...t 17,023 17,404
OhET ASSEES™ .......oeooeeeeee e 2,524 2,253

$ 34910 $§ 35135

M Trading assets are primarily pledged against liabilities associated with repurchase agreements.

@ Securities are primarily pledged against derivatives, public fund deposits, trust deposits and various short-term and long term borrowings, as well as providing
capacity for potential secured borrowings from the Federal Home Loan Bank of New York ("FHLB") and the Federal Reserve Bank of New York.

®  Loans are primarily residential mortgage loans pledged against current and potential borrowings from the FHLB and the Federal Reserve Bank of New
York.

@ Other assets represent cash on deposit with non-banks related to derivative collateral support agreements.

Debt securities pledged as collateral under repurchase agreements that can be sold or repledged by the secured party continue to
be reported on the consolidated balance sheet. The fair value of securities available-for-sale that could be sold or repledged was
$1,361 million and $524 million at March 31, 2018 and December 31, 2017, respectively. The fair value of trading assets that
could be sold or repledged was $2,934 million and $3,185 million at March 31, 2018 and December 31, 2017, respectively.

The fair value of collateral we accepted under security resale agreements but not reported on the consolidated balance sheet was
$12,749 million and $34,759 million at March 31, 2018 and December 31, 2017, respectively, discussed further below. Of this
collateral, $10,649 million and $32,459 million could be sold or repledged at March 31,2018 and December 31,2017, respectively,
of which $321 million and $1,231 million, respectively, had been sold or repledged as collateral under repurchase agreements or
to cover short sales.

The above discussion does not include a security-for-security lending transaction of $500 million at March 31, 2018 under which
we act as lender and received securities that can be sold or repledged as collateral. We recognized the securities received as a
component of other assets and the obligation to return those securities as a component of interest, taxes and other liabilities.

Repurchase Agreements

We enter into purchases of securities under agreements to resell (resale agreements) and sales of securities under agreements to
repurchase (repurchase agreements) identical or substantially the same securities. Resale and repurchase agreements are accounted
for as secured lending and secured borrowing transactions, respectively.

Repurchase agreements may require us to deposit cash or other collateral with the lender. In connection with resale agreements,
it is our policy to obtain possession of collateral, which may include the securities purchased, with market value in excess of the
principal amount loaned. The market value of the collateral subject to the resale and repurchase agreements is regularly monitored,
and additional collateral is obtained or provided when appropriate, to ensure appropriate collateral coverage of these secured
financing transactions.
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The following table provides information about resale and repurchase agreements that are subject to offset at March 31, 2018 and
December 31, 2017:

Gross Amounts Not Offset in the
Balance Sheet

Gross Gross Amounts Net Amounts Cash Collateral
Amounts Offset in the Presented in the Financial Received /
Recognized Balance Sheet” Balance Sheet Instruments® Pledged Net Amount®
(in millions)
At March 31, 2018
Assets:
Securities purchased under
resale agreements............. $ 11457 $ 1,643 $ 9,814 $ 9,811 $ — $ 3
Liabilities:
Securities sold under
repurchase agreements..... $ 4,435 $ 1,643 $ 2,792 $ 2,791 $ — 3 1
At December 31, 2017
Assets:
Securities purchased under
resale agreements............. $ 33,974 $ 1,356 $ 32,618 $ 32,616 $ — 3 2
Liabilities:
Securities sold under
repurchase agreements..... $ 4,721 $ 1,356 $ 3,365 § 3,364 $ $ 1

M Represents recognized amount of resale and repurchase agreements with counterparties subject to legally enforceable netting agreements that meet the

applicable netting criteria as permitted by generally accepted accounting principles.
@ Represents securities received or pledged to cover financing transaction exposures.
®  Represents the amount of our exposure that is not collateralized / covered by pledged collateral.
The following table provides the class of collateral pledged and remaining contractual maturity of repurchase agreements accounted

for as secured borrowings at March 31, 2018 and December 31, 2017:

Overnight Greater
and Up to 30 31to0 90 91 Days to Than One
Continuous Days Days One Year Year Total
(in millions)
At March 31, 2018
U.S. Treasury, U.S. Government sponsored and
U.S. Government agency securities.................... $ 1,543 $ 791 $ 423 $ 449 $ 1,191 $§ 4,397
Foreign debt securities..........cccoevevveerieereereecieereene. — 38 — — — 38
Total repurchase agreements accounted for as
secured DOITOWINGS........eevverierireieieeieneeieeeeeee e $ 1543 § 829 $§ 423 $ 449 $ 1,191 $§ 4,435
At December 31, 2017
U.S. Treasury, U.S. Government sponsored and
U.S. Government agency Securities..................... $ 1,166 $ 838 $ 888 § 284 $ 1,464 $§ 4,640
Foreign debt securities..........cccoceeververienienieeeeeenne — 81 — — — 81

Total repurchase agreements accounted for as
secured DOITOWINGS........ccovevverieeierieeienieeieeeeeeees $ 1,166 $ 919 $ 888 §$ 284 $§ 1,464 $§ 4,721
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19. Fair Value Measurements

Accounting principles related to fair value measurements provide a framework for measuring fair value that focuses on the exit
price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in the principal market (or in the absence of the principal
market, the most advantageous market) accessible in an orderly transaction between willing market participants (the "Fair Value
Framework"). Where required by the applicable accounting standards, assets and liabilities are measured at fair value using the
"highest and best use" valuation premise. Fair value measurement guidance clarifies that financial instruments do not have
alternative use and, as such, the fair value of financial instruments should be determined using an "in-exchange" valuation premise.
However, the fair value measurement literature provides a valuation exception and permits an entity to measure the fair value of
a group of financial assets and financial liabilities with offsetting credit risks and/or market risks based on the exit price it would
receive or pay to transfer the net risk exposure of a group of assets or liabilities if certain conditions are met. We elected to apply
the measurement exception to a group of derivative instruments with offsetting credit risks and market risks, which primarily relate
to interest rate, foreign currency, debt and equity price risk, and commodity price risk as of the reporting date.

Fair Value Adjustments The best evidence of fair value is quoted market price in an actively traded market, where available. In
the event listed price or market quotes are not available, valuation techniques that incorporate relevant transaction data and market
parameters reflecting the attributes of the asset or liability under consideration are applied. Where applicable, fair value adjustments
are made to ensure the financial instruments are appropriately recorded at fair value. The fair value adjustments reflect the risks
associated with the products, contractual terms of the transactions, and the liquidity of the markets in which the transactions occur.
The fair value adjustments are broadly categorized by the following major types:

Credit risk adjustment - The credit risk adjustment is an adjustment to a group of financial assets and financial liabilities,
predominantly derivative assets and derivative liabilities, to reflect the credit quality of the parties to the transaction in arriving at
fair value. A credit valuation adjustment to a financial asset is required to reflect the default risk of the counterparty. A debit
valuation adjustment to a financial liability is recorded to reflect the default risk of HUSI. See "Valuation Techniques - Derivatives"
below for additional details.

Liquidity risk adjustment - The liquidity risk adjustment (primarily in the form of bid-offer adjustment) reflects the cost that would
be incurred to close out the market risks by hedging, disposing or unwinding the position. Valuation models generally produce
mid-market values. The bid-offer adjustment is made in such a way that results in a measure that reflects the exit price that most
represents the fair value of the financial asset or financial liability under consideration or, where applicable, the fair value of the
net market risk exposure of a group of financial assets or financial liabilities. These adjustments relate primarily to Level 2 assets.

Model valuation adjustment - Where fair value measurements are determined using an internal valuation model based on observable
and unobservable inputs, certain valuation inputs may be less readily determinable. There may be a range of possible valuation
inputs that market participants may assume in determining the fair value measurement. The resultant fair value measurement has
inherent measurement risk if one or more parameters are unobservable and must be estimated. An input valuation adjustment is
necessary to reflect the likelihood that market participants may use different input parameters, and to mitigate the possibility of
measurement error. In addition, the values derived from valuation techniques are affected by the choice of valuation model and
model limitation. When different valuation techniques are available, the choice of valuation model can be subjective. Furthermore,
the valuation model applied may have measurement limitations. In those cases, an additional valuation adjustment is also applied
to mitigate the measurement risk. Model valuation adjustments are not material and relate primarily to Level 2 instruments.

We apply stress scenarios in determining appropriate liquidity risk and model risk adjustments for Level 3 fair values by reviewing
the historical data for unobservable inputs (e.g., correlation, volatility). Some stress scenarios involve at leasta 95 percent confidence
interval (i.e., two standard deviations). We also utilize unobservable parameter adjustments when instruments are valued using
internally developed models which reflects the uncertainty in the value estimates provided by the model.

Funding Fair Value Adjustment ("FFVA") - The FFVA reflects the estimated present value of the future market funding cost or
benefit associated with funding uncollateralized derivative exposure at rates other than the Overnight Indexed Swap ("OIS") rate.
See "Valuation Techniques - Derivatives" below for additional details.

Fair Value Hierarchy The Fair Value Framework establishes a three-tiered fair value hierarchy as follows:
Level 1 quoted market price - Level 1 inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities.

Level 2 valuation technique using observable inputs - Level 2 inputs include quoted prices for similar assets or liabilities in active
markets, quoted prices for identical or similar assets or liabilities in markets that are inactive, and measurements determined using
valuation models where all significant inputs are observable, such as interest rates and yield curves that are observable at commonly
quoted intervals.

Level 3 valuation technique with significant unobservable inputs - Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for the asset or liability
and include situations where fair values are measured using valuation techniques based on one or more significant unobservable
inputs.

58



HSBC USA Inc.

Classification within the fair value hierarchy is based on whether the lowest hierarchical level input that is significant to the fair
value measurement is observable. As such, the classification within the fair value hierarchy is dynamic and can be transferred to
other hierarchy levels in each reporting period. Transfers between leveling categories are assessed, determined and recognized at
the end of each reporting period.

Valuation Control Framework We have established a control framework which is designed to ensure that fair values are either
determined or validated by a function independent of the risk-taker. To that end, the ultimate responsibility for the determination
of fair values rests with Finance. Finance has established an independent price validation process to ensure that the assets and
liabilities measured at fair value are properly stated.

A valuation committee, chaired by the Head of Product Control, meets monthly to review, monitor and discuss significant valuation
matters arising from credit and market risks. The committee is responsible for reviewing and approving valuation policies and
procedures including any valuation adjustments pertaining to, among other things, independent price verification, market liquidity,
unobservable inputs, model uncertainty and counterparty credit risk. All valuation models are reviewed by the valuation committee
interms of model development, enhancements and performance. All models are independently reviewed by the Markets Independent
Model Review function and applicable valuation model recommendations are reported to and discussed with the valuation
committee. Significant valuation risks identified in business activities are corroborated and addressed by the committee members
and, where applicable, are escalated to the Chief Financial Officer of HUSI and the Audit Committee of the Board of Directors.

Where fair value measurements are determined based on information obtained from independent pricing services or brokers,
Finance applies appropriate validation procedures to substantiate fair value. For price validation purposes, quotations from at least
two independent pricing sources are obtained for each financial instrument, where possible.

The following factors are considered in determining fair values:
» similarities between the asset or the liability under consideration and the asset or liability for which quotation is received;
*  collaboration of pricing by referencing to other independent market data such as market transactions and relevant benchmark
indices;
*  consistency among different pricing sources;
» the valuation approach and the methodologies used by the independent pricing sources in determining fair value;
« the elapsed time between the date to which the market data relates and the measurement date;
« the source of the fair value information; and

*  whether the security is traded in an active or inactive market.

Greater weight is given to quotations of instruments with recent market transactions, pricing quotes from dealers who stand ready
to transact, quotations provided by market-makers who structured such instrument and market consensus pricing based on inputs
from a large number of survey participants. Any significant discrepancies among the external quotations are reviewed and
adjustments to fair values are recorded where appropriate. Where the transaction volume of a specific instrument has been reduced
and the fair value measurement becomes less transparent, Finance will apply more detailed procedures to understand and challenge
the appropriateness of the unobservable inputs and the valuation techniques used by the independent pricing service. Where
applicable, Finance will develop a fair value estimate using its own pricing model inputs to test reasonableness. Where fair value
measurements are determined using internal valuation models, Finance will validate the fair value measurement by either developing
unobservable inputs based on the industry consensus pricing surveys in which we participate or back testing by observing the
actual settlements occurring soon after the measurement date. Any significant valuation adjustments are reported to and discussed
with the valuation committee.
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Assets and Liabilities Recorded at Fair Value on a Recurring Basis The following table presents information about our assets
and liabilities measured at fair value on a recurring basis at March 31, 2018 and December 31, 2017, and indicates the fair value
hierarchy of the valuation techniques utilized to determine such fair value. Unless otherwise noted below, assets and liabilities in
the following table are recorded at fair value through net income (loss).

Fair Value Measurements on a Recurring Basis

Gross Net
March 31, 2018 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Balance Netting® Balance
(in millions)
Assets:
Securities purchased under agreements to resell™ .............ccooovovvvevevrerer $ — 3 342§ — 3 342§ — 3 342
Trading securities, excluding derivatives:
U.S. Treasury, U.S. Government agencies and sponsored enterprises..... 4,643 124 — 4,767 — 4,767
Collateralized debt Obligations...........cevveeeeerierieieirieee e — — 131 131 — 131
Asset-backed securities:
Residential MOTtEages .........cceevevieiriinieieireieeeeeeee st seeeeeee — 17 — 17 — 17
StUAEnt 10ANS .......eueirieieiieiceieceeec e — 92 — 92 — 92
Corporate and other domestic debt SECurities..........ocevevrereereeerereenenns — — 1,803 1,803 — 1,803
Debt securities issued by foreign entities... . 6,036 374 — 6,410 — 6,410
Precious metals trading .........occeoveevveerieieenieieceeeeee s — 16,057 — 16,057 — 16,057
Derivatives:?
INtErest rate CONTIACTS.....ccuieiieriieeiieeiieeieeete et eee e aeebeeseae e saeeeneeens 5 11,333 — 11,338 — 11,338
Foreign exchange CONractS ...........evuevririeieirerieeeieeeee e eeeenes — 14,809 1 14,810 — 14,810
EQUItY CONEIACES ....veuvevietiieieiieieieee ettt st enenne — 3,591 153 3,744 — 3,744
Precious metals CONIACES .......c.evveeeireirieieerieieieteeee e neeeees 65 466 — 531 — 531
Credit CONLTACTS. ...c.ovviuiiieiiieecieeetetece ettt — 599 121 720 — 720
Other CONrACES™ ...........ooveeeceereeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeee e seeeenes — — 6 6 — 6
DErivatives NEHINE .....oevveeerieiiieieieeeeeiieeste ettt et see e neenenes — — — — (27,601) (27,601)
TOtal dEIIVALIVES ...ttt 70 30,798 281 31,149 (27,601) 3,548
Securities available-for-sale:®
U.S. Treasury, U.S. Government agencies and sponsored enterprises..... 18,291 10,138 — 28,429 — 28,429
Asset-backed securities:
— 49 — 49 — 49
— 200 107 307 — 307
Debt securities issued by foreign entities..........occecevvereeeireneereeereneeeenns 1,326 112 — 1,438 — 1,438
LOANS ™Y ..ottt — 338 — 338 — 338
Other assets: .... .
EQUItY SECUTTHES™ ....ovvooiriveeesoceeese e — 193 — 193 — 193
Equity Securities measured at net asset value®® ... — — — 84 — 84
OHET ) ..o — — 15 15 — 15
Total assets.. . $ 30366 $ 58834 $ 2337 §$§ 91,621 $ (27,601) $ 64,020
Liabilities: -
DOMESHE AEPOSIS......vvvveeeerreraeaerrereeseseesssssseseeeessssssssssssssssssseeeesssssees $ — $ 6916 $ 916 $ 7,832 $ — $ 7832
Trading liabilities, excluding derivatives ...........ccoeevverereeerenieeeeneeeeen 1,627 — — 1,627 — 1,627
Derivatives:?
INtErest 1ate CONTIACTS.....ccviiiieriieeiieeiieeiee et eee et ee et eseae e e saaeeneeens 102 12,247 — 12,349 — 12,349
Foreign eXchange CONractS ...........evvevreirieieirienieceteeceee s eeeenes 5 13,960 1 13,966 — 13,966
Equity contracts.............. . — 2,968 126 3,094 — 3,094
Precious metals CONIACES .........evveeeireirieiieierieieieteieee e 30 412 — 442 — 442
Credit CONLTACTS. ....oveviuiiieiiieeeeeetetece ettt — 627 8 635 — 635
Other CONIACES™ ...........ooveeoceeeeeeeeeeesee e seeeenes — — 50 50 — 50
DErivatives NEHINE .....ovevveiereeiirieieieeerieieee ettt seeneeneesenee — — — — (28,417) (28,417)
Total dETTVALIVES .....eveeiieeieeiet bbb 137 30,214 185 30,536 (28,417) 2,119
Short-term bOrroWIngs!) .........creervveerreeereeeesseneeeeess s — 1,833 — 1,833 — 1,833
Long-termm debt!) .......ivvveeereeeeeiieeees s — 12,106 630 12,736 — 12,736
Total Habilities .....vcveveeeeeeieieciet ettt $ 1,764 $ 51,069 $ 1,731 $§ 54,564 $ (28,417) $ 26,147
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Fair Value Measurements on a Recurring Basis

Gross Net
December 31, 2017 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Balance Netting® Balance
(in millions)
Assets:
Securities purchased under agreements to resell" $ — 8 80 $ — 3 80 $ — 3 80
Trading securities, excluding derivatives:
U.S. Treasury, U.S. Government agencies and sponsored enterprises..... 3,391 332 — 3,723 — 3,723
Collateralized debt obligations...........coeueueervereirnieiirinereirreiceneeecens — — 129 129 — 129
Asset-backed securities:
Residential MOTtZAZES .......cvevevvrveveiririeinirieiirinieecereeteeseeieee e — 16 — 16 — 16
Student loans ........c.cccoeveeeeunnneee. . — 91 — 91 — 91
Corporate and other domestic debt securities...........cecvververveereriereenenene — — 1,803 1,803 — 1,803
Debt securities issued by foreign entities..........c.cocveeeeereccrnccnneenens 4,167 210 — 4,377 — 4,377
EQUItY SECUTTHES™ ......ooooovoieeieeeeeee e — 12 — 12 — 12
Precious metals trading .........cooeeeeririeenniecrnieccreniecerece e — 2,274 — 2,274 — 2,274
Derivatives:®
INtErest rate CONTIACTS.....ccvievieriieeiieiieete et ettt e et eere et e eveeaeeeeaeens 6 24,231 — 24,237 — 24,237
Foreign eXchange CONtIACES ........c.coueurueueririeueenieteeninieitereereteeeeeresesaenenens 4 15,754 2 15,760 — 15,760
EQUILY CONTACES ...evvevveiiiiieiieteieieit ettt et se b nnens — 3911 173 4,084 — 4,084
Precious metals contracts . 52 502 — 554 — 554
Credit CONLIACTS. ..c.coveviuiiieiiirietceetete ettt sttt — 536 120 656 — 656
Other CONIACES™ .........ovoovoeeeeeeeeeeeeeee e — — 6 6 — 6
Derivatives NELHNE .....c.cccoveueuiririereinirieicrieeeieenetee sttt saeaenens — — — — (40,874) (40,874)
TOtAl dEITVALIVES ...t 62 44,934 301 45,297 (40,874) 4,423
Securities available-for-sale:®
U.S. Treasury, U.S. Government agencies and sponsored enterprises..... 19,056 10,004 — 29,060 — 29,060
Asset-backed securities:
HOME QUILY ...ttt — 51 — 51 — 51
OBRET .ttt — 399 111 510 — 510
Debt securities issued by foreign entities..........cccocveveeeerercccnnecnneenens 850 52 — 902 — 902
EQUItY SECUTTHES .......oooovoieeieeeeeee e — 177 — 177 — 177
LOANS") oot reeveeiserses ettt — 471 — 471 — 471
Other @SSELS!”)...........oooeveeeeeeee e — — 15 15 — 15
Total assets $ 27526 $§ 59,103 $§ 2359 $ 88,988 $ (40,874) $ 48,114
Liabilities: -
Domestic dEPOSItS™!). ..o $ — $ 679 $ 897 $ 7,693 $ — $ 7,693
Trading liabilities, excluding derivatives ...........c.coeceererccrnccrnnccnnnenes 1,722 524 — 2,246 — 2,246
Derivatives:®

Interest rate contracts 59 24,379 — 24,438 — 24,438
Foreign exchange contracts — 14,664 2 14,666 — 14,666
EQUILY CONTACES ...evvevieiiiinieiieteieieit ettt se s naens — 2,859 92 2,951 — 2,951
Precious metals CONIACES ........cvveveeriruereririeieinieiecninetceneetceeeeeieesaenenens 108 614 — 722 — 722
Credit CONLIACTS. ....coveviuiiieiiirietcetetci ettt ettt ee — 578 6 584 — 584
Other CONMIACES™ .........ovoovoeeeeeeeeeeeeeeee e — — 52 52 — 52

Derivatives NELHNE .....c.cccoveueuiririereinirieicrieeeieenetee sttt saeaeaens — — — — (40,217) (40,217)
TOtal dETIVALIVES ...cuvvviiiiiiirieiciiirici ettt 167 43,094 152 43,413 (40,217) 3,196
Short-term borroWINgs'™ ...........ccovvvorrveerreeereeeseeeeeseeeeseeeeeseessee s — 2,032 — 2,032 — 2,032
Long-term debt" . — 12,245 641 12,886 — 12,886
Total HabIlIIes ....ccoveviuirieieiiiricicirectec e $ 1,889 § 64,691 $§ 1,600 $§ 68270 $ (40,217) $ 28,053

(]

2

3)
“)

See Note 10, "Fair Value Option," for additional information. Excluding the fair value movement on fair value option liabilities attributable to our own credit
spread which is recorded in other comprehensive income (loss), fair value option assets and liabilities are recorded at fair value through net income (loss).

Includes trading derivative assets of $3,373 million and $3,725 million and trading derivative liabilities of $1,703 million and $2,633 million at March 31,
2018 and December 31, 2017, respectively, as well as derivatives held for hedging and commitments accounted for as derivatives. See Note 9, "Derivatives,"
for additional information. Excluding changes in fair value of a derivative instrument associated with the effective portion of a qualifying cash flow hedge,
which is recognized initially in other comprehensive income (loss), derivative assets and liabilities are recorded at fair value through net income (loss).

Consists of swap agreements entered into in conjunction with the sales of certain Visa Class B Shares.

Securities available-for-sale are recorded at fair value through other comprehensive income (loss).
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)

are being recorded together as a component of other assets.

(6)
(@]
®)

Represents contingent consideration receivable associated with the sale of a portion of our Private Banking business.

Transfers between levels of the fair value hierarchy are recognized at the end of each reporting period.

See Note 3, "Securities," and Note 21, "New Accounting Pronouncements," for additional information. Beginning January 1, 2018, all equity investments

Investments that are measured at fair value using the net asset value per share practical expedient have not been classified in the fair value hierarchy.

Represents counterparty and cash collateral netting which allow the offsetting of amounts relating to certain contracts if certain conditions are met.

Transfers between Level 1 and Level 2 measurements There were no transfers between Levels 1 and 2 during the three months

ended March 31, 2018 and 2017.

Information on Level 3 assets and liabilities The following table summarizes additional information about changes in the fair
value of Level 3 assets and liabilities during the three months ended March 31, 2018 and 2017. As a risk management practice,
we may risk manage the Level 3 assets and liabilities, in whole or in part, using securities and derivative positions that are classified
as Level 1 or Level 2 measurements within the fair value hierarchy. Since those Level 1 and Level 2 risk management positions
are not included in the table below, the information provided does not reflect the effect of such risk management activities related

to the Level 3 assets and liabilities.

Total Realized /
Unrealized Gains
(Losses) Included in

Other Current
Compre- Period
hensive Transfers  Transfers Unrealized
Jan. 1, income Purch- Issu- Settle- Into Out of Mar. 31, Gains
2018 Earnings (loss) ases ances ments Level 3 Level 3 2018 (Losses)
(in millions)
Assets:
Trading assets, excluding
derivatives:"”
Collateralized debt
obligations............ccceuu..... $ 129 § 7 $ — $ — — 3 S 3 — 3 — 3 131 $ 7
Corporate and other
domestic debt securities... 1,803 — — — — — — — 1,803 —
Derivatives, net:?
Interest rate contracts............ — — — — — — — — — —
Foreign exchange contracts.. — — — — — — — — — —
Equity contracts... 81 (40) — — — (14) — — 27 (42)
Credit contracts..................... 114 1 — — — ?) — — 113 (€3]
Other contracts® ................. 46) ?2) — — — 4 — — (44) —
Other asset-backed securities
available-for-sale™.............. 111 @) — — — — — — 107 “4)
Other assets™...........cccccoovn... 15 — — — — — — — 15 —
Total assets........cccoeveeeurueueenne $ 2207 $ 38) $ — $ — — $ (a7 $ — $ — $ 2,152 § (40)
Liabilities:
Domestic deposits©................ $ 897) $ 21§ 2 s — On $ 22 S 3 $ 34 $ (916) $ 19
Long-term debt® ..................... (641) 11 4 — 115) 67 — 44 (630) 18
Total liabilities $(1,538) $ 32 3 2 5 — (2060 $ 89 § A3) S 78 8§ (1,546) $ 37
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Total Realized /
Unrealized Gains
(Losses) Included in

Other Current
Compre- Period
hensive Transfers  Transfers Unrealized
Jan. 1, income Purch- Issu- Settle- Into Out of Mar. 31, Gains
2017 Earnings (loss) ases ances ments Level 3 Level 3 2017 (Losses)

(in millions)

Assets:

Trading assets, excluding

derivatives:

Collateralized debt

obligations...........ccocvu... $ 184 § 38 - $ — s — 5 3) $ — 3 — $§ 184 3 2

Corporate and other

Derivatives, net:

domestic debt securities... 2,884 — — — — — — — 2,884 —

2

Interest rate contracts............ 1 (1) — — — — — — - 0]

Foreign exchange contracts.. — — — — — — _ _ _ _

Equity contracts.......c........... ?) 27 — — — 4) — — 21 23
Credit contracts..................... 193 %) — — — (@) — — 181 (13)
Other contracts® 9) — — — (17) — — — (26) —
Other asset-backed securities
available-for-sale®® 105 2 — — — — — — 107 2
Total assets.........cocveverererereennnns $ 335 §$ 26 $ — % — % an s 14 s — § — $ 3351 § 13
Liabilities: -
Domestic deposits®............... $(1,407) $ ) s 58 — $ 43 % 191 § 3 $ 46 $ (1,216) $ 4)
Long-term debt.........cc.......... (499) (26) 5) — (84) 15 ) 43 (558) (27)
Total liabilities............ccoveeeuene $(1,906) $ 31) $ — $ — § (127) $§ 206 $ (5) $ 89 $ (1,774) $ 31)

(]
2

3)

“)

®)

©)

Gains (losses) on trading assets, excluding derivatives are included in trading revenue in the consolidated statement of income (loss).

Level 3 net derivatives included derivative assets of $281 million and derivative liabilities of $185 million at March 31, 2018 and derivative assets of $343
million and derivative liabilities of $167 million at March 31, 2017. Gains (losses) on derivatives, net are predominantly included in trading revenue in the
consolidated statement of income (loss).

Consists of swap agreements entered into in conjunction with the sales of certain Visa Class B Shares.

Realized gains (losses) on securities available-for-sale are included in other securities gains, net in the consolidated statement of income (loss). Unrealized
gains (losses) on securities available-for-sale are included in other comprehensive income (loss).

Represents contingent consideration receivable associated with the sale of a portion of our Private Banking business. Gains (losses) associated with this
transaction are included in other income in the consolidated statement of income (loss).

Excluding unrealized gains (losses) on fair value option liabilities attributable to our own credit spread, which are recorded in other comprehensive income
(loss), gains (losses) on fair value option liabilities are included in gain on instruments designated at fair value and related derivatives in the consolidated
statement of income (loss).
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The following table presents quantitative information about the unobservable inputs used to determine the recurring fair value
measurement of assets and liabilities classified as Level 3 fair value measurements at March 31, 2018 and December 31, 2017:

March 31, 2018
Fair Value
Financial Instrument Type (in millions) Valuation Technique(s) Significant Unobservable Inputs Range of Inputs
Collateralized debt obligations ................ $ 131 Broker quotes or consensus Prepayment rates 0% - 6%
pricing and, where applicable,
discounted cash flows
Conditional default rates 4% - 6%
Loss severity rates 50% - 55%
Corporate and other domestic debt $ 1,803 Discounted cash flows Spread volatility on collateral assets 2% -4%
SECUTTEICS .ot
Correlation between insurance claim  80%
shortfall and collateral value
Interest rate derivative contracts.............. $ —  Market comparable adjusted for Probability to fund for rate lock 1% - 99%
probability to fund commitments
Foreign exchange derivative contracts"”) . $ —  Option pricing model Implied volatility of currency pairs 6% -9%
Equity derivative contracts'” .................. $ 27  Option pricing model Equity / Equity Index volatility 7% - 36%
Equity / Equity and Equity / Index 42% - 78%
correlation
Equity dividend yields 0% -7%
Credit derivative contracts 113 Option pricing model and, where Credit default swap spreads 113bps - 129bps
applicable, discounted cash flows
Other derivative contracts........................ $ (44) Discounted cash flows Conversion rate 1.7 times
Expected duration 2 - 4 years
Other asset-backed securities available- $ 107 Discounted cash flows Market assumptions related to yields 1% - 3%
fOr-8ale ..o for comparable instruments
Other @SSets .......coveveeereruerererieieeenenieeenenes $ 15 Discounted cash flows Client transfer rates based on rating 50% - 95%
Domestic deposits $ (916) Option adjusted discounted cash Implied volatility of currency pairs 6% -9%
(structured deposits) " ........coovvvereenn. flows
Equity / Equity Index volatility 7% - 31%
Equity / Equity and Equity / Index 42% - 52%
correlation
Long-term debt (structured notes) V™ ... $ (630) Option adjusted discounted cash Implied volatility of currency pairs 6% -9%
flows
Equity / Equity Index volatility 7% -31%
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December 31, 2017
Fair Value
Financial Instrument Type (in millions) Valuation Technique(s) Significant Unobservable Inputs Range of Inputs
Collateralized debt obligations ................ $ 129  Broker quotes or consensus pricing  Prepayment rates 0% - 6%
and, where applicable, discounted
cash flows
Conditional default rates 4% - 6%
Loss severity rates 55% - 60%
Corporate and other domestic debt $ 1,803 Discounted cash flows Spread volatility on collateral assets 2% - 4%
SECUTTLIES ...
Correlation between insurance claim  80%
shortfall and collateral value
Interest rate derivative contracts.............. $ —  Market comparable adjusted for Probability to fund for rate lock 41% - 100%
probability to fund commitments
Foreign exchange derivative contracts” . $ —  Option pricing model Implied volatility of currency pairs 6% - 9%
Equity derivative contracts™ ................... $ 81  Option pricing model Equity / Equity Index volatility 7% - 42%
Equity / Equity and Equity / Index 42% - 80%
correlation
Equity dividend yields 0% - 8%
Credit derivative contracts ..............ccc...... $ 114  Option pricing model and, where Issuer by issuer correlation of 82% - 83%
applicable, discounted cash flows defaults
Credit default swap spreads 154bps - 174bps
Other derivative contracts..............coeveuee $ (46) Discounted cash flows Conversion rate 1.6 times
Expected duration 2 - 4 years
Other asset-backed securities available- $ 111 Discounted cash flows Market assumptions related to yields 1% - 3%
fOr-8ale......covviveieiee for comparable instruments
Other aSsets .......ooevveereirierieieereeeeeeieens $ 15 Discounted cash flows Client transfer rates based on rating 50% - 95%
Domestic deposits $ (897) Option adjusted discounted cash Implied volatility of currency pairs 6% - 9%
(structured deposits) " ..., flows
Equity / Equity Index volatility 7% - 42%
Equity / Equity and Equity / Index 42% - 80%
correlation
Long-term debt (structured notes)™@ ... $ (641) Option adjusted discounted cash Implied volatility of currency pairs 6% - 9%
flows
Equity / Equity Index volatility 7% - 42%

(O]

Equity / Equity and Equity / Index
correlation

42% - 80%

We are the client-facing entity and we enter into identical but opposite derivatives to transfer the resultant risks to our affiliates. With the exception of

counterparty credit risks, we are market neutral. The corresponding intra-group derivatives are presented as equity derivatives and foreign exchange derivatives

in the table.
)

Significant Unobservable Inputs for Recurring Fair Value Measurements

Collateralized Debt Obligations ("CDOs")

*  Prepayment rate - The rate at which borrowers pay off the mortgage loans early. The prepayment rate is affected by a
number of factors including the location of the mortgage collateral, the interest rate type of the mortgage loans, borrowers'
credit and sensitivity to interest rate movement. The prepayment rate of our CDOs portfolio is close to the mid-point of

the range.

Structured deposits and structured notes contain embedded derivative features whose fair value measurements contain significant Level 3 inputs.

*  Default rate - Annualized percentage of default rate over a group of collateral such as residential or commercial mortgage
loans. The default rate and loss severity rate are positively correlated. The default rate of our portfolio is tilted towards the

low end of the range.

*  Loss severity rate - Included in our Level 3 CDOs portfolio are trust preferred securities. The loss severity rate of the trust
preferred securities is tilted towards the low end of the range.

Derivatives

»  Implied volatility - The implied volatility is a significant pricing input for freestanding or embedded options including
equity, foreign currency and interest rate options. The level of volatility is a function of the nature of the underlying risk,
the level of strike price and the years to maturity of the option. Depending on the underlying risk and tenure, we determine
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the implied volatility based on observable input where information is available. However, substantially all of the implied
volatilities are derived based on historical information. The implied volatility for different foreign currency pairs is between
6 percent and 9 percent while the implied volatility for equity/equity or equity/equity index is between 7 percent and 36
percent, respectively, at March 31, 2018. Although implied foreign currency volatility and equity volatility appear to be
widely distributed at the portfolio level, the deviation of implied volatility on a trade-by-trade basis is narrower. The average
deviation of implied volatility for the foreign currency pair and at-the-money equity option are 1 percent and 5 percent,
respectively, at March 31, 2018.

*  Correlations of a group of foreign currency or equity - Correlation measures the relative change in values among two or
more variables (i.e., equity or foreign currency pair). Variables can be positively or negatively correlated. Correlation is a
key input in determining the fair value of a derivative referenced to a basket of variables such as equities or foreign
currencies. A majority of the correlations are not observable, but are derived based on historical data. The correlation
between equity/equity and equity/equity index was between 42 percent and 78 percent at March 31, 2018.

Sensitivity of Level 3 Inputs to Fair Value Measurements

Collateralized debt obligations - Probability of default, prepayment speed and loss severity rate are significant unobservable inputs.
Significant increase (decrease) in these inputs will result in a lower (higher) fair value measurement of a collateralized debt
obligation. A change in assumption for default probability is often accompanied by a directionally similar change in loss severity,
and a directionally opposite change in prepayment speed.

Corporate and domestic debt securities - The fair value measurement of certain corporate debt securities is affected by the fair
value of the underlying portfolios of investments used as collateral and the make-whole guarantee provided by third party guarantors.
The probability that the collateral fair value declines below the collateral call threshold concurrent with the guarantors' failure to
perform its make whole obligation is unobservable. The increase (decrease) in the probability the collateral value falls below the
collateral call threshold is often accompanied by a directionally similar change in default probability of the guarantor.

Credit derivatives - Correlation of default among a basket of reference credit names is a significant unobservable input if the credit
attributes of the portfolio are not within the parameters of relevant standardized CDS indices. Significant increase (decrease) in
the default correlation will result in a lower (higher) fair value measurement of the credit derivative. A change in assumption for
default correlation is often accompanied by a directionally similar change in default probability and loss rates of other credit names
in the basket. For certain credit derivatives, the credit spreads of credit default swap contracts insuring asset backed securities is
a significant unobservable input. Significant increase (decrease) in the credit spreads will result in a lower (higher) fair value
measurement of the credit derivative.

Equity and foreign exchange derivatives - The fair value measurement of a structured equity or foreign exchange derivative is
primarily affected by the implied volatility of the underlying equity price or exchange rate of the paired foreign currencies. The
implied volatility is not observable. Significant increase (decrease) in the implied volatility will result in a higher (lower) fair value
of a long position in the derivative contract.

Other derivatives - The fair value of the swap agreements we entered into in conjunction with the sales of certain Visa Class B
Shares is dependent upon the final resolution of the related litigation. Significant unobservable inputs used in the fair value
measurement include estimated changes in the conversion rate of Visa Class B Shares into Visa Class A Shares and the expected
timing of the final resolution. An increase (decrease) in the loss estimate or in the timing of the resolution of the related litigation
would result in a higher (lower) fair value measurement of the derivative.

Other asset-backed securities available-for-sale - The fair value measurement of certain asset-backed securities is primarily affected
by estimated yields which are determined based on current market yields of comparable instruments adjusted for market liquidity.
An increase (decrease) in the yields would result in a decrease (increase) in the fair value measurement of the securities.

Other assets - The fair value of the contingent consideration receivable associated with the sale of a portion of our Private Banking
business is dependent upon the clients’ decisions to transfer their accounts to UBS, the timing and amounts of client assets transferred
and the acceptance of the client assets by UBS which are significant unobservable inputs. An increase (decrease) in the client
transfer rate would result in a higher (lower) fair value measurement of the receivable.

Significant Transfers Into and Out of Level 3 Measurements During the three months ended March 31, 2018, we transferred
$34 million of domestic deposits and $44 million of long-term debt, which we have elected to carry at fair value, from Level 3 to
Level 2 as aresult of the embedded derivative no longer being unobservable as the derivative option is closer to maturity and there
is more observability in short term volatility. Additionally, during the three months ended March 31, 2018, we transferred $3
million of domestic deposits, which we have elected to carry at fair value, from Level 2 to Level 3 as a result of a change in the
observability of underlying instruments that resulted in the embedded derivative being unobservable.

During the three months ended March 31, 2017, we transferred $46 million of domestic deposits and $43 million of long-term
debt, which we have elected to carry at fair value, from Level 3 to Level 2 as a result of the embedded derivative no longer being
unobservable as the derivative option is closer in maturity and there is more observability in short term volatility. Additionally,
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during the three months ended March 31, 2017, we transferred $3 million of domestic deposits, which we have elected to carry at
fair value, from Level 2 to Level 3 as a result of a change in the observability of underlying instruments that resulted in the embedded
derivative being unobservable.

Assets and Liabilities Recorded at Fair Value on a Non-recurring Basis Certain financial and non-financial assets are measured
at fair value on a non-recurring basis and therefore, are not included in the tables above. These assets include (a) mortgage and
commercial loans classified as held for sale reported at the lower of amortized cost or fair value and (b) impaired loans or assets
that are written down to fair value based on the valuation of underlying collateral during the period. These instruments are not
measured at fair value on an ongoing basis but are subject to fair value adjustment in certain circumstances (e.g., impairment).
The following table presents the fair value hierarchy level within which the fair value of the financial and non-financial assets has
been recorded at March 31, 2018 and December 31, 2017. The gains (losses) during the three months ended March 31, 2018 and
2017 are also included.

Non-Recurring Fair Value Measurements Total Gains (Losses)
at March 31, 2018 For the Three
Months Ended
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total March 31, 2018
(in millions)
Residential mortgage loans held for sale™ .................cccccooocoo.... $ — 8 — 8 2 S 2 3 —
CONSUMET 10ANSP........ooeoeeee oo — 5 — 5 1)
Commercial loans held for sale® ............coooveveeereeeeeeeeeee. — 36 — 36 3
Impaired commercial 10ans™..............oooveveeeeeereeeeeeeeeeeeees — — 280 280 55
Real estate oWNed™ ............o.cooooveeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeseeeee e, — 8 — 8 1
Total assets at fair value on a non-recurring basis $ — 3 49 §$ 282 $ 331 $ 58
Non-Recurring Fair Value Measurements Total Gains (Losses)
at December 31, 2017 For the Three
Months Ended
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total March 31, 2017
(in millions)
Residential mortgage loans held for sale .................cco.coooven..e. &8 — 8 — 8 23 25 4
ConSUMET 10ANS@) ..o — 21 — 21 4)
Commercial loans held for sale® ..........o.cooooivieiveeeeeeeereees — 62 — 62 (1)
Impaired commercial 10ans™.............coccovvvieeieieeeeeeeeeeeeen — — 289 289 64
Real estate oWNed™ ............ooooeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeee e — 6 — 6 2
Total assets at fair value on a non-recurring basis ..............c........ $ — 80 $ 291 $ 380 $ 65

M At March 31, 2018 and December 31, 2017, the fair value of the loans held for sale was below cost. Certain residential mortgage loans held for sale have

been classified as Level 3 fair value measurements within the fair value hierarchy as the underlying real estate properties used to determine fair value are
illiquid assets as a result of market conditions. Additionally, the fair value of these properties is affected by, among other things, the location, the payment
history and the completeness of the loan documentation.

@ Represents residential mortgage loans held for investment whose carrying amount was reduced during the periods presented based on the fair value of the

underlying collateral.

® At March 31, 2018 and December 31, 2017, the fair value of the loans held for sale was below cost.

@ Certain commercial loans have undergone troubled debt restructurings and are considered impaired. As a matter of practical expedient, we measure the

credit impairment of a collateral-dependent loan based on the fair value of the collateral asset. The collateral often involves real estate properties that are
illiquid due to market conditions. As a result, these loans are classified as a Level 3 fair value measurement within the fair value hierarchy.

©®  Real estate owned is required to be reported on the balance sheet net of transactions costs. The real estate owned amounts in the table above reflect the fair

value unadjusted for transaction costs.
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The following tables present quantitative information about non-recurring fair value measurements of assets and liabilities classified
with Level 3 of the fair value hierarchy at March 31, 2018 and December 31, 2017:

At March 31, 2018

Significant
Fair Value Unobservable Range of
Financial Instrument Type (in millions) Valuation Technique(s) Inputs Inputs
Residential mortgage loans held for sale...........cocooeviviniiccnnne $ 2 Third party appraisal valuation Loss severity rates ~ 30% - 100%
based on estimated loss severities,
including collateral values
Impaired commercial 10ans ............cccoevirvinnnnnnneee 280 Valuation of third party appraisal Loss severity rates ~ 10% - 100%
on underlying collateral
At December 31, 2017
Significant
Fair Value Unobservable Range of
Financial Instrument Type (in millions) Valuation Technique(s) Inputs Inputs
Residential mortgage loans held for sale ..........ccccoveeinnccnennee $ 2 Third party appraisal valuation Loss severity rates ~ 30% - 100%
based on estimated loss severities,
including collateral values
Impaired commercial 10ans.........c.coeeveenreenniecnnnecnrccene 289  Valuation of third party appraisal Loss severity rates 9% - 61%

on underlying collateral

Significant Unobservable Inputs for Non-Recurring Fair Value Measurements

Residential mortgage loans held for sale represent subprime residential mortgage loans which were previously acquired with the
intent of securitizing or selling them to third parties. The weighted average loss severity rate for these was approximately 69 percent
at March 31, 2018. These severity rates are primarily impacted by the value of the underlying collateral securing the loans.

Impaired loans represent commercial loans. The weighted average severity rate for these loans was approximately 25 percent at
March 31, 2018. These severity rates are primarily impacted by the value of the underlying collateral securing the loans.

Valuation Techniques Following is a description of valuation methodologies used for assets and liabilities recorded at fair value.

Securities purchased and sold under resale and repurchase agreements designated under FVO - We elected to apply FVO
accounting to certain securities purchased and sold under resale and repurchase agreements at fair value. The fair value of these
resale and repurchase agreements is determined using market rates currently offered on comparable transactions with similar
underlying collateral and maturities.

Consumer loans held for sale — Consumer loans held for sale are recorded at the lower of amortized cost or fair value. The fair
value estimates of consumer loans held for sale are determined primarily using observed market prices of instruments with similar
characteristics. Adjustments are made to reflect differences in collateral location, loan-to-value ratio, FICO scores, vintage year,
default rates, the completeness of the loan documentation and other risk characteristics. Where observable market parameters are
not available, fair value is determined using the discounted cash flow method using assumptions consistent with those which would
be used by market participants in valuing such loans, including estimates of prepayment rates, default rates, loss severities and
market rates of return. We also may hold discussions on value directly with potential investors.

Commercial loans held for sale - Commercial loans held for sale (that are not designated under FVO as discussed below) are
recorded at the lower of amortized cost or fair value. The fair value estimates of commercial loans held for sale are determined
primarily using observable market consensus pricing obtained from independent sources, relevant broker quotes or observed market
prices of instruments with similar characteristics. We also may hold discussions on value directly with potential investors.

Commercial loans held for sale designated under FVO — We elected to apply FVO accounting to certain commercial loans held
for sale at fair value. Where available, fair value is based on observable market consensus pricing obtained from independent
sources, relevant broker quotes or observed market prices of instruments with similar characteristics. Where observable market
parameters are not available, fair value is determined based on contractual cash flows adjusted for estimates of prepayment rates,
expected default rates and loss severity discounted at management's estimate of the expected rate of return required by market
participants. We also consider loan specific risk mitigating factors such as collateral arrangements in determining the fair value
estimate.

Commercial impaired loans — Generally represents collateral dependent commercial loans with fair value determined based on
pricing quotes obtained from an independent third party appraisal.

Precious metals trading - Precious metals trading primarily includes physical inventory which is valued using spot prices.

Securities - Where available, debt and equity securities are valued based on quoted market prices. If a quoted market price for the
identical security is not available, the security is valued based on quotes from similar securities, where possible. For certain
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securities, internally developed valuation models are used to determine fair values or validate quotes obtained from pricing services.
The following summarizes the valuation methodology used for our major security classes:

U.S. Treasury, U.S. Government agency issued or guaranteed and obligations of U.S. state and political subdivisions — As
these securities transact in an active market, fair value measurements are based on quoted prices for the identical security
or quoted prices for similar securities with adjustments as necessary made using observable inputs which are market
corroborated.

U.S. Government sponsored enterprises — For government sponsored mortgage-backed securities which transact in an
active market, fair value measurements are based on quoted prices for the identical security or quoted prices for similar
securities with adjustments as necessary made using observable inputs which are market corroborated. For government
sponsored mortgage-backed securities which do not transact in an active market, fair value is determined primarily based
on pricing information obtained from pricing services and is verified by internal review processes.

Asset-backed securities, including collateralized debt obligations — Fair value is primarily determined based on pricing
information obtained from independent pricing services adjusted for the characteristics and the performance of the
underlying collateral.

Other domestic debt and foreign debt securities (corporate and government) - For non-callable corporate securities, a credit
spread scale is created for each issuer. These spreads are then added to the equivalent maturity U.S. Treasury yield to
determine current pricing. Credit spreads are obtained from the new market, secondary trading levels and dealer quotes.
For securities with early redemption features, an option adjusted spread model is incorporated to adjust the spreads
determined above. Additionally, we survey the broker/dealer community to obtain relevant trade data including benchmark
quotes and updated spreads.

Equity securities — Fair value measurements are determined based on quoted prices for the identical security. Certain equity
securities represent investments in private equity funds that help us comply with the Community Reinvestment Act. The
fair value of these investments are estimated using the net asset value per share as calculated by the fund managers.
Distributions will be received from the funds as the underlying assets are liquidated. While the funds do not allow us to
redeem our investments, we are permitted to sell or transfer our investments subject to the approval of the fund manager.
Unfunded commitments associated with these investments totaled $34 million and $43 million at March 31, 2018 and
December 31, 2017, respectively.

The following tables provide additional information relating to asset-backed securities as well as certain collateralized debt
obligations held at March 31, 2018:

Trading asset-backed securities:

Rating of Securities:" Collateral Type: Level 2 Level 3 Total
(in millions)
AAA-A, Student 10ans .........cceueuvirreereinireeee $ 92 $ — 3 92
BBB-B ..o Collateralized debt obligations.............c.c.c..... — 131 131
CCC - Unrated .......cceeueereeereneeenenennns Residential mortgages - Subprime.................. 17 — 17
$ 109§ 131 § 240

Available-for-sale securities backed by collateral:

Rating of Securities:" Collateral Type: Level 2 Level 3 Total
(in millions)
AAA - A Home equity - Alt A...ooiiiiiiiiccccceens $ 49 8§ — S 49
Other ..o 200 107 307
Total AAA Ao, $ 249§ 107 § 356

M We utilize Standard and Poor’s ("S&P") as the primary source of credit ratings in the tables above. If S&P ratings are not available, ratings by Moody's and
Fitch are used in that order. Ratings for collateralized debt obligations represent the ratings associated with the underlying collateral.

Derivatives — Derivatives are recorded at fair value. Asset and liability positions in individual derivatives that are covered by
legally enforceable master netting agreements, including receivables (payables) for cash collateral posted (received), are offset
and presented net in accordance with accounting principles which allow the offsetting of amounts.

Derivatives traded on an exchange are valued using quoted prices. OTC derivatives, which comprise a majority of derivative
contract positions, are valued using valuation techniques. The fair value for the majority of our derivative instruments are determined
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based on internally developed models that utilize independently corroborated market parameters, including interest rate yield
curves, option volatilities, and currency rates. For complex or long-dated derivative products where market data is not available,
fair value may be affected by the underlying assumptions about, among other things, the timing of cash flows, expected exposure,
probability of default and recovery rates. The fair values of certain structured derivative products are sensitive to unobservable
inputs such as default correlations of the referenced credit and volatilities of embedded options. These estimates are susceptible
to significant change in future periods as market conditions change.

We use the OIS curves as the base discounting curve for measuring the fair value of all derivatives, both collateralized and
uncollateralized, and apply a FFVA to reflect the estimated present value of the future market funding cost or benefit associated
with funding uncollateralized derivative exposure at rates other than the OIS rate. The FFVA is calculated by applying future
market funding spreads to the expected future funding exposure of any uncollateralized component of the OTC derivative portfolio.
The expected future funding exposure is calculated by a simulation methodology, where available, and is adjusted for events that
may terminate the exposure, such as the default of HUSI or the counterparty.

Significant inputs related to derivative classes are broken down as follows:

*  Credit Derivatives — Use credit default curves and recovery rates which are generally provided by broker quotes and various
pricing services. Certain credit derivatives may also use correlation inputs in their model valuation.

* Interest Rate Derivatives — Swaps use interest rate curves based on currency that are actively quoted by brokers and other
pricing services. Options will also use volatility inputs which are also quoted in the broker market.

»  Foreign Exchange ("FX") Derivatives — FX transactions, to the extent possible, use spot and forward FX rates which are
quoted in the broker market. Where applicable, we also use implied volatility of currency pairs as inputs.

*  Equity Derivatives — Use listed equity security pricing and implied volatilities from equity traded options position.
*  Precious Metal Derivatives — Use spot and forward metal rates which are quoted in the broker market.

As discussed earlier, we make fair value adjustments to model valuations in order to ensure that those values represent appropriate
estimates of fair value. These adjustments, which are applied consistently over time, are generally required to reflect factors such
as bid-ask spreads and counterparty credit risk that can affect prices in arms-length transactions with unrelated third parties. Such
adjustments are based on management judgment and may not be observable.

We estimate the counterparty credit risk for financial assets and our own credit standing for financial liabilities (the "credit risk
adjustments") in determining the fair value measurement. For derivative instruments, we calculate the credit risk adjustment by
applying the probability of default of the counterparty to the expected exposure, and multiplying the result by the expected loss
given default. We also take into consideration the risk mitigating factors including collateral agreements and master netting
agreements in determining credit risk adjustments. We estimate the implied probability of default based on the credit spread of the
specific counterparty observed in the credit default swap market. Where credit default spread of the counterparty is not available,
we use the credit default spread of a specific proxy (e.g. the credit default swap spread of the counterparty's parent) or a proxy
based on credit default swaps referencing to credit names of similar credit standing.

Real estate owned - Fair value is determined based on third party appraisals obtained at the time we take title to the property and,
if less than the carrying amount of the loan, the carrying amount of the loan is adjusted to the fair value. The carrying amount of
the property is further reduced, if necessary, at least every 90 days to reflect observable local market data, including local area
sales data.

Structured notes and deposits designated under FVO — Structured notes and deposits are hybrid instruments containing embedded
derivatives and are elected to be measured at fair value in their entirety under FVO accounting principles. The valuation of hybrid
instruments is predominantly driven by the derivative features embedded within the instruments and our own credit risk. The
valuation of embedded derivatives may include significant unobservable inputs such as correlation of the referenced credit names
or volatility of the embedded option. Cash flows of the funded notes and deposits in their entirety, including the embedded
derivatives, are discounted at the relevant interest rates for the duration of the instrument adjusted for our own credit spreads. The
credit spreads so applied are determined with reference to our own debt issuance rates observed in primary and secondary markets,
internal funding rates, and the structured note rates in recent executions.

Long-term debt designated under FVO — We elected to apply FVO accounting to certain own debt issuances for which fair value
hedge accounting otherwise would have been applied. These own debt issuances elected under FVO are traded in secondary markets
and, as such, the fair value is determined based on observed prices for the specific instrument. The observed market price of these
instruments reflects the effect of our own credit spreads. The credit spreads applied to these instruments were derived from the
spreads at the measurement date.
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Additional Disclosures About the Fair Value of Financial Instruments that are Not Carried at Fair Value on the Consolidated
Balance Sheet The fair value estimates set forth below are made solely to comply with disclosures required by generally accepted
accounting principles in the United States and should be read in conjunction with the financial statements and notes included in
this report.

The carrying amount of certain financial instruments recorded at cost on the consolidated balance sheet is considered to approximate
fair value because they are short-term in nature, bear interest rates that approximate market rates, and generally have negligible
credit risk. These items include cash and due from banks, interest bearing deposits with banks, customer acceptance assets and
liabilities, federal funds sold and purchased, certain securities purchased and sold under resale and repurchase agreements, deposits
with no stated maturity (e.g. demand, savings and certain money market deposits), short-term borrowings and dividends payable.

The following table summarizes the carrying value and estimated fair value of our financial instruments, excluding financial
instruments that are carried at fair value on a recurring basis, at March 31, 2018 and December 31, 2017 and their classification
within the fair value hierarchy:

Carrying Fair
March 31, 2018 Value Value Level 1 Level 2 Level 3
(in millions)
Financial assets:
Short-term fINancial @SSELS .........ceevvieieeeieieeiee e $ 18,964 $ 18,964 $ 1,053 $ 17,895 § 16
Federal funds sold and securities purchased under agreements to
TESCIL . 9,472 9,472 — 9,472 —
Securities held-to-Maturity........c.coceeereeereinerinecnenenecneeane 14,274 14,005 — 14,005 —
Commercial loans, net of allowance for credit losses..................... 47,210 48,946 — — 48,946
Commercial loans held for sale..........ccceovvivinininininiiiinccee 68 68 — 68 —
Consumer loans, net of allowance for credit losses .............c.......... 19,529 18,702 — — 18,702
Consumer loans held for sale:
Residential MOTtages ........coevvevverieieieieieinencneeene e 6 6 — 4 2
Other CONSUMET ......eoueruiriirierieieientetetete et 58 58 — — 58
Financial liabilities:
Short-term financial Habilities ..........coovvviveieeeiieeeeeeeeeeeeeeeee e, $ 3321 § 3,327 $ — § 3311 § 16
Deposits:
Without fixed Maturities. ........cocecevveerreeneninerneneinecneceenenne 99,148 99,148 — 99,148 —
Fixed MaturIties . .....uueiiiiiieiiiei it e e 10,682 10,636 — 10,636 —
Deposits held for Sale........coevvivierieierieierice s 291 291 — 291 —
Long-term debt.........ccoiiiieeeeeee e 19,272 19,828 — 19,828 —
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Carrying Fair
December 31, 2017 Value Value Level 1 Level 2 Level 3
(in millions)
Financial assets:
Short-term fINanCial ASSELS .......vevveeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeee e $ 12,304 §$ 12,304 $ 1,115 $ 11,157 $ 32
Federal funds sold and securities purchased under agreements to
TESCLL 1.t 32,538 32,538 — 32,538 —
Securities held-to-maturity..........cccceveveiereeienieeeeeeee e 13,977 13,902 — 13,902 —
Commercial loans, net of allowance for credit losses............c........ 52,427 54,210 — — 54,210
Commercial loans held for sale..........cccocevvrininnininininices 177 177 — 177 —
Consumer loans, net of allowance for credit losses...........cccuevenneee 19,455 18,598 — — 18,598
Consumer loans held for sale:
Residential MOTtZages ......ecvvevieieriieeierieeierie et 6 6 — 5 1
Other CONSUIMET ......eiueiiieiiiiieieetceee ettt sttt ee e e 61 61 — — 61
Financial liabilities:
Short-term financial HHabilities ......c.ccveeveeveveereeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeens $ 2,650 $ 2667 $ — $ 2,635 % 32
Deposits:
Without fixed mMaturities........coovveeveeeeiieeeieee e 100,502 100,502 — 100,502 —
FiXed MatuITtieS . ....ooeoveeiiiiieieceiee e 9,834 9,782 — 9,782 —
Deposits held for sale.........ococovieiiiiiniiiiee e 673 673 — 673 —
Long-term debt.........cccovivieiiniiiiiiiiieiceeere e 22,080 22,717 — 22,717 —

Lending-related commitments - The fair value of loan commitments, revolving credit facilities and standby letters of credit are not
included in the table. The majority of the lending-related commitments are not carried at fair value on a recurring basis nor are
they actively traded. These instruments generate fees, which approximate those currently charged to originate similar commitments,
which are recognized over the term of the commitment period. Deferred fees on loan commitments, revolving credit facilities and
standby letters of credit totaled $156 million and $158 million at March 31, 2018 and December 31, 2017, respectively.
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20. Litigation and Regulatory Matters

The following supplements, and should be read together with, the disclosure in Note 27, "Litigation and Regulatory Matters," in
our 2017 Form 10-K. Only those matters with significant updates and new matters since our disclosure in our 2017 Form 10-K
are reported herein.

In addition to the matters described below and in our 2017 Form 10-K, in the ordinary course of business, we are routinely named
as defendants in, or as parties to, various legal actions and proceedings relating to activities of our current and/or former operations.
These legal actions and proceedings may include claims for substantial or indeterminate compensatory or punitive damages, or
for injunctive relief. In the ordinary course of business, we also are subject to governmental and regulatory examinations,
information-gathering requests, investigations and proceedings (both formal and informal), certain of which may result in adverse
judgments, settlements, fines, penalties, injunctions or other relief. In connection with formal and informal inquiries by these
regulators, we receive numerous requests, subpoenas and orders seeking documents, testimony and other information in connection
with various aspects of our regulated activities.

Due to the inherent unpredictability of legal matters, including litigation, governmental and regulatory matters, particularly where
the damages sought are substantial or indeterminate or when the proceedings or investigations are in the early stages, we cannot
determine with any degree of certainty the timing or ultimate resolution of such matters or the eventual loss, fines, penalties or
business impact, if any, that may result. We establish reserves for litigation, governmental and regulatory matters when those
matters present loss contingencies that are both probable and can be reasonably estimated. Once established, reserves are adjusted
from time to time, as appropriate, in light of additional information. The actual costs of resolving litigation and regulatory matters,
however, may be substantially higher than the amounts reserved for those matters. During the first quarter of 2018, we recorded
an expense of $494 million related to various legal matters.

For the legal matters disclosed below, including litigation and governmental and regulatory matters, as well as for the legal matters
disclosed in Note 27, "Litigation and Regulatory Matters," in our 2017 Form 10-K, as to which a loss in excess of accrued liability
is reasonably possible in future periods and for which there is sufficient currently available information on the basis of which
management believes it can make a reliable estimate, we believe a reasonable estimate could be as much as $325 million for HUSI.
The legal matters underlying this estimate of possible loss will change from time to time and actual results may differ significantly
from this current estimate.

In addition, based on the facts currently known for each of the below investigations, as well as for the investigations disclosed in
Note 27, "Litigation and Regulatory Matters," in our 2017 Form 10-K, it is not practicable at this time for us to determine the
terms on which these ongoing investigations will be resolved or the timing of such resolution. As matters progress, it is possible
that any fines and/or penalties could be significant.

Given the substantial or indeterminate amounts sought in certain of these matters, and the inherent unpredictability of such matters,
an adverse outcome in certain of these matters could have a material adverse effect on our consolidated financial statements in
any particular quarterly or annual period.

Foreign Exchange ("FX") Matters

In addition to the Consolidated Action that has been settled subject to final court approval (In re Foreign Exchange Benchmark
Rates Antitrust Litigation; No. 13-CV-7789(LGS)), putative class actions making similar allegations are pending against HSBC
defendants, as well as other defendants, in the United States District Court for the Southern District of New York on behalf of:
(1) ERISA plan participants (Allen v. Bank of America Corporation, et al.; No. 1:15-CV-4285); (2) retail customers (Nyp! v.
JPMorgan Chase, et al.; No. 1:15-CV-9300); and (3) “indirect purchasers” of FX (Contant v. Bank of America Corporation, et
al.;No. 1:17-CV-03139). In the retail customer action, the court denied defendants’ motion to dismiss the second amended complaint
in March 2018 but granted HSBC’s motion to dismiss based on lack of personal jurisdiction. In March 2018, the court granted
defendants’ motion to dismiss the “indirect purchaser” action.

Madoff Litigation

In 2008, Bernard L. Madoff ("Madoff") was arrested and ultimately pleaded guilty to running a Ponzi scheme and a trustee was
appointed for the liquidation of his firm, Bernard L. Madoff Investment Securities LLC ("Madoff Securities"), an SEC-registered
broker-dealer and investment adviser. Various non-U.S. HSBC companies provided custodial, administration and similar services
to anumber of funds incorporated outside the United States whose assets were invested with Madoff Securities. Plaintiffs (including
funds, funds investors and the Madoff Securities trustee ("Trustee"), as described below) have commenced Madoff-related
proceedings against numerous defendants arising out of Madoff Securities' fraud.

The SPV OSUS Ltd. v. HSBC Bank plc, et al. case is no longer stayed, and plaintiff filed an amended complaint in March 2018.
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Mexican Government Bond Litigation

HSBC, HSBC Bank plc, HSBC North America, HSBC Bank USA, HSI, HMUS, as well as non-US HSBC affiliates, have been
named as defendants, among others, in a putative class action brought in the U.S. District Court for the Southern District of New
York in March 2018 relating to the Mexican government bond (“MGB”) market (Oklahoma Firefighters Pension & Retirement
System, et al. v. Banco Santander S.A., et al.). The action alleges that defendants conspired to fix MGB prices between January
2006 and April 2017 in violation of federal antitrust laws. This action is at a very early stage.

Benchmark Rate Litigation

HSBC Bank USA, HSBC, HSBC USA, HSBC Bank plc, HSBC North America, HSI and HSBC Canada have been named as
defendants, among others, in a putative class action brought in the U.S. District Court for the Southern District of New York on
behalf of persons who transacted in products tied to the Canadian Dealer Offered Rate (“CDOR”) between August 2007 and
December 2014. The complaint, encaptioned Fire & Police Pension Association of Colorado, et al. v Bank of Montreal, et al.
(Case No. 18-cv-00342), alleges that the defendant banks conspired to suppress CDOR by making artificially lower submissions
and entering into collusive transactions in the swaps market, thereby fixing the prices of CDOR-based derivatives for their collective
financial benefit. The defendants are accused of illegal restraint of trade in violation of the Sherman Anti-Trust Act, violation of
the Racketeer Influenced Corrupt Organization Act and Commodity Exchange Act. This matter is at an early stage.

Mortgage Securitization Matters

As previously disclosed, we are engaged in active discussions with the U.S. Department of Justice ("DOJ") with a view toward
potential resolution of civil claims based on the DOJ’s investigation of HSBC’s legacy residential mortgage-backed securities
("RMBS") origination and securitization activities. As discussions developed this quarter, we have recorded a provision with
respect to this matter representing the portion of the HSBC North America provision that we believe to be allocable to us. There
can be no assurances, however, as to how or when this matter will be resolved, or whether this matter will be resolved prior to the
commencement of formal legal proceedings by the DOJ or whether the ultimate loss will exceed this provision.

Residential Funding Litigation
We have reached an agreement in principle to settle for an amount within reserves.
Mortgage Securitization Trust Litigation

Since 2014, Plaintift-Investors in 280 RMBS trusts (the "Trusts") have sued HSBC Bank USA, as mortgage securitization trustee,
in a number of cases: BlackRock et al., Royal Park Investments SA/NV ("RPI"), Phoenix Light SF Limited ("Phoenix Light"),
the National Credit Union Administration Board, as Liquidating Agent ("NCUA"), Commerzbank AG, and Triaxx, IKB Bank AG
("IKB"), RMBS Recovery Holdings I, LLC, et al. (“Fir Tree”’), VRS Holdings 2 LLC (“VRS”) and Reliance Standard Life Insurance
Company (“Reliance”). In February 2018, the court dismissed the Fir Tree case on procedural grounds. Fir Tree has appealed the
decision.

Anti-Money Laundering, Bank Secrecy Act and Olffice of Foreign Assets Control Matters

Jeffrey Siegel, et al. v. HSBC Holdings plc, et al. Plaintiffs filed an amended complaint in March 2018, which defendants moved
to dismiss in April 2018.

Timothy O Sullivan, et al. v. Deutsche Bank AG, et al. The defendants moved to dismiss the complaint in March 2018.
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21.

New Accounting Pronouncements

The following new accounting pronouncements were adopted effective January 1, 2018:

Recognition of Revenue from Contracts with Customers In May 2014, the Financial Accounting Standards Board ("FASB")
issued an Accounting Standards Update ("ASU") which provides a principles-based framework for revenue recognition.
Additionally, the ASU requires improved disclosures to help users of financial statements better understand the nature,
amount, timing, and uncertainty of revenue that is recognized. The core principle of the five-step revenue recognition
framework is that an entity should recognize revenue to depict the transfer of promised goods or services to customers in
an amount that reflects the consideration to which the entity expects to be entitled in exchange for those goods or services.
The scope of the new guidance is limited to certain revenues classified as fee based income. We conducted an analysis of
the impact the new ASU will have on our operations and did not identify any changes in revenue recognition. Therefore,
the adoption of this guidance did not have any impact on our financial position or results of operations. See Note 13, "Fee
Income from Contracts with Customers," for the new disclosure required by this standard.

Financial Instruments - Classification and Measurement (Excluding Financial Liabilities Measured Under the Fair
Value Option) In January 2016, the FASB issued an ASU which changes aspects of its guidance on classification and
measurement of financial instruments. The ASU requires equity investments (except those accounted for under the equity
method or those that result in consolidation) to be measured at fair value with changes in fair value recognized in net income
(loss). Under a practicability exception, entities may measure equity investments that do not have readily determinable fair
values at cost adjusted for changes in observable prices minus impairment. Under this exception, a qualitative assessment
for impairment will be required and, if impairment exists, the carrying amount of the investments must be adjusted to their
fair value and an impairment loss recognized in net income (loss), prospectively. Additionally, the ASU requires new
disclosure related to equity investments and modifies certain disclosure requirements related to the fair value of financial
instruments. The adoption of this guidance required a cumulative effect adjustment to the consolidated balance sheet as of
January 1, 2018, resulting in an increase in retained earnings of $10 million, after tax, to reflect the impact of recording
certain equity investments at fair value which were previously measured at cost, as well as areclassification from accumulated
other comprehensive loss to retained earnings of an after tax loss of $4 million related to equity investments which were
previously classified as available-for-sale. The adoption of this guidance also resulted in all equity investments being recorded
together as a component of other assets and, as a result, we reclassified $12 million and $177 million of equity investments
which were previously classified as trading securities and available-for-sale securities, respectively, to other assets as of
January 1, 2018. See Note 3, "Securities," for the new disclosure required by this standard.

Statement of Cash Flows - Classification of Certain Cash Receipts and Cash Payments In August 2016, the FASB issued
an ASU that provides targeted amendments to clarify how certain cash receipts and cash payments should be classified in
the statement of cash flows. Under the ASU, the portion of the cash payments attributable to accreted interest for the
settlement of zero-coupon bonds should be classified as cash outflows for operating activities rather than financing activities
and cash proceeds from the settlement of bank-owned life insurance policies should be classified as cash inflows from
investing activities rather than operating activities. While the adoption of this guidance resulted in a change in classification
in the statement of cash flows, it did not have a material impact on the statement of cash flows, and it did not have any
impact on our financial position or results of operations. The adoption of this guidance required prior periods to be restated
and resulted in an increase in cash used in operating activities of $5 million and an increase in cash provided by financing
activities of $5 million during the three months ended March 31, 2017.

Statement of Cash Flows - Restricted Cash In November 2016, the FASB issued an ASU that clarifies how restricted cash
and restricted cash equivalents should be presented in the statement of cash flows. The ASU requires entities to show the
changes in the total of cash, cash equivalents, restricted cash and restricted cash equivalents in the statement of cash flows.
While the adoption of this guidance resulted in a change in classification in the statement of cash flows to include our
required reserve balance with the Federal Reserve Bank within a new line item called cash, due from banks and restricted
cash, it did not have any impact on our financial position or results of operations. The adoption of this guidance on January
1, 2018 required prior periods to be restated and resulted in a decrease in cash provided by investing activities of $26 million
during the three months ended March 31, 2017.

Business Combinations - Clarifying the Definition of a Business In January 2017, the FASB issued an ASU which provides
clarification on the definition of a business with the objective of adding guidance to assist entities with evaluating whether
transactions should be accounted for as acquisitions (or disposals) of assets or businesses. The amendments in the ASU
provide a screen to determine when an integrated set of activities and assets (a "set") is not a business. The screen requires
that when substantially all of the fair value of the gross assets acquired (or disposed of) is concentrated in a single identifiable
asset or a group of similar identifiable assets, the set is not a business. This screen reduces the number of transactions that
need to be further evaluated, and therefore are considered businesses. The amendments also provide a framework to assist
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entities in evaluating whether both an input and a substantive process are present. The adoption of this guidance did not
have any impact on our financial position or results of operations.

Compensation - Retirement Benefits In March 2017, the FASB issued an ASU that requires only the service cost component
of net periodic pension and postretirement benefit costs to be reported in salaries and employee benefits in the statement
of income (loss) while the other components of net periodic pension and postretirement benefit costs are required to be
reported separately from the service cost component. The adoption of this guidance did not have a material impact on our
financial statement presentation.

Reclassification of Certain Tax Effects from Accumulated Other Comprehensive Loss In February 2018, the FASB issued
an ASU that allows reclassification from accumulated other comprehensive loss to retained earnings for stranded tax effects
resulting from the Tax Legislation which was signed into law on December 22, 2017. We elected to early adopt this guidance
in the first quarter of 2018 and recorded a cumulative effect adjustment to the consolidated balance sheet, resulting in a
reclass of approximately $91 million of tax benefits from accumulated other comprehensive loss to retained earnings as of
January 1, 2018.

The following are accounting pronouncements which will be adopted in future periods:

Leases In February 2016, the FASB issued an ASU which requires a lessee to recognize a lease liability and a right-of-use
asset on its balance sheet for all leases, including operating leases, with a term greater than 12 months. Lease classification
will determine whether a lease is reported as a financing transaction in the statement of income (loss) and statement of cash
flows. The ASU does not substantially change lessor accounting, but it does make certain changes related to leases for which
collectability of the lease payments is uncertain or there are significant variable payments. Additionally, the ASU makes
several other targeted amendments including a) revising the definition of lease payments to include fixed payments by the
lessee to cover lessor costs related to ownership of the underlying asset such as for property taxes or insurance; b) narrowing
the definition of initial direct costs which an entity is permitted to capitalize to include only those incremental costs of a
lease that would not have been incurred if the lease had not been obtained; ¢) requiring seller-lessees in a sale-leaseback
transaction to recognize the entire gain from the sale of the underlying asset at the time of sale rather than over the leaseback
term; and d) expanding disclosures to provide quantitative and qualitative information about lease transactions. The ASU
is effective for all annual and interim periods beginning January 1, 2019 and is required to be applied retrospectively to the
carliest period presented at the date of initial application, with early adoption permitted. We have conducted a review of
our existing lease contracts and service contracts which may contain embedded leases and currently expect a gross-up of
our balance sheet as aresult of recognizing lease liabilities and corresponding right of use assets upon adoption. The adoption
of'this guidance will also require a cumulative effect adjustment to the consolidated balance sheet to recognize the previously
deferred gain on the sale and leaseback of our 452 Fifth Avenue property, which will result in an increase in the opening
balance of retained earnings at January 1, 2017. However, the adoption of this guidance is not expected to result in material
changes to the recognition of operating lease expense. While early adoption is permitted, we currently do not expect to elect
early adoption.

Financial Instruments - Credit Impairment In June 2016, the FASB issued an ASU that significantly changes how entities
will measure credit losses for most financial assets and certain other instruments that are not measured at fair value through
net income (loss). The ASU requires entities to estimate and recognize an allowance for lifetime expected credit losses for
loans (including TDR Loans), held-to-maturity debt securities, off-balance sheet credit exposures and certain other financial
assets measured at amortized cost. The ASU also requires entities to recognize an allowance for credit losses on AFS debt
securities and revises the accounting model for purchased credit impaired loans and debt securities. Additionally, existing
disclosures will also be revised under the ASU. The ASU is effective for all annual and interim periods beginning January
1, 2020, with early adoption permitted beginning January 1, 2019, and is required to be applied by recording a cumulative
effect adjustment to retained earnings as of the beginning of the first reporting period in which the guidance is effective.
We have begun our implementation efforts, leveraging our participation in support of HSBC's implementation of IFRS 9
where feasible, to identify key interpretive issues and are assessing existing credit loss forecasting models and processes
against the new guidance to determine what modifications may be required. While we continue to evaluate the impact the
new guidance will have on our financial position and results of operations, we currently expect the new guidance will result
in an increase to our allowance for credit losses given the change to estimated losses over the contractual life of the loan
portfolio as well as the adoption of an allowance for debt securities. The amount of the increase to our allowance is still
under review and will depend, in part, upon the composition of our loan and held-to-maturity securities portfolios at the
adoption date as well as economic conditions and loss forecasts at that date. While early adoption is permitted beginning
in the first quarter of 2019, we currently do not expect to elect early adoption.

Goodwill Impairment Testing In January 2017, the FASB issued an ASU that simplifies the accounting for goodwill
impairment by removing step 2 of the goodwill impairment test. Under step 2, an entity was required to determine the fair
value of individual assets and liabilities of a reporting unit (including unrecognized assets and liabilities) using the procedure
for determining fair values in a business combination. Under the new guidance, goodwill impairment will now be measured

76



HSBC USA Inc.

at the amount by which a reporting unit’s carrying amount, including those with a zero or negative carrying amount, exceeds
its fair value. Any resulting impairment is limited to the carrying amount of goodwill. An entity must also disclose the
amount of goodwill allocated to each reporting unit with a zero or negative carrying amount. The ASU is effective for all
annual and interim periods beginning January 1, 2020 and is required to be applied prospectively with early adoption
permitted. The adoption of this guidance is not expected to have a material impact on the results of our goodwill impairment
testing, our financial position or results of operations.

e Premium Amortization on Purchased Callable Debt Securities In March 2017, the FASB issued an ASU that shortens
the premium amortization period for purchased non-contingently callable debt securities by requiring the premium to be
amortized to the earliest call date, rather than the contractual maturity date. After the earliest call date, if the call option is
not exercised, the effective yield will be reset using the payment terms of the debt security. The new guidance does not
change the discount amortization period for purchased debt securities. The discount continues to be amortized to the
contractual maturity date. The ASU is effective for all annual and interim periods beginning January 1, 2019, with early
adoption permitted, and is required to be applied by recording a cumulative effect adjustment to retained earnings as of the
beginning of the first reporting period in which the guidance is effective. The adoption of this guidance is not expected to
have a material impact on our financial position or results of operations.

*  Derivatives and Hedging - Targeted Improvements to Accounting for Hedging Activities In August 2017, the FASB issued
an ASU amending its hedge accounting guidance to expand an entity’s ability to hedge nonfinancial and financial risk
components, reduce complexity in fair value hedges of interest rate risk and ease the requirements for effectiveness testing
and hedge documentation. The new guidance also eliminates the requirement to separately measure and report hedge
ineffectiveness and generally requires the entire change in the fair value of a hedging instrument to be presented in the same
income statement line as the hedged item. Existing disclosures will also be revised. The ASU is effective for all annual and
interim periods beginning January 1, 2019, with early adoption permitted, and is required to be applied by recording a
cumulative effect adjustment to retained earnings as of the beginning of the first reporting period in which the guidance is
effective. We are currently evaluating the impact of adopting this ASU. While early adoption is permitted, we currently do
not expect to elect early adoption.

There have been no additional accounting pronouncements issued that are expected to have or could have a material impact on
our financial position or results of operations.
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Item 2. Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations

Forward-Looking Statements

Certain matters discussed throughout this Form 10-Q are forward-looking statements within the meaning of the Private Securities
Litigation Reform Act of 1995. In addition, we may make or approve certain statements in future filings with the United States
Securities and Exchange Commission ("SEC"), in press releases, or oral or written presentations by representatives of HSBC USA
Inc. ("HSBC USA" and, together with its subsidiaries, "HUSI") that are not statements of historical fact and may also constitute
forward-looking statements. Words such as "may," "will," "should," "would," "could," "appears," "believe," "intends," "expects,"
"estimates," "targeted," "plans," "anticipates,” "goal," and similar expressions are intended to identify forward-looking statements
but should not be considered as the only means through which these statements may be made. These matters or statements will
relate to our future financial condition, economic forecast, results of operations, plans, objectives, performance or business
developments and will involve known and unknown risks, uncertainties and other factors that may cause our actual results,
performance or achievements to be materially different from that which was expressed or implied by such forward-looking
statements.

nn

All forward-looking statements are, by their nature, subject to risks and uncertainties, many of which are beyond our control. Our
actual future results may differ materially from those set forth in our forward-looking statements. While there is no assurance that
any list of risks and uncertainties or risk factors is complete, below are certain factors which could cause actual results to differ
materially from those in the forward-looking statements:

* uncertain market and economic conditions in the United States and abroad, including but not limited to, a decline in
housing prices, a decline in energy prices, unemployment levels, tighter credit conditions, changes in interest rates, the
availability of liquidity, changes in consumer confidence and consumer spending and behavior, consumer perception as
to the continuing availability of credit and price competition in the market segments we serve and the consequences of
unexpected geopolitical events, such as the outbreak of hostilities between countries and the decision by the United
Kingdom ("U.K.") to exit the European Union ("EU");

» changes in laws and regulatory requirements;

» the potential impact of any legal, regulatory and policy changes effecting financial institutions and the global economy
as a result of the current Administration in the U.S.;

» the ability to deliver on our regulatory priorities;
* extraordinary government actions as a result of market turmoil;

»  capital and liquidity requirements under Basel guidance, the Federal Reserve Board's ("FRB") Comprehensive Capital
Analysis and Review ("CCAR") program, and the Dodd-Frank Wall Street Reform and Consumer Protection Act of 2010
("Dodd-Frank Act") stress testing ("DFAST"), including the U.S. FRB requirements for U.S. global systemically important
banks ("G-SIBs") and U.S. intermediate holding companies ("IHCs") owned by non-U.S. G-SIBs to issue total loss-
absorbing capacity ("TLAC") instruments;

» regulatory requirements in the U.S. and in non-U.S. jurisdictions to facilitate the future orderly resolution of large financial
institutions;

» changes in central banks' policies with respect to the provision of liquidity support to financial markets;

» the ability of HSBC Holdings plc ("HSBC" and, together with its subsidiaries, "HSBC Group") and HSBC Bank USA,
National Association ("HSBC Bank USA") to fulfill the requirements imposed by our consent orders as well as guidance
from regulators generally;

» the use of us as a conduit for illegal activities without our knowledge by third parties;

» the ability to successfully manage our risks;

» the possibility of the inadequacy of our data management and policies and processes;

» the financial condition of our clients and counterparties and our ability to manage counterparty risk;

»  concentrations of credit and market risk, including exposure to Latin American corporate clients and the oil and gas
markets;

* increases in our allowance for credit losses and changes in our assessment of our loan portfolios;
» the ability to implement our business strategies;
» the ability to successfully implement changes to our operational practices as needed and/or required from time to time;

» damage to our reputation;
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+ the ability to attract and retain customers and to attract and retain key employees;

» the effects of competition in the markets where we operate including increased competition from non-bank financial
services companies, including securities firms;

» the effects of operational risks that are inherent in banking operations, including fraudulent and other criminal activities,
breakdowns in processes or procedures and systems failure or non-availability;

»  disruption in our operations from the external environment arising from events such as natural disasters, global pandemics,
acts of war, terrorist attacks, or essential utility outages;

» afailure in or a breach of our operation or security systems or infrastructure, or those of third party servicers or vendors,
including as a result of cyberattacks;

» theability of third party suppliers, outsourcing vendors, off-shored functions and our affiliates to provide adequate services;

» losses suffered due to the negligence, fraud or misconduct of our employees or the negligence, fraud or misconduct on
the part of third parties;

» afailure in our internal controls;

*  our ability to meet our funding requirements;

» adverse changes to our credit ratings;

» financial difficulties or credit downgrades of mortgage bond insurers;
*  our ability to cross-sell our products to existing customers;

» changes in Financial Accounting Standards Board ("FASB") and International Accounting Standards Board ("IASB")
accounting standards and their interpretation;

» heightened regulatory and government enforcement scrutiny of financial institutions, including in connection with product
governance and sales practices, account opening and closing procedures, customer and employee complaints and sales
compensation structures related to such practices;

» continued heightened regulatory scrutiny with respect to existing and future residential mortgage servicing and foreclosure
practices, with particular focus on loss mitigation, foreclosure prevention and outsourcing;

» possible negative impact of regulatory investigations and legal proceedings related to alleged foreign exchange
manipulation;

» changes in the methodology for determining benchmark rates;

» heightened regulatory and government enforcement scrutiny of financial markets, with a particular focus on traded asset
classes, including foreign exchange;

» the possibility of incorrect assumptions or estimates in our financial statements, including reserves related to litigation,
deferred tax assets and the fair value of certain assets and liabilities;

*  model limitations or failure;
» the possibility of incorrect interpretations, application of or changes in tax laws to which we and our clients are subject;
» changes in bankruptcy laws to allow for principal reductions or other modifications to mortgage loan terms;

» additional financial contribution requirements to the HSBC North America Holdings Inc. ("HSBC North America")
pension plan;

» unexpected and/or increased expenses relating to, among other things, litigation and regulatory matters, remediation
efforts, penalties and fines; and

» the other risk factors and uncertainties described under Item 1A, "Risk Factors," in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for
the year ended December 31, 2017 ("2017 Form 10-K").

Forward-looking statements are based on our current views and assumptions and speak only as of the date they are made. We
undertake no obligation to update any forward-looking statement to reflect subsequent circumstances or events. You should,
however, consider any additional disclosures of a forward-looking nature that arise after the date hereof as may be discussed in
any of our subsequent Annual Reports on Form 10-K, Quarterly Reports on Form 10-Q or Current Reports on Form 8-K.
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Executive Overview

HSBC USA is a wholly-owned subsidiary of HSBC North America which is an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of HSBC. HUSI
may also be referred to in Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations ("MD&A")
aS "We," "uS" OI' "Our_"

Economic Environment The U.S. economy continued to grow during the first quarter of 2018. U.S. Gross Domestic Product
("GDP") grew at an estimated annual rate of 2.3 percent in the first quarter of 2018, consistent with 2017's GDP annual growth
rate, while inflation in the first quarter of 2018 remained subdued. In March 2018, the FRB increased short-term interest rates by
25 basis points, and has indicated that it will increase short-term interest rates further during 2018. During the first quarter of 2018,
the FRB also continued reducing its holdings of U.S. Treasury bonds and mortgage-backed securities. These actions by the FRB
could cause longer term interest rates to continue to rise over time. The U.S. economy added over 500 thousand jobs during the
first quarter of 2018, while the total unemployment rate remained at 4.1 percent at March 2018 as compared with December 2017.

Although the U.S. economy continued to grow, uncertainty concerning the future economic environment exists despite continued
improvements in many segments of the global economy. The sustainability of the economic recovery will be determined by
numerous other variables including consumer sentiment, energy prices, credit market volatility, employment levels and housing
market conditions which will impact corporate earnings and the capital markets. Concerns over higher interest rates, inflation,
U.S. trade policy and geopolitical events as well as the implications of those events on the markets in general further add to global
uncertainty. Higher interest rates, in combination with global economic conditions, fiscal and monetary policy and the level of
regulatory and government scrutiny of financial institutions will continue to impact our results in 2018 and beyond.

Performance, Developments and Trends The following table sets forth selected financial highlights for HUSI for the three months
ended March 31, 2018 and 2017 and at March 31, 2018 and December 31, 2017:

Three Months Ended March 31, 2018 2017

(dollars are in millions)

NEt INCOME (LOSS) ..cuvenreneenieiieiieiieiiet ettt ettt et ettt st b e e st ene st e st eueebeebe e $ (238) $ 296
Rate of return on average:

TOLAL ASSELS ...venetenieieietere ettt ettt sttt sttt s b ettt e et (-5)% .6%
Total TiSK-WEIZHEA @SSELS ..c.veuviuiiiieiieiiriiiiet ettt ettt ettt et et ebe e (.8) 1.0
TOtal COMIMON EQUILY.....eveuirieiirieiiiteiintctrtctet ettt sttt sttt ettt a e nnene (5.2) 6.2
TOLAL EQUILY ...t 4.8) 5.9
INEE INEETESE IMATGIN ...ttt ettt ettt et et et e st e st eb e eb e e bt ebe et e sbe st e b e be st e s en s e e et eneeneeneeneebeeneeee 1.37 1.31
203 (55 00 0 15 1o TSRS 120.4 68.8
Commercial net charge-0fF TAtio!).............cou oot .06 .07
Consumer net charge-0fF TA0™) .............o...oviiooeeeeeee oo .08 .20

M Excludes loans held for sale.
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March 31, December 31,
2018 2017

(dollars are in millions)

Additional Select Ratios:

Allowance as a percent 0f 10aN8" ...............coooiviimieeie e .89% .94%
Commercial allowance as a percent of 10ans") .............co..coourrvoroiereeceeeeeeeee e 1.11 1.15
Consumer allowance as a percent of 10an8™)..............cc..coooiviiiieeeee e .36 37
Consumer two-months-and-over contractual delinqUENCY ..........cooceeeerieriinieniiieeeeeeee e 2.24 2.48
L0anSs t0 dePOSits TAHOS') ............o..ovveveeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeee e 68.03 73.70
Common equity Tier 1 capital to risk-weighted assets ..........ccoceveverierereiiieiienere e 13.6 14.2
Tier 1 capital to risk-Weighted aSSELS .........ccceiririiiiiiiiieeeee e 14.6 15.3
Total capital to riSK-WeiGhted ASSELS........cceeviiirieiiitieiicieet ettt ettt ettt re et teebe s beeaneere e 17.5 18.4
TIET 1 I@VEIAZE TALIO....c.vievieiieeietieieiteeie st etesteetesteebeeteesbeesaesseesseseessesseessesseessessaessesssessesssensenssensenss 9.9 9.9
SUpplementary IeVETAZE TAtI0.........ccueeiiirieeieeteeteete ettt ete et eteeeeste e e sae e s e s teesaesteesseeteessesseenseereesseenis 7.3 7.3
Total eqUILY t0 tOLAl ASSELS ....ieuieriieieiiieieieeie sttt ettt ettt e te e e e saeesaesaeessesaeessessaessessaenseesaenseans 10.8 10.7

Select Balance Sheet Data:

Cash and interest bearing deposits With DanKS.............cc.ccieieiiieiiiieiiieeiecece e $ 18,948 § 12,272
TTAAINE ASSELS ....veevveeiieetietietiettesteete st etesteetesteesbesteesseeseesseessesseessesseessesseessesseensesssessesssessenssensenssensenss 32,650 16,150
Securities available-TOT-SAlE ...........coouiiiiiiieeeie ettt et e et e e e e e eaae e eaee e 30,223 30,700
Loans:

COMMETCIAL LOAMS ... .uiiiiiiiiieeiie ettt e et e et e e et e e e et e e eaeee st eeeaaeeeseaeessneeesareeesanes 47,739 53,035

CONSUMET TOANS ...ttt ettt e e et e e e e e eteeeesaaeeeeaaeessaeeeenaseeeenaeessnseeeensreesnnes 19,599 19,528
TOTAL JOAMS ... ettt e e ettt e et e et e e et e e e saeeeseaaeesanaeessnaeeeeaaeesaraeenas 67,338 72,563
DIEPOSIES 1.ttt ettt ettt et ettt e st e st e st e st eteeteete et e et e eb et e b e b e b e s b e st e st esbesb e st erbeteereereereebeeaeeseebeebessensas 117,953 118,702
m

Excludes loans held for sale.

@ Represents period end loans, net of allowance for loan losses, as a percentage of core deposits as calculated in accordance with Federal Financial
Institutions Examination Council guidelines which generally include all domestic demand, money market and other savings accounts, as well as time
deposits with balances not exceeding $250,000.

Net income (loss) was a loss of $238 million during the three months ended March 31, 2018 compared with income of $296 million
during the three months ended March 31, 2017. Income (loss) before income tax was a loss of $146 million during the three months
ended March 31, 2018 compared with income of $448 million during the three months ended March 31, 2017. The decrease in
income (loss) before income tax during the three months ended March 31, 2018 largely reflects higher other expenses driven
primarily by higher expense for legal matters, lower other revenues driven by the non-recurrence of a gain recorded in the prior
year period on sales of Visa Inc. ("Visa") Class B common shares ("Class B Shares") and lower net interest income.
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Our reported results in all periods were impacted by certain items management believes to be significant, which distort comparability
between periods. Significant items are excluded to arrive at adjusted performance because management would ordinarily identify
and consider them separately to better understand underlying business trends. The following table summarizes the impact of these
significant items for all periods presented:

Three Months Ended March 31, 2018 2017

(in millions)
Income (loss) before iNCOMeE tax, as TEPOTLEA .......eevvverveeriierieeiie st eee et eeteeieesveebeesreeaeeseneeseeneneenne $ (146) $ 448
Expense related to certain legal Matters.........co.evueviiiriiiiiniienisesese ettt 491 —
C08t5 10 ACHIEVE!") ... — 39
Gains on sales of Visa Inc. Class B common shares to a third party ...........ccccocoviiiininninn — (146)
Adjusted PErformManCe™ ..ot eenan $ 345 § 341

" Reflects transformation costs incurred through 2017 to deliver the cost reduction and productivity outcomes outlined in the HSBC Investor Update in June
2015. See "Results of Operations" for a more detailed discussion of these costs.

@ Represents a non-U.S. GAAP financial measure.

Excluding the collective impact of the items in the table above, our adjusted performance during the three months ended March
31, 2018 was relatively flat compared with prior year period as higher other revenues driven by higher trading revenue was largely
offset by lower net interest income, higher operating expenses and a higher provision for credit losses.

See "Results of Operations" for a more detailed discussion of our operating trends. In addition, see "Balance Sheet Review" for
further discussion on our asset and liability trends, "Liquidity and Capital Resources" for further discussion on funding and capital
and "Credit Quality" for additional discussion on our credit trends.

Basis of Reporting

Our consolidated financial statements are prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United
States ("U.S. GAAP").

Group Reporting Basis We report financial information to HSBC in accordance with HSBC Group accounting and reporting
policies, which apply International Financial Reporting Standards ("IFRSs") as issued by the IASB and endorsed by the EU and,
as a result, our segment results are prepared and presented using financial information prepared on the basis of HSBC Group's
accounting and reporting policies ("Group Reporting Basis"). Because operating results on the Group Reporting Basis are used in
managing our businesses and rewarding performance of employees, our management also separately monitors profit before tax
under this basis of reporting. The following table reconciles our U.S. GAAP versus Group Reporting Basis profit before tax:

Three Months Ended March 31, 2018 2017
(in millions)
Profit (Ioss) before tax — U.S. GAAP DaSIS.....cceeoieririeiieiecieeeetcee ettt $ (146) $ 448
Adjustments:
Expected credit losses / 10an IMPAITMENL ......c..ccuerveiririririinerineneneneeteteteeereee ettt eee e sre e seenes “7) (13)
L0ans Neld fOT SALE........ccueuirieirieiiieiicertcrtc ettt @) (111)
Liti@AtION CXPEIISE...eeuteuieuiieuieteeieeteeeesteeteetteteesteteeste st ente st eneeestenseemeenseemeeaseemaesseensenseenseeseenseeneenseenes Q) 16
PrOPETLY ... s 2) (5
Pension and other postretirement benefit COSES ..........coiviiiiiiiiiiiiiiiee e Q) 5
Structured NOtes aNd AEPOSILS .....co.eeuirtiruirierterieieet ettt sttt ettt eb bbbt seen — (49)
Low income housing tax credit INVESLMENTS .........cceeieriierieriieieeieie ettt ese e eseeens 1 12
OBRET . 2 1
Profit (loss) before tax — Group Reporting Basis..........ccceceriririninierininenencieieeeeeeeeeeeese s $ 203) $ 304

The significant differences between U.S. GAAP and the Group Reporting Basis impacting our results presented in the table above
are discussed in more detail within "Basis of Reporting" in our 2017 Form 10-K. Other than the changes discussed below, there
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have been no other significant changes since December 31, 2017 in the differences between U.S. GAAP and the Group Reporting
Basis impacting our results.

Expected credit losses / loan impairment - In January 2018, we adopted new accounting guidance under the Group Reporting Basis
in conjunction with HSBC’s adoption of the requirements of IFRS 9, "Financial Instruments" ("IFRS 9") on January 1, 2018 with
the exception of the provisions relating to the presentation of gains and losses on financial instruments designated at fair value
which were previously adopted in 2017.

Under IFRS 9, expected credit losses ("ECL") are recognized for a) financial assets measured at amortized cost, including loans,
securities purchased under agreements to resell and certain debt securities; b) financial assets measured at fair value with changes
in fair value recorded through other comprehensive income (loss), primarily debt securities; and c¢) certain loan commitments and
financial guarantee contracts. Financial assets which have not experienced a significant increase in creditrisk since initial recognition
are considered to be in ‘stage 1’; financial assets which are considered to have experienced a significant increase in credit risk are
in ‘stage 2’; and financial assets for which there is objective evidence of impairment so are considered to be in default or otherwise
credit-impaired are in ‘stage 3’. At initial recognition and for financial assets that remain in stage 1, an allowance (or provision in
the case of some loan commitments and financial guarantees) is required for ECL resulting from default events that are possible
within the next 12 months ('12-month ECL'). In the event of a significant increase in credit risk, an allowance (or provision) is
required for ECL resulting from all possible default events over the expected life of the financial instrument ('lifetime ECL") and
financial assets are moved to stage 2 or stage 3.

The adoption of the new accounting guidance on January 1, 2018 on our customer loan portfolio resulted in an increase to our
customer loan allowance for ECL of approximately $60 million with a corresponding charge to equity under the Group Reporting
Basis. The impact of adoption on the allowance for other financial assets was not significant. The amounts shown in the table
above represents the difference in credit loss provision for the periods presented.

Structured notes and deposits - Structured notes and deposits have historically been classified as trading liabilities under the Group
Reporting Basis and carried at fair value with changes in fair value recorded in earnings. Beginning January 1, 2018, HSBC
concluded that a change in accounting policy and presentation from trading liabilities to liabilities designated under the fair value
option for structured notes and deposits under the Group Reporting Basis would be appropriate since it would better align with
the presentation of similar financial instruments by peers under IFRSs and therefore provide more relevant information about the
effect of these financial liabilities on reported financial position and performance. As a result, the fair value movement on structured
notes and deposits attributable to our own credit spread is now being recorded in other comprehensive income (loss) under the
Group Reporting Basis, consistent with U.S. GAAP.
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Balance Sheet Review

We utilize deposits and borrowings from various sources to provide liquidity, fund our balance sheet, meet cash and capital needs,
and fund investments in subsidiaries. The following table provides balance sheet totals at March 31,2018 and increases (decreases)
since December 31, 2017:

Increase (Decrease) From
December 31, 2017

March 31, 2018 Amount %

(dollars are in millions)

Period end assets:

ShOTt-term INVESTMENTS ......oveievenieeeieteieteriete ettt ettt ettt be e ese s $ 28,762 $  (16,128) (35.9)%
L0ANS, TIEE ..ottt sttt 66,739 (5,143) (7.2)
Loans held for Sale .........oueiiiiiiiiii e 470 (245) (34.3)
TTAAINE ASSELS....veuviuteiieieiieiieieeieeter ettt ettt et ettt ebe st et s se et st 32,650 16,500 *
SECUITEICS vttt ettt ettt ettt ettt te st et sa st st ese et e st ebe st ebeneeseneeseneesenens 44,497 (180) (4)
g a1 1T g < PR UU 8,917 4 —

$ 182,035 § (5,200) (2.8)%

Period end liabilities and equity:

TOLAl AEPOSILS ..vvvirieieretieiieieteiet ettt b et eb et b et s b sese s s s s s $ 117953 § (749) (.6)%
Trading Habilities .......coevieuerieirieirieere ettt 3,330 (1,549) (31.7)
Short-term DOTTOWINES .....c.veuieuieiieiieiiiiiiteeteete ettt 5,138 488 10.5
Long-term debt.......c.covvuiieiiieierieiirieerei ettt 32,008 (2,958) (8.5)
Interest, taxes and other labilities...........ccocerererirenereeeee e 3,923 (21 (.5)
TOLAl EQUILY ....veeeeveeieteieteiet ettt sttt ettt ettt be et 19,683 (411) (2.0)

$ 182,035 § (5,200) (2.8)%

*  Not meaningful.

Short-Term Investments Short-term investments include cash and due from banks, interest bearing deposits with banks and federal
funds sold and securities purchased under agreements to resell. Balances may fluctuate from period to period depending upon our
liquidity position at the time and our strategy for deploying liquidity. Short-term investments decreased compared with
December 31, 2017 largely reflecting a redeployment of surplus liquidity in the short term to precious metal inventory positions
which are included in trading assets and, to a lesser extent, the repayment of long-term debt that matured during the first quarter
of 2018. These decreases were partially offset by the impact of a $5.0 billion overnight loan to an affiliate that was outstanding at
year-end, as the wire process from the affiliate to settle daily activity failed. This loan was repaid in early January.
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Loans, Net The following table summarizes our loan balances at March 31, 2018 and increases (decreases) since December 31,
2017:

Increase (Decrease) From
December 31, 2017

March 31, 2018 Amount %

(dollars are in millions)

Commercial loans:

Real estate, including CONStIUCHION .......ccererrerrerienienieieieieieeeeeeeene e $ 11,054 $ 521 49 %
Business and corporate Danking............c.ccocevererierienienieneneieeeeeeese e 12,818 314 2.5
GIObAL DANKING™ ... 19,289 (799) (4.0)
Other commercial® ............co..ooviiieeieeeeee e 4,578 (5,332) (53.8)
TOtal COMMETCIAL.....cuveuieeieiieiieiieiieeeit ettt ettt ettt ereetesseenens 47,739 (5,296) (10.0)
Consumer loans:
Residential MOTtZAZES ....c.ceveueriririririinerertetenent ettt 17,325 52 3
Home equity MOTEZAZES ......coueeuiruiriiriieiieierie ettt ettt st 1,139 (52) (4.4)
CIEAIt CATAS .ottt ettt et et e esneenaesneeneenean 770 49 6.8
OFheT CONSUIMET .....cveuitinieiiietenieierteiereete ettt sttt ettt et et seeuesaeneseenesaenea 365 22 6.4
TOtAl COMSUIMIET ...ttt ettt ettt et eae et et eaeeneesneeneesneenneenean 19,599 71 4
TOLAL LOANS ...vinieeinietiieieeiet ettt ettt ettt ettt se b et s e s e s esensesesenn 67,338 (5,225) (7.2)
Allowance for Credit LOSSES ........ceerireririineneriinteteeeteree ettt e 599 (82) (12.0)
L0ANS, NIET ..eoniiiiiiieeiieet et $ 66,739 $ (5,143) (7.2)%

(" Represents large multinational firms including globally focused U.S. corporate and financial institutions, U.S. dollar lending to multinational banking clients
managed by HSBC on a global basis and complex large business clients supported by GB&M relationship managers.

@ Includes loans to HSBC affiliates which totaled $1,920 million and $6,750 million at March 31, 2018 and December 31, 2017, respectively.

Commercial loans at December 31, 2017 reflected a $5.0 billion overnight loan to an affiliate outstanding at year-end that was
repaid in early January as discussed above. Excluding this item, commercial loans were relatively flat compared with December 31,
2017 as paydowns, maturities and loan sales were largely offset by loan growth due to new business activity. The trend in commercial
non-affiliate loans reflects decreases in the diversified financial, pharmaceutical and energy industries which were largely offset
by growth in the real estate, telecommunication and consumer service industries.

Consumer loans were relatively flat compared with December 31, 2017 as an increase in residential mortgage loans which we
continue to target towards our Premier and Advance customer relationships and higher credit card receivables reflecting growth
in customer activity driven by new product promotions were largely offset by a continued decline in home equity mortgages due
to net paydowns as our focus continues to shift towards residential mortgage loans. The increase in other consumer loans reflects
a draw by a Private Banking customer on their revolving credit facility.

The following table presents loan-to-value ("LTV") ratios for our residential mortgage loan portfolio, excluding mortgage loans
held for sale:

LTV Ratios”®
March 31, 2018 December 31, 2017

First Lien Second Lien First Lien Second Lien
LTV < 80%0 ettt 98.0% 91.1% 97.6% 89.8%
80% LTV < 90%...cuiiiiiiiiieieieceeeceeteeeeee et 1.3 5.9 1.6 6.6
90% < LTV < 100%..c.ccuiiiiiiiiiiieiceiieeeeee e 4 2.2 5 2.6
LTV 2 1000 cenveniiieieieieieteeeieeseetee ettt 3 8 3 1.0
Average LTV for portfolio.........ccoovveierieienieieiec e 50.6 51.4 51.0 52.4

M LTVs for first liens are calculated using the loan balance as of the reporting date. LTVs for second liens are calculated using the loan balance as of the
reporting date plus the senior lien amount at origination. Current estimated property values are derived from the property's appraised value at the time of
loan origination updated by the change in the Federal Housing Finance Agency's house pricing index ("HPI") at either a Core Based Statistical Area or state
level. The estimated value of the homes could differ from actual fair values due to changes in condition of the underlying property, variations in housing
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price changes within metropolitan statistical areas and other factors. As a result, actual property values associated with loans that end in foreclosure may be
significantly lower than the estimates used for purposes of this disclosure.
@ Current estimated property values are calculated using the most current HPIs available and applied on an individual loan basis, which results in an approximate
three month delay in the production of reportable statistics. Therefore, the information in the table above reflects current estimated property values using

HPIs at December 31, 2017 and September 30, 2017, respectively.

Loans Held for Sale The following table summarizes loans held for sale at March 31, 2018 and increases (decreases) since
December 31, 2017:

Increase (Decrease) From
December 31, 2017

March 31, 2018 Amount %

(dollars are in millions)

Commercial loans:

Real estate, including CONStIUCHION .......ccceververrerienienieieieieeeeececeese e $ 31 § (84) (73.0)%
Business and corporate banking............c.ccocevererenienienienenieiececeeeese e 15 15 *
G1ODAl DANKING ...ttt 360 (173) (32.5)
Total COMMETCIAL ..ottt 406 (242) (37.3)
Consumer loans:
Residential MOTtZAZES ....c.ceveueeuirtiiiiriiitieierie ettt 6 — — %
Other CONSUIMIET ....cuvuieniiiieiieiieiteitee ettt ettt ettt ettt ebe et et sae s sbe st e 58 3) (4.9)
TOtAl COMSUMET ...ttt ettt b bbbt sbe e 64 3) 4.5)
Total loans held for Sale........c.ccoueviiiririniininccccce e $ 470 $ (245) (34.3)%

* Not meaningful.

Commercial loans held for sale decreased compared with December 31, 2017. Commercial loans held for sale primarily consists
of certain loans that we have elected to designate under the fair value option which include loans that we originate in connection
with our participation in a number of syndicated credit facilities with the intent of selling them to unaffiliated third parties as well
as loans that we purchase from the secondary market and hold as hedges against our exposure to certain total return swaps. During
the first quarter of 2018, we elected to apply fair value option accounting to syndicated loans in commercial real estate which are
originated with the intent to sell. The fair value of commercial loans designated under the fair value option loans totaled $338
million and $471 million at March 31, 2018 and December 31, 2017, respectively. Balances will fluctuate from period to period
depending on the volume and level of activity.

Commercial loans held for sale also includes certain loans that we no longer intend to hold for investment and transferred to held
for sale which totaled $68 million and $62 million at March 31, 2018 and December 31, 2017, respectively. During the three
months ended March 31, 2018, we reversed $3 million of the lower of amortized cost or fair value adjustment previously recorded
on commercial loans held for sale as a component of other income in the consolidated statement of income (loss) as a result of an
increase in fair value due to improved pricing.

Consumer loans held for sale were relatively flat compared with December 31, 2017. Prior to 2018 applications, we sold agency
eligible residential mortgage loan originations on a servicing released basis directly to PHH Mortgage Corporation ("PHH
Mortgage"). Beginning with 2018 applications, PHH Mortgage is no longer obligated to purchase these loans from us directly
upon origination and instead we now market these loans for sale to other third parties. Gains and losses from the sale of these
residential mortgage loans are reflected as a component of residential mortgage banking revenue (expense) in the accompanying
consolidated statement of income (loss). Residential mortgage loans held for sale also includes subprime residential mortgage
loans with a fair value of $2 million at both March 31, 2018 and December 31, 2017 which were previously acquired from
unaffiliated third parties and from HSBC Finance Corporation ("HSBC Finance") with the intent of securitizing or selling the loans
to third parties.

Other consumer loans held for sale reflects student loans which we no longer originate.

Excluding the commercial loans designated under fair value option discussed above, loans held for sale are recorded at the lower
of amortized cost or fair value, with adjustments to fair value being recorded as a valuation allowance through other revenues.
The valuation allowance on consumer loans held for sale was $4 million and $5 million at March 31, 2018 and December 31,
2017, respectively. The valuation allowance on commercial loans held for sale was $5 million and $10 million at March 31, 2018
and December 31, 2017, respectively.
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Trading Assets and Liabilities The following table summarizes trading assets and liabilities at March 31, 2018 and increases
(decreases) since December 31, 2017:

Increase (Decrease) From
December 31, 2017

March 31, 2018 Amount %

(dollars are in millions)

Trading assets:

SECUIES ! ...oooo ettt $ 13220 $ 3,069 30.2 %
Precious metals 16,057 13,783 *
DETIVALIVES, DO ..ot 3,373 (352) 9.4)

$ 32,650 $ 16,500 *

Trading liabilities:

Securities sold, not yet purchased.............cccoociiiiiiiiiiiices $ 1,627 $ 95) (5.5)%
Payables for precious metals...........ccooeeveerieieiieieceeeeee e — (524) (100.0)
DEriVAtIVES, NEE™) ..o 1,703 (930) (35.3)

$ 3,330 $ (1,549) (31.7%

* Not meaningful.
M See Note 2, "Trading Assets and Liabilities," in the accompanying consolidated financial statements for a breakout of trading securities by category.

@ At March 31, 2018 and December 31, 2017, the fair value of derivatives included in trading assets has been reduced by $2,195 million and $3,423 million,
respectively, relating to amounts recognized for the obligation to return cash collateral received under master netting agreements with derivative counterparties.

®  AtMarch 31,2018 and December 31,2017, the fair value of derivatives included in trading liabilities has been reduced by $3,611 million and $3,680 million,
respectively, relating to amounts recognized for the right to reclaim cash collateral paid under master netting agreements with derivative counterparties.

Trading securities balances increased compared with December 31, 2017 due to increases in foreign sovereign and U.S. Treasury
positions. Trading securities positions are held as economic hedges of interest rate and credit derivative products issued to clients
of domestic and emerging markets. Balances of securities sold, not yet purchased were lower compared with December 31, 2017
due to a decrease in short U.S. Treasury positions related to economic hedges of derivatives in the interest rate trading portfolio.

Precious metals trading assets increased compared with December 31,2017 driven by increases in our own gold and silver inventory
positions due primarily to a redeployment of surplus liquidity in the short term which is economically hedged with derivative
positions to protect against changes in market pricing and, to a lesser extent, an increase in positions held as hedges for client
activity. Payables for precious metals were lower reflecting a decline in borrowing of gold inventory to support client activity
levels. Precious metal positions may not represent our net underlying exposure as we may use derivatives contracts to reduce our
risk associated with these positions, the fair value of which would appear in derivatives in the table above.

Derivative asset and liability balances both decreased compared with December 31, 2017 mainly from market movements which
resulted in lower valuations of interest rate, foreign exchange, commodity and equity derivatives, partially offset by higher valuations
of credit derivatives.

Securities Securities include securities available-for-sale and securities held-to-maturity. Securities balances were relatively flat
compared with December 31, 2017 as net sales of U.S. Treasury, U.S. Government sponsored mortgage-backed and other asset-
backed securities were largely offset by net purchases of U.S. Government agency mortgage-backed and foreign sovereign securities
as part of a continuing strategy to maximize returns while balancing the securities portfolio for risk management purposes based
on the current interest rate environment and liquidity needs. In addition, as discussed more fully in Note 21, “New Accounting
Pronouncements,” the adoption of new accounting guidance resulted in a reclassification of all equity investments to other assets
as of January 1, 2018.

All Other Assets All other assets includes, among other items, properties and equipment, net and goodwill. All other assets was
flat compared with December 31, 2017 as the impacts of securities received associated with a security-for-security lending
transaction and the new accounting guidance related to equity investments were offset by lower derivative balances associated
with hedging activities. As it relates to the security-for-security lending transaction, we recognized the securities received as a
component of other assets and the obligation to return those securities as a component of interest, taxes and other liabilities.
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Deposits The following table summarizes deposit balances by major depositor categories at March 31, 2018 and increases
(decreases) since December 31, 2017:

Increase (Decrease) From

December 31, 2017
March 31, 2018 Amount %
(dollars are in millions)

Individuals, partnerships and cOrporations..........cocecevveerveereererinierenineriseenennenes $ 102,399 § (1,770) (1.7%
Domestic and foreign banks ..........ccceceeererinininenenieneneeeeeecetee s 12,734 1,863 17.1
U.S. government and states and political subdivisions ..........cccceceeverererercnennnn 624 1 2
Foreign governments and official inStitUtions ............coceeveevecveceercniniencnencncnnenen 1,905 (461) (19.5)
Deposits held for SA1e™!) ...........oo oo 291 (382) (56.8)
TOLAl AEPOSIES ...euvieviiiieeieeieeieiei ettt ettt ettt et et e b et et esbesbesseseesseseeseeseeseesessensas $ 117953 $ (749) (.6)%
Total COTE AEPOSIES™ ...t $ 98,796 $ 296 0.3 %

(" Represents deposits associated with the sale of a portion of our Private Banking business. No lower of cost or fair value adjustment was required as a result
of the transfer to held for sale.

@ Core deposits, as calculated in accordance with Federal Financial Institutions Examination Council ("FFIEC") guidelines, generally include all domestic
demand, money market and other savings accounts, as well as time deposits with balances not exceeding $250,000.

Total deposits were relatively flat compared with December 31, 2017 as lower commercial, including foreign government, demand
and savings deposits largely due to seasonality as clients managed their cash needs at year-end, a decline in wholesale time deposits
and lower deposits in Private Banking reflecting the impact of the client referral agreement with UBS Wealth Management Americas
("UBS") were largely offset by higher deposits from affiliates. The strategy for our core retail banking business includes building
relationship deposits across multiple markets, channels and segments. This strategy involves various initiatives, such as:
*  HSBC Premier, acomprehensive banking and wealth management proposition for the internationally minded mass affluent
customer with a dedicated premier relationship manager. Total Premier deposits increased to $26,165 million at March 31,
2018 as compared with $25,726 million at December 31, 2017; and

»  Expanding our existing customer relationships by needs-based sales of wealth, banking and mortgage products.
We continue to actively manage our balance sheet to increase profitability while maintaining adequate liquidity.

Short-Term Borrowings Short-term borrowings were higher compared with December 31, 2017 due to an increase in federal
funds purchased, partially offset by a decrease in securities sold under repurchase agreements.

Long-Term Debt Long-term debt decreased compared with December 31, 2017 as the impact of debt issuances were more than
offset by debt retirements and fair value movements on fair value option debt. Debt issuances during the three months ended March
31, 2018 totaled $1,517 million, of which $150 million was issued by HSBC Bank USA.

Incremental issuances from our shelf registration statement with the SEC totaled $1,367 million of senior structured notes during
the three months ended March 31, 2018. Total long-term debt outstanding under this shelf was $18,865 million and $21,387 million
at March 31, 2018 and December 31, 2017, respectively.

Incremental issuances from the HSBC Bank USA Global Bank Note Program totaled $150 million during the three months ended
March 31, 2018. Total debt outstanding under this program was $4,266 million and $4,117 million at March 31, 2018 and
December 31, 2017, respectively.

Borrowings from the Federal Home Loan Bank of New York ("FHLB") totaled $3,100 million at both March 31, 2018 and
December 31, 2017.

Interest, Taxes and Other Liabilities Interest, taxes and other liabilities was relatively flat compared with December 31, 2017 as
declines in accrued interest payable, tax liabilities and outstanding settlement balances related to security purchases were largely
offset by the impact of a security-for-security lending transaction as discussed above and higher reserves for legal matters.
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Results of Operations

Net Interest Income Net interest income is the total interest income on earning assets less the total interest expense on deposits
and borrowed funds. An analysis of consolidated average balances and interest rates is presented in this MD&A under the caption
"Consolidated Average Balances and Interest Rates."

The significant components of net interest margin are summarized in the following table:

2018 Compared to
2017
Increase (Decrease)

Three Months Ended March 31, 2018 Volume Rate 2017

(dollars are in millions)
Interest income:

Short-term IMVESLMENLS ....c..eoveiiiiieiieiieieeieeieserie sttt sttt ebe s $ 158 $ (39 $ 66 $ 131
TradIiNg SECUITLIES ....cveevieiieiiriintietetestetetet ettt sttt 49 8 17) 58
SECUITEIES ...ttt ettt ettt ettt sttt s e ne e b e ene e 253 (30) 41 242
Commercial loans 414 (46) 78 382
Consumer loans.... 184 (7 — 191
Other.......cceeueeee. 16 5 — 11
Total INETESt INCOMIC. c..c.veuvinteneeieiteteteit ettt ettt ettt ebe s 1,074 (109) 168 1,015
Interest expense:
DIEPOSIES ..ttt ettt bbbttt ettt 222 (14) 86 150
Short-term DOITOWINGS .....c.ooviiiiiieiiiiieieieee et 33 — 10 23
LONG-teIT dEDL.....coueiuiiiiriiriiiiniisierer ettt 257 (30) 45 242
Tax liabilities and Other..........coooiiiriiiiiiiiiiicic e 10 4 3 3
TOtal INEETESt EXPEIISE.....veuvenrenrenrenteiteieitetteiteteete ettt st sttt sttt e et et eae et ebeebeeaes 522 (40) 144 418
Net INTETESt INCOME ....c.vevieiiriiriitiierietetetee ettt sttt st $ 552 § (69 $ 24§ 597
Yield on total interest Carning aSSELS.........eeeruerieieieierirereeteee e seetesee e eeeeeeeeneenes 2.66% 2.22%
Cost of total interest bearing liabilities ...........cccoccoiiiiiniiiiiiniccccce, 1.60 1.18
INtETeSt Tate SPIEAM .....uevirtiteieieeet ettt sttt eae s 1.06 1.04
Benefit from net non-interest paying funds'” ..............ccoccovorvorioeiierecee e 31 27
Net interest margin on average €arning aSSELS .......ecceeeereeerrerrerrenerenseseereeneeeeeenene 1.37% 1.31%

(" Represents the benefit associated with interest earning assets in excess of interest bearing liabilities. Increased percentages reflect growth in this excess,

while decreased percentages reflect a reduction in this excess.

During the three months ended March 31, 2018, net interest income decreased as the favorable impact of higher short-term market
rates and higher interest income from securities was more than offset by lower interest income from the impact of lower average
loan and short-term investment balances as well as higher interest expense from retail deposits and long-term debt. Higher short-
term market rates resulted in higher interest income from variable rate assets, including short-term investments and variable rate
loans, partially offset by higher wholesale deposit and short-term borrowing interest expense.

Short-term investments Higher interest income during the three months ended March 31, 2018 was due to higher yields earned
on these investments, partially offset by lower average balances largely reflecting a redeployment of surplus liquidity in the short
term to precious metal inventory positions during the first quarter of 2018.

Trading securities Interest income was lower during the three months ended March 31, 2018 due to a shift in mix driven by a
decrease in higher yielding corporate bond positions and increases in lower yielding foreign sovereign and U.S. Treasury positions
which was partially offset by higher average balances overall. Securities in the trading portfolio are managed as economic hedges
against the derivative activity of our clients. As a result, interest income associated with trading securities was partially offset
within trading revenue by the performance of the associated derivatives as discussed further below.

89



HSBC USA Inc.

Securities Interest income increased during the three months ended March 31, 2018 driven by higher yields, partially offset by
lower average balances. Lower average balances reflects net sales of U.S. Treasury and U.S. Government sponsored mortgage-
backed securities, partially offset by net purchases of U.S. Government agency mortgage-backed and foreign sovereign securities.

Commercial loans Interest income was higher during the three months ended March 31, 2018 due to higher yields driven by rate
increases on variable rate products, partially offset by lower average balances due to paydowns, maturities and loan sales exceeding
new loan originations as we continued to focus efforts on improving returns.

Consumer loans Interest income decreased during the three months ended March 31, 2018 due to lower average balances driven
by the impact of residential mortgage loan sales in the prior year and a continued decline in home equity mortgages due to net
paydowns.

Other Higher interest income during the three months ended March 31, 2018 largely reflects higher average balances in cash
collateral posted.

Deposits Interest expense increased during the three months ended March 31, 2018 due primarily to higher rates paid reflecting
the impact of rate increases on wholesale deposits and promotional rates offered to our retail customers on savings accounts and
certificates of deposits. This increase was partially offset by lower average interest-bearing deposit balances driven by lower
deposits from affiliates and, to a lesser extent, lower deposits in Private Banking reflecting the impact of the client referral agreement
with UBS.

Short-term borrowings Higher interest expense during the three months ended March 31, 2018 was due to higher rates paid on
these borrowings.

Long-term debt Interest expense was higher during the three months ended March 31, 2018 due primarily to higher rates paid
reflecting the impact of rate increases on variable rate borrowings and new issuances, partially offset by lower average borrowings.

Tax liabilities and other Interest expense increased during the three months ended March 31, 2018 driven by higher average
borrowings in securities sold, not yet repurchased and higher rates paid on these borrowings.

Provision for Credit Losses The following table summarizes the provision for credit losses associated with our various loan
portfolios:

Increase (Decrease)
Three Months Ended March 31, 2018 2017 Amount %

(dollars are in millions)

Commercial:
Real estate, including CONStIUCHION. ......ccuerverierieieieieieeee e $ 10 $ 1 $ 9 *
Business and corporate banking.............ccoceeveevienienieiniinnenineneneeeneneseenes (34) (42) 8 19.0
GlObAL DANKING ....cviiiiieiiitiiireeeese ettt s (49) (39) (10)  (25.6)
Other COMMETCIAL.......ccoiririririieerert ettt 1 2 (1) (50.0)
Total cOMMETICIal.....c.oc.eoivuiiiiiieiiciccc e (72) (78) 6 7.7
Consumer:
Residential MOTtZAZES .....cc.eeeruiruiririerierieieeeee ettt (10) — (10) *
Home equity MOTtZAZES .....coervirvirierientiieienieteieteteieet ettt ) 2) 1 50.0
Credit CAIAS ..o.eovieieiiiieieic ettt 12 3 9 *
Other CONSUIMET ...c.ueuiriiriiriiriertietieterte ettt ettt ettt nes — — — —
TOtAl CONSUIMIET .....ouviiiiiiiiieiiict ettt 1 1 — —
Total provision for credit 10SSES ........ceireriririerinieieieieieteee e $ 7y $ (77) % 6 7.8 %
Provision as a percentage of average 10ans..........c.cooevveveiieieinienincncnesenene W W -

* Not meaningful.

Our provision for credit losses increased $6 million during the three months ended March 31, 2018 driven by lower releases in
the provision for credit losses in our commercial loan portfolio while the provision for credit losses in our consumer loan portfolio
was flat. During the three months ended March 31, 2018, we decreased our allowance for credit losses as the provision for credit
losses was lower than net charge-offs by $82 million.

While we experienced releases in the commercial provision for credit losses in both periods reflecting continued improvements
in the credit quality of our portfolio driven by paydowns, sales and maturities as we continued to focus efforts on improving returns
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as well as improvements in credit conditions associated with certain client relationships, the releases in the current year period
were lower reflecting the impact of a higher provision for risk factors associated with geopolitical risks and market volatility
inherent in certain segments of the portfolio.

The provision for credit losses on residential mortgages and home equity mortgages decreased $9 million during the three months
ended March 31,2018 driven by continued improvements in economic and credit conditions, including lower dollars of delinquency
on accounts less than 180 days contractually delinquent, and the continued origination of higher quality Premier mortgages.

The provision for credit losses associated with credit cards and other consumer loans increased $9 million during the three months
ended March 31, 2018 due primarily to a higher provision for credit losses in credit cards reflecting growth in customer activity
driven by new product promotions.

Our methodology and accounting policies related to the allowance for credit losses are presented in our 2017 Form 10-K under
the caption "Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates" and in Note 2, "Summary of Significant Accounting Policies and New
Accounting Pronouncements." See "Credit Quality" in this MD&A for additional discussion on the allowance for credit losses
associated with our various loan portfolios.

Other Revenues The following table summarizes the components of other revenues:

Increase (Decrease)

Three Months Ended March 31, 2018 2017 Amount Yo
(in millions)

Credit Card FEES ....c..oevieirieirieirercrc e $ 1 3 11 3 — — %
Trust and investment management fEes..........cccueceverenenirineneneneneneene 38 38 — —
Other fees and COMMISSIONS .......c.coveuerreirieireninienenenieertereeee e 160 162 ) (1.2)
TTadiNg TEVENUER .....coveviriiiiierietetetete ettt ettt st aeae 163 70 93 *
Other SECUTItIES ZAINS, NET.....eiuirteieieeieieieieeeieee ettt eene 5 5 — —
Servicing and other fees from HSBC affiliates"...............cccccoooovvrrerrrriennnnn 99 114 (15) (13.2)
Residential mortgage banking revenue (€Xpense) .........ccoceeeervereeneeeeeneeeenne — 2) 2 100.0
Gain on instruments designated at fair value and related derivatives.............. 30 34 4) (11.8)
Other income:

Valuation of loans held for sale............ccoeoireeirinieineincnccnccee 3 8 5) (625)

INSUTANCE ... e 3 4 (1) (25.0)

Gains on sales of Visa Inc. Class B common shares to a third party .......... — 146 (146) (100.0)

Miscellaneous INCOME.........co.ieviruerieriinrenieierereteeee ettt eene 1 3 2) (66.7)

Total Other INCOME.......coviriiiriiiiriree e 7 161 (154)  (95.7)
TOtal OthET TEVEIMUES ........voveeeceeieeeceeee et seeeeae e esasae s s esesae s enesaesesesnens $ 513 $ 593 $ (80)  (13.5)%

*  Not meaningful.

M During the fourth quarter of 2017, we changed our presentation for certain cost reimbursements that were previously netted as an offset to affiliate expense

and began presenting these reimbursements gross in affiliate income. As a result, we have reclassified prior period amounts in order to conform to the current
year presentation. See Note 14, "Related Party Transactions," in the accompanying consolidated financial statements for additional information.

Credit card fees Credit card fees were flat during the three months ended March 31, 2018 as higher interchange fees were offset
by higher cost estimates associated with our credit card rewards program.

Trust and investment management fees Trust and investment management fees were flat during the three months ended March
31, 2018.

Other fees and commissions Other fees and commissions were relatively flat during the three months ended March 31, 2018 as an
increase in credit facilities fees driven by higher loan syndication fees was more than offset by declines in account service fees,
custody fees and other fee based income. See Note 13, "Fee Income from Contracts with Customers," in the accompanying
consolidated financial statements for additional information including a summary of the components of other fees and commissions.
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Trading revenue Trading revenue is generated by participation in the foreign exchange, rates, credit, equities and precious metals
markets. The following table presents trading revenue by business activity. Not included in the table below is the impact of net
interest income related to trading securities which is an integral part of trading activities' overall performance. Net interest income
related to trading activities is recorded in net interest income in the consolidated statement of income (loss). Trading revenues
related to the mortgage banking business are included in residential mortgage banking revenue (expense).

Increase (Decrease)
Three Months Ended March 31, 2018 2017 Amount %

(in millions)

Business Activities:

Derivatives" $ 26 $ (25) $ 51 *
Foreign EXChange .......c.cccvviiiiiiininiiieneceeeec e 58 56 2 3.6
IMELALS ...ttt s e 72 34 38 *
Balance Sheet Management ............c.ooeverierieienieeeincneeesese e 8 1 7 *
Global BanKing ........cccceveireirieinieinieireicceceee et 1)) 2 3) *
Other trading ......coveveieieieieeeee et — 2 (2) (100.0)
Total trading TEVENUE .......c.cveveveveverevererereeete oottt ettt $ 163 $ 70 $ 93 *

*  Not meaningful.

M Includes derivative contracts related to the Credit, Rates and Equities business activities within Global Markets as well as our legacy structured credit products.

Derivative contracts related to the Foreign Exchange and Metals business activities within Global Markets as well as derivative products related to Balance
Sheet Management, Global Banking and other trading are reported separately within those respective business activities.

Trading revenue increased during the three months ended March 31, 2018 largely driven by the improved performance of
Derivatives, Metals and Balance Sheet Management.

Trading revenue from Derivatives improved during the three months ended March 31, 2018 primarily due to favorable valuation
adjustments on our legacy structured credit products and favorable debit valuation adjustments associated with movements in our
own credit spreads. Derivatives trading revenue does not reflect associated net interest income as certain derivatives, such as total
return swaps, were economically hedged by holding the underlying interest bearing referenced assets.

Foreign Exchange trading revenue increased slightly during the three months ended March 31, 2018 due to increased client trading
activity.

Metals trading revenue increased during the three months ended March 31, 2018 due to increased client trading activity reflecting
improved investor demand for this asset class and the impact of a redeployment of surplus liquidity in the short term to Metals.

Trading revenue related to Balance Sheet Management activities increased the three months ended March 31, 2018 due to the
improved performance of economic hedge positions used to manage interest rate risk.

Global Banking trading revenue decreased during the three months ended March 31, 2018 due primarily to a higher valuation
reserve on credit default swap economic hedge positions.

Other securities gains, net We maintain securities portfolios as part of our balance sheet diversification and risk management
strategies. During the three months ended March 31, 2018 and 2017, we sold $987 million and $2,249 million, respectively, of
primarily U.S. Treasury and U.S. Government agency mortgage-backed securities as part of a continuing strategy to maximize
returns while balancing the securities portfolio for risk management purposes based on the current interest rate environment and
liquidity needs. Other securities gains, net were flat during the three months ended March 31, 2018 as sales associated with
rebalancing the securities portfolio for risk management purposes resulted in higher gains from U.S. Treasury securities offset by
lower gains from U.S. Government agency mortgage-backed securities. The gross realized gains and losses from sales of securities,
which is included as a component of other securities gains, net above, are summarized in Note 3, "Securities," in the accompanying
consolidated financial statements.

Servicing and other fees from HSBC affiliates Servicing and other fees from HSBC affiliates decreased during the three months
ended March 31, 2018 largely due to the non-recurrence of fees received from HSBC Finance in the prior year period, including
$28 million of loan prepayment fees and fees associated with residential mortgage servicing activities performed prior to the
completion of its receivable sales program. The decrease in affiliate income also reflects lower fees due to the transfer of certain
operational support staff from HSBC Bank USA to HSBC Technology & Services (USA) ("HTSU") support services as discussed
below. These decreases were partially offset by approximately $10 million of cost reimbursements recorded in 2018 related to
costs we incurred in prior years reflecting the impact of entering into an agreement with HSBC in December 2017 under which
they reimburse us for costs we have incurred associated with enhancing the HSBC Group's digital banking platform.
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Residential mortgage banking revenue (expense) Residential mortgage banking revenue (expense) was relatively flat during the
three months ended March 31, 2018 as slightly higher losses associated with the execution of certain Community Reinvestment
Act activities were more than offset by an early termination fee received from PHH Mortgage during the first quarter of 2018.

Gain on instruments designated at fair value and related derivatives We have elected to apply fair value option accounting to
certain commercial loans held for sale, certain securities purchased and sold under resale and repurchase agreements, certain own
fixed-rate debt issuances and all of our hybrid instruments issued, including structured notes and deposits. We also use derivatives
to economically hedge the interest rate and other risks associated with certain financial liabilities for which fair value option
accounting has been elected. Gain on instruments designated at fair value and related derivatives was lower during the three months
ended March 31, 2018 attributable to unfavorable movements related to the economic hedging of interest rate and other risks
within our structured deposits and unfavorable fair value adjustments on securities purchased under resale agreements. These
decreases were partially offset by favorable movements related to the economic hedging of interest rate and other risks within our
own debt and favorable fair value adjustments on loans. See Note 10, "Fair Value Option," in the accompanying consolidated
financial statements for additional information including a breakout of these amounts by individual component.

Other income Beginning in late 2016 and into 2017, we sold substantially all of our remaining Visa Class B Shares to a third party.
We sold a portion of these shares during the first quarter of 2017 resulting in a net pre-tax gain of approximately $146 million.
Excluding this item, other income remained lower during the three months ended March 31, 2018 primarily due to the non-
recurrence of a $41 million net gain recorded from the sale of certain residential mortgages in the prior year period and lower
valuation gains on loans held for sale. These decreases were partially offset by lower losses associated with credit default swap

protection which largely reflects the hedging of a single client exposure and higher income associated with fair value hedge
ineffectiveness.

Operating Expenses The following table summarizes the components of operating expenses:

Increase (Decrease)
Three Months Ended March 31, 2018 2017 Amount %

(dollars are in millions)
Salaries and employee benefits..........cooevierierierieiieieieieeee e $ 207 § 265 $  (5%) (21.9Y%
Support services from HSBC affiliates:"

Fees paid to HTSU ...c.oouiviiiriiieincereeeeee et 298 293 5 1.7
Fees paid to HMUS.......ooiiiiiiiiieeeeee e 31 29 2 6.9
Fees paid to other HSBC affiliates........c.ccoeeveeienieininininincncnccncee 82 62 20 323
Total support services from HSBC affiliates........c.ccccocevevenencnincnenennne. 411 384 27 7.0
Occupancy expense, Nt ............oo.ooviiooeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeee e 43 41 2 4.9
Other expenses:
Equipment and SOftWAre...........coceririirininieieeee e 11 10 1 10.0
IMATKEEINE ..ottt st 28 13 15 *
OULSIAC SEIVICES .uvvveuienieuieiieitetiete et sttt et et e ese et eae et ebeseeseestesbeneeneenes 16 19 3) (15.8)
Professional fEes .........cceieiririnininiccc e 22 16 6 37.5
Off-balance sheet credit TESEIVES .........cocuiueuiuiiiriiicicirircceeccee e ) (11) 9 81.8
Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation ("FDIC") assessment fees ............ 33 41 (®) (19.5)
Expense related to legal Matters.........occorereerierieneieieceeeeee e 494 19 475 *
MISCEILANEOUS. ....eeriiiieiieieeiecteet ettt s 19 22 3) (13.6)
Total Other EXPENSES ... ..ceueruiriiitietiriietieie ettt 129 492 *
Total operating expenses....... $ 819 § 463 56.5 %
Personnel - average number..... T 4784 W -

Efficiency 1atio.......cocoevevenenicnieieneecncncnceicee 68.8%

Not meaningful.

M During the fourth quarter of 2017, we changed our presentation for certain cost reimbursements that were previously netted as an offset to affiliate expense

and began presenting these reimbursements gross in affiliate income. Separately, we also concluded that rental revenue we receive from our affiliates for
rent on certain office space would be better presented as a reduction to occupancy expense as opposed to a reduction to affiliates expense. As a result, we
have reclassified prior period amounts in order to conform to the current year presentation. See Note 14, "Related Party Transactions," in the accompanying
consolidated financial statements for additional information.
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Priorto 2018, costs to achieve, which reflected transformation costs to deliver the cost reduction and productivity outcomes outlined
in the HSBC Investor Update in June 2015, were a significant component of total operating expenses. Costs to achieve primarily
consisted of project cost support service charges from HTSU, lease termination and associated expenses, professional fees and
severance costs. Excluding costs to achieve, total operating expenses increased $502 million during the three months ended March
31, 2018. The following table presents costs to achieve by financial statement line item:

Three Months Ended March 31, 2017

(in millions)
Salaries and emMPlOYEE DENETILS. ......cc.eiiuiriiiieeieieee ettt ettt ettt et e et et et e et e aeeneesneeeesneeneenean $ 5
Support services from HSBC affiliates..........ccerieiiirieiieieieeieie sttt sttt essesseesaesseesaesseensessaensessnes 28
(01315 g1 €013 1 ST OSSPSR 6
TOtAl OPEIALING CXPEIISES...vevreurierreriarreteetesseetesseasesseessesseessesssesseassanseessensesssessesssessesssessesssesseessesssessesssensenssensenssensenses $ 39

Salaries and employee benefits Salaries and employee benefits decreased during the three months ended March 31, 2018 due
primarily to lower salaries expense reflecting the impact of transferring certain operational support staff from HSBC Bank USA
to HTSU support services in January 2018 in order to comply with certain banking reforms and, to a lesser extent, the non-recurrence
of costs to achieve recorded in the prior year period as discussed above. The decrease in salaries and employees benefits also
reflects the non-recurrence of expense recorded in the prior year period related to staff performing residential mortgage serving
activities on behalf of HSBC Finance prior to the completion of its receivable sales program, lower pension expense driven primarily
by the impact of the lump-sum settlement offer completed during the fourth quarter of 2017 as well as lower expense associated
with long-term disability medical benefits. These decreases were partially offset by the impact of salaries expense related to the
addition of personnel associated with growth initiatives in certain businesses.

Support services from HSBC affiliates Support services from HSBC affiliates increased during the three months ended March 31,
2018 due primarily to higher expense associated with certain operational support staff which were transferred from HSBC Bank
USA to HTSU support services as discussed above as well as increased costs associated with our investment to improve and
modernize our legacy business systems. These increases were partially offset by the favorable impact of cost management efforts
in our technology and support service functions and the non-recurrence of costs to achieve recorded in the prior year period as
discussed above. A summary of the activities charged to us from various HSBC affiliates is included in Note 14, "Related Party
Transactions," in the accompanying consolidated financial statements.

Occupancy expense, net Occupancy expense was relatively flat during the three months ended March 31, 2018 as the impact of
extending the lease of our 452 Fifth Avenue property, including the 1 W. 39th Street building, and increased maintenance costs
were largely offset by lower depreciation expense. The sale and leaseback of our 452 Fifth Avenue property in 2010 resulted in a
gain which is deferred and was being recognized over the lease term (which was ten years) due to our continuing involvement.
During the second quarter of 2017, we extended the lease for an additional five years as well as the amortization of the deferred
gain to reflect the new lease term.

Other expenses Other expenses were higher during the three months ended March 31, 2018 due primarily to higher expense
reflecting the impact of certain legal matters, higher marketing expense largely driven by new product promotions in credit cards,
lower releases of off-balance sheet credit reserves and higher professional fees. These increases were partially offset by lower
deposit insurance assessment fees and the non-recurrence of costs to achieve recorded in the prior year period as discussed above.

Efficiency ratio Our efficiency ratio increased during the three months ended March 31, 2018 due to higher operating expenses,
lower other revenues and lower net interest income as discussed in detail above.
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Income tax expense The following table provides an analysis of the difference between effective rates based on the provision for
income taxes attributable to pretax income (loss) and the statutory U.S. Federal income tax rate:

Three Months Ended March 31, 2018 2017
(dollars are in millions)
Tax expense (benefit) at the U.S. Federal statutory income tax rate ................... $ (Bl (1.0)% $ 157 35.0%
Increase (decrease) in rate resulting from:

State and local taxes, net of Federal benefit...........c..ccooevevieiiiiiiiiiiiiiceene. 12 8.2 12 2.7
Non-deductible FDIC assessment fees ........ccccoooereriererienenienieeieseeeeeeene 12 8.2 — —
Other non-deductible / non-taxable items'” ............c.coocoveiveereieerereeereea. 100 68.5 — —
Ttems affecting prior Periods™ .............coovwoveereeereeeeeeeeeeeee e — — 9) (2.0)
Low income housing and other tax credit investments............ccccecceceverennenne. §)) (1.3) (6) (1.3)
ONCT ettt — — 2) 4

Provision for INCOME taXES.......cccurerireririinenieriertene ettt $ 92 62.6 % $ 152 33.9%

M For 2018, the amount relates to the accrual of non-deductible expense related to legal matters.

@ For 2017, the amount relates to the impact of State tax rate adjustments on deferred tax assets.

In December 2017, the Tax Cuts and Jobs Act ("Tax Legislation") was enacted which reduced the Federal corporate income tax
rate from 35 percent to 21 percent effective January 1, 2018. The Tax Legislation also contained other complex provisions, such
as the Base Erosion and Anti-Abuse Tax ("BEAT"), which may have a material impact in future periods on income tax expense
and taxes payable for the HSBC North America consolidated tax group, of which we are a member. We are currently evaluating
the BEAT provisions and their potential impact, which is currently uncertain and will depend on future tax regulatory guidance,
actions HSBC North America or its affiliates may take as a result of the Tax Legislation and the future earnings of HUSI and other
subsidiaries of HSBC North America. Although our analysis is ongoing and could change depending upon the factors discussed
above, we currently do not anticipate a material impact on our financial position or results of operations from the BEAT.

Segment Results — Group Reporting Basis

We have five distinct business segments that are utilized for management reporting and analysis purposes which are aligned with
HSBC's global business strategy: Retail Banking and Wealth Management ("RBWM"), Commercial Banking ("CMB"), Global
Banking and Markets ("GB&M"), Private Banking ("PB") and a Corporate Center ("CC"). The segments, which are generally
based upon customer groupings and global businesses, are described under Item 1, "Business," in our 2017 Form 10-K. There
have been no changes in the basis of our segmentation as compared with the presentation in our 2017 Form 10-K.

We report financial information to our parent, HSBC, in accordance with HSBC Group accounting and reporting policies, which
apply IFRS issued by the IASB and endorsed by the EU, and, as a result, our segment results are prepared and presented using
financial information prepared on the Group Reporting Basis as operating results are monitored and reviewed, trends are evaluated
and decisions about allocating resources, such as employees, are primarily made on this basis. We continue, however, to monitor
capital adequacy and report to regulatory agencies on a U.S. GAAP basis.

As discussed more fully in "Basis of Reporting" in this MD&A, during the first quarter of 2018, we adopted new accounting
guidance under the Group Reporting Basis for the requirements of IFRS 9 and we also implemented a change in accounting policy
under the Group Reporting Basis to classify structured notes and deposits as liabilities designated under the fair value option.

There have been no additional changes in the measurement of segment profit as compared with the presentation in our 2017
Form 10-K.

The significant differences between U.S. GAAP and the Group Reporting Basis as they impact our results are summarized in our
2017 Form 10-K in Note 15, "Business Segments," and under the caption "Basis of Reporting” in the MD&A section. In addition,
see "Basis of Reporting" in this MD&A for a discussion of significant changes since December 31,2017 in the differences between
U.S. GAAP and the Group Reporting Basis impacting our results.

Retail Banking and Wealth Management RBWM provides a range of banking and wealth products and services to individuals
and certain small businesses, focusing on internationally minded customers in large metropolitan centers on the West and East
coasts.

During the first quarter of 2018, we continued to direct resources towards the development and delivery of premium service.
Particular focus has been placed on HSBC Premier, HSBC's global banking service which offers customers a seamless international
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service, and HSBC Advance, a proposition directed towards the emerging affluent customer in the initial stages of wealth
accumulation. In addition, we have experienced higher credit card receivables reflecting growth in customer activity driven by
new product promotions.

The following table summarizes the Group Reporting Basis results for our RBWM segment:

Increase (Decrease)

Three Months Ended March 31, 2018 2017 Amount %
(dollars are in millions)
INEt INLETESE INCOIME ...ceveeeeeietieieieieieieieieeeieieies e eeeeeseseseeeseseseseneaeeeaas $ 216 $ 213§ 3 1.4%
Other operating inCOmMe" .............o..ccoovivereereeeeeeeeeeeeeeeee e 93 148 (55) (37.2)
Total operating iNCOME™ ............cooovvivvreeeeeeeoeeeeeeeeeees e 309 361 (52) (14.4)
Expected credit losses / loan impairment charges 3 9 (6) (66.7)
Net OPErating INCOIMIE. ....c..eveeeeenieiieiieeeteeteeie sttt sttt et se b ebesae e enes 306 352 (46) (13.1)
Operating eXPenses' ...........co.ovuiveoeveeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeesee e 325 286 39 13.6
Profit (10SS) DEOTe taX .....c.evveuirieuirieiirieirieirce e $ a9 $ 66 $ (85) *

* Not meaningful.

M During the fourth quarter of 2017, we changed our presentation for certain cost reimbursements that were previously netted as an offset to affiliate expense

and began presenting these reimbursements gross in affiliate income. As a result, we have reclassified prior period amounts in order to conform to the current
year presentation, which increased both RBWM other operating income and RBWM operating expenses $11 million during the three months ended March
31,2017. See Note 14, "Related Party Transactions," for additional information.

@ The following table summarizes the impact of key activities on the total operating income of our RBWM segment:

Increase (Decrease)

Three Months Ended March 31, 2018 2017 Amount %
(dollars are in millions)

Current accounts, 8avings and dEPOSILS .........ccoveueuermruereririeueiriereerenieteeree et $ 172 $ 139 § 33 23.7 %

Mortgages, credit cards and other personal lending .. 58 78 (20) (25.6)

Wealth and asset management ProduCES...........cocveueerirueerinieierenieieertnteee ettt 31 44 (13) (29.5)

Retail business banking and other'® ................ccooccoovioiiiieiocceeeeeeeeeeeeeee e 48 100 (52) (52.0)

Total OPErating INCOME ......c.eruiriiieiiitiieieieet ettt ettt b et ettt $ 309§ 361 $ (52) (14.4)%

@ During the three months ended March 31, 2017, retail business banking and other reflects a gain on the sale of Visa Class B Shares of approximately $146

million and a loss on the sale of certain partially charged off residential mortgages as discussed below.

Our RBWM segment reported a loss before tax during the three months ended March 31, 2018 compared with a profit before tax
in the prior year period due primarily to lower other operating income driven by the non-recurrence of a net pre-tax gain of
approximately $146 million recorded from the sale of Visa Class B Shares in the prior year period. The decrease also reflects
higher operating expenses, partially offset by lower expected credit losses and higher net interest income.

Net interest income increased slightly during the three months ended March 31, 2018 driven by higher net interest income from
deposits due to higher average balances and improved spreads. This increase was partially offset by lower net interest income
from lending driven by the impact of loan sales in the prior year and a continued decline in home equity mortgages.

Excluding the gain on sale of Visa Class B Shares as discussed above, other operating income increased during the three months
ended March 31, 2018 due primarily to the non-recurrence of a loss of $73 million recorded in the prior year period on the sale
of certain partially charged-off residential mortgages and approximately $10 million of cost reimbursements recorded in 2018
related to costs we incurred in prior years reflecting the impact of entering into an agreement with HSBC in December 2017 under
which they reimburse us for costs we have incurred associated with enhancing the HSBC Group's digital banking platform.

Expected credit losses were lower during the three months ended March 31, 2018 driven largely by lower loss estimates in residential
mortgages due to continued improvements in economic and credit conditions and the continued origination of higher quality
Premier mortgages. This decrease was partially offset by higher loss estimates in credit cards reflecting growth in customer activity
driven by new product promotions.

Operating expenses increased during the three months ended March 31, 2018 due primarily to higher expense related to the addition
of personnel associated with growth initiatives, higher legal costs and higher marketing expense largely driven by new product
promotions in credit cards.
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Commercial Banking CMB offers a full range of commercial financial services and tailored solutions to enable clients to grow
their businesses, focusing on key markets with high concentrations of international connectivity.

Total quarter-to-date average loans outstanding, including loans held for sale, decreased 3 percent as compared with the first quarter
of 2017 as we focused efforts on improving returns. Total quarter-to-date average deposits outstanding were 10 percent higher as
compared with the first quarter of 2017.

The following table summarizes the Group Reporting Basis results for our CMB segment:

Increase (Decrease)
Three Months Ended March 31, 2018 2017 Amount %
(dollars are in millions)
INEt INLETEST INCOIMNE ...vveeeeeiiieeeee et eeeee e e eeetee e e e e eatreeeeeeentaeeeessennaaeeeeeeenns $ 186 $ 180 §$ 6 33 %

Other Operating INCOME. .....c..eovertirierieieteieteteit ettt eaene 55 52 3 5.8

Total operating iNCOME™ ...........o.coovivmiooeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeee e 241 232 9 3.9

Expected credit losses / loan impairment charges .........c.ccccoeceveinecnccnennnn (10) (36) 26 72.2
Net OPETating IMCOMC....c.veveeeuiieririeierietirteetrtet ettt ettt steb ettt b b enes 251 268 (17) (6.3)
OPEIALING EXPEIISES ..cuvervinrenreretetetetentestesteitetteueebestestesbesaesbesbeseestentenseneennenee 151 139 12 8.6
Profit BefOre tax ......oeiiiiiiie e $ 100 $ 129 % 29)  (22.5)%

M The following table summarizes the impact of key activities on the total operating income of our CMB segment:

Increase (Decrease)

Three Months Ended March 31, 2018 2017 Amount %
(dollars are in millions)

Lending and Transaction Management ............coecceveueuerinieueenrnierinineererenseseeeneeseseennenesesnenes $ 108 § 106 $ 2 1.9%

Global Liquidity and Cash Management, current accounts and savings deposits ................ 109 94 15 16.0

Global Trade and Receivables FINANCE ........c.cccoveveuiririeiiinieieiiniecreie e 12 14 ?2) (14.3)

Investment banking products and other.............coccoiviiiiiiiiiiiniiiiccc e 12 18 6) (33.3)

Total OPETAting INCOMIE .........eueuiiiiiiieietii ettt $ 241§ 232§ 9 3.9%

Our CMB segment reported a lower profit before tax during the three months ended March 31, 2018 due primarily to lower releases
in credit loss reserves and higher operating expenses, partially offset by higher net interest income.

Net interest income increased during the three months ended March 31, 2018 due to the favorable impact of higher deposit balances
and improved spreads from rate increases, partially offset by lower loan balances as we continued to focus efforts on improving
returns.

Other operating income increased slightly during the three months ended March 31, 2018 driven by higher loan syndication fees.

Expected credit losses reflected lower releases during the three months ended March 31, 2018 as releases in credit loss reserves
driven by improvements in credit conditions associated with certain client relationships as well as releases of reserves due to
paydowns, sales and maturities were more pronounced in the prior year period.

Operating expenses were higher during the three months ended March 31, 2018 driven by higher support service cost allocations
from affiliates.

Global Banking and Markets GB&M provides tailored financial solutions to major government, corporate and institutional clients
worldwide.

We continue to target U.S. companies with international banking requirements and foreign companies with banking needs in the
Americas. Consistent with our global strategy, we are also focused on identifying opportunities to offer our products to CMB, PB
and RBWM customers.
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The following table summarizes the Group Reporting Basis results for our GB&M segment:

Increase (Decrease)

Three Months Ended March 31, 2018 2017 Amount %
(dollars are in millions)
NEt INETESE INCOIIIE ...ttt aeen $ 149 § 152§ 3) (2.0)%
Other operating income' ............cc.coouiviivrreeeeeeeeee e 197 142 55 38.7
Total operating iNCOME™ .............covvoveeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeee e 346 294 52 17.7
Expected credit losses / loan impairment charges .........c.cccoceceveincccnccnnennn (14) (35) 21 60.0
Net OPerating IMCOME........c.evuieuirriririirtenienietereteteeet ettt seenenens 360 329 31 94
Operating eXPenses' ............coo.ovoeveeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeee e nen 216 224 ®) (3.6)
PTOfit DEFOIE tAX ....vvviieieieteieieieieie ettt $ 144 $ 105 § 39 371 %

M During the fourth quarter of 2017, we changed our presentation for certain cost reimbursements that were previously netted as an offset to affiliate expense
and began presenting these reimbursements gross in affiliate income. As a result, we have reclassified prior period amounts in order to conform to the current
year presentation, which increased both GB&M other operating income and GB&M operating expenses $21 million during the three months ended March
31, 2017. See Note 14, "Related Party Transactions," for additional information.

@ The following table summarizes the impact of key activities on the total operating income of our GB&M segment:

Increase (Decrease)

Three Months Ended March 31, 2018 2017 Amount %
(dollars are in millions)

CTOAIT 1.ttt ettt ettt ae $ 10 §$ 8 $ 2 25.0%

RALES ...ttt bbbt bbbttt ene ?) 39 41 *

Foreign Exchange and Metals ...........cccooeiririiiiiniiicininiececereec et 81 77 4 52

EQUITIES ..ttt ettt sttt 11 12 (1) (8.3)
Total Global Markets... 100 136 (36) (26.5)
GLObAl BANKING........oiiiiiiiii e 72 56 16 28.6
Global Liquidity and Cash Management...............ccccceueuiiniiiiiniiicinniccieccneecccseeeenes 133 118 15 12.7
SECULTLIES SETVICES ....uevitenieuirtirteiieterte ettt ettt sttt b ettt ettt s et et e b e be st e st es e be st eneseesenes 16 9 7 77.8
Global Trade and Receivables FINANCE ..........ccouvueenirieuiinieieiniieicinecceeeecereeneveeeenee e 13 12 1 8.3
Credit and funding valuation adjustments™................ccooo..ooervvveerrrveoenressessesses oo 4 (48) 52 *

8 11 3) (27.3)

$ 346 $ 294§ 52 17.7%
@ During the three months ended March 31, 2017, credit and funding valuation adjustments included a loss of $49 million from the fair value movement on
structured notes and deposits attributable to our own credit spread.
@ Other includes cost reimbursements associated with certain trading activities performed on behalf of other HSBC affiliates, corporate funding charges and
net interest income on capital held in the business and not assigned to products.
Our GB&M segment reported a higher profit before tax during the three months ended March 31, 2018 due primarily to higher
other operating income, partially offset by lower releases in credit loss reserves.

Credit revenue increased during the three months ended March 31, 2018 due to higher revenue from collateralized financing related
activity.

Revenue from Rates decreased during the three months ended March 31, 2018 due to lower new deal activity on interest rate
swaps, partially offset by favorable movements related to the economic hedging of interest rate and other risks within our structured
notes and deposits.

Foreign Exchange and Metals revenue increased during the three months ended March 31, 2018 driven by higher revenue from
Metals client related trading activity, partially offset by lower revenue from client trading activity in Foreign Exchange.

Equities revenue was relatively flat during the three months ended March 31, 2018.

Global Banking revenue increased during the three months ended March 31, 2018 due to lower losses associated with credit default
swap protection which reflects the hedging of a single client exposure, partially offset by lower net interest income driven by lower
loan balances due to paydowns, sales and maturities exceeding new loan originations as we focused efforts on improving returns
and higher funding costs.
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Global Liquidity and Cash Management revenue increased during the three months ended March 31, 2018 driven by higher net
interest income due to the favorable impact of higher short-term market rates as well as an increase in high quality deposit balances.

Securities Services revenue increased during the three months ended March 31, 2018 driven by higher revenue from new direct
custody and clearing client activity as well as higher net interest income due to the favorable impact of higher short-term market
rates.

Global Trade and Receivables Finance revenue was relatively flat during the three months ended March 31, 2018 as higher fees
on standby letters of credit were largely offset by lower net interest income from lower receivables financing products.

Credit and funding valuation adjustments during the prior year period included a loss of $49 million from the fair value movement
on structured notes and deposits attributable to our own credit spread. As discussed above, beginning January 1, 2018, the fair
value movement on structured notes and deposits attributable to our own credit spread is now being recorded in other comprehensive
income. Excluding this item, credit and funding valuation adjustments increased slightly during the three months ended March
31, 2018 attributable primarily to movements in our own credit spreads within our derivative liability balances.

Other revenue decreased during the three months ended March 31, 2018 reflecting higher corporate funding and excess liquidity
charges as well as lower cost reimbursements associated with certain trading activities performed on behalf of other HSBC affiliates.
These decreases were partially offset by higher net interest income on capital held in the business and not assigned to products
and the non-recurrence of an inducement fee paid to a third party in the first quarter of 2017 associated with the sale of a portion
of our portfolio of residual interests in real estate mortgage investment conduits.

Expected credit losses reflected lower releases during the three months ended March 31, 2018 as releases in credit loss reserves
driven by continued improvements in the credit quality of our portfolio driven by paydowns, sales and maturities as we continued
to focus efforts on improving returns as well as improvements in credit conditions associated with certain client relationships were
more pronounced in the prior year period.

Operating expenses were lower during the three months ended March 31, 2018 due primarily to lower corporate function cost
allocations from affiliates and lower deposit insurance assessment fees.

Private Banking PB serves high net worth and ultra-high net worth individuals and families with complex needs domestically
and abroad.

In August 2017, our PB business entered into an agreement to refer parts of its Latin America portfolio, consisting primarily of
clients based in areas where we do not have a corporate presence, including Central America and the Andean Pact, to UBS. Under
the terms of the agreement, we facilitate the referral of these client relationships to UBS for a fee, including the transfer of client
assets, consisting of client investments and deposits, as well as the transfer of the relationship managers and client service employees
that support these clients. Loans associated with these client relationships were not included in the agreement. Total operating
income associated with these client relationships was approximately $8 million and $13 million during the first quarter of 2018
and 2017, respectively.

While client deposit levels decreased $3,073 million or 37 percent, total loans increased by $202 million or 3 percent as compared
with March 31, 2017. Overall period end client assets were $3,448 million lower.

The following table provides additional information regarding client assets during the three months ended March 31, 2018 and
2017:

Three Months Ended March 31, 2018 2017
(in millions)

Client assets at beginning Of PEriOd.........cciiiiiuiiiiiiiiiecricieee ettt ettt r e e ere e $ 39,080 $ 40462
INEE NIEW INIOTICY ...eeetieireeiieesiteetee ettt et et e st e estte e bt e stteeabeeseeesnbeesseesateessseenseessaeenseenseesnseensaesnseensnennseenns 133 464
Client transfers t0 UBS ........ooiiiiiooe et ettt ettt et eeete e e e eeteeenveeteeereeeteeeneean (805) —
VAIUE CRANEZE ....o.viiiieiieiiciee ettt ettt et e s e e b e s teesbeete e b e essesseessesseensesseensesseensesnnas (265) 674

Client assets at €nd Of PETIOW ........ccveiviiiuiiiiiiieiece ettt ettt et te et et veereeeaeens $ 38152 $§ 41,600
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The following table summarizes the Group Reporting Basis results for our PB segment:

Increase (Decrease)

Three Months Ended March 31, 2018 2017 Amount %
(dollars are in millions)
NEt INETESE INCOIIIE ...ttt aeen $ 47 3 53§ 6) (11.3)%
Other Operating INCOME. .....c..couerverierierieieteeeiteitee ettt enene 20 21 1) (4.8)
Total Operating INCOME ......cc.couevverieieieieieeeeeietee et 67 74 @) 9.5)
Expected credit losses / loan impairment charges .........c.cccoceceveincccnccnnennn 3) 2 %) *
Net OPerating IMCOME........c.evuieuirriririirtenienietereteteeet ettt seenenens 70 72 2) (2.8)
OPEIALING EXPEIISES ..cuvervinrenreretetetententestesteitetteseetestestestestesbesbeseestessensensennenne 61 61 — —
PTOfit DEFOIE tAX ....vvviieieieteieieieieie ettt $ 9 § 11 3 2)  (18.2)%

*  Not meaningful.

Our PB segment reported a lower profit before tax during the three months ended March 31, 2018 due primarily to lower expected
credit losses, partially offset by lower net interest income.

Net interest income decreased during the three months ended March 31, 2018 due to the impact of lower deposit balances.
Other operating income was relatively flat during the three months ended March 31, 2018.

Expected credit losses were lower during the three months ended March 31, 2018 driven by a recovery in the current year period
reflecting lower loss estimates in the mortgage portfolio.

Operating expenses were flat during the three months ended March 31, 2018.

Corporate Center CC includes Balance Sheet Management, our legacy structured credit products, income and expense associated
with certain affiliate transactions, certain corporate function costs, adjustments to the fair value of HSBC shares held for stock
plans, interest expense associated with certain tax exposures, income associated with other tax related investments and changes
in the fair value of certain debt issued for which fair value option accounting was elected and related derivatives (excluding the
fair value movement on own fair value option debt attributable to our own credit spread which is recorded in other comprehensive
income) and, for periods prior to 2018, costs to achieve and certain legacy residential mortgage loan and servicing activities.

The following table summarizes the Group Reporting Basis results for our CC segment:

Increase (Decrease)

Three Months Ended March 31, 2018 2017 Amount %
(dollars are in millions)
INEt INTETEST INCOIMIE .ot e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e ee e e eeeneeeeeeenees $ 15 $ 8 $ 7 87.5%
Other Operating INCOME. .....c..eivirterieeeieieietetei ettt e ne 83 94 (11) (11.7)
Total operating inCome'" .............ccoovoruerveeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeee e 98 102 4 (3.9)
Expected credit losses / loan impairment charges 3 ) 4 *
Net OPErating IMCOME .......ce.eruiruirrererinrententeteteteteeeeetetereeresbe e ssesreseeseesennens 95 103 ®) (7.8)
OPETALING EXPEIISES ..cuvervinrertetenteteteientesteteseesteseeseeseebesbessestesbeseessensessensensenes 532 110 422 *
L0SS DEIOTE TaAX ....eveteriirtieieiertetet ettt st $ 437) $ (7 $§ (430) *

* Not meaningful.
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M The following table summarizes the impact of key activities on the total operating income of our CC segment:

Increase (Decrease)

Three Months Ended March 31, 2018 2017 Amount %
(dollars are in millions)
Balance Sheet Management? ...............coo..coovvervveerveoeceeesseeoesseesssses s s esssessasenees $ 68 S 78 S (10) (12.8)%
Legacy structured credit products..............ooveueviiceieiiicince e 17 3 14 *
Legacy residential mortgage activities™ ..............coovoreveoereeinereossreesssesesseeessesseseeeessnsenees — 20 (20) (100.0)
13 1 12 *
Total OPETAtING INCOIMIE ....vuvviuiieieniieteiirietetetetetet ettt ebe et es st bttt b et et b st eteseebenene $ 98 §$ 102 $ ) (3.9)%

@ Balance Sheet Management includes gains on the sale of securities of $5 million and $3 million in the three months ended March 31, 2018 and 2017,

respectively.

@ Reflected fees associated with residential mortgage servicing activities performed on behalf of HSBC Finance prior to the completion of its receivable sales

program and revenue associated with certain residential mortgage loans that we previously purchased from HSBC Finance and sold during 2017.

Our CC segment reported a higher loss before tax during the three months ended March 31, 2018 due primarily to higher operating
expenses driven by higher legal costs.

Net interest income was higher during the three months ended March 31, 2018 driven by higher net interest income in Balance
Sheet Management reflecting the impact of favorable rates.

Other operating income decreased during the three months ended March 31,2018 driven by the non-recurrence of revenue recorded
in the prior year period associated with legacy residential mortgage activities, including $28 million of loan prepayment fees
received from HSBC Finance, a gain of $15 million from the sale of certain residential mortgages that we previously purchased
from HSBC Finance and fees associated with residential mortgage servicing activities performed on behalf of HSBC Finance prior
to the completion of its receivable sales program. These decreases were partially offset by favorable valuation adjustments on our
legacy structured credit products, the improved performance of economic hedge positions used to manage interest rate risk and
favorable movements related to the economic hedging of interest rate and other risks within our own debt.

Expected credit losses were higher during the three months ended March 31, 2018 reflecting the impact of recording expected
credit losses on certain financial assets in the current year period due to the adoption of IFRS 9.

Operating expenses increased during the three months ended March 31, 2018 due primarily to higher legal costs, partially offset
by higher levels of expense capitalization related to internally developed software and the non-recurrence of expenses recorded
in the prior year period, including costs to achieve and expense related to staff performing residential mortgage serving activities
on behalf of HSBC Finance.

Reconciliation of Segment Results As previously discussed, segment results are reported on a Group Reporting Basis. For segment
reporting purposes, inter-segment transactions have not been eliminated, and we generally account for transactions between
segments as if they were with third parties. See Note 15, "Business Segments," in the accompanying consolidated financial
statements for a reconciliation of our Group Reporting Basis segment results to U.S. GAAP consolidated totals.
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Credit Quality

In the normal course of business, we enter into a variety of transactions that involve both on and off-balance sheet credit risk.
Principal among these activities is lending to various commercial, institutional, governmental and individual customers. We
participate in lending activity throughout the U.S. and, on a limited basis, internationally.

Our reported results under U.S. GAAP reflect the following methodologies for establishing the allowance for credit losses.

Allowance for Credit Losses Commercial loans are monitored on a continuous basis with a formal assessment completed, at a
minimum, annually. As part of this process, a credit grade and loss given default are assigned and an allowance is established for
these loans based on a probability of default estimate associated with each credit grade under the allowance for credit losses
methodology. Credit Review, a function independent of the business, provides an ongoing assessment of lending activities that
includes independently assessing credit grades and loss given default estimates for sampled credits across various portfolios. When
it is deemed probable based upon known facts and circumstances that full interest and principal on an individual loan will not be
collected in accordance with its contractual terms, the loan is considered impaired. An impairment reserve is then established based
on the present value of expected future cash flows, discounted at the loan's original effective interest rate, or as a practical expedient,
the loan's observable market price or the fair value of the collateral if the loan is collateral dependent. Updated appraisals for
collateral dependent loans are generally obtained only when such loans are considered troubled and the frequency of such updates
are generally based on management judgment under the specific circumstances on a case-by-case basis. In addition, loss reserves
on commercial loans are maintained to reflect our judgment of portfolio risk factors which may not be fully reflected in the reserve
calculations.

Our probability of default estimates for commercial loans are mapped to our credit grade master scale. These probability of default
estimates are validated on an annual basis using back-testing of actual default rates and benchmarking of the internal ratings with
external rating agency data like Standard and Poor's ("S&P") ratings and default rates. Substantially all appraisals in connection
with commercial real estate loans are ordered by the independent real estate appraisal review unit at HSBC. The appraisal must
be reviewed and accepted by this unit. For loans greater than $250,000, an appraisal is generally ordered when the loan is classified
as Substandard as defined by the Office of the Comptroller of the Currency ("OCC"). On average, it takes approximately four
weeks from the time the appraisal is ordered until it is completed and the values accepted by HSBC's independent appraisal review
unit. Subsequent provisions or charge-offs are completed shortly thereafter, generally within the quarter in which the appraisal is
received.

In situations where an external appraisal is not used to determine the fair value of the underlying collateral of impaired loans,
current information such as rent rolls and operating statements of the subject property are reviewed and presented in a standardized
format. Operating results such as net operating income and cash flows before and after debt service are established and reported
with relevant ratios. Third-party market data is gathered and reviewed for relevance to the subject collateral. Data is also collected
from similar properties within the portfolio. Actual sales levels of properties, operating income and expense figures and rental data
on a square foot basis are derived from existing loans and, when appropriate, used as comparables for the subject property. Property
specific data, augmented by market data research, is used to project a stabilized year of income and expense to create a 10-year
cash flow model to be discounted at appropriate rates to present value. These valuations are then used to determine if any impairment
on the underlying loans exists and an appropriate allowance is recorded when warranted.

For loans identified as troubled debt restructurings ("TDR Loans"), an allowance for credit losses is maintained based on the
present value of expected future cash flows discounted at the loans' original effective interest rate or in the case of certain loans
which are solely dependent on the collateral for repayment, the estimated fair value of the collateral less costs to sell. The
circumstances in which we perform a loan modification involving a TDR Loan at a then current market interest rate for a borrower
with similar credit risk would include other changes to the terms of the original loan made as part of the restructuring (e.g. principal
reductions, collateral changes, etc.) in order for the loan to be classified as a TDR Loan.

For pools of homogeneous consumer loans and certain small business loans which do not qualify as TDR Loans, we estimate
probable losses using a roll rate migration analysis that estimates the likelihood that a loan will progress through the various stages
of delinquency, or buckets, and ultimately charge-off based upon recent historical performance experience of other loans in our
portfolio. This migration analysis incorporates estimates of the period of time between a loss occurring and the confirming event
of'its charge-off. This analysis considers delinquency status, loss experience and severity and takes into account whether borrowers
have filed for bankruptcy or have been subject to account management actions, such as the re-age or modification of accounts.
We also take into consideration the loss severity expected based on the underlying collateral, if any, for the loan in the event of
default based on historical and recent trends which are updated monthly based on a rolling average of several months' data using
the most recently available information.

The roll rate methodology is a migration analysis based on contractual delinquency and rolling average historical loss experience
which captures the increased likelihood of an account migrating to charge-off as the past due status of such account increases. The
roll rate models used were developed by tracking the movement of delinquencies by age of delinquency by "bucket" over a specified
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time period. Each bucket represents a period of delinquency in 30-day increments. The roll from the last delinquency bucket results
in charge-off. Contractual delinquency is a method for determining aging of past due accounts based on the status of payments
under the loan. Average roll rates are developed to avoid temporary aberrations caused by seasonal trends in delinquency experienced
by some product types. We have determined that a 12-month average roll rate balances the desire to avoid temporary aberrations,
while at the same time analyzing recent historical data. The roll rate calculations are performed monthly and are done consistently
from period to period. We regularly monitor our portfolio to evaluate the period of time utilized in our roll rate migration analysis
and perform a formal review on an annual basis. In addition, loss reserves on consumer loans are maintained to reflect our judgment
of portfolio risk factors which may not be fully reflected in the statistical roll rate calculation.

Our allowance for credit losses methodology and our accounting policies related to the allowance for credit losses are presented
in further detail under the caption "Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates" and in Note 2, "Summary of Significant Accounting
Policies and New Accounting Pronouncements," in our 2017 Form 10-K. Our approach toward credit risk management is
summarized under the caption "Risk Management" in our 2017 Form 10-K. There have been no significant revisions to our policies
or methodologies during the first quarter of 2017.

The following table sets forth the allowance for credit losses for the periods indicated:

March 31, December 31,

2018 2017
(dollars are in millions)
AlOWANCE FOI CIedit LOSSES ..........coocvvviiiiiiiiiiiieeeee ettt et e e e e e eaaae e e e e ennaaaeeeeeas $ 599 $ 681
Ratio of Allowance for credit losses to:
Loans:"
Commercial:
INOD-AFTTHALES ...ttt sttt et 1.15% 1.31%
ATFIHALES ..ottt ettt ettt sttt ettt ne e — —
TOtal COMMEICIAL.......eiuiiiieiiiiititeere ettt ettt ettt ene s 1.11 1.15
Consumer:
Residential MOTEZAZES .....coevueruiriirierierietete ettt sttt se ettt ettt eaeene e .10 .14
HOME EqUILY MOTEZAZES ..c..evetitiiertetetetet ettt ettt sttt sttt ettt et ebe bbb ebes .88 92
CIEATE CATAS .o et e e e ettt eeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeaa e e e e e s eeeeeeeeeaeeeeens 4.94 4.44
OFRET COMSUIMET ...ttt ettt ettt sttt et b et b et eb e e b e snene 1.10 1.46
TOALl CONSUIMET ...ttt sttt ettt ettt et st et sttt e e et eseeueeaeeaeereenes 36 37
TOMAL .ttt ettt eaes .89% .94%
Net charge-offs:?
COMMETCIAL®) ...t 1,889% 405%
CONSUITIET ...t e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e eeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeesaaaaaae e s aeeeeeeeeeeeaeeeeens 438 348
103 - Y USRS PTRSPU 1,361% 398%
Nonperforming loans: ¥
COMIMETCIAL ...ttt sttt 96% 99%
COMSUITIET ....viiuiiieiiett ettt sttt ettt et ettt eb e bt e bt eu e bt s bt ettt esa et et et e e e s ennenteneeueeueeueereanes 14 15
TOLAL .ttt b bttt n s 58% 61%
M Ratios exclude loans held for sale as these loans are carried at the lower of amortized cost or fair value.
@ Ratio at March 31, 2018 reflects year-to-date net charge-offs, annualized. Ratio at December 31, 2017 reflects full year net charge-offs.
® " Our commercial net charge-off coverage ratio for the quarter ended March 31, 2018 and year ended December 31, 2017 was 227 months and 49 months,
respectively. The net charge-off coverage ratio represents the commercial allowance for credit losses at period end divided by average monthly commercial
net charge-offs during the period.
(S

Represents our commercial and consumer allowance for credit losses, as appropriate, divided by the corresponding outstanding balance of total nonperforming
loans held for investment. Nonperforming loans include accruing loans contractually past due 90 days or more.

See Note 5, "Allowance for Credit Losses," in the accompanying consolidated financial statements for a rollforward of credit
losses by general loan categories for the three months ended March 31, 2018 and 2017.
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The allowance for credit losses at March 31, 2018 decreased $82 million or 12 percent as compared with December 31, 2017 due
primarily to lower loss estimates in our commercial loan portfolio and, to a lesser extent, lower loss estimates in our consumer
loan portfolio.

Our commercial allowance for credit losses decreased $79 million or 13 percent as compared with December 31, 2017 reflecting
continued improvements in the credit quality of our portfolio driven by paydowns, sales and maturities as we continued to focus
efforts on improving returns as well as improvements in credit conditions associated with certain client relationships. These
decreases were partially offset by a higher provision for risk factors associated with geopolitical risks and market volatility inherent
in certain segments of the portfolio.

Our consumer allowance for credit losses decreased $3 million or 4 percent as compared with December 31, 2017 driven largely
by a lower allowance for credit losses in residential mortgages due to continued improvements in economic and credit conditions,
including lower dollars of delinquency on accounts less than 180 days contractually delinquent, and the continued origination of
higher quality Premier mortgages. This decrease was partially offset by a higher allowance for credit losses in credit cards reflecting
growth in customer activity driven by new product promotions.

Our residential mortgage loan allowance for credit losses in all periods reflects consideration of risk factors relating to trends such
as recent portfolio performance as compared with average roll rates as well as housing market trends and second lien exposure.

The allowance for credit losses as a percentage of total loans held for investment at March 31, 2018 decreased compared with
December 31, 2017 for the reasons discussed above.

The allowance for credit losses as a percentage of net charge-offs at March 31, 2018 increased compared with December 31, 2017
due to lower dollars of net charge-offs, driven primarily by our commercial loan portfolio, partially offset by a decrease in our
overall allowance for credit losses for the reasons discussed above. Lower dollars of net charge-offs in our commercial loan portfolio
reflect lower charge-offs associated with paydowns and sales and the non-recurrence of the partial charge-off of a single mining
customer relationship recorded in 2017.

The allowance for credit losses as a percentage of nonperforming loans held for investment at March 31, 2018 was relatively flat
as compared with December 31, 2017 as the decrease in our overall allowance for credit losses for the reasons discussed above
was offset by decreases in nonperforming loans in both our commercial and consumer loan portfolios.

The following table presents the allowance for credit losses by major loan categories, excluding loans held for sale:

% of % of
Loans to Loans to
Total Total
Amount Loans Amount Loans
March 31, 2018 December 31, 2017
(dollars are in millions)
COMMETCIAL™) ... $ 529 70.9% $ 608 73.1%
Consumer:
Residential MOTEZAZES.....c.eeuieiieieieierte ettt seeen 18 25.7 25 23.8
HOME EQUItY MOTEZAZES ....veevveiieeieiieiesie e seeie st ete st e teeeae e esaesseesaesseesaesseessesaeensesnnes 10 1.7 11 1.6
CIEAIt CATAS .t e et e e e et e e e e e saaae e e e s seaaaeeeesesnaaeeeeesennnees 38 1.1 32 1.0
OtNET COMSUIMET ........iiieeieeceeeee e et eee e et e e e e et e e et e e eeaaeeeenaeeeeaneeenaeeeeenreeeenes 4 6 5 5
TOAl COMSUIMET .......eeieiiieiieeteeee ettt e e e e e e st ae e e e e seaateeeesesnaaseeeesennnaes 70 29.1 73 26.9

TORAL ..ttt b e bbbttt aen $ 599 100.0% $ 681 100.0%

M See Note 5, "Allowance for Credit Losses," in the accompanying consolidated financial statements for components of the commercial allowance for credit

losses.
Reserves for Off-Balance Sheet Credit Risk We also maintain a separate reserve for credit risk associated with certain commercial
off-balance sheet exposures, including letters of credit, unused commitments to extend credit and financial guarantees. The

following table summarizes this reserve, which is included in other liabilities on the consolidated balance sheet. The related
provision is recorded as a component of other expense within operating expenses.

March 31, December 31,
2018 2017

(in millions)

Off-balance Sheet Credit TISK TESEIVE .....oovuriiiiiiiieeee ettt et e e e e eee e e e e e saaeeeeseesareeeeesennnes $ 105 $ 106
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Off-balance sheetreserves at March 31,2018 were relatively flat as compared with December 31,2017, Off-balance sheet exposures
are summarized under the caption "Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements, Credit Derivatives and Other Contractual Obligations" in
this MD&A.

Delinquency The following table summarizes dollars of two-months-and-over contractual delinquency and two-months-and-over

contractual delinquency as a percent of total loans and loans held for sale ("delinquency ratio"):

March 31, December 31,
2018 2017

(dollars are in millions)

Delinquent loans:

(70303101 T<) ¢ o3 -1 USROS $ 19 § 45
Consumer:
Residential MOrt@ages' ™ ............coooovmioieeeeeeeeee e 381 425
Home equity MOrtEages @ ... ...ttt 37 39
CIEAIE CATAS ..vveiienieeiieie ettt ettt et et et e b e st e e e st et e es s et e ense st ensesseensesseensesseensesssensennnens 13 12
OthET COMSUITIET .....viuviiitieeietieeteete et eteetee et ete et esaeeteesbeesaesbeessesbeessasseessaeseessesseessesssessesssessesssessensnens 9 10
TOtAl COMSUIMET ......itieieeiieie ettt ettt e et e et et e e st et e ess et e ense st ensesseensesseensesseensesssensennnens 440 486
0] | ST SRPP $ 459 $ 531
Delinquency ratio:
COMIMETCIAL ... eevtieiieiieeieteet ettt ettt et e e et ebeste e aeste e beessesseesseseessasaesseaseesseaseessesseessesssessesssessenssens 04% .08%
Consumer:
Residential MOrt@ages'’® ... ........cooviiiooieeeeeee oo 2.20 2.46
Home equity mor‘cgages(l)(z) ........................................................................................................... 3.25 3.27
CIEAIE CATAS .vvivieitieiieieetete ettt ettt ettt et e st esbeste et e etae b e eseesbeessesseessaseessesseessesseessesssessesssessenssens 1.69 1.66
OTNET COMSUIMIET ..t e e e e e e e e e e e e e ettt eeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeaaaeaaae e e meeeneeeeeeeeaeeeens 2.13 2.48
TOAL COMSUIMET ......viuvieiiieeieieeiteste et et et e et ete st esaeste e beessesseessasseessesseessaseessesseessesseessesssessesssesensnens 2.24 2.48
TOTALL ..ottt et e et e et e e et e e te e e be e bt e ebeebee et be e taeaabeetbeerbeeteeeabeeaseeenbeetaeenreentes .68% T12%

M At March 31, 2018 and December 31, 2017, consumer mortgage loan delinquency includes $318 million and $342 million, respectively, of loans that are
carried at the lower of amortized cost or fair value of the collateral less costs to sell, including $1 million and $1 million, respectively, relating to loans held
for sale.

@ The following table reflects dollars of contractual delinquency and delinquency ratios for interest-only loans and adjustable rate mortgage loans:

March 31, December 31,
2018 2017

(dollars are in millions)

Dollars of delinquent loans:

INEETESt-ONLY LOANS .....euietiiieieeeeeteie ettt ettt e e b st e s e et eses e s et e st ee s e s eneseeseneseseneeeeaeseneesene $ 11 $ 10

ARM LIS ..ottt bbbttt 145 142
Delinquency ratio:

INEEreSt-ONLY LOANS ....c.oiiuiiiiiiiiice ettt 33% 29%

ARM LIS ..ottt bbbttt 1.20 1.19

Compared with December 31, 2017, our two-months-and-over contractual delinquency ratio decreased 4 basis points due to lower
dollars of delinquency in both our commercial and consumer loan portfolios, partially offset by lower outstanding loan balances
driven by a decrease in the commercial loan portfolio.

Compared with December 31, 2017, our commercial loan two-months-and-over contractual delinquency ratio decreased 4 basis
points due to lower dollars of delinquency largely driven by the improved collection of a large global banking loan, partially offset
by lower outstanding loan balances.

Our consumer loan two-month-and-over contractual delinquency ratio decreased 24 basis points from December 31, 2017 due to
lower dollars of residential mortgage delinquency driven by continued improvements in economic and credit conditions and the
continued origination of higher quality Premier mortgages.
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Net Charge-offs of Loans The following table summarizes net charge-off (recovery) dollars as well as the net charge-off (recovery)
of loans for the quarter, annualized, as a percentage of average loans, excluding loans held for sale, ("net charge-off ratio"):

March 31, December 31, March 31,
2018 2017 2017

(dollars are in millions)

Net Charge-off Dollars:

Commercial:
Real estate, iNCIUAING CONSLITUCTION ........evveuiuirieieiiieieict ettt ns $ — $ — $ 1
Business and corporate banking...........ccoeueueeirieuirininieininieicineectneeett ettt ettt 3 — 9
GLODAL DANKINEG .......ceiiteiiiieicee ettt ettt ettt ettt b et ens 4 70 1)
OhEr COMIMETCIAL ......eviuiiieiiieieie ettt ettt b et ettt bt s s e bt sbebens — — —
TOtal COMMETCIAL ...ttt bttt et b bttt et eb e st e bbbt eb et et eaeane e 7 70 9
Consumer:
Residential MOTTZAZES .......oveueririeueirieieiiieteieire ettt ettt ettt s e be e s eaenenis 3) ?2) 2
HOME EQUILY MOTTZAZES ....evvenrrveiiieteierieteietrt ettt ettt ettt b et st be et b et et be sttt se e b esesesaebeseaesaenens — (€)] 1
CIOAIE CANAS ...ttt bttt bbbttt b et b bbb b et b et sa bt bens [3 5 6
ORI COMSUIMET ...ttt ettt ettt ettt s a e st b bt es et et s e e bt sa et e bt b et et ebe et et eaenne e 1 1
TOTAL COMSUIMET ...ttt ettt b bt ettt b s bt st e st eb b et e st et e st e st ebesa et e s e e b e b et ese et et eneane s 4 3 10
TOLAL ..ottt ettt ettt et et beete e b et e ae e s b e teese et e b e e st e aeeaeest e seeseens e beereenseeaeesaenbeeseensennenreens $ 11 $ 73 $ 19
Net Charge-off Ratio: -
Commercial:
Real estate, including CONSIIUCTION ........c.coiuiuiuiiiiiiiiiiiicc e —% —% .04%
Business and corporate banking.............c.ccocciiiiiiiiiiiiiiicccceie e .10 — .28
GLODAL DANKINEG ...ttt ettt b et s bt e s st e s e e b et eneeeebene e esetenn .08 1.36 (.02)
Other COMMETICIAL ......euiiiiieiiiti ettt ettt sttt b bt s et et e st ea e s s et e st b e se e eseetentenesneas — — —
Total COMMETCIAL ...ttt s .06 58 .07
Consumer:
Residential mortgages (.07) (.05) 04
HOME EqUItY MOTTZAZES .....eviiiiiiiiciiiciciiieicirici ittt — (.33) .29
CTEAIE CATAS ...ttt bbbttt b e s h et a b b et e st ettt e st ebe s e et e b e e b bt ese et et eneane s 3.26 2.95 3.65
OtNET COMSUITIET ...ttt ettt eb bt s et et e e st e b e st e st eb e b e e eneeb et eneesess et eseebeseneen e et enseneeneas 1.13 1.09 1.03
TOLAL COMSUIMET .......untiiiicict ettt ettt a bbb e bt sa b eaenenis .08 .06 20
TOLAL 1.tttk et h bbbttt s b bt be et 07% 43% 10%

Our net charge-off ratio as a percentage of average loans for the quarter ended March 31, 2018 decreased 36 basis points compared
with the quarter ended December 31, 2017 due to lower levels of net charge-offs in our commercial loan portfolio while net charge-
offs in our consumer loan portfolio were relatively flat. The decrease in net charge-offs in our commercial loan portfolio was due
primarily to the non-recurrence of the partial charge-off of a single mining client relationship recorded in the fourth quarter of
2017.

Compared with the quarter ended March 31, 2017, our net charge-off ratio as a percentage of average loans decreased 3 basis
points primarily due to lower levels of net charge-offs in our consumer loan portfolio due to continued improvements in economic
and credit conditions and the continued origination of higher quality Premier mortgages.
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Nonperforming Assets Nonperforming assets consisted of the following:

March 31, December 31,
2018 2017

(in millions)

Nonaccrual loans:

Commercial:
Real estate, including construction $ 13 3 12
Business and corporate DanKing ...........ccooeeriiieriiieieeeeeeee e 258 215
GIODAL DANKING ...ttt ettt ettt sttt sttt ettt ebeebe bt sbe e b enes 279 385
Other COMMETCIAL........ccviiiiiiiiicieee ettt et e et e e te e e b e e saaeeare e taeeaseeeseeeeveesnesaveas — 1
Commercial nonaccrual loans held for Sale ...........ccoociiiiiiiiiiiiiiieeec e 31 —
TOtal COMIMETCIAL.....c.veiiiiiiiieceie ettt ettt et e e eae et e eteeeteeeteeetaeeaeeeteeeseeeseeenrens 581 613
Consumer:
Residential mortgages"@® . 408 414
Home equity MOTtZAZEs® ... ... 66 67
Consumer nonaccrual 1oans held for Sale.............oovieiiiiiiiiiicic e 1 1
TOtAL COMSUIMET ......veiuveiieriiiieeiie ettt et e et eeteeeveeeteeeateeeteeeabeeteeeabeeseeeebeessseeaseestseenseensseeaseenseeenrens 475 482
Total NONACCIUING JOANS............ccoiiiiiiiiiiiiciee ettt reereesae e esaesssesseesneseesnens 1,056 1,095
Accruing loans contractually past due 90 days or more:
Commercial:
Business and corporate DANKINg ...........ccooovereriereriereeeieeeeee et 1 1
Total commercial 1 1
Consumer:
CTEAIE CATAS ...oevviiieie ettt ettt ettt e et e et e eteeeteeeaeeeteeeabeeetaeeaseeeteeeaseeeseeeseenseeenrens 8 9
OtNET COMSUIMET ...ttt et e ettt e e ettt e e et e e eetteeeeateeeeateeeeteeeeesaeeeeateeeeseeeeesseeeenseeeeteseanes 6 8
TOtAL COMSUIMIET ...t e ettt e et e e et e e et e e eeaeeeeeaae e e eaeeeeeteeeeesaeeeeseeeeeseeeeesseeeenseeeeseeeanns 14 17
Total accruing loans contractually past due 90 days ormore...................cccoeevieiiiecieeciienieenenee, 15 18
Total nonPerforming lOANS................cccooiiiiiiiiiiiiiiceece et et reeeare e 1,071 1,113
Other real estate owned™..... 12 11
Total NONPErfOrmMIng ASSELS ............ccocciiiiiiiiiiiieie ettt ettt re s s reeaesrsebessaesseesaens $ 1,08 $§ 1,124

M At March 31, 2018 and December 31, 2017, nonaccrual consumer mortgage loans held for investment include $362 million and $360 million, respectively,
of loans that are carried at the lower of amortized cost or fair value of the collateral less cost to sell.

@ Nonaccrual consumer mortgage loans held for investment include all loans which are 90 or more days contractually delinquent as well as loans discharged
under Chapter 7 bankruptcy and not re-affirmed and second lien loans where the first lien loan that we own or service is 90 or more days contractually
delinquent.

® Nonaccrual consumer mortgage loans for all periods does not include guaranteed loans purchased from the Government National Mortgage Association.

Repayment of these loans are predominantly insured by the Federal Housing Administration and as such, these loans have different risk characteristics from
the rest of our customer loan portfolio.

@ Includes $1 million or less of commercial other real estate owned at March 31, 2018 and December 31, 2017.

Nonaccrual loans at March 31, 2018 decreased as compared with December 31, 2017 due to lower levels of nonaccrual loans in
both our commercial and consumer loan portfolios. The decrease in commercial nonaccrual loans was driven primarily by managed
reductions in certain exposures, partially offset by the downgrade of a large business and corporate banking loan. The decrease in
consumer nonaccrual loans was due to continued improvements in economic and credit conditions and the continued origination
of higher quality Premier mortgages. Accruing loans past due 90 days or more remained flat compared with December 31, 2017.

Our policies and practices for problem loan management and placing loans on nonaccrual status are summarized in Note 2,
"Summary of Significant Accounting Policies and New Accounting Pronouncements," in our 2017 Form 10-K.

Impaired Commercial Loans See Note 4, "Loans," in the accompanying consolidated financial statements for information
regarding impaired loans, including TDR Loans as well as certain other commercial credit quality indicators. Commercial impaired
loans decreased as compared with December 31, 2017 due to managed reductions in certain exposures, partially offset by the
downgrade of a large business and corporate banking loan.
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Concentration of Credit Risk A concentration of credit risk is defined as a significant credit exposure with an individual or group
engaged in similar activities or affected similarly by economic conditions. We enter into a variety of transactions in the normal
course of business that involve both on and off-balance sheet credit risk. Principal among these activities is lending to various
commercial, institutional, governmental and individual customers throughout the United States and internationally. We manage
the varying degrees of credit risk associated with on and off-balance sheet transactions through specific credit policies and
procedures which provide for a strict approval, monitoring and reporting process. It is our policy to require collateral when it is
deemed appropriate. Varying degrees and types of collateral are secured depending upon management's credit evaluation.

Our consumer loan portfolio includes the following types of loans:

* Interest-only loans — A loan which allows a customer to pay the interest-only portion of the monthly payment for a period
of time which results in lower payments during the initial loan period.

*  Adjustable rate mortgage ("ARM") loans — A loan which allows us to adjust pricing on the loan in line with market
movements.

The following table summarizes the balances of interest-only and ARM loans in our loan portfolios, including certain loans held
for sale, at March 31, 2018 and December 31, 2017. Each category is not mutually exclusive and loans may appear in more than
one category below.

March 31, December 31,

2018 2017
(in millions)
Interest-only residential mortgage and home equity mortgage 1oans ............ccooceevereeneiienenienennene $ 3,383 $ 3,424
ARM L0808 ..ottt 12,050 11,976

™ During the remainder of 2018 and during 2019, approximately $479 million and $687 million, respectively, of the ARM loans will experience their first

interest rate reset.

The following table summarizes the concentrations of first and second liens within the outstanding residential mortgage and home
equity mortgage portfolios. Amounts in the table exclude residential mortgage loans held for sale of $6 million at both March 31,
2018 and December 31, 2017.

March 31, December 31,
2018 2017

(in millions)

Closed end:
FIISE LIEIL. ..ot $ 17325 $§ 17,273
SECOMNA LIEM ...ttt ettt ettt e b e e te e b e ete e beestesseesaesseesbesseessesseessenseensenseenns 47 49
REVOIVINE™ ... 1,092 1,142
TOTAL .ttt ettt bbbttt aenes $ 18464 $ 18,464

M A majority of revolving are second lien mortgages.
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Geographic Concentrations The following table reflects regional exposure at March 31, 2018 and December 31, 2017 for our real
estate secured loan portfolios:

Commercial Residential
Real Estate, Mortgages and
including Home Equity
Construction Loans Mortgages
March 31, 2018
INEW YOTK SEALE ....viiiiiiiieeiie ettt ettt tteebe e s eeteestbeebeestaeesbeessaesnseessaesnseenes 31.9% 32.1%
(O 1 1T o) a1V I TSRS 22.4 42.6
North Central United StatesS.......ceeeieiieeiieriieiieeieeieesie et e steesreeseeereeseeesreeseneeseenes 4.6 23
North Eastern United States, excluding New York State..........ccccoeeivvineninincncnenenn 5.8 8.0
Southern UnNited StAteS .........cccveeciieiieeiieiiecieesee ettt esee et esreeseeeeaeessaeeseensee s 26.5 10.5
Western United States, excluding California............cocooeverenenenienienceinncnencneneeen 7.8 4.5
IMIEXACO .veeutteeutieiieeteesite et e stteeteestteesbe e taeesbeenseessseenseassseensaaasseensaaasseesseesssaenseessseenseenseean 1.0 —
10 7Y TSRS 100.0% 100.0%
December 31, 2017
INEW YOIK StAte.....eevieiieiieiieiieieie ettt ettt sttt et e eseenteeseesseeneenseenes 34.0% 31.9%
CalIfOITIA ..ottt ettt ettt ettt e et e st e eteestbe e teeesbeesbaeesseenseesnsaenseessseenseenseean 22.0 42.6
North Central United States.........ccveeierierierieiieiieie ettt see s 32 2.3
North Eastern United States, excluding New York State..........ccoecvevveeieniieienieeeennnne. 6.8 8.1
Southern United StAteS .......c.cccveeieririeiieieriieieeeee ettt ae e eneeneeens 26.2 10.6
Western United States, excluding California............ocooereieneneieneneecececsese e 6.7 4.5
IMIEXICO 1euveeteteeeteeieenteettente et et et e st e st e s s e enaesseensesseensesseenseesaenseessanseenseseansesneensesneensesneen 1.1 —
TOTAL .ottt ettt ettt ettt et te b e e te e b e re et e te e b e aa e b e eteenbeeree b e ereebeenes 100.0 % 100.0 %
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Credit Risks Associated with Derivative Contracts Creditrisk associated with derivatives is measured as the net replacement cost
of derivative contracts in a receivable position in the event the counterparties of such contracts fail to perform under the terms of
those contracts. In managing derivative credit risk, both the current exposure, which is the replacement cost of contracts on the
measurement date, as well as an estimate of the potential change in value of contracts over their remaining lives are considered.
Counterparties to our derivative activities include financial institutions, central clearing parties, foreign and domestic government
agencies, corporations, funds (mutual funds, hedge funds, etc.), insurance companies and private clients as well as other HSBC
entities. These counterparties are subject to regular credit review by the credit risk management department. To minimize credit
risk, we may enter into legally enforceable master netting agreements which reduce risk by permitting the closeout and netting of
transactions with the same counterparty upon occurrence of certain events. In addition, we reduce credit risk by obtaining collateral
from counterparties. The determination of the need for and the levels of collateral will differ based on an assessment of the credit
risk of the counterparty and/or regulatory requirements.

The total risk in a derivative contract is a function of a number of variables, such as:

« volatility of interest rates, currencies, equity or corporate reference entity used as the basis for determining contract

payments;

e current market events or trends;

e country risk;

e maturity and liquidity of contracts;

«  creditworthiness of the counterparties in the transaction;

* the existence of a master netting agreement among the counterparties; and

» existence and value of collateral received from counterparties to secure exposures.
The table below presents total credit risk exposure calculated using the general risk-based capital rules of the Basel 111 Standardized
Approach which includes the net positive mark-to-market of the derivative contracts plus any adjusted potential future exposure
as measured in reference to the notional amount. The regulatory capital rules recognize that bilateral netting agreements reduce
credit risk and, therefore, allow for reductions of risk-weighted assets when netting requirements have been met and collateral
exists. As a result, risk-weighted amounts for regulatory capital purposes are a portion of the original gross exposures. Furthermore,
many contracts contain provisions that allow us to close out the transaction if the counterparty fails to post required collateral. In

addition, many contracts give us the right to break the transactions earlier than the final maturity date. As a result, these contracts
have potential future exposures that are often much smaller than the future exposures derived from the regulatory capital rules.

March 31, December 31,
2018 2017

(in millions)

Risk associated with derivative contracts:

Total Credit TISK EXPOSUIE ....c.erviitiriirtirtitertertetet ettt ettt sttt sttt et eae et eae b b sae e $ 30477 $ 30,737
Less: collateral held against EXPOSULE. .....c..evueteieieieieiieeetteierte ettt et ettt b saea 6,417 7,213
Net Credit TISK EXPOSUIE .....cveureuieiiiieiieiinerteeteste sttt ettt et ettt st sre b s et see e eae et eneeueebesaesaeenes $ 24,060 $§ 23,524

Liquidity and Capital Resources

Effective liquidity management is defined as ensuring we can meet customer loan requests, customer deposit maturities/withdrawals
and other cash commitments efficiently under both normal operating conditions and under unpredictable circumstances of industry
or market stress. To achieve this objective, we have guidelines that require sufficient liquidity to cover potential funding requirements
and to avoid over-dependence on volatile, less reliable funding markets. Guidelines are set for the consolidated balance sheet of
HSBC USA to ensure that it is a source of strength for our regulated, deposit-taking banking subsidiary, as well as to address the
more limited sources of liquidity available to it as a holding company. Similar guidelines are set for HSBC Bank USA to ensure
that it can meet its liquidity needs in various stress scenarios. Cash flow analysis, including stress testing scenarios, forms the basis
for liquidity management and contingency funding plans. See "Risk Management" in this MD&A for further discussion of our
approach towards liquidity risk management, including information regarding the key measures employed to define, monitor and
control our liquidity and funding risk. During the first quarter of 2018, marketplace liquidity continued to remain available for
most sources of funding.

Interest Bearing Deposits with Banks totaled $17,895 million and $11,157 million at March 31, 2018 and December 31, 2017,
respectively, of which $16,559 million and $10,338 million, respectively, were held with the Federal Reserve Bank. Balances may
fluctuate from period to period depending upon our liquidity position at the time and our strategy for deploying liquidity. Surplus
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interest bearing deposits with the Federal Reserve Bank may be deployed into securities purchased under agreements to resell or
other investments depending on market conditions and the opportunity to maximize returns.

Federal Funds Sold and Securities Purchased under Agreements to Resell totaled $9,814 million and $32,618 million at
March 31, 2018 and December 31, 2017, respectively. Balances may fluctuate from period to period depending upon our liquidity
position at the time and our strategy for deploying liquidity.

Trading Assets includes securities totaling $13,220 million and $10,151 million at March 31, 2018 and December 31, 2017,
respectively. See "Balance Sheet Review" in this MD&A for further analysis and discussion on trends.

Securities includes securities available-for-sale and securities held-to-maturity totaling $44,497 million and $44,677 million at
March 31, 2018 and December 31, 2017, respectively. See "Balance Sheet Review" in this MD&A for further analysis and
discussion on trends.

Short-Term Borrowings totaled $5,138 million and $4,650 million at March 31, 2018 and December 31, 2017, respectively. See
"Balance Sheet Review" in this MD&A for further analysis and discussion on short-term borrowing trends.

Deposits totaled $117,953 million and $118,702 million at March 31, 2018 and December 31, 2017, respectively, which included
$98,796 million and $98,500 million, respectively, of core deposits as calculated in accordance with FFIEC guidelines. See "Balance
Sheet Review" in this MD&A for further analysis and discussion on deposit trends.

Long-Term Debt decreased to $32,008 million at March 31, 2018 from $34,966 million at December 31, 2017. The following
table presents the maturities of long-term debt at March 31, 2018:

(in millions)

2018 oottt ettt ettt ettt ettt ettt ettt et e teeteete et e eae et e b e b e b et ea b e b eatesbesterteaseteeteete et e eaeehe b e b e b esseebenbentersersereens $ 5,335
2019 ettt ettt ete a1t et e e te et et et et et ettt ettt eaeeaeeteeteete et e eteete s et et et et ereernens 5,209
2020 11t euteetettet ettt ettt ettt et et et et estest e sttt et t ettt e et e R e R e s e be b esben b e st entesbesteRtaR s et e eReeR et e eRe s e s enbenbessenbensentestesaenens 7,079
2021 ottt ettt ettt ettt ettt ettt e te et e ete et e b e b e b et eab e b e st esterterteaseteeteeae et e eaeeh e b e b e b entenbenbensessersereens 3,809
2022 ettt ettt ettt ettt eteeteeteete et et et et et et erteateaeeteeteeteeteeteeteeteeteetes et et ene et ereereens 1,540
TRETEATIET ...ttt ettt et ettt e ta e et e e s abeeabeesabeensaesaseesbaeesseenteassbeenseeseseanseessseebaensseenreas 9,036
TOTAL. ...ttt ettt ettt e et e e e eteeete e e teeeabeebeeebeeeteeeateeeteeetee e teeaabeebeeetaeeateeeareeateeeneeenreas $ 32,008

The following table summarizes issuances and retirements of long-term debt during the three months ended March 31, 2018 and
2017:

Three Months Ended March 31, 2018 2017

(in millions)
LoNg-term debt ISSUC.......cctiiiiiiieiiiii ettt ettt s b et teesaesaeesbesaeesesssesbeessesseesseseessenseenes $ 1,517 $ 1,691
Long-term debt T@PAIA. ......cuiiuieiieiee ettt ettt sttt ettt ettt et aeenes 3,899 (1,990)
Net 1ong-term debDt TEPAIA ... .ec.eeeieieiieieiieeeee ettt et esseeneesseensesseesessaensennnens $ (2,382) § (299

See "Balance Sheet Review" in this MD&A for further analysis and discussion on long-term debt trends, including additional
information on debt issued and repaid during the three months ended March 31, 2018.

Under our shelf registration statement on file with the SEC, we may issue certain securities including debt securities and preferred
stock. We satisfy the eligibility requirements for designation as a "well-known seasoned issuer," which allows us to file a registration
statement that does not have a limit on issuance capacity. The ability to issue under the registration statement is limited by the
authority granted by the Board of Directors. At March 31, 2018, we were authorized to issue up to $36,000 million, of which
$17,135 million was available. HSBC Bank USA has a $40,000 million Global Bank Note Program that provides for the issuance
of subordinated and senior notes, of which $15,250 million was available at March 31, 2018. We anticipate using the Global Bank
Note Program more in the future as part of our efforts designed to minimize overall funding costs while accessing diverse funding
channels.

Asamember of the FHLB and the Federal Reserve Bank of New York, we have secured borrowing facilities which are collateralized
by loans and investment securities. At March 31, 2018, long-term debt included $3,100 million of borrowings from the FHLB
facility. Based upon the amounts pledged as collateral under these facilities, we have additional borrowing capacity of up to $15,441
million.

Preferred Equity See Note 17, "Preferred Stock," in our 2017 Form 10-K for information regarding all outstanding preferred
share issues.
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Common Equity During the first quarter of 2018, HSBC USA did not receive any cash capital contributions from its parent, HSBC
North America, and did not make any capital contributions to its subsidiary, HSBC Bank USA.

Capital Ratios In managing capital, we develop targets for common equity Tier 1 capital to risk-weighted assets, Tier 1 capital
to risk-weighted assets, total capital to risk-weighted assets, Tier 1 capital to adjusted quarterly average assets (i.e., the "Tier 1
leverage ratio") and Tier 1 capital to total leverage exposure (i.c., the "supplementary leverage ratio" or "SLR"). Capital targets
are reviewed at least semi-annually to ensure they reflect our business mix and risk profile, as well as real-time conditions and
circumstances. The following table summarizes HSBC USA's Basel III fully phased-in capital ratios calculated as of March 31,
2018 and December 31, 2017:

March 31, December 31,
2018 2017
Common equity Tier 1 capital to risk-weighted aSSets ...........ceceririiniiiiniiiiineeeeee 13.6% 14.1%
Tier 1 capital to risk-Weighted aSSELS .......cciiieiiiieie et 14.6 15.2
Total capital to riSk-WeIZhtEd ASSELS .....ceevvirieriiiierieieieete ettt eae e sreeaeseeesessaesseesnens 17.5 18.1
TiEr 11eVerage a0 ........o..ovvoveeeeeeeeeeeeeee e 9.9 9.9
Supplementary 1everage ratio™...............coooovrvecveeeeeeceeeeeeee e 7.3 73

M Adjusted quarterly average assets, the Tier 1 leverage ratio denominator, reflects quarterly average assets adjusted for amounts permitted to be deducted from

Tier 1 capital.

@ Beginning January 1, 2018, HSBC USA is required to maintain the regulatory minimum SLR of 3 percent. Total leverage exposure, the SLR denominator,

includes adjusted quarterly average assets plus certain off-balance sheet exposures.

HSBC USA manages capital in accordance with HSBC Group policy. The HSBC North America Internal Capital Adequacy
Assessment Process ("ICAAP") works in conjunction with the HSBC Group's ICAAP. The HSBC North America ICAAP applies
to HSBC Bank USA and evaluates regulatory capital adequacy and capital adequacy under various stress scenarios. Our approach
is to meet our capital needs for these stress scenarios locally through activities which reduce risk. To the extent that local alternatives
are insufficient or unavailable, we will rely on capital support from our parent in accordance with HSBC's capital management
policy. HSBC has indicated that they are fully committed and have the capacity to provide capital as needed to run operations and
maintain sufficient regulatory capital ratios. Regulatory capital requirements are based on the amount of capital required to be
held, plus applicable capital buffers, as defined by regulations, and the amount of risk-weighted assets and leverage exposure, also
calculated based on regulatory definitions.

In 2013, U.S. banking regulators issued a final rule implementing the Basel I1I capital framework in the United States (the "Basel
III rule") which, for banking organizations such as HSBC North America and HSBC Bank USA, became effective in 2014 with
certain provisions being phased in over time through the beginning of 2019. The Basel III rule established an integrated regulatory
capital framework to improve the quality and quantity of regulatory capital. In addition to phasing in a complete replacement to
the general risk-based capital rules for determining risk-weighted assets (the "Standardized Approach") and the leverage exposure,
the Basel Il rule builds on the advanced internal ratings approach for credit risk and advanced measurement approach for operational
risk (taken together, the "Advanced Approaches"). For additional discussion of the Basel III final rule requirements, including
fully phased-in required minimum capital ratios, see Part I, "Regulation and Competition - Regulatory Capital and Liquidity
Requirements," in our 2017 Form 10-K. As previously disclosed, in accordance with FRB rules, HSBC North America and HSBC
Bank USA received regulatory approval to opt out of the Advanced Approaches and are calculating their risk-based capital
requirements solely under the Standardized Approach. HSBC Bank USA submits an annual statement to the OCC to maintain this
opt out.

In December 2017, the Basel Committee adopted a package of revisions to the Basel III framework that aim to increase consistency
in risk-weighted asset calculations and improve the comparability of bank capital ratios (the "Basel IV Revisions"). The Basel IV
Revisions include changes to the Standardized Approach and internal ratings-based approach to determining credit risk, revisions
to the operational risk framework, a leverage ratio surcharge for G-SIBs and an aggregate capital output floor. The Basel IV
Revisions are not directly applicable to any U.S. banking organization and must first be implemented by the federal banking
agencies. The agencies are expected to act before the January 1, 2022 implementation deadline agreed by the Basel Committee,
but it is unclear whether they will deviate significantly from the Basel IV Revisions in the direction of greater conservatism as
they did with respect to the Basel III framework. For further discussion of the requirements of the Basel IV Revisions see Part I,
"Regulation and Competition - Regulatory Capital and Liquidity Requirements," in our 2017 Form 10-K.

In April 2018, the FRB issued a proposal that would, among other things, replace the current fixed 2.5 percent capital conservation
buffer with a dynamic, institution-specific risk-based stress capital buffer ("SCB"). The proposal would also introduce a stress tier
1 leverage buffer requirement ("SLB") for IHCs and bank holding companies ("BHCs") that are subject to the FRB's CCAR
program, including HSBC North America. It is expected that both the SCB and SLB will vary in size throughout the economic
cycle depending on a firm's risk exposures and the severity of the stress scenarios. Under the proposal, the SCB and SLB would
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be recalibrated annually based on the sum of (i) HSBC North America's projected losses under the severely adverse scenario in
the FRB's supervisory stress tests and (ii) four quarters of HSBC North America's planned future dividends. If HSBC North
America's risk-based capital and tier 1 leverage ratios were to fall to levels within the SCB or SLB, respectively, it would become
subject to increasing restrictions on its capital distributions and discretionary bonus payments. The proposal would also eliminate
the quantitative objection component of CCAR, and instead rely on the capital rule's automatic restrictions on capital distributions
that are triggered if a firm breaches its buffer requirements. However, the proposal would not change CCAR's qualitative review
process or objections based on qualitative deficiencies for large and complex firms, including HSBC North America. Although an
initial impact study performed by the FRB anticipates a decrease in required capital for non G-SIBs subject to CCAR, the study
did not include IHCs, hence may not have considered the business model differences between IHCs and BHCs. The proposed rule
is subject to a 60-day comment period, with the first SCB and SLB requirements to be generally effective beginning October 1,
2019.

As a result of the adoption of the final rules by the U.S. banking regulators implementing the Basel III regulatory capital and
liquidity reforms from the Basel Committee, together with the impact of similar implementation by U.K. banking regulators, the
future implementation of the Basel IV Revisions and the FRB's recent proposal to establish SCB and SLB requirements, we
continue to review the composition of our capital structure.

In 2015, the Financial Stability Board ("FSB") issued its final standards for TLAC requirements for G-SIBs. In 2016, the FRB
adopted final rules implementing the FSB's TLAC standard in the United States. The rules require, among other things, the U.S.
IHCs ofnon U.S. G-SIBs, including HSBC North America, to maintain minimum amounts of TLAC which would include minimum
levels of Tier 1 capital and long-term debt satisfying certain eligibility criteria, and a related TLAC buffer commencing January
1, 2019, without the benefit of a phase-in period. The TLAC rules also include 'clean holding company requirements' that impose
limitations on the types of financial transactions that HSBC North America could engage in. The FSB's TLAC standard and the
FRB's TLAC rules represent a significant expansion of the current regulatory capital framework. To support compliance when the
TLAC rules become effective, HSBC North America will be required in future periods to issue additional long-term debt that is
TLAC compliant and modify the terms of existing long-term debt in order for that debt to be TLAC compliant.

HSBC is required to submit annually a resolution plan to the FRB and the FDIC under the Dodd-Frank Act (the Systemically
Important Financial Institution Plan or "SIFI Plan") and HSBC Bank USA is required to submit an annual resolution plan under
the Federal Deposit Insurance Act (the Insured Depository Institution Plan or "IDI Plan"). HSBC and HSBC Bank USA have been
advised that the next submission dates for the IDI Plan and SIFI Plan are extended to July 1, 2018 and December 31, 2018,
respectively.

Capital Planning and Stress Testing U.S. bank holding companies with $50 billion or more in total consolidated assets, including
HSBC North America, are required to comply with the FRB's capital plan rule and CCAR program, as well as the annual supervisory
stress tests conducted by the FRB, and the semi-annual company-run stress tests as required under DFAST. As part of the CCAR
process, the FRB undertakes a supervisory assessment of bank holding companies on their capital adequacy, internal capital
adequacy assessment process and plans for capital distributions. Per current capital plan and stress test rules, the FRB can object
to a capital plan for qualitative or quantitative reasons, in which case the company cannot make capital distributions (with the
exception of those that may have already received a non-objection in the previous year) without specific FRB approval. HSBC
North America participates in the CCAR and DFAST programs of the FRB and submitted its latest CCAR capital plan and annual
company-run DFAST results in April 2018. HSBC Bank USA is subject to the OCC's DFAST requirements, which require certain
banks to conduct annual company-run stress tests, and submitted its latest annual DFAST results in April 2018. The company-run
stress tests are forward looking exercises to assess the impact of hypothetical macroeconomic baseline, adverse and severely
adverse scenarios provided by the FRB and the OCC for the annual exercise, and internally developed scenarios for both the annual
and mid-cycle exercises, on the financial condition and capital adequacy of a bank-holding company or bank over a nine quarter
planning horizon. In January 2017, the FRB announced that so-called "large and noncomplex" firms, which are firms with less
than $250 billion in total consolidated assets and less than $75 billion in total nonbanking assets, are exempt from the CCAR
qualitative assessment. HSBC North America does not currently fall into the category of "large and noncomplex" and, therefore,
remained subject to the qualitative review in the 2018 CCAR cycle. As discussed above, the FRB expects to remove the quantitative
objection component of CCAR beginning December 31, 2018.

HSBC North America and HSBC Bank USA are required to disclose the results of their annual DFAST under the FRB and OCC’s
severely adverse stress scenario and HSBC North America is required to disclose the results of its mid-cycle DFAST under its
internally developed severely adverse stress scenario. HSBC North America and HSBC Bank USA will publicly disclose their
next annual DFAST results, as required, within 15 days of the FRB disclosing the results of its own DFAST results. The FRB will
publicly disclose its own DFAST and CCAR results on or before June 30, 2018.

Stress testing results are based solely on hypothetical adverse stress scenarios and should not be viewed or interpreted as forecasts
of expected outcomes or capital adequacy or of the actual financial condition of HSBC North America or HSBC Bank USA. Capital
planning and stress testing for HSBC North America or HSBC Bank USA may impact our future capital and liquidity. See Part I,
"Regulation and Competition - Regulatory Capital and Liquidity Requirements," in our 2017 Form 10-K for further discussion on
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capital planning and stress testing, including additional detail regarding the FRB's supervisory assessment as part of the CCAR
process.

While bank holding company regulatory capital compliance is generally performed at the HSBC North America level, and also
separately for HSBC Bank USA, as a bank holding company we are required to meet minimum capital requirements imposed by
the FRB. We present our capital ratios, together with HSBC Bank USA's in Note 16, "Retained Earnings and Regulatory Capital
Requirements," in the accompanying consolidated financial statements.

In December 2017, the FRB finalized changes to the CCAR program that requires certain IHCs of foreign banking organizations,
including HSBC North America, to provide information about the effects of a hypothetical global market shock on trading and
counterparty exposures as part of their supervisory adverse and severely adverse stress testing scenarios. For the 2018 CCAR
cycle, HSBC North America was subject to an interim, simplified global market shock designed to assess its potential losses and
capital impact associated with market and counterparty credit risk. Beginning with the 2019 CCAR cycle, HSBC North America
will be subject to the full global market shock, potentially causing additional projected stress losses under such tests.

2018 Funding Strategy Our current estimate for funding needs and sources for 2018 are summarized in the following table:

Actual Estimated
January 1 April 1
through through Estimated
March 31, December 31, Full Year
2018 2018 2018
(in billions)
Increase (decrease) in funding needs:
Net change 1N LOANS .....co.eviririirieiecccctee ettt $ 5) $ 33 )
Net change in short-term investments and SECUIIHIES .......c.ccevveverreerreireineenenennen. (16) 15 )
Net change in trading and other assets............ccccevciiciiieiiiciiireeee e 16 (14) 2
Total funding NEEAS .......ccccerieuiriiinieireircrcce e $ 5) S 4 3 (1)
Increase (decrease) in funding sources:
Net change in dePOSILS ...c..eeverreririirierierieete ettt $ (1) $ 5% 4
Net change in trading and other short-term liabilities..........c.ccocevevenenecirenecnnnne. (1) (1)
Net change in 1ong-term debt........c.coevieriiiiiiiiiiiii e 3) €)) 4
Total fUNAING SOUICES .....eveviiiieiiiieieieiec ettt $ 5) $ 4 $ €))

The above table reflects a long-term funding strategy. Daily balances fluctuate as we accommodate customer needs, while ensuring
that we have liquidity in place to support the balance sheet maturity funding profile. Should market conditions deteriorate, we
have contingency plans to generate additional liquidity through the sales of assets or financing transactions. We remain confident
in our ability to access the market for long-term debt funding needs in the current market environment. We continue to seek well-
priced and stable customer deposits. We continue to sell new agency eligible mortgage loan originations to third parties.

HSBC Bank USA is subject to significant restrictions imposed by federal law on extensions of credit to, and certain other "covered
transactions" with HSBC USA and other affiliates. Covered transactions include loans and other extensions of credit, investments
and asset purchases, and certain other transactions involving the transfer of value from a subsidiary bank to an affiliate or for the
benefit of an affiliate. A bank's credit exposure to an affiliate as a result of a derivative, securities lending/borrowing or repurchase
transaction is also subject to these restrictions. A bank's transactions with its non-bank affiliates are also required to be on arm's
length terms. Certain Edge Act subsidiaries of HSBC Bank USA are limited in the amount of funds they can provide to other
affiliates including their parent. Amounts above their level of invested capital have to be secured with U.S. government securities.

For further discussion relating to our sources of liquidity and contingency funding plan, see the caption "Risk Management" in
this MD&A.
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Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements, Credit Derivatives and Other Contractual Obligations

As part of our normal operations, we enter into credit derivatives and various off-balance sheet arrangements with affiliates and
third parties. These arrangements arise principally in connection with our lending and client intermediation activities and involve
primarily extensions of credit and, in certain cases, guarantees.

As a financial services provider, we routinely extend credit through loan commitments and lines and letters of credit and provide
financial guarantees, including derivative transactions having characteristics of a guarantee. The contractual amounts of these
financial instruments represent our maximum possible credit exposure in the event that a counterparty draws down the full
commitment amount or we are required to fulfill our maximum obligation under a guarantee.

The following table provides maturity information related to our credit derivatives and off-balance sheet arrangements. Many of
these commitments and guarantees expire unused or without default. As a result, we believe that the contractual amount is not
representative of the actual future credit exposure or funding requirements.

Balance at March 31, 2018

Over One Balance at
One Year through Over Five December 31,
or less Five Years Years Total 2017
(in millions)

Standby letters of credit, net of participations“) ......................... $ 6540 § 2348 § 110 $ 8998 § 8,708

Commercial letters of credit........ooovvveeiiiiiiiieeiiiiiiiee e 234 4 — 238 234

Credit derivatives™ ............coo.cooeiveeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeee e 6,699 27,616 3,282 37,597 42,328
Other commitments to extend credit:

Commercial® ...........coooovvveiveeeeecees e 18,399 60,470 3,862 82,731 78,787

CONSUMET ......ooviiiiiiiicc s 7,568 — — 7,568 7,443

107 | TR $ 39,440 $ 90438 $§ 7,254 $137,132 $§ 137,500

M Includes $1,327 million and $1,264 million issued for the benefit of HSBC affiliates at March 31, 2018 and December 31, 2017, respectively.
@ Includes $20,469 million and $25,639 million issued for the benefit of HSBC affiliates at March 31, 2018 and December 31, 2017, respectively.
®  Includes $375 million and $400 million issued for the benefit of HSBC affiliates at March 31, 2018 and December 31, 2017, respectively.

Other Commitments to Extend Credit Other commitments to extend credit include arrangements whereby we are contractually
obligated to extend credit in the form of loans, participations in loans, lease financing receivables, or similar transactions. Consumer
commitments are comprised of certain unused MasterCard/Visa credit card lines, where we have the right to change terms or
conditions upon notification to the customer, and commitments to extend credit secured by residential properties, where we have
the right to change terms or conditions, for cause, upon notification to the customer. Commercial commitments comprise primarily
those related to secured and unsecured loans and lines of credit.

In addition to the above, we have established and manage a number of constant net asset value ("CNAV") money market funds
that invest in shorter-dated highly-rated money market securities to provide investors with a highly liquid and secure investment.
These funds price the assets in their portfolio on an amortized cost basis, which enables them to create and liquidate shares at a
constant price. The funds, however, are not permitted to price their portfolios at amortized cost if that amount varies by more than
50 basis points from the portfolio's market value. In that case, the fund would be required to price its portfolio at market value and
consequently would no longer be able to create or liquidate shares at a constant price. We do not consolidate the CNAV funds
because we do not absorb the majority of the expected future risk associated with the fund's assets, including interest rate, liquidity,
credit and other relevant risks that are expected to affect the value of the assets.
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Fair Value

Control Over Valuation Process and Procedures We have established a control framework which is designed to ensure that fair
values are either determined or validated by a function independent of the risk-taker. See Note 19, "Fair Value Measurements," in
the accompanying consolidated financial statements for further details on our valuation control framework.

Fair Value Hierarchy Fair value measurement accounting principles establish a fair value hierarchy structure that prioritizes the
inputs to determine the fair value of an asset or liability (the "Fair Value Framework"). The Fair Value Framework distinguishes
between inputs that are based on observed market data and unobservable inputs that reflect market participants' assumptions. It
emphasizes the use of valuation methodologies that maximize observable market inputs. For financial instruments carried at fair
value, the best evidence of fair value is a quoted price in an actively traded market (Level 1). Where the market for a financial
instrument is not active, valuation techniques are used. The majority of our valuation techniques use market inputs that are either
observable or indirectly derived from and corroborated by observable market data for substantially the full term of the financial
instrument (Level 2). Because Level 1 and Level 2 instruments are determined by observable inputs, less judgment is applied in
determining their fair values. In the absence of observable market inputs, the financial instrument is valued based on valuation
techniques that feature one or more significant unobservable inputs (Level 3). The determination of the level of fair value hierarchy
within which the fair value measurement of an asset or a liability is classified often requires judgment and may change over time
as market conditions evolve. We consider the following factors in developing the fair value hierarchy:

*  whether the asset or liability is transacted in an active market with a quoted market price;

*  the level of bid-ask spreads;

* alack of pricing transparency due to, among other things, complexity of the product and market liquidity;
»  whether only a few transactions are observed over a significant period of time;

»  whether the pricing quotations differ substantially among independent pricing services;

*  whether inputs to the valuation techniques can be derived from or corroborated with market data; and

*  whether significant adjustments are made to the observed pricing information or model output to determine the fair value.

Level 1 inputs are unadjusted quoted prices in active markets that the reporting entity has the ability to access for identical assets
or liabilities. A financial instrument is classified as a Level 1 measurement if it is listed on an exchange or is an instrument actively
traded in the over-the-counter ("OTC") market where transactions occur with sufficient frequency and volume. We regard financial
instruments such as debt securities, equity securities and derivative contracts listed on the primary exchanges of a country to be
actively traded. Non-exchange-traded instruments classified as Level 1 assets include securities issued by the U.S. Treasury, to-
be-announced securities, non-callable securities issued by U.S. GSEs and certain foreign government-backed debt.

Level 2 inputs are those that are observable either directly or indirectly but do not qualify as Level 1 inputs. We classify mortgage
pass-through securities, agency and certain non-agency mortgage collateralized obligations, certain derivative contracts, asset-
backed securities, obligations of U.S. states and political subdivisions, corporate debt, certain foreign government-backed debt,
preferred securities, securities purchased and sold under resale and repurchase agreements, precious metals, certain commercial
loans held for sale, residential mortgage loans whose carrying amount was reduced based on the fair value of the underlying
collateral and real estate owned as Level 2 measurements. Where possible, at least two quotations from independent sources are
obtained based on transactions involving comparable assets and liabilities to validate the fair value of these instruments. We have
established a process to understand the methodologies and inputs used by the third party pricing services to ensure that pricing
information met the fair value objective. Where significant differences arise among the independent pricing quotes and the internally
determined fair value, we investigate and reconcile the differences. If the investigation results in a significant adjustment to the
fair value, the instrument will be classified as Level 3 within the fair value hierarchy. In general, we have observed that there is a
correlation between the credit standing and the market liquidity of a non-derivative instrument.

Level 2 derivative instruments are generally valued based on discounted future cash flows or an option pricing model adjusted for
counterparty credit risk and market liquidity. The fair value of certain derivative products is determined using valuation techniques
based on inputs derived from observable indices traded in the OTC market. Appropriate control processes and procedures have
been applied to ensure that the derived inputs are applied to value only those instruments that share similar risks to the relevant
benchmark indices and therefore demonstrate a similar response to market factors.

Level 3 inputs are unobservable estimates that management expects market participants would use to determine the fair value of
the asset or liability. That is, Level 3 inputs incorporate market participants' assumptions about risk and the risk premium required
by market participants in order to bear that risk. We develop Level 3 inputs based on the best information available in the
circumstances. At March 31, 2018 and December 31, 2017, our Level 3 measurements included the following: collateralized debt
obligations ("CDOQs") for which there is a lack of pricing transparency due to market illiquidity, certain structured deposits and
structured notes for which the embedded credit, foreign exchange or equity derivatives have significant unobservable inputs (e.g.,
volatility or default correlations), asset-backed credit default swaps with certain inputs which are unobservable, certain subprime
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residential mortgage loans held for sale, certain corporate debt securities, certain asset-backed securities, impaired commercial
loans, derivatives referenced to illiquid assets of less desirable credit quality, swap agreements entered into in conjunction with
the sales of certain Visa Class B Shares for which the fair value is dependent upon the final resolution of the related litigation and
a contingent consideration receivable associated with the sale of a portion of our Private Banking business.

See Note 19, "Fair Value Measurements," in the accompanying consolidated financial statements for additional information on
Level 3 inputs as well as a discussion of transfers between Level 1 and Level 2 measurements during the three months ended
March 31, 2018 and 2017.

Level 3 Measurements The following table provides information about Level 3 assets/liabilities in relation to total assets/liabilities
measured at fair value at March 31, 2018 and December 31, 2017:

March 31, December 31,

2018 2017

(dollars are in millions)
LeVel 3 aSSEts'™®) ... ..o $ 2619 $ 2650
Total assets measured at fair VAIUE ™) ... oo 91,952 89,368
Level 3 liabilities'” 1,731 1,690
Total liabilities measured at fair Value!™ .............ccoooooorvvoerieierioeece s 54,564 68,270
Level 3 assets as a percent of total assets measured at fair value ...........ccccoooeriiiiiiiniiiicieee 2.8% 3.0%
Level 3 liabilities as a percent of total liabilities measured at fair value ...........coccoevvevereecieneeciennnne 3.2% 2.5%

M Presented without netting which allows the offsetting of amounts relating to certain contracts if certain conditions are met.

@ Includes $2,337 million of recurring Level 3 assets and $282 million of non-recurring Level 3 assets at March 31, 2018. Includes $2,359 million of recurring

Level 3 assets and $291 million of non-recurring Level 3 assets at December 31, 2017.

®  Includes $91,621 million of assets measured on a recurring basis and $331 million of assets measured on a non-recurring basis at March 31, 2018. Includes

$88,988 million of assets measured on a recurring basis and $380 million of assets measured on a non-recurring basis at December 31, 2017.

Significant Changes in Fair Value for Level 3 Assets and Liabilities We have entered into credit default swaps with a monoline
insurer to hedge our credit exposure in certain asset-backed securities and synthetic CDOs. We made $5 million positive credit
risk adjustments to the fair value of our credit default swap contracts during the three months ended March 31, 2018 compared
with negative adjustments of $4 million during the three months ended March 31,2017. These adjustments to fair value are recorded
in trading revenue in the consolidated statement of income (loss). We have recorded a cumulative credit adjustment reserve of $7
million and $12 million against our monoline exposure at March 31, 2018 and December 31, 2017, respectively. The fair value of
our monoline exposure net of cumulative credit adjustment reserves equaled $79 million and $105 million at March 31, 2018 and
December 31, 2017, respectively.

See Note 19, "Fair Value Measurements," in the accompanying consolidated financial statements for information on additions to
and transfers into (out of) Level 3 measurements during the three months ended March 31, 2018 and 2017 as well as for further
details including the classification hierarchy associated with assets and liabilities measured at fair value.

Effect of Changes in Significant Unobservable Inputs The fair value of certain financial instruments is measured using valuation
techniques that incorporate pricing assumptions not supported by, derived from or corroborated by observable market data. The
resultant fair value measurements are dependent on unobservable input parameters which can be selected from a range of estimates
and may be interdependent. Changes in one or more of the significant unobservable input parameters may change the fair value
measurements of these financial instruments. For the purpose of preparing the financial statements, the final valuation inputs
selected are based on management's best judgment that reflect the assumptions market participants would use in pricing similar
assets or liabilities.

The unobservable input parameters selected are subject to the internal valuation control processes and procedures. When we
perform a test of all the significant input parameters to the extreme values within the range at the same time, it could result in an
increase of the overall fair value measurement of approximately $94 million or a decrease of the overall fair value measurement
of approximately $8 million at March 31, 2018. The effect of changes in significant unobservable input parameters are primarily
driven by the uncertainty in determining the fair value of credit derivatives executed against certain insurers as well as credit
default swaps with a certain monoline insurer and certain asset-backed securities including CDOs.
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Assets Underlying Asset-backed Securities The following tables summarize the types of assets underlying our asset-backed
securities as well as certain collateralized debt obligations held at March 31, 2018:

Total
(in millions)

Rating of securities:'" Collateral type:
AA e, OTNET ettt ettt ettt et e et s areeraeeanas $ 49
A Home equity - ALt A. .o 49
StUAENE LOANS ...ttt e 92
258
399
BBB ... Collateralized debt Obligations ..........cceeeeruierierieieiieieee e T 131
CCC it Residential mortgages - SUDPIImMe.........ccevvevievieniieieiieieieeeesee e 17
S 5%

M We utilize S&P as the primary source of credit ratings in the tables above. If S&P ratings are not available, ratings by Moody's and Fitch are used, in that
order. Ratings for collateralized debt obligations represent the ratings associated with the underlying collateral.

Risk Management

Overview Managing risk effectively is fundamental to the delivery of our strategic priorities. We use a comprehensive risk
management framework that is applied at all levels of the organization and across all risk types with effective governance and
corresponding risk management tools to help ensure it is appropriately implemented. This framework fosters the continuous
monitoring of the risk environment and an integrated evaluation of risks and their interactions. It is designed to ensure that we
have a robust and consistent approach to risk management across all of our activities. Our risk management framework has been
designed to provide robust controls and ongoing monitoring of our principal risks.

Our Board of Directors and its committees, principally the Audit, Risk, and Compliance and Conduct Committees, have oversight
responsibility for the effective management of risk and approves our risk appetite. The Risk Committee advises the Board of
Directors on risk appetite and its alignment with our strategy, risk governance and internal controls as well as high-level risk related
matters.

The principal risks associated with our operations include the following:

*  Credit risk is the potential that a borrower or counterparty will default on a credit obligation, as well as the impact on the
value of credit instruments due to changes in the probability of borrower default. Credit risk includes risk associated with
cross-border exposures;

»  Liquidity risk is the potential that an institution will be unable to meet its obligations as they become due or fund its
customers because of inadequate cash flow or the inability to liquidate assets or obtain funding itself;

»  Interest rate risk is the potential reduction of net interest income due to mismatched pricing between assets and liabilities
as well as losses in value due to interest rate movements;

*  Market risk is the risk that movements in market factors, such as foreign exchange rates, interest rates, credit spreads,
equity prices and commodity prices, will reduce our income or the value of our portfolios;

*  Operational risk is the risk of loss resulting from inadequate or failed internal processes, people, or systems, or from
external events (including legal risk);

*  Regulatory compliance risk is the risk that we fail to observe the letter and spirit of all relevant laws, codes, rules, regulations
and standards of good market practice causing us to incur fines, penalties and damage to our business and reputation;

»  Financial crime risk is the risk that we knowingly or unknowingly help parties to commit or to further potentially illegal
activity through the HSBC Group. It arises from day to day banking operations;

»  Fiduciary risk is the risk of breaching fiduciary duties where we act in a fiduciary capacity as trustee, investment manager
or as mandated by law or regulation;

*  Reputational risk is the risk arising from failure to meet stakeholder expectations as a result of any event, behavior, action
or inaction, either by us, our employees, the HSBC Group or those with whom it is associated, that may cause stakeholders
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to form a negative view of us. This might also result in financial or non-financial impacts, loss of confidence or other
consequences;

»  Strategic risk is the risk that the business will fail to identify, execute and react appropriately to opportunities and/or threats
arising from changes in the market, some of which may emerge over a number of years such as changing economic and
political circumstances, customer requirements, demographic trends, regulatory developments or competitor action;

»  Security risk is the risk to the business from terrorism, information security, incidents/disasters, cyber attacks, insider risk
and groups hostile to HSBC interests;

*  Model risk is the potential for adverse consequences from decisions based on incorrect or misused model outputs and
reports. This occurs primarily for two reasons: 1) the model may produce inaccurate outputs when compared with the
intended business use and design objective; and 2) the model could be used incorrectly;

*  Pensionriskistherisk of increased costs from the post-employment benefit plans that we have established for our employees;

*  Sustainability risk is the risk that financial services provided to customers indirectly result in unacceptable impacts on
people or on the environment.

Our risk management process involves the use of various simulation models. We believe that the assumptions used in these models
are reasonable, but actual events may unfold differently than what is assumed in the models. Consequently, model results may be
considered reasonable estimates, with the understanding that actual results may differ significantly from model projections.

See "Risk Management" in MD&A in our 2017 Form 10-K for a more complete discussion of the objectives of our risk management
system as well as our risk management policies and practices. There have been no material changes to our approach to operational
risk management, regulatory compliance risk management, financial crime risk management, fiduciary risk management,
reputational risk management, strategic risk management, security risk management, model risk management, pension risk
management or sustainability risk management since December 31, 2017.

Credit Risk Management Credit risk is the potential that a borrower or counterparty will default on a credit obligation, as well
as the impact on the value of credit instruments due to changes in the probability of borrower default. Credit risk includes risk
associated with cross-border exposures. There have been no material changes to our approach towards credit risk management
since December 31, 2017. See "Risk Management" in MD&A in our 2017 Form 10-K for a more complete discussion of our
approach to credit risk.

Credit risk is inherent in various on- and off-balance sheet instruments and arrangements, such as:
* loan portfolios;
* investment portfolios;
¢ unfunded commitments such as letters of credit, lines of credit and unutilized credit card lines that customers can draw
upon; and
»  derivative financial instruments, such as interest rate swaps which, if more valuable today than when originally contracted,
may represent an exposure to the counterparty to the contract.

While credit risk exists widely in our operations, diversification among various commercial and consumer portfolios helps to
lessen risk exposure. Day-to-day management of credit and market risk is performed by the Chief Credit Officer/Head of Wholesale
Credit and Market Risk North America and the HSBC North America RBWM Chief Risk Officer, who report directly to the HSBC
North America Chief Risk Officer and maintain independent risk functions. The credit risk associated with commercial portfolios
is managed by the Chief Credit Officer, while credit risk associated with retail consumer loan portfolios, such as credit cards,
installment loans and residential mortgages, is managed by the HSBC North America RBWM Chief Risk Officer. Further discussion
of credit risk can be found under the "Credit Quality" caption in this MD&A.

Liquidity Risk Management Liquidity risk is the risk that an institution will be unable to meet its obligations as they become
due or fund its customers because of an inability to liquidate assets or obtain adequate funding. There have been no material changes
to our approach towards liquidity risk management since December 31, 2017. See "Risk Management" in MD&A in our 2017
Form 10-K for a more complete discussion of our approach to liquidity risk. Although our overall approach to liquidity risk
management has not changed, we continuously monitor the impact of market events on our liquidity positions and will continue
to adapt our liquidity framework to reflect market events and the evolving regulatory landscape and view as to best practices.

As part of our approach towards liquidity risk management, we employ the measures discussed below to define, monitor and
control our liquidity and funding risk in accordance with HSBC policy.

The Basel Committee based Liquidity Coverage Ratio ("LCR") is designed to be a short-term liquidity measure to ensure banks
have sufficient High Quality Liquid Assets ("HQLA") to cover net stressed cash outflows over the next 30 days. At both March
31, 2018 and December 31, 2017, HSBC USA's LCR under the EU LCR rule exceeded 100 percent. A LCR of 100 percent or
higher reflects an unencumbered HQLA balance that is equal to or exceeds liquidity needs for a 30 calendar day liquidity stress
scenario. HQLA consists of cash or assets that can be converted into cash at little or no loss of value in private markets.
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The European calibration of the Basel Committee based Net Stable Funding Ratio ("NSFR"), which is a longer term liquidity
measure with a 12-month time horizon to ensure a sustainable maturity structure of assets and liabilities, is still pending. Therefore,
our calculation of NSFR is based on our current interpretation and understanding of the Basel Committee NSFR guidance, which
may differ in future periods depending on completion of the European calibration and further implementation guidance from
regulators. At both March 31, 2018 and December 31, 2017, HSBC USA's estimated NSFR exceeded 100 percent. A NSFR of
100 percent or more reflects an available stable funding balance from liabilities and capital over the next 12 months that is equal
to or exceeds the required amount of funding for assets and off-balance sheet exposures.

In 2014, the FRB, the OCC and the FDIC issued final regulations to implement the LCR in the United States, applicable to certain
large banking institutions, including HSBC North America and HSBC Bank USA. The U.S. LCR rule is generally consistent with
the Basel Committee guidelines, but is more stringent in several areas including the range of assets that qualify as HQLA and the
assumed rate of outflows of certain kinds of funding. Under the U.S. rule, U.S. institutions, including HSBC North America and
HSBC Bank USA, have been required to maintain a minimum LCR of 100 percent since January 1, 2017, two years ahead of the
Basel Committee's timeframe for compliance by January 1, 2019, and report LCR to U.S. regulators on a daily basis. During the
three months ended March 31, 2018 and year ended December 31, 2017, HSBC Bank USA's LCR under the U.S. LCR rule
remained above the 100 percent minimum requirement. The U.S. LCR rule does not address the U.S. NSFR requirement, which
is currently under review by U.S. banking regulators and the Basel Committee. Based on the results of their review, the Basel
Committee and U.S. banking regulators may make further changes to the NSFR. In April 2016, U.S. regulators issued for public
comment a proposal to implement the NSFR in the United States, applicable to certain large banking organizations, including
HSBC North America and HSBC Bank USA. The U.S. NSFR proposal is generally consistent with the Basel Committee guidelines,
but similar to the U.S. LCR rule, is more stringent in several areas including the required stable funding factors applied to certain
assets such as mortgage-backed securities. At both March 31, 2018 and December 31,2017, HSBC Bank USA's estimated NSFR,
based on our current interpretation and understanding of the proposed U.S. NSFR rule, exceeded 100 percent.

HSBC North America and HSBC Bank USA have adjusted their liquidity profiles to support compliance with these rules. HSBC
North America and HSBC Bank USA may need to make further changes to their liquidity profiles to support compliance with any
future final rules.

Our liquidity risk management approach includes deposits, supplemented by wholesale borrowing to fund our balance sheet, and
using security sales or secured borrowings for liquidity stress situations in our liquidity contingency plans. In addition, current
regulatory initiatives require banks to retain a portfolio of HQLA. As such, we are maintaining a large portfolio of high quality
sovereign and sovereign guaranteed securities.

Our ability to regularly attract wholesale funds at a competitive cost is enhanced by strong ratings from the major credit ratings
agencies. The following table reflects the short and long-term credit ratings of HSBC USA and HSBC Bank USA at March 31,
2018:

Moody's S&P Fitch
HSBC USA:
Short-term DOITOWINGS. ... .cviieieieiieiieiceiieteete ettt eee s P-1 A-1 F1+
Long-term/senior debt ...........cccocoiriiiiiiiiiinieineeeeeeeee e A2 A AA-
HSBC Bank USA:
Short-term DOITOWINGS. .......cviueiiiiiiiiiiiiceee e P-1 A-1+ F1+
LoNg-term/SENIOr Aebt ...........o.cvieeveerereeeeeeeieieeeeeee e een Aa3® AA- AA-

M Moody's long-term deposit rating for HSBC Bank USA was Aa2 at March 31, 2018.

Rating agencies continue to evaluate economic and geopolitical trends, regulatory developments, future profitability, risk
management practices and legal matters, all of which could lead to adverse ratings actions.

Although we closely monitor and strive to manage factors influencing our credit ratings, there is no assurance that our credit ratings
will not change in the future. At March 31, 2018, there were no pending actions in terms of changes to ratings on the debt of HSBC
USA or HSBC Bank USA from any of the rating agencies.

Interest Rate Risk Management Interest rate risk is the potential reduction of net interest income due to mismatched pricing
between assets and liabilities as well as losses in value due to interest rate movements. Various techniques are utilized to quantify
and monitor risks associated with the repricing characteristics of our assets, liabilities and derivative contracts. There have been
no material changes to our approach towards interest rate risk management since December 31, 2017. See "Risk Management" in
MD&A in our 2017 Form 10-K for a more complete discussion of our approach to interest rate risk.
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Economic value of equity ("EVE") EVE represents the present value of the banking book cash flows that could be provided to our
equity holder under a managed run-off scenario. An EVE sensitivity represents the change in EVE due to a defined movement in
interest rates. We manage to an immediate parallel upward shock of 200 basis points and an immediate parallel downward shock
of 200 basis points to the market implied interest rates. At both March 31, 2018 and December 31, 2017, our economic value of
equity remains higher than our book value of equity under the base case, up 200 basis points and down 200 basis points scenarios.

Net interest income simulation modeling techniques We utilize simulation modeling to monitor a number of interest rate scenarios
for their impact on projected net interest income. These techniques simulate the impact on projected net interest income under
various scenarios, such as rate shock scenarios, which assume immediate market rate movements by as much as 200 basis points,
as well as scenarios in which rates gradually rise by as much as 200 basis point or fall by as much as 100 basis points over a twelve
month period. In the gradual scenarios, 25 percent of the interest rate movement occurs at the beginning of each quarter. The
following table reflects the impact on our projected net interest income of the scenarios utilized by these modeling techniques:

March 31, 2018 December 31, 2017

Amount % Amount %

(dollars are in millions)

Estimated increase (decrease) in projected net interest income (reflects projected rate
movements on April 1, 2018 and January 1, 2018, respectively):

Resulting from a gradual 100 basis point increase in the yield curve $ 95 4% $§ 148 6%
Resulting from a gradual 100 basis point decrease in the yield curve...........cccecevveueneee. (74) 3) (138) 5
Resulting from a gradual 200 basis point increase in the yield curve............cccceeveuenee. 143 5 243 9
Other significant scenarios monitored (reflects projected rate movements on April 1,

2018 and January 1, 2018, respectively):

Resulting from an immediate 50 basis point decrease in the yield curve....................... (61) ?2) (116) &)
Resulting from an immediate 100 basis point increase in the yield curve...................... 125 5 216 8
Resulting from an immediate 100 basis point decrease in the yield curve..................... (183) @) (323) (13)
Resulting from an immediate 200 basis point increase in the yield curve...................... 170 6 350 14

The projections do not take into consideration possible complicating factors such as the effect of changes in interest rates on the
credit quality, size and composition of the balance sheet. Therefore, although this provides a reasonable estimate of interest rate
sensitivity, actual results will differ from these estimates, possibly by significant amounts.

Capital risk/sensitivity of other comprehensive loss Large movements of interest rates could directly affect some reported capital
balances and ratios. The mark-to-market valuation of available-for-sale securities is recorded on a tax effected basis to accumulated
other comprehensive loss. This valuation mark is included in two important accounting based capital ratios: common equity Tier
1 capital to risk-weighted assets and total equity to total assets. Under the final rule adopting the Basel III regulatory capital reforms,
the valuation mark was being phased into common equity Tier 1 capital over five years beginning in 2014. At March 31, 2018,
we had an available-for-sale securities portfolio of approximately $30,223 million with a negative mark-to-market adjustment of
$536 million. An increase of 25 basis points in interest rates of all maturities would lower the mark-to-market by approximately
$299 million to a net loss of $835 million with the following results on our capital ratios:

March 31, 2018 December 31, 2017
Actual Proforma” Actual Proforma”
Common equity Tier 1 capital to risk-weighted assets..........ccccecevverinenene 13.6% 13.4% 14.2% 14.1%
Total equity to total assets 10.8 10.7 10.7 10.7

M Proforma percentages reflect a 25 basis point increase in interest rates.

Market Risk Management Market risk is the risk that movements in market factors, such as foreign exchange rates, interest rates,
credit spreads, equity prices and commodity prices, will reduce our income or the value of our portfolios. Exposure to market risk
is separated into two portfolios:

*  Trading portfolios comprise positions arising from market-making and warehousing of client-derived positions.

*  Non-trading portfolios comprise positions that primarily arise from the interest rate management of our retail and
commercial banking assets and liabilities and financial investments classified as available-for-sale and held-to-maturity.

There have been no material changes to our approach towards market risk management since December 31, 2017. See "Risk
Management" in MD&A in our 2017 Form 10-K for a more complete discussion of our approach to market risk.
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Value at Risk ("VaR") VaR is a technique for estimating potential losses on risk positions as a result of movements in market rates
and prices over a specified time horizon and to a given level of confidence. The use of VaR is integrated into market risk management
and calculated for all trading positions regardless of how we capitalize them. In addition, we calculate VaR for non-trading portfolios
to have a complete picture of risk. VAR measures are calculated at a 99 percent confidence level and use a one-day holding period.

Trading Portfolios Trading VaR generates from the Global Markets unit of the GB&M business segment. Portfolios are mainly
comprised of foreign exchange products, interest rate swaps and precious metals (i.e., gold, silver, platinum) in both North America
and emerging markets.

Daily VaR (trading portfolios), 99 percent 1 day (in millions):

10 -

9 4
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7 ] Trading VaR
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The following table summarizes our trading VaR for the three months ended March 31, 2018:

Foreign
exchange and Portfolio
commodity Interest rate Credit Spread diversification® Total®
(in millions)

At March 31,2018 $ 38 6 $ 1 S 2 s 8
Three Months Ended March 31, 2018

AVEIAZE ..o 3 7 1 “)

MAXIIUITL e eeeeeeeeeeea 5 9 1

MINIMUIM ©oiiccceeeeee e 1 5 —

At December 31,2017 .........ccooonireiinenne $ 2 8 58 1 3 2 $ 6

M Pportfolio diversification is the market risk dispersion effect of holding a portfolio containing different risk types. It represents the reduction in unsystematic

market risk that occurs when combining a number of different risk types, for example, foreign exchange, interest rate and credit spread, together in one
portfolio. It is measured as the difference between the sum of the VaR by individual risk type and the combined total VaR. A negative number represents the
benefit of portfolio diversification. As the maximum and minimum occur on different days for different risk types, it is not meaningful to calculate a portfolio
diversification benefit for these measures.

@ The total VaR is non-additive across risk types due to diversification effects. For presentation purposes, portfolio diversification of the VaR for trading

portfolios includes VaR-based risk-not-in-VaR.

Back-testing We routinely validate the accuracy of our VaR models by back-testing them against hypothetical profit and loss that
excludes non-modeled items such as fees, commissions and revenues of intra-day transactions from the actual reported profit and
loss. We would expect, on average, to see two or three profits and two or three losses in excess of VaR at the 99 percent confident
level over a one-year period. The actual number of profits or losses in excess of VaR over this period can therefore be used to
gauge how well the models are performing. To ensure a conservative approach to calculating our risk exposures, it is important
to note that profits in excess of VaR are only considered when back-testing the accuracy of models and are not used for capital
purposes.

During the first quarter of 2018, we experienced no back-testing exceptions.
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Back-testing of trading VaR against our hypothetical profit and loss (in millions):

155

-10 A

-15 -
Dec-17 Jan-18 Feb-18 Mar-18

Hypothetical profit and loss VaR (99%) @ Backtesting exception

Non-trading Portfolios Non-trading VaR predominantly relates to Balance Sheet Management and represents the potential negative
changes in the investment portfolio market value (which includes available-for-sale and held-to-maturity assets) and associated
hedges. Our investment portfolio holdings are mainly comprised of U.S. Treasury, U.S. Government agency mortgage-backed and
U.S. Government sponsored mortgage-backed securities. Our non-trading VaR exposure is driven by interest rates, mortgage
spreads, and asset swap spreads.

The following table summarizes our non-trading VaR for the three months ended March 31, 2018:

Portfolio
Interest rate Credit Spread diversification Total®

(in millions)

At March 31,2018 ... $ 58 $ 19 § 1e) $ 61
Three Months Ended March 31, 2018

AVETAZE ...ttt 60 19 (18) 61
Maximum.... 78 21 79
MIDEMIUINL. .ottt e et e et eeeaae e eaeeeeaeeeeaaaeans 38 17 47
At December 31, 2017 ... $ 39§ 18 $ (12) $ 45

M Refer to the Trading VaR table above for additional information.

Non-trading VaR also includes the interest rate risk of non-trading financial assets and liabilities held by the global businesses and
transfer priced into Balance Sheet Management which has the mandate to centrally manage and hedge it. For a broader discussion
on how interest rate risk is managed, please refer to the "Risk Management - Interest Rate Risk Management" section in MD&A
in our 2017 Form 10-K.
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CONSOLIDATED AVERAGE BALANCES AND INTEREST RATES

The following table summarizes the quarter-to-date average daily balances of the principal components of assets, liabilities and
equity together with their respective interest amounts and rates earned or paid. Net interest margin is calculated by dividing net
interest income by the average interest earning assets from which interest income is earned. Loan interest for the three months

ended March 31, 2018 and 2017 included fees of $18 million and $24 million, respectively.

Three Months Ended March 31, 2018 2017
Average Average
Balance Interest Rate Balance Interest Rate
(dollars are in millions)
Assets
Interest bearing deposits With banks ...........cccecveerieririniiieireeeeeee e $ 27,091 $ 110 1.65% $ 36,573 $ 77 .85%
Federal funds sold and securities purchased under resale agreements............... 7,615 48 2.56 9,697 54 2.26
TTAAING SECUTTLIES ..vveveverierietitesieie et ettt ettt ettt e e esebe e enessenaennne 12,774 49 1.56 11,051 58 2.13
Securities 44,516 253 2.30 50,311 242 1.95
Loans:
COMIMETCIAL ...ttt e e e enee s 48,283 414 3.48 54,423 382 2.85
Consumer:
Residential MOTtZAges .......c.evvveieiriinieieirieieeeieree et 17,338 147 3.44 17,881 154 3.49
HOMe eqUity MOTTZAZES. ...c.veveeverieririeierieierieiesietesiee et seeneesesseneeneas 1,162 12 4.19 1,378 13 3.83
Credit CarAS.....c.covvieueeiiieiietet ettt 735 18 9.93 658 17 10.48
Other consumer . . 400 7 7.10 460 7 6.17
TOLAl COMSUITIET ...ttt ettt e et e e eteeeaeeeaeeeneeeaeeeneeennes 19,635 184 3.80 20,377 191 3.80
TOAL LOANS ...ttt ettt e eteeeaaeeteeeneeeneeens 67,918 598 3.57 74,800 573 3.11
OBRET ..ttt 3,916 16 1.66 2,739 11 1.63
Total interest earning assets.. . $163,830 $ 1,074 2.66% $ 185,171 $ 1,015 2.22%
Allowance for credit I0SSES .......cviiiiiiiuieiiiiicieiereeeeie et (653) (1,011)
Cash and due from banks ............cccocveevieiiiiiiiciiec e 795 1,040
(01113 G TSI SRR 21,170 15,776
TOUAL ASSELS ...ttt $ 185,142 $ 200,976
Liabilities and Equity - -
Domestic deposits:
Savings deposits .. . $ 50310 S 71 S7% $ 50,447 S 48 .39%
THIME AEPOSILS. c.veeveeeeviieietieteteiete et ettt ettt esesteneesebeneeseesensennne 22,472 113 2.04 23,441 78 1.35
Other interest bearing dePOSItS .........ecveererieieirerieirieieeee et 11,066 30 1.10 12,960 7 22
Foreign deposits:
Foreign banks dePOSItS .......cccerverieierieieirieieese ettt 4,710 5 43 8,059 13 .65
Other interest bearing dePOSItS .........ecveererieieireieirieeeee et 1,292 2 .63 3,630 4 45
Deposits held fOr SALE ........veivieieiiiieieereeeee e 368 1 .62 — — —
Total interest bearing dePOSItS.........evvevererierieieieieieisteiee ettt 90,218 222 1.00 98,537 150 .62
ShOTt-term DOTTOWINGS ....cvveviviieiieeirieieiieteiee ettt st eneeeas 6,510 33 2.06 6,520 23 1.43
LONG-terM dEDt...o.vivieiiiiieieiiieeeeee et 33,501 257 3.11 37,824 242 2.59
Total interest bearing deposits and debt ...........ccoovevvvirierieininieieeeeceeene 130,229 512 1.59 142,881 415 1.18
Tax liabilities and other 1,826 10 2.22 913 3 1.33
Total interest bearing liabilities $ 132,055 § 522 1.60% $ 143,794 § 418 1.18%
Net interest income/Interest rate SPread ..........oceveveeeereriereeinieieesereeeeseeenenn $ 552 1.06% $ 597 1.04%
Noninterest bearing dePOSILS ........coeerueirerieieirierieieteriee ettt 27,092 29,781 - -
Other THADIIITIES ...eovveeeeieceee ettt e e 5,904 6,925
TOLAL ©QUILY ...veveeeietenietieiesietet ettt et b et se et e b e eseesenaennne 19,991 20,476
Total liabilities and eqUILy ....................c.ccooevueeresieieiisieieieieieeee e $ 185,142 $ 200,976
Net interest margin on average earning assets . - 137% 1.31%
Net interest income to average total aSSELS.......cuvvrieieerierieerieieeeerieeeesieeenens 1.21% 1.20%
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Item 3. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures about Market Risk

Information required by this Item is included within Item 2. Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and
Results of Operations in the Risk Management section under the captions "Interest Rate Risk Management" and "Market Risk
Management."

Item 4. Controls and Procedures

Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures We maintain a system of internal and disclosure controls and procedures
designed to ensure that information required to be disclosed by HSBC USA in the reports we file or submit under the Securities
Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the "Exchange Act"), is recorded, processed, summarized and reported on a timely basis. Our
Board of Directors, operating through its Audit Committee, which is composed entirely of independent non-executive directors,
provides oversight to our financial reporting process.

We conducted an evaluation, with the participation of the Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, of the effectiveness
of our disclosure controls and procedures as of the end of the period covered by this report. Based upon that evaluation, the Chief
Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer concluded that our disclosure controls and procedures were effective as of the end
of the period covered by this report so as to alert them in a timely fashion to material information required to be disclosed in reports
we file under the Exchange Act.

Changes in Internal Control over Financial Reporting There has been no change in our internal control over financial reporting
that occurred during the quarter ended March 31, 2018 that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, our
internal control over financial reporting.
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PART II
Item 1. Legal Proceedings

See Note 20, "Litigation and Regulatory Matters," in the accompanying consolidated financial statements for our legal proceedings
disclosure, which is incorporated herein by reference.

Item 5. Other Information

Disclosures pursuant to Section 13(r) of the Securities Exchange Act Section 13(r) of the Securities Exchange Act requires each
issuer registered with the SEC to disclose in its annual or quarterly reports whether it or any of its affiliates have knowingly engaged
in specified activities or transactions with persons or entities targeted by U.S. sanctions programs relating to Iran, terrorism, or the
proliferation of weapons of mass destruction, even if those activities are not prohibited by U.S. law and are conducted outside the
U.S. by non-U.S. affiliates in compliance with local laws and regulations.

To comply with this requirement, HSBC has requested relevant information from its affiliates globally. During the period covered
by this Form 10-Q, HUSI did not engage in activities or transactions requiring disclosure pursuant to Section 13(r) other than those
activities related to frozen accounts and transactions permitted under relevant U.S. sanction programs described under "Frozen
Accounts and Transactions" below. The following activities conducted by our affiliates are disclosed in response to Section 13(r):

Loans in repayment Between 2001 and 2005, the Project and Export Finance division of the HSBC Group arranged or participated
in a portfolio of loans to Iranian energy companies and banks. All of these loans were guaranteed by European and Asian export
credit agencies and have varied maturity dates with final maturity in 2018. For those loans that remain outstanding, the HSBC
Group continues to seek repayment in accordance with its obligations to the supporting export credit agencies. Details of these
loans follow.

At March 31, 2018, the HSBC Group had four loans outstanding to an Iranian petrochemical company. These loans are supported
by the official export credit agencies of the following countries: the United Kingdom, South Korea and Japan. The HSBC Group
continues to seek repayments from the Iranian company under the outstanding loans in accordance with their original maturity
profiles. One further loan supported by the Japanese Export Credit Agency also matured in the first quarter of 2018.

There was no measurable gross revenue or net profit to the HSBC Group during the first quarter of 2018 relating to the loans in
repayment. While the HSBC Group intends to continue to seek repayment under the existing loans, all of which were entered into
before the petrochemical sector of Iran became a target of U.S sanctions, it does not currently intend to extend any new loans.

Legacy contractual obligations related to guarantees Between 1996 and 2007, the HSBC Group provided guarantees to a number
of its non-Iranian customers in Europe and the Middle East for various business activities in Iran. In a number of cases, the HSBC
Group issued counter indemnities in support of guarantees issued by Iranian banks as the Iranian beneficiaries of the guarantees
required that they be backed directly by Iranian banks. The Iranian banks to which the HSBC Group provided counter indemnities
included Bank Tejarat, Bank Melli, and the Bank of Industry and Mine.

There was no measurable gross revenue in the first quarter of 2018 under those guarantees and counter indemnities. The HSBC
Group does not allocate direct costs to fees and commissions and, therefore, has not disclosed a separate net profit measure. The
HSBC Group is seeking to cancel all relevant guarantees and counter indemnities and does not currently intend to provide any
new guarantees or counter indemnities involving Iran. None were cancelled in the first quarter of 2018 and approximately 19
remain outstanding.

Other relationships with Iranian banks Activity related to U.S.-sanctioned Iranian banks not covered elsewhere in this disclosure
includes the following:

¢ The HSBC Group maintains several accounts in the United Kingdom for an Iranian-owned, U.K.-regulated financial
institution. These accounts are generally no longer restricted under U.K. law, though HSBC maintains restrictions on the
accounts as a matter of policy. The HSBC Group is seeking to exit these accounts and has begun transferring the funds
to the client's accounts at other financial institutions. Estimated gross revenue in the first quarter of 2018 on these accounts,
which includes fees and/or commissions, was approximately $32,000.

*  The HSBC Group acts as the trustee and administrator for a pension scheme involving nine employees ofa U.S.-sanctioned
Iranian bank in Hong Kong, one of whom joined the scheme during the first quarter of 2018. Under the rules of this
scheme, the HSBC Group accepts contributions from the Iranian bank each month and allocates the funds into the pension
accounts of the Iranian bank’s employees. The HSBC Group runs and operates this pension scheme in accordance with
Hong Kong laws and regulations. Estimated gross revenue, which includes fees and/or commissions, generated by this
pension scheme during the first quarter of 2018 was approximately $97.
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For the Iranian bank related-activity discussed above, the HSBC Group does not allocate direct costs to fees and commissions and,
therefore, has not disclosed a separate net profit measure.

The HSBC Group has been holding a safe custody box for the Central Bank of Iran. For a number of years, the box has not been
accessed by the Central Bank of Iran and no fees have been charged to the Central Bank of Iran.

The HSBC Group currently intends to continue to wind down the activity discussed in this section, to the extent legally permissible,
and not enter into any new such activity.

Other Activity The HSBC Group has an insurance company customer in the United Arab Emirates that during the first quarter of
2018 made three payments for the reimbursement of medical treatment to a hospital located in the United Arab Emirates and owned
by the Government of Iran. HSBC processed all three payments to the hospital made by its customer.

The HSBC Group maintains an account for an individual customer that has used an HSBC credit card to make a payment to an
Iranian embassy during the first quarter of 2018.

For the activity in this section, there was no measurable gross revenue or net profit to the HSBC Group in the first quarter of 2018.

Frozen accounts and transactions The HSBC Group and HSBC Bank USA (a subsidiary of HUSI) maintain several accounts
that are frozen as a result of relevant sanctions programs, and safekeeping boxes and other similar custodial relationships, for
which no activity, except as licensed or otherwise authorized, took place during the first quarter of 2018. There was no measurable
gross revenue or net profit to the HSBC Group and HSBC Bank USA during the first quarter of 2018 relating to these frozen
accounts.
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Item 6. Exhibits

3(i)

3(ii)

12
31

32

101.INS
101.SCH
101.CAL
101.DEF
101.LAB
101.PRE

Articles of Incorporation and amendments and supplements thereto (incorporated by reference to

Exhibit 3(a) to HSBC USA Inc.'s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 1999,
Exhibit 3 to HSBC USA Inc.'s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended September 30, 2000,
Exhibit 3.2 to HSBC USA Inc.'s Current Report on Form 8-K filed April 4, 2005, Exhibit 3.3 to HSBC USA
Inc.'s Current Report on Form 8-K filed April 4, 2005, Exhibit 3.2 to HSBC USA Inc.'s Current Report on
Form 8-K filed October 14, 2005, Exhibit 3.2 to HSBC USA Inc.'s Current Report on Form 8-K filed

May 22, 2006 and Exhibit 3.2 to HSBC USA Inc.'s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on May 31, 2016).

Bylaws of HSBC USA Inc., as Amended and Restated effective April 26, 2018 (incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 3.2 to HSBC USA Inc.'s Current Report on Form 8-K filed May 1, 2018).

Computation of Ratio of Earnings to Fixed Charges.

Certification of Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer pursuant to Section 302 of the
Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

Certification of Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer pursuant to Section 906 of the
Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

XBRL Instance Document"

XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema Document'"

XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase Document'"”
XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase Document'"
XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Linkbase Document'”

XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase Document'”

(O]

Pursuant to Rule 405 of Regulation S-T, includes the following financial information included in our Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended
March 31, 2018, formatted in eXtensible Business Reporting Language ("XBRL") interactive data files: (i) the Consolidated Statement of Income (Loss) for
the three months ended March 31, 2018 and 2017, (ii) the Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income (Loss) for the three months ended March 31,
2018 and 2017, (iii) the Consolidated Balance Sheet at March 31, 2018 and December 31, 2017, (iv) the Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity for
the three months ended March 31, 2018 and 2017, (v) the Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows for the three months ended March 31, 2018 and 2017, and
(vi) the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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Signatures

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, HSBC USA Inc. has duly caused this
report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.

Date: May 4, 2018

HSBC USA INC.

By: /sl MARK A. ZAESKE
Mark A. Zaeske
Senior Executive Vice President and
Chief Financial Officer
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EXHIBIT 12

HSBC USA INC.
COMPUTATION OF RATIO OF EARNINGS TO FIXED CHARGES AND
EARNINGS TO COMBINED FIXED CHARGES AND PREFERRED STOCK DIVIDENDS

Three Months Ended
March 31,

2018 2017

(dollars are in millions)
Ratios excluding interest on deposits:
INEE INCOME (JOSS) .veeuvrieuiieieiieiieeie et e ste et et e et esteesbeesteeesbe e saeesseessaeasseenseesssaenseessseenseessseanseenssesnseesssennsenns $ (238) $ 296
TNCOME tAX EXPEIISE. .. .eeeutiiiiieite ittt ettt ettt et e bt e b e et e bt s st e e bt e s et e e s bt e eabeesbaeeabeenbeesabeenseenane 92 152
Fixed charges:

Interest on:

SHOTE-TEIIMN DOTTOWINES ...ttt ettt sttt ettt s bt ae b bt bt bbbt st et e b e s e e eneenee 33 23
Long-term debt.......c.ooviiiiiiiicicec e 257 242
ORETS ..ttt ettt ettt eb ettt a ettt h e b e bbbttt bt naes 10 3
One third of rents, net of income from SUDICASES ..........ceeviiiciieiiieiiecieee e 8 7
Total fixed charges, excluding interest 0n dEPOSILS ........ccerueririirerierieieiet ettt 308 275
Earnings before taxes and fixed charges, excluding interest on deposits..........cceevreeereeierieecieneeieeeeeene $ 162 $ 723
Ratio of earnings to fixed charges, excluding interest 0n deposits...........ceoeveeeeeriininienerinereseee e T 53 263
Preferred Stock divIdends'..............oovvevvecveeceeeeeeee e $ — —
Fixed charges, including preferred stock dividends ............ccocooireriiinienieneiee e $ 308 $ 275
Ratio of earnings to fixed charges, including preferred stock dividends.........c.ccccecevvererininiencncncnenenn. T 53 263

Ratios including interest on deposits:

Total fixed charges, excluding interest 0n dePOSILS ........coereririirerererieieteieietee e $ 308 $ 275

Add: INtETESt ON AEPOSILS ...euveueineenienieiieiieiee ettt ettt ettt b et beebe s bt bt et besbe st ete e eneeneenee 222 150
Total fixed charges, including interest 0N dEPOSILS.......c.ceereririirerererteieieeeteeee ettt 530 425
Earnings before taxes and fixed charges, excluding interest on deposits..........cccceceeerererinerereneneneenns 162 723

Add: TNLEIest 0N AEPOSILS ....cuveureuiiiieiiiiieietieterte ettt sttt ettt ettt et eb e bttt sae bt st sbese et e b saeaennennens 222 150
Earnings before taxes and fixed charges, including interest on deposits..........ceceoeeerererineneneneneneenes $ 384 § 873
Ratio of earnings to fixed charges, including interest on deposits .........cccoveveeirerrereniererinenenenrereneenen T 72 205
Fixed charges, including preferred stock dividends ............ccoceeireriiinienieneeeeec e $ 308 $ 275

Add: TNLEIest ON AEPOSILS ...cuveuriuieiieiiiiieietieterert ettt ettt ettt ettt ebe bttt sae sttt saese et enbesaeaennennene 222 150
Fixed charges, including interest on deposits and preferred stock dividends..........c.cccvveenecencinccnennee $ 530 $ 425
Ratio of earnings to fixed charges, including interest on deposits and preferred stock dividends............. T 72 205
o

Preferred stock dividends are grossed up to their pretax equivalents.



EXHIBIT 31

CERTIFICATION OF CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER AND CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER

PURSUANT TO SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002
Certification of Chief Executive Officer

I, Patrick J. Burke, certify that:

1.

2.

5.

I have reviewed this report on Form 10-Q of HSBC USA Inc.;

Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material
fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not
misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present
in all material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the
periods presented in this report;

The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and
procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting
(as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:

a.

designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be
designed under our supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its
consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in
which this report is being prepared;

designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting
to be designed under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial
reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted
accounting principles;

evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our
conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered
by this report based on such evaluation; and

disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during
the registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant's fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report)
that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over
financial reporting; and

The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control
over financial reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or
persons performing the equivalent functions):

a.

all significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial
reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize
and report financial information; and

any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role
in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting.

Date: May 4, 2018

/s/ PATRICK J. BURKE

Patrick J. Burke

Chairman of the Board, President
and Chief Executive Officer




Certification of Chief Financial Officer

I, Mark A. Zaeske, certify that:

1. Thave reviewed this report on Form 10-Q of HSBC USA Inc.;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material
fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not
misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present
in all material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the
periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and
procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting
(as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:

a.

designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be
designed under our supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its
consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in
which this report is being prepared;

designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting
to be designed under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial
reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted
accounting principles;

evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our
conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered
by this report based on such evaluation; and

disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during
the registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant's fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report)
that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over
financial reporting; and

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control
over financial reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or
persons performing the equivalent functions):

a.

all significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial
reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize
and report financial information; and

any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role
in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting.

Date: May 4, 2018

/sl MARK A. ZAESKE

Mark A. Zaeske

Senior Executive Vice President and
Chief Financial Officer




EXHIBIT 32

CERTIFICATION OF CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER AND CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER
PURSUANT TO SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

Certification Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as Adopted Pursuant to
Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

The certification set forth below is being submitted in connection with the HSBC USA Inc. (the “Company’) Quarterly Report
on Form 10-Q for the period ending March 31, 2018 as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof
(the “Report™) for the purpose of complying with Rule 13a-14(b) or Rule 15d-14(b) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 (the
“Exchange Act”) and Section 1350 of Chapter 63 of Title 18 of the United States Code.

I, Patrick J. Burke, certify that:
1. the Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Exchange Act; and

2. the information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of
operations of HSBC USA Inc.

Date: May 4, 2018

/s/ PATRICK J. BURKE

Patrick J. Burke

Chairman of the Board, President
and Chief Executive Officer

This certification accompanies each Report pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 and shall not, except to
the extent required by the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, be deemed filed by HSBC USA Inc. for purposes of Section 18 of the
Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended.

The signed original of this written statement required by Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 has been provided to
HSBC USA Inc. and will be retained by HSBC USA Inc. and furnished to the Securities and Exchange Commission or its staff
upon request.



Certification pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as Adopted Pursuant to
Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

The certification set forth below is being submitted in connection with the HSBC USA Inc. (the “Company”) Quarterly Report
on Form 10-Q for the period ending March 31, 2018 as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof
(the “Report”) for the purpose of complying with Rule 13a-14(b) or Rule 15d-14(b) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 (the
“Exchange Act”) and Section 1350 of Chapter 63 of Title 18 of the United States Code.

I, Mark A. Zaeske, certify that:
1. the Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Exchange Act; and

2. the information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of
operations of HSBC USA Inc.

Date: May 4, 2018

/sl MARK A. ZAESKE

Mark A. Zaeske

Senior Executive Vice President and
Chief Financial Officer

This certification accompanies each Report pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 and shall not, except to
the extent required by the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, be deemed filed by HSBC USA Inc. for purposes of Section 18 of the
Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended.

The signed original of this written statement required by Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 has been provided to
HSBC USA Inc. and will be retained by HSBC USA Inc. and furnished to the Securities and Exchange Commission or its staff
upon request.
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